# DEFLATORS, LOG-OPTIMAL PORTFOLIO AND NUMÉRAIRE PORTFOLIO FOR MARKETS UNDER RANDOM HORIZON

by

Sina Yansori

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

 $\mathrm{in}$ 

Mathematical Finance

Department of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences University of Alberta

© Sina Yansori, 2019

#### Abstract

This thesis addresses two important topics of deflators and log-utility-related optimal portfolios for markets stopped at a random time  $\tau$ . This random time can model the death time of an agent in life insurance or the default time of a firm in credit risk. For the topic of deflators, the thesis elaborates extensively an explicit parametrization of the set of all deflators, which constitutes the dual set of all "admissible" wealth processes. We describe explicitly both cases of local martingale deflators and supermartingale delators as well. These results are essentially based on the martingales classification and representation introduced and developed recently by Choulli et al. [33] for progressive enlarged filtration.

Concerning the second topic of optimal portfolios, we focus on quantifying the impact of random time on these portfolios. In fact, we consider log-utility maximization problem, whose solution relies and is intimately related to the optimal deflators. Thus, we start by describing the optimal deflator for stopped models at random time  $\tau$ , and then elaborate the duality which lead to the log-optimal portfolio. In meantime, as an important intermediate result, we characterize the log-optimal deflator and log-optimal portfolio for general semimartingale market models without the no-free-lunch-with-vanishing-risk assumption. Finally, the numéraire portfolio for model stopped at  $\tau$  is also detailed and fully described in different manners.

For both topics, the thesis elaborates results for general semimartingales models and illustrates those results on several practical models. Among theses, we cite the exponential Lévy models (such as Jump-diffusion model and Black-Scholes market model), the volatility models (such as Corrected Stein and Stein Model and Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard Model), complete market model, and discrete time market models.

## Preface

Chapter 3 of this thesis has been submitted as Choulli, T. and Yansori, S., "Deflators and log-optimal portfolios under random horizon: Explicit description and optimization", submitted to Finance and Stochastics, 2018.

Chapter 4 of this thesis has been submitted as Choulli, T. and Yansori, S., "Notes on the log-optimal portfolio: Necessary and sufficient conditions for its existence and duality", submitted to Applied Probability Trust, 2018. It is not knowledge, but the act of learning, not possession but the act of getting there, which grants the greatest enjoyment.

– Carl Friedrich Gauss, 1808.

### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my very great appreciation and thanks to my supervisor Prof. Tahir Choulli for his support and advice on both research and on my career have been invaluable. It has been an honour to be his PhD student. I truly learned a lot from him.

I am very grateful to all committee members of my thesis defense for their invaluable time and patience for reading through this thesis. Mainly, I would like to thank Prof. Abel Cadenillas, Prof. Terry Gannon, Prof. Linglong Kong, Prof. Alexander Melnikov, Prof. Petar Minev and Prof. Masahiro Watanabe, and the external examiner Prof. Idris Kharroubi, for their highly valuable remarks and their strong support.

A special thanks to my family. Words can not express how grateful I am to my mother, father, and brother for supporting me to pursue one of my main dreams. For my parents who raised me with a love of Mathematics and supported me in all my pursuits. Finally, I would like to thank my beloved wife, Negin. She has been a true and great supporter and has made all these years the best part of my life. Thank you for encouraging me throughout this experience.

# **Table of Contents**

1	Introduction		
	1.1	Random horizon in finance and economy	1
	1.2	Deflator and optimal portfolio	4
	1.3	Summary of the Thesis	7
<b>2</b>	Not	ations and Preliminaries	10
	2.1	Universal notations and properties	11
	2.2	No-arbitrage and Deflators	16
		2.2.1 No-arbitrage concepts	16
		2.2.2 Deflators	18
	2.3	Log-optimal portfolio and numéraire portfolio	19
	2.4	Predictable characteristics of a semimartingale	21
	2.5	Enlargement of the flow of information	27
	2.6	$\mathbb G\text{-stochastic structures versus those of }\mathbb F$	28
3	$\mathbf{Exp}$	licit description of all deflators for models stopped at random	
	$\operatorname{tim}$	e	34
	3.1	Preliminary results	35
		3.1.1 Some $\mathbb{G}$ -properties versus those in $\mathbb{F}$	35
		3.1.2 Useful integration properties	38
	3.2	Local martingale deflators: The general setting	41

	3.3	Partic	ular cases for $\tau$	48
		3.3.1	Pseudo-stopping times	49
		3.3.2	$\tau$ avoids all $\mathbb F\text{-stopping times}$	51
		3.3.3	The case when all $\mathbb F\text{-martingales}$ are continuous $\hdots\dots\dots\hdots$	53
	3.4	Partic	ular cases for $(S, \mathbb{F})$	55
		3.4.1	The exponential Lévy market models	55
		3.4.2	Jump-diffusion for $(S,\mathbb{F})$ and a particular random time $\ .$	62
		3.4.3	Volatility market models	64
		3.4.4	The case of the complete market model $(S, \mathbb{F})$	71
	3.5	Super-	martingale deflator: The general setting	72
	3.6	Partic	ular cases for supermartingale deflators	78
		3.6.1	The case when all $\mathbb F\text{-martingales}$ are continuous	78
		3.6.2	The exponential Lévy market model	80
		3.6.3	Volatility market models	87
			·	
		3.6.4	The discrete-time market models	93
4	log-		The discrete-time market models	93 <b>100</b>
4	<b>log-</b> 4.1	optima		
4		optima	al portfolio without NFLVR	100
4		<b>optim</b> a Interm	al portfolio without NFLVR	<b>100</b> 101
4		optima Intern 4.1.1	al portfolio without NFLVR nediate results	<b>100</b> 101 101
4		optima Interm 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3	al portfolio without NFLVR nediate results	<ul><li>100</li><li>101</li><li>101</li><li>106</li></ul>
4	4.1	optima Interm 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Log-op	al portfolio without NFLVR         nediate results	<ul> <li>100</li> <li>101</li> <li>101</li> <li>106</li> <li>108</li> </ul>
	4.1 4.2 4.3	optima Interm 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Log-op Proof	al portfolio without NFLVR         nediate results	<ol> <li>100</li> <li>101</li> <li>101</li> <li>106</li> <li>108</li> <li>110</li> <li>116</li> </ol>
4	<ul><li>4.1</li><li>4.2</li><li>4.3</li><li>Log</li></ul>	optima Interm 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Log-op Proof -optim	al portfolio without NFLVR         nediate results	<ol> <li>100</li> <li>101</li> <li>106</li> <li>108</li> <li>110</li> <li>116</li> <li>129</li> </ol>
	<ul> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>Log</li> <li>5.1</li> </ul>	optima Interm 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Log-op Proof -optim Optim	al portfolio without NFLVR mediate results	<ol> <li>100</li> <li>101</li> <li>106</li> <li>108</li> <li>110</li> <li>116</li> <li>129</li> <li>131</li> </ol>
	<ul><li>4.1</li><li>4.2</li><li>4.3</li><li>Log</li></ul>	optima Interm 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Log-op Proof -optim Optim Partic	al portfolio without NFLVR mediate results	<ol> <li>100</li> <li>101</li> <li>106</li> <li>108</li> <li>110</li> <li>116</li> <li>129</li> <li>131</li> <li>139</li> </ol>
	<ul> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>Log</li> <li>5.1</li> </ul>	optima Interm 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Log-op Proof -optim Optim	al portfolio without NFLVR mediate results	<ol> <li>100</li> <li>101</li> <li>106</li> <li>108</li> <li>110</li> <li>116</li> <li>129</li> <li>131</li> </ol>

$\operatorname{Log}$	5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 -optim	The exponential Lévy market model $\ldots$	150
$\operatorname{Log}$	5.3.3	Complete market model $(S, \mathbb{F})$	155
$\mathbf{Log}$			
$\operatorname{Log}$	-optim	al portfolio and numéraire portfolio	157
$\operatorname{Log}$	-optim	al portfolio and numéraire portfolio	157
6.1	Optim	nal portfolio for $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ : The general setting	158
6.2	Partic	ular cases for the triple $(S, \mathbb{F}, \tau)$	161
	6.2.1	Particular cases for $\tau$	162
	6.2.2	Particular cases for $(S, \mathbb{F})$	164
	6.2.3	Volatility market model	175
6.3	Numé	raire portfolio under random horizon	180
	6.3	6.2.2 6.2.3	$6.2.2$ Particular cases for $(S, \mathbb{F})$ $6.2.3$ Volatility market model

# Bibliography

184

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

About 2600 years ago, philosopher Thales came with an idea of a contract for pressing of olives in the forthcoming season which is known nowadays by "call option". He also had some "additional information" at the beginning, thanks to his expertise in astrology, which allowed him to anticipate a great harvest season (see [20]). We can find several examples of such interplay between finance and mathematics since then. However, modern finance and mathematical finance were born in 1900 only. In fact, on March 29th, 1900, Louis Bachelier defended his PhD thesis "Theory of speculation" at Sorbonne University in Paris. On that date, via Bachelier's thesis, modern finance, mathematical finance, and stochastic calculus as we know them today, were born. Since then, financial mathematics has been growing enormously in academia and industry.

### **1.1** Random horizon in finance and economy

The economic problem of how a random horizon will impact an investment is old and can be traced back to Fisher [70]. Fisher considered a time-horizon that is related to the death of a life. He argued that even at the time loan seems to be "risk-free" and the financial risks related to the loan doesn't exist, it is still affected by "uncertainty of human life" and as a consequence has an impact "on every business transaction into which time enters". In [70], he wrote

"Even when there is no risk (humanly speaking) in the loan itself, the rate realized on it is affected by risk in other connections. The uncertainty of life itself casts a shadow on every business transaction into which time enters. The uncertainty of human life increases the rate of preference for present over future income for many people, although for those with loved dependents it may decrease impatience. Consequently, the rate of interest, even on the safest loans, will, in general, be raised by the existence of such life risks. The sailor or soldier who looks forward to a short or precarious existence will be less likely to make permanent investments, or, if he should make them, is less likely to pay a high price for them".

Since Fisher's work, there were many debates and discussions in the economics literature about the impact of a random horizon on the market. In 1965, for instance, Yaari [124] investigated the optimal consumption by considering the uncertain lifetime in a deterministic market. Optimal investment and optimal consumption studied by [115] for a first time with respect to death time with known distribution. Later on in [78], the authors considered the optimal portfolio selection with two independent exit times, exogenous and endogenous exit time. Exogenous exit time is independent of the portfolio performance and can be considered as death time and can be modelled as the jump of a Poisson process. The waiting time for first Poisson jump is again the exponential distribution same as [29].

At the mathematical aspect, this problem is very difficult and only recently there were some advances (see [40, 74] for details). This problem of random horizon in finance can be viewed as a general setting for many other financial and economic frameworks. Among these, we cite the example of credit risk theory where the random horizon is the default time of a firm, and life insurance with its challenging mortality and/or longevity risks where the random time is the death time of an insured.

Since random time contains additional information, it is clear that the random horizon issue can be seen as a component of the important area of informational markets. In these markets, there are groups of financial agents with a different flow of information. A different and important component of this area is in the "insider trading problem". Herein, the insider group possesses extra valuable information from the very beginning of the investment period. Both the financial and mathematical finance literature on this component is very extensive and rich. We refer the reader to [75, 13, 52, 22, 23, 103] and the references therein. The key mathematical tool, in the analysis of insider problem, is the initial enlargement of filtration (see the works of Jeulin [86], Meyer and Dellacherie [60] and Jacod [82]. for more details). A random time cannot be seen before it occurs. For instance, no one knows ahead of time the death time or the time of financial crisis, and there is no single financial literature that models the information in the default of a firm as fully seen from the beginning. Hence the initial enlargement of the filtration is not adequate for the random horizon problem at all. The appropriate mathematical techniques, for modelling the discrepancy in the flow of information in the case of a random horizon, resides in the progressive enlargement of filtration, see Bielecki and Rutkowski [28], Jeulin [86], and Jeanblanc and Rutkowski [85] and the references therein. This information modelling allows us to apply our obtained results to credit risk theory and life insurance (mortality and/or longevity risk), where the progressive enlargement of filtration sounds tailor-fit, see [67, 15, 24].

## **1.2** Deflator and optimal portfolio

The theory of utility maximization and optimal portfolio are among the important and fundamental topics in Finance, Economics, and Mathematical Finance. The most fundamental and essential works on optimal portfolios started in on the paper of Markowitz [108] and the two seminal papers of Merton [110, 111]. On the one hand, in [108], Markowitz tends to work on single-period mean-variance portfolio selection (which is called *efficient frontier*) where he provided a platform for optimal portfolio theory. On the other hand, Merton's seminal papers developed the optimal portfolio problem by using the utility (i.e. a function that models the agent's preference) to address the risk and portfolio selection issues. He addressed the *capital* asset pricing model (CAPM). Afterwards, the theory of utility maximization and optimal portfolio has been developed successfully in many directions and in different frameworks since these seminal works, see [97, 102, 118, 37] and the reference therein. In this rich literature, the authors studied different utility functions for several popular market models as well as general semimartingale models with a fixed investment horizon. They practically neglected the impact of a random horizon on the optimal selection portfolio and/or investor's behaviour. For further details on this topic, we refer to the works of Karatzas et al. [97], Kramkov and Schachermayer [102], Cvitanic, Schachermayer, and Wang [53], Karatzas and Zitkovic [98], and the references therein to cite few.

The logarithm utility case attracts tremendous attention, even in the general semimartingale models, due to the nice feature of the log-utility. From the rich literature on the subject, it can be concluded that there are two types of optimum portfolio linked to the logarithm utility due to the discrepancy between the assumption of "admissibility" and the criterion of optimization. The first type is known as growth optimal portfolio (GOP hereafter), whose origins can be traced back to the Kelly's paper [100]. The growth optimal portfolio is the strategy which maximizes the growth rate of wealth up to some time horizon T. Many papers have examined the GOP since then, we refer to [71, 49] and the references therein. Mathematically, the growth optimal portfolio is defined as the portfolio  $\theta^*$  solution to

$$\max E[\ln(W_T^{\theta})],$$

over all  $\theta$  with  $W^{\theta} > 0$  and  $E[\ln(W^{\theta}_T)^-] < +\infty$ . In the thesis, we call it the logoptimal portfolio. For the GOP, the growth is a measure relative to a zero growth rate, and hence the GOP depends on the numéraire chosen.

The second type of log-utility related portfolio is known nowadays as numéraire portfolio. It is definitely a kind of GOP that does not depend on the numéraire chosen, it is a numéraire-independent-GOP. It can be defined as the portfolio  $\theta^*$  having a positive wealth process  $W^{\theta^*}$  such that

$$E\ln(\frac{W_T^{\theta}}{W_T^{\theta^*}}) \le 0,$$

for any other portfolio  $\theta$  with  $W^{\theta} > 0$ , where T is a fixed finite investment horizon. For details and related discussions, see [49], it is clear that this numéraireindependent-GOP coincides with the numéraire portfolio in the sense of [27], (i.e. the process  $W^{\theta}/W^{\theta^*}$  is a positive supermartingale). The portfolio numéraire was introduced in a paper of Long [106], where he examines the relationship between GOP and the numéraire portfolio. Since then, many authors extended and extensively investigated it differently (especially its relationship to market's viability and arbitrage), see [36, 49, 79, 91, 94] and the references therein. Today, it is known that GOP coincides with the numéraire portfolio whenever it exists. However, in general, the numéraire portfolio can exist while the GOP may fail to exit, see [36] for an example and related discussions. Since the time of Arrow and Debreu, there has been a growing interest in understanding the relationship between non-arbitrage, the viability of the market and the problem of utility maximization. They showed in [21] that the optimal portfolio, no-arbitrage and equivalent martingale measure coincide. Recently, Karatzas and Kardaras [94] showed that the No-Unbounded-Profit-with-Bounded-Risk (NUPBR) condition and the existence of the NUPBR portfolio are equivalent. Under the No-Free-Lunch-with-Vanish-Risk (called NFLVR hereafter) assumption, the most advanced literature on the logoptimal portfolio, [71, 104, 13], characterizes explicitly this portfolio for the general semimartingale market models. However, see [36, 105, 117], there are many financial models that violates NFLVR, while they might admit the log-optimal portfolio. For market models under progressive enlargement of filtration, which incorporate the two important settings of credit risk and life insurance, NFLVR remains an open issue, and hence [71] is not applicable to these cases. However, for these latter models, see [6, 7], the no-unbounded-profit-with-bounded-risk (NUPBR) is fully analyzed, as it is the minimal no-arbitrage condition for a model to be financial "worthy". Furthermore, see [31] for instance, recently there has been an interest in extending the existing results on utility maximization to models satisfying NUPBR, while they might violate NFLVR. One of the main contributions of this thesis is to establish the duality for the log-utility maximization and describe its solution without the No-Free-Lunch-with-Vanishing-Risk assumption on the market model.

In [30], the authers studied the optimal investment strategy problem with random horizon time which is not a stopping time with respect to the flow generated by the stock, but instead of knowing the conditional distribution function of the time horizon. In [1], Aase studied the optimal investment/consumption problem by considering the remaining lifetime as random time  $T_x$  and defined the survival probability function as an exponential density function. Many literature considers stopping times as death time so far, or the distribution function of the death time is known, contrary to our study. Here, in this thesis, the random horizon (death time) is as general as it can be, and it might not be a stopping time with with respect to the public flow of information.

The majority of the financial and the mathematical literature on the interplay of information and optimal portfolio are devoted to the optimal investment/portfolio problem and arbitrage for an insider who has a private information at the beginning of the investment period. This requires the study of an initial enlargement of filtration (see e.g. [13, 72, 96]). They have recently studied an insider's optimal portfolio problem for the Hara utility function and suppose that the insider has access to more information. You can find their achievements in the works of [62, 63, 75, 76, 77]. In a more general enlargement of filtration setting, the investment problem was discussed in [101]. The case of a progressive enlargement of filtration as in credit risk modelling or life insurance (mortality or longevity risk) is less investigated. Recently, in [88], they study the optimal investment problem for logarithmic utility under default risk where the information of default time is considered as an exogenous risk and consider the mixture of both enlargement methods. Recently, in [84, 125, 126], the optimal strategy under random horizon  $\tau$  which is external to market was considered. Their method is based on the BSDE approach.

# 1.3 Summary of the Thesis

The thesis contains six chapters including the current one and one chapter for preliminaries. This thesis is based on several research papers co-authored by the candidate during his PhD studies under the supervision of Prof. Tahir Choulli, see[45, 46, 47]. The thesis includes four innovative chapters and a preliminary chapter. We keep each chapter of this thesis as independent and self-contained as possible. The organization of these six chapters is further detailed, below. Chapter 2 recalls different financial concepts and some stochastic tools and theorems that will be very useful throughout the thesis. In particular, this chapter includes a review of deflators and no-arbitrage concepts, local martingale representations and the predictable characteristics of semimartingales. In the last two sections, we explain a mathematical model for capturing the additional information borne by the random time. Furthermore, we recall stochastic structures of the additional information and slightly extend a martingale representation result of Choulli et al. [33], which plays a vital role in our analysis and it is used frequently in this thesis.

Chapter 3 deals with the explicit parametrization of deflators for the models stopped at the random time in terms of deflators of their original counterpart models and the survival processes associated with the random time. We begin with local martingale deflators, and then deal with supermartingale deflators, as the largest class of deflators. The explicit parametrization of deflators is achieved without any assumption for the most general semimartingale model, whereas few sections of this chapter illustrate our results on various popular and practical market models. In addition, we will show how our parametrization is collective and certainly includes all restricted models.

Chapter 4 addresses the log-optimal portfolio for a general semimartingale model. We characterize a complete log-optimal portfolio and its associated optimal deflator, we provide necessary and sufficient conditions for their existence, and we elaborate their duality as well without NFLVR. There are many financial models that violate NFLVR, while they might admit the log-optimal portfolio. We also elaborate on the main result and discuss its relationship to the already existed literature. Chapter 4 closes the existing gaps in this research direction. Herein, it also contains some new intermediate useful results. Chapter 5 addresses the dual problem of the log-utility maximization problem for the models stopped at the random time, and completely characterizes the log-optimal deflators for a quasi-left-continuous semimartingale model. Our main innovative contribution in this chapter is the description of an optimum deflator for a log-utility maximization in different manners and as explicit as possible. Thanks to the deep result of martingale classification and explicit deflator parametrization in Chapter 3, we assess the dual problem of the utility maximization problem. In the last two sections, we illustrate our results on the many important market models such as the case of the exponential Lévy market models, volatility models, and complete market model.

Chapter 6 focuses on the log-utility maximization problem itself, this chapter gives a complete characterization of the log-optimal portfolio under the random horizon, its relationship to the corresponding log-optimal deflator of Chapter 5, and beyond that. In particular, we discuss the impact of the random horizon on the numéraire portfolio in different manners, and how the random horizon induces randomness in an agent's utility. It is worth mentioning that random utilities appeared first in economics within the *random utility model theory* due to the psychometric literature that provided empirical evidence about stochastic choice behaviour. For details about this theme, we refer the reader to [121, 109, 51, 50] and the references therein to cite few. A random field utility represents the preference of an agent (or the agent's impatience as called in Fisher [70]), which is updated at each instant using the available aggregate flow of public information about the market. While, several popular and particular models are treated and discussed in this chapter.

# Chapter 2

# **Notations and Preliminaries**

In this chapter, we review some concepts (mathematical, statistical or financial/economic), and properties on stochastic processes, and their preliminary analysis. For all mathematical terminologies and techniques that are not included in this chapter, we refer to [57, 61, 81, 83, 59, 73].

This chapter contains six sections. Section 2.1 defines stochastic elements and processes that we used in this thesis. Section 2.2 introduces deflators and no-arbitrage concepts and some of their preliminary properties. Section 2.3 recalls Merton's optimal portfolio problem. In the fourth section, we present the predictable characteristics of a semimartingale. Section 2.5 presents the mathematical models for additional information. Section 2.6 introduces the G-local martingale representation theorem and other related properties.

Throughout the rest of the thesis, our mathematical and economic model start with a filtered probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{H}, \mathbb{H} := (\mathcal{H}_t)_{t \geq 0}, P)$ , where filtration  $\mathbb{H} := (\mathcal{H}_t)_{t \geq 0}$ satisfies the usual conditions of completeness and right-continuity. The filtered probability space is also called a stochastic basis in the literature.

# 2.1 Universal notations and properties

This section recalls the stochastic elements, and related definitions that will be used through out the thesis. Most of the definitions and results of this section can be founded in Jacod and Shiryaev [83].

- **Definition 2.1**: A process X is called càdlàg, or RCLL, if all its paths are rightcontinuous and admit left-hand limits.
- **Definition 2.2:** (i) The predictable  $\sigma$ -field is the  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H})$  on  $(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$  that is generated by all càg (left continuous)  $\mathbb{H}$ -adapted processes. Furthermore, a process X that is  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H})$ -measurable is called predictable and it will be denoted by  $X \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H})$ .

(ii) The optional  $\sigma$ -field is the  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{O}(\mathbb{H})$  on  $(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+)$  that is generated by all  $\mathbb{H}$ -adapted and RCLL processes. Furthermore, a process X that is  $\mathcal{O}(\mathbb{H})$ measurable is called optional and it will be denoted by  $X \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{H})$ .

**Definition 2.3**: If Y is a stochastic process and  $\theta$  is a random time (i.e. a nonnegative random variable), then  $Y^{\theta}$  is called stopped process and satisfies

$$Y_t^{\theta} := Y_{t \wedge \theta}, \qquad t \ge 0.$$

Here, we define the following stochastic intervals as

$$\begin{split} \llbracket \sigma, \theta \rrbracket &:= \{(\omega, t) : t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \sigma(\omega) \le t \le \theta(\omega)\}, \\ \llbracket \sigma, \theta \llbracket &:= \{(\omega, t) : t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \sigma(\omega) \le t < \theta(\omega)\}, \\ \rrbracket \sigma, \theta \rrbracket &:= \{(\omega, t) : t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \sigma(\omega) < t \le \theta(\omega)\}, \\ \rrbracket \sigma, \theta \rrbracket &:= \{(\omega, t) : t \in \mathbb{R}_+, \sigma(\omega) < t \le \theta(\omega)\}, \end{split}$$

where  $\sigma$  and  $\theta$  are random times.

- **Definition 2.4**: [83]  $\theta$  is called an  $\mathbb{H}$ -stopping time, if  $\theta$  is a random time such that for all  $t \geq 0$ , the set  $(\theta \leq t) := \{\omega \in \Omega : \theta(\omega) \leq t\}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_t$ .
- **Lemma 2.1**: [112] Let  $\theta$  be a random time.  $\theta$  is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -stopping time if and only if  $[0, \theta[$ , or equivalently  $[\theta + \infty[$ , is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -optional set.
- If Y is an  $\mathcal{H}_{\sigma}$ -measurable random variable, then the following processes are optional:

$$YI_{]\!]\sigma,\theta[\![}, \ YI_{[\![\sigma,\theta[\![}, \ YI_{]\!]\sigma,\theta]\!]}, \ YI_{[\![\sigma,\theta]\!]}.$$

- **Definition 2.5**: An  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable stopping time is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -stopping time such that the stochastic interval  $[0, \theta]$  is  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable.
- **Proposition 2.1**: [59, 112] Let T be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -stopping time, which is the debut  $T(\omega) = \inf\{t : (\omega, t) \in A\}$  of an  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable set A. If  $[T] \subset A$ , then T is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable time.

The following concept could be a kind of partner for predictable stopping times.

**Definition 2.6**: Let T be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -stopping time.

(i) T is called  $\mathbb{H}$ -totally inaccessible if  $P(T = \theta < +\infty) = 0$  for all  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable times  $\theta$ .

(ii) T is called  $\mathbb{H}$ -accessible if there exists a sequence of  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable stopping times  $\sigma_n$ , such that  $\llbracket T \rrbracket \subseteq \bigcup_{n \ge 1}^{\infty} \llbracket \sigma_n \rrbracket$ .

Any stopping time can be presented by a totally inaccessible part and accessible part. This idea is presented by the following theorem and we refer to [83, Theorem 2.22] for its proof.

**Theorem 2.1**: Let T be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -stopping time. There exist a sequence of  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable stopping times  $(S_n)_{n\geq 1}$  and a unique (up to  $\mathbb{P}$ -null set)  $\mathcal{H}_T$ -measurable subset Aon  $\{T < +\infty\}$ , such that the stopping time  $T_A$  is totally inaccessible, and the stopping time  $T_{A^c}$  satisfies  $[T_{A^c}] \subset \bigcup [S_n]$ .  $T_A$  is called the  $\mathbb{H}$ -totally inaccessible part of T, and  $T_{A^c}$  its  $\mathbb{H}$ -accessible part. They are unique, up to a  $\mathbb{P}$ -null set. **Definition 2.7**: A càdlàg  $\mathbb{H}$ -adapted process X is called quasi-left-continuous if  $\Delta X_T = 0$  a.s. on the set  $\{T < +\infty\}$  for every  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable stopping time T.

Here, we define martingale, sub-martingale, and super-martingale. We refer the reader to [64, 83] for more details and related properties.

- **Definition 2.8**: Let X be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -adapted càdlàg process on the stochastic basis  $(\Omega, \mathcal{H}, \mathbb{H}, P).$ 
  - (i) X is called an  $\mathbb{H}$ -martingale (resp. sub-martingale, resp. super-martingale) if  $E|X_t| < +\infty$  and for all  $s \leq t$ ,

$$E[X_t|\mathcal{H}_s] = X_s, \text{ (resp. } E[X_t|\mathcal{H}_s] \ge X_s, \text{ resp. } E[X_t|\mathcal{H}_s] \le X_s).$$
(2.1)

(ii) X is called an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale if there is an increasing sequence of  $\mathbb{H}$ stopping times  $(\theta_n)_{n\geq 1} \uparrow +\infty$ , such that each stopped process  $X^{\theta_n}$  is an  $\mathbb{H}$ martingale.

The set of all  $\mathbb{H}$ -martingales is denoted by  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{H})$ , and also the set of nondecreasing, right-continuous,  $\mathbb{H}$ -adapted and integrable processes will be denoted by  $\mathcal{A}^+(\mathbb{H})$ .

**Definition 2.9**: [99] Let M be a uniformly integrable martingale with  $M_0 = 0$ , and for  $1 \le p < +\infty$  we set

$$||M||_{BMO_p} = \sup_{\theta} ||\mathbb{E}[|M_{\infty} - M_{\theta_-}|^p|\mathcal{H}_{\theta}]^{1/p}||_{\infty}$$

where the supremum is taken over all stopping time  $\theta$ . Then we call

$$BMO_p := \{M : ||M||_{BMO_p} < \infty\},\$$

is denoted by  $BMO_p$ . M is called an  $BMO_1$ -martingale, if  $M \in BMO$  (i.e. p=1).

**Definition 2.10**:  $\mathcal{C}_0(\mathbb{H})$  denotes a class of processes for the filtration  $\mathbb{H}$ , with  $X_0 = 0$ .

 $\mathcal{C}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{H})$  denotes a class for the family of processes X, if there exists a sequence of  $\mathbb{H}$ -stopping times  $(\theta_n)_{n\geq 1}$ , such that the family of processes  $X^{\theta_n} \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{H})$ 

**Definition 2.11**: (i) Two  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingales M and N are called *orthogonal* if their product MN is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale.

(ii) An  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale X is called a *purely discontinuous*  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale (or a *pure jump*  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale) if  $X_0 = 0$  and if it is orthogonal to all continuous  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingales.

Below, the following corollary characterizing purely discontinuous  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingales.

**Corollary 2.1.1**: [83, Corollary I.4.55] Let  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{H})$ . M is a pure jump  $\mathbb{H}$ local martingale if for any continuous process  $N \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{H})$ , we have [M, N] = 0.

Here we state the decomposition theorem for local martingales.

**Theorem 2.2**: Any  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale M admits a unique (up to indistinguishability) decomposition

$$M = M_0 + M^c + M^d,$$

where  $M^c$  is a continuous  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale, and  $M^d$  is a pure jump  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale.

For its proof, we refer to [83, Theorem I.4.18].

**Definition 2.12**: An  $\mathbb{H}$ -semimartingale is a càdlàg  $\mathbb{H}$ -adapted process X of the form  $X = X_0 + M + A$ , where  $X_0$  is a finite-valued and  $\mathcal{H}_0$ -measurable random variable, M is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale and A is a finite variation process.

If A is predictable, we call X a special semimartingale and the decomposition  $X = X_0 + M + A$  is called the *canonical decomposition* of X. Furthermore,  $L(X, \mathbb{H})$  denotes the set of  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable processes  $\varphi$ , integrable with respect to X in the sense of semimartingale.

Below, the following theorem explaining the optional and predictable projection of a measurable process equipped with some integrability properties. For its proof, we refer to [59].

**Theorem 2.3**: Let X be a positive or bounded  $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}_+) \otimes \mathcal{H}$ -measurable process. There exist an  $\mathbb{H}$ -optional process  ${}^{o,\mathbb{H}}(X)$  and an  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process  ${}^{p,\mathbb{H}}(X)$  such that

$$E\left[X_T I_{\{T<+\infty\}} | \mathcal{H}_T\right] = {}^{o,\mathbb{H}}(X)_T I_{\{T<+\infty\}} \text{ a.s. for any }\mathbb{H}\text{-stopping time }T,$$
$$E\left[X_T I_{\{T<+\infty\}} | \mathcal{H}_{T-}\right] = {}^{p,\mathbb{H}}(X)_T I_{\{T<+\infty\}} \text{ a.s. for any }\mathbb{H}\text{-predictable time }T.$$

The two processes  $^{o,\mathbb{H}}(X)$  and  $^{p,\mathbb{H}}(X)$  are unique up to evanescent set; and they are called the  $\mathbb{H}$ -optional projection and  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable projection of X respectively.

Here, we state dual predictable projection theorem for an increasing, rightcontinuous and H-adapted process.

- **Theorem 2.4**: Let A be a process in  $\mathcal{A}^+_{loc}(\mathbb{H})$ . There exists a process  $A^{p,\mathbb{H}}$ , which is unique up to an evanescent set, and is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process in  $\mathcal{A}^+_{loc}(\mathbb{H})$ satisfying one of the following three equivalent properties:
  - (a)  $A A^{p,\mathbb{H}}$  is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale.
  - (b)  $E(A_T^{p,\mathbb{H}}) = E(A_T)$  for all  $\mathbb{H}$ -stopping times T.
  - (c)  $E[H \cdot A_{\infty}^{p,\mathbb{H}}] = E[H \cdot A_{\infty}]$  for all nonnegative  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process H.

The process  $A^{p,\mathbb{H}}$  is called the dual  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable projection or compensator of A.

**Proposition 2.2**: For any  $\mathbb{H}$ -semimartinagle L, we denote by  $\mathcal{E}(L)$  the Doleans-Dade (stochastic) exponential, which is the unique solution to the stochastic differential equation

$$dX = X_{-}dL, \quad X_0 = 1,$$

and is given by,

$$\mathcal{E}_t(L) = \exp(L_t - \frac{1}{2} \langle L^c \rangle_t) \prod_{0 < s \le t} (1 + \Delta L_s) e^{-\Delta L_s} , \ t \ge 0.$$

Here is another simple but useful result for the nondecreasing and predictable processes.

**Lemma 2.2**: Suppose V be a càdlàg (i.e. RCLL), nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process such that  $\Delta V < 1$ . Then  $1/(1 - \Delta V)$  is  $\mathbb{H}$ -locally bounded.

For its proof, we refer the reader to [8, Lemma A.2].

## 2.2 No-arbitrage and Deflators

In this section, we recall the definitions of no-arbitrage and deflators and we refer to [57, 61] for this topic. We start with no-arbitrage concepts and recall the definitions of No-Free-Lunch-with-Vanish-Risk (hereafter we called it NFLVR) and No-Unbounded-Profit-with-Bounded-Risk (NUPBR hereafter).

#### 2.2.1 No-arbitrage concepts

- **Definition 2.13**: Let *a* be a positive real number and *X* be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -semimartingale. An *X*-integrable  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process *H* is called *a*-admissible if  $H_0 = 0$  and  $H \cdot X_t \ge -a$  for all  $t \ge 0$ . *H* is called admissible if it is admissible for some  $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$ .
- **Definition 2.14**: Let X be an  $\mathcal{H}$ -semimartingale, and consider  $\mathbb{C}_0$ , as the cone of functions dominated by components of the set  $\mathbb{K}_0$ , where

$$\mathbb{K}_0 := \left\{ H \cdot X_\infty \mid H \text{ is } X - \text{admissible and } \lim_{t \to +\infty} H \cdot X_t \text{ exists} \right\},$$
$$\mathbb{K} := \mathbb{K}_0 \cap L^\infty, \text{ and } \mathbb{C} := \mathbb{C}_0 \cap L^\infty.$$

We say that the  $\mathcal{H}$ -semimartingale X satisfies the condition of

- (a) No Arbitrage (NA) if  $\mathbb{C} \cap L^{\infty}_{+} = \{0\}.$
- (b) No Free Lunch with Vanishing Risk (NFLVR) if  $\overline{\mathbb{C}} \cap L^{\infty}_{+} = \{0\}.$

**Remark 2.1**: (1) It is clear that (b) implies (a). The no-arbitrage property (NA) is equivalent to  $\mathbb{K}_0 \cap L^0_+ = \{0\}$  and has an obvious interpretation: there should be no possibility of obtaining a positive profit by trading alone according to an admissible strategy.

(2) The condition of NFLVR has the following economic interpretation: there should be no sequence of final payoffs of admissible integrands,  $f_n := H^n \cdot X_T$  such that the negative parts  $f_n^-$  tends to 0 uniformly and such that  $f_n$  tends almost surely to a  $[0, \infty]$ -valued function  $f_0$  satisfying  $P[f_0 > 0] > 0$ . If (NFLVR) is not satisfied then there is a  $f_0$  in  $L_+^\infty$ , not identically 0, as well as a sequence  $(f_n)_{n\geq 1}$  of elements in  $\mathbb{C}$ , tending almost surely to  $f_0$ , such that for all n, we have that  $f_n \geq f_0 - \frac{1}{n}$ . For more details we refer to [57].

**Definition 2.15**: The  $\mathbb{H}$ -semimartingale X is said to satisfy the No-Unbounded-Profit-with-Bounded-Risk (called NUPBR( $P, \mathcal{H}$ )) condition if the set

$$\mathbb{K}_1 := \left\{ H \cdot X_\infty \mid H \cdot X \ge -1 \text{ and } \lim_{t \to +\infty} H \cdot X_t \text{ exists} \right\}, \qquad (2.2)$$

is bounded in  $L^0(P)$  (i.e. bounded in probability under P).

**Remark 2.2**: The terminology of NUPBR is also articulated as *The First Kind of No Arbitrage* in Kardaras [93] or *(BK)* in Kabanov [90].

In the following lemma, we state relationships between (NA), (NUPBR) and (NFLVR). For its proof, we refer to [90].

**Lemma 2.3**: The semimartingale X satisfies (NFLVR) if and only if (NA) and (NUPBR) are satisfied, i.e., NFLVR = NA + NUPBR.

In the following theorem, we state one of the most important and fundamental concepts of asset pricing. We refer the reader to [55, 56].

**Theorem 2.5**: Let X be an  $(\mathbb{H}, P)$ -semimartingale. Then X satisfies NFLVR if and only if there exists a probability measure  $Q \sim P$  such that X is a  $\sigma$ -martingale with respect to Q (i.e. there exists  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process  $\varphi$  such that  $0 < \varphi \leq 1$ and  $\varphi \cdot X$  is a Q-martingale).

#### 2.2.2 Deflators

In this subsection, we recall the different class of deflators, which we use it frequently in this thesis. Namely, we define local martingale deflators, are also called in the literature by local  $\sigma$ -martingale density, and supermartingale deflators.

**Definition 2.16**: Let X be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -semimartingale and Z be a process.

(a) We call Z is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale deflator for X ( or a local martingale deflator for  $(X, \mathbb{H})$ ) if Z > 0 and there exists a real-valued and  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process  $\varphi$  such that  $0 < \varphi \leq 1$  and both processes Z > 0 and  $Z(\varphi \cdot X)$  are  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingales. Throughout the thesis, the set of all local martingale deflators for  $(X, \mathbb{H})$  will be denoted by  $\mathcal{Z}_{loc}(X, \mathbb{H})$ .

(b) We call Z is a  $\mathbb{H}$ -deflator for X (or a deflator for  $(X, \mathbb{H})$ ) if Z > 0 and  $Z\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X)$ is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -supermartingale, for any  $\varphi \in L(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that  $\varphi \Delta X \ge -1$ . Throughout the thesis, the set of all deflators for  $(X, \mathbb{H})$  will be denoted by  $\mathcal{D}(X, \mathbb{H})$ .

**Definition 2.17**: Consider an  $\mathbb{H}$ -semimartingale X and an  $\mathbb{H}$ -positive local martingale L > 0. We call L is the local martingale density for X if the product LX is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale.

We end this subsection by the simple but important lemma.

**Lemma 2.4**: Let  $\sigma$  be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -stopping time. Z is a deflator for  $(X^{\sigma}, \mathbb{H})$  if and only if there exists unique pair of processes  $(K_1, K_2)$  such that  $K_1 = (K_1)^{\sigma}$ ,  $\mathcal{E}(K_1)$  is also a deflator for  $(X^{\sigma}, \mathbb{H})$ ,  $K_2$  is any  $\mathbb{H}$ -local supermartingale satisfying  $(K_2)^{\sigma} \equiv 0$ ,  $\Delta K_2 > -1$ , and  $Z = \mathcal{E}(K_1 + K_2) = \mathcal{E}(K_1)\mathcal{E}(K_2)$ .

*Proof.* Suppose Z is a deflator for  $(X^{\sigma}, \mathbb{H})$ . Hence Z is a positive  $\mathbb{H}$ -supermartingale. Then there exists an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local supermartingale K, such that  $Z = \mathcal{E}(K)$ . Put  $K_1 := K^{\sigma}$  and  $K_2 := K - K^{\sigma}$ . Let  $\varphi$  be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process and X-integrable such that  $\varphi \Delta X > -1$ . Then  $Z\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X^{\sigma}) = \mathcal{E}(K + \varphi \cdot X^{\sigma} + \varphi \cdot [K, X^{\sigma}])$  is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -supermartingale if and only if  $Y := K + \varphi \cdot X^{\sigma} + \varphi \cdot [K, X]^{\sigma}$  is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local supermartingale. This is equivalent to  $Y - Y^{\sigma}$  and  $\mathcal{E}(Y^{\sigma}) = \mathcal{E}(K_1)\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X^{\sigma})$  are  $\mathbb{H}$ -local supermartingales. This ends the proof of the lemma.  $\Box$ 

This lemma shows, in a way or another, that when dealing with the stopped model  $(X^{\sigma}, \mathbb{H})$ , there is no loss of generality in focusing on the part up-to- $\sigma$  of deflators, and assume that the deflator is flat after  $\sigma$ .

### 2.3 Log-optimal portfolio and numéraire portfolio

In this subsection, we provide the mathematical definitions of the utility and the corresponding Merton's optimal portfolio problem afterwards, we refer to [110, 111].

**Definition 2.18**: A utility function is a function U satisfying the following:

(a) U is continuously differentiable, strictly increasing, and strictly concave on its effective domain dom(U).

(b) There exists  $u_0 \in [-\infty, 0]$  such that  $\operatorname{dom}(U) \subset (u_0, +\infty)$ .

The effective domain dom(U) is the set of  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  satisfying  $U(r) > -\infty$ .

Given a utility function U, an  $\mathbb{H}$ -semimartingale X, and a probability P, we define the set of admissible portfolios as follows

$$\mathcal{A}(X_0) := \left\{ \psi \mid \psi \in L(X), \ \psi \cdot X \ge -X_0 \ \& \ E^P \Big[ U^- (X_0 + (\psi \cdot X)_T) \Big] < +\infty \right\}.$$
(2.3)

When X = S, and U is fixed, we simply denote  $\mathcal{A}(X_0, S)$ .

Utility function captures the agent's preferences.

**Definition 2.19**: The Merton's optimal portfolio problem is given by

$$u(x) = \max_{\psi \in \mathcal{A}(X_0)} \mathbb{E}[U(X_T^{\psi})], \qquad \text{subject to} \quad X^{(\psi, X_0)} > 0.$$
(2.4)

Here  $\psi$  which is X-integrable (i.e.  $\psi \cdot S$  exists) and belongs to  $\mathcal{A}(X_0)$ , which is the set of all admissible strategies. Then, the dual problem is given by

$$\min_{Z \in \mathcal{D}(S,\mathbb{H})} \quad \mathbb{E}[V(Z_T)], \tag{2.5}$$

where  $V(y) = \max_{x>0}[U(x) - xy]$  is the conjugate function of U, and  $\mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{H})$  is the set of all deflators for the model  $(S, \mathbb{H})$ .

The solution to the Merton problem for a given initial wealth  $X_0$  is the optimal strategy to determine our investment plan up to the horizon time T. The optimal portfolio  $\psi$ , maximizes the expected utility function of the terminal wealth  $X_T$ .

Below, we provide the mathematical definition of numéraire portfolio concept.

**Definition 2.20**: Let  $(X, \mathbb{H}, P)$  be a model and Q be a probability measure such that  $Q \ll P$ . We call the numéraire portfolio, for the model  $(X, \mathbb{H}, Q)$  when it exists, the unique  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process  $\tilde{\phi} \in L(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that  $\mathcal{E}(\tilde{\phi} \cdot X) > 0$ , and  $\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot X) / \mathcal{E}(\tilde{\phi} \cdot X)$  is a supermartingale under Q, for any  $\phi \in L(X, \mathbb{H})$  satisfying  $\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot X) \geq 0$ . When Q = P, we simply say numéraire portfolio for  $(X, \mathbb{H})$ .

By comparing Definitions 2.16 and 2.20, it is clear that if the numéraire portfolio  $\widetilde{\phi}$  for  $(X, \mathbb{H})$  exists, then  $Z := 1/\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\phi} \cdot X)$  belongs to  $\mathcal{D}(X, \mathbb{H})$ .

It is known that this numéraire portfolio, that was initially introduced in [106], is intimately related to the notion of deflator (or local martingale deflator) in a way or another. The connection of the existence of numéraire portfolio to deflators was first established by [94], see also [27, 36, 91] and the references therein for different proofs and/or related topics.

By taking into account a possible change of probability and or even a density, a natural extension of the above definition will be as follows.

- **Definition 2.21**: Consider  $(X, \mathbb{H}, P)$ , and let Z be a positive  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale. We call numéraire portfolio for  $(X, \mathbb{H}, Z)$ , when it exists, is the unique  $\widetilde{\psi} \in L(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that  $\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\psi} \cdot X) > 0$ , and the process  $Z\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot X)/\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\psi} \cdot X)$  is a supermartingale, for any  $\phi \in L(X, \mathbb{H})$  satisfying  $\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot X) \ge 0$ .
- **Remark 2.3**: In the definition above, it is enough to consider the test processes  $\phi \in L(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that  $\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot X) > 0$ . In fact, we consider  $\phi_0 \in L(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that  $\mathcal{E}(\phi_0 \cdot X) > 0$ . Then for any  $\phi \in L(X, \mathbb{H})$  satisfying  $\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot X) \ge 0$  and any  $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$  we have  $\phi_{\epsilon} := \epsilon \phi_0 + (1 \epsilon) \phi$  belongs to  $L(X, \mathbb{H})$  satisfying  $\mathcal{E}(\phi_{\epsilon} \cdot X) > 0$  and  $\mathcal{E}(\phi_{\epsilon} \cdot X)$  converges to  $\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot X)$  when  $\epsilon$  goes to zero.

### 2.4 Predictable characteristics of a semimartingale

In this section, we will recall the theory of semimartingale. The use of semimartingale characteristics in mathematical finance can be traced back to Yuri Kabanov in [90]. Most of the results presented in this section can be founded in [81], Jacod and Shiryaev [83], He et al [73], and Choulli and Schweizer [38]. For detailed proofs, we refer the reader to the aforementioned works of literature.

An auxiliary measurable space  $(E, \mathcal{E})$  is *Blackwell space* if it is a separable space and for any  $(E, \mathcal{E})$  measurable random variable  $\xi$  admits a regular condition distribution. Throughout this thesis, we consider  $(E, \mathcal{E})$  is Blackwell space and it is presented by  $(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ .

**Definition 2.22**: A random measure on  $\mathbb{R}_+ \times E$  is a family  $\mu = \mu(\omega, dt, dx), \omega \in \Omega$ of nonnegative measure on  $(\mathbb{R}_+ \times E, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}_+) \otimes \mathcal{E})$  satisfying  $\mu(\omega, \{0\} \times E) = 0$  identically.

Throughout the thesis, on the space  $\left(\widetilde{\Omega} := \Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times E, \widetilde{\mathcal{H}} := \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}_+) \otimes \mathcal{B}(E)\right)$ , we will consider two  $\sigma$ -fields

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(\mathbb{H}) = \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{H}) \otimes \mathcal{B}(E) \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H}) = \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H}) \otimes \mathcal{B}(E).$$
 (2.6)

For an  $\mathbb{H}$ -adapted càdlàg process X, we denote the jump random measure associate with X by  $\mu$  ( $\mu_X^{\mathbb{H}}$  if confusion may arise), which is given by

$$\mu(\omega, dt, dx) := \sum_{s>0} I_{\{\Delta X_s(\omega) \neq 0\}} \delta_{(s,\Delta X_s(\omega))}(dt, dx), \qquad (2.7)$$

where  $\delta_a$  is the Dirac measure at the point a.

For an  $\mathcal{H}$ -measurable function, we define the integral process  $W \star \mu$  by

$$W \star \mu_t(\omega) := \begin{cases} \int_{[0,t] \times E} W(\omega, s, x) \mu(\omega, ds, dx), \text{ if } \int_{[0,t] \times E} |W(\omega, s, x)| \mu(\omega, ds, dx) < +\infty \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Another important and useful measure on  $(\widetilde{\Omega}, \widetilde{\mathcal{H}})$  is given by

$$M^{P}_{\mu}(\widetilde{B}) := E^{P}\left[\int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}\times E} I_{\widetilde{B}}(\omega, t, x) \ \mu(\omega, dt, dx)\right], \text{ for all } \widetilde{B} \in \widetilde{\mathcal{H}}.$$
 (2.8)

Thus, by  $M^P_{\mu}[g|\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})]$ , we denote the unique  $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})$ -measurable function, providing it exists, such that for any bounded  $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})$ -measurable function W,

$$M^P_{\mu}(Wg) := E\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}_+} \int_E W(s, x)g(s, x) \ \mu(ds, dx)\right) = M^P_{\mu}\left(WM^P_{\mu}\left[g\Big|\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})\right]\right).$$

**Remark 2.4**: In this thesis, the notation " $\star$ " presents integrals with respect to random measures.

**Definition 2.23**: A random measure  $\mu$  is called  $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(\mathbb{H})$ -optional (resp.  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable) if the process  $W \star \mu$  is  $\mathbb{H}$ -optional (resp.  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable) for every  $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(\mathbb{H})$ -measurable (resp.  $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})$ -measurable) function W.

For any  $\mu$ , a jump random measure of a process X, we associate a  $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})$ measurable random measure  $\nu$  satisfying  $W \star \mu - W \star \nu$  is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale. Moreover, there exists a predictable process  $A \in \mathcal{A}^+(\mathbb{H})$  and a kernel  $F(\omega, t, dx)$ from  $(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}_+, \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H}))$  into  $(E, \mathcal{E})$  such that

$$\nu(\omega, dt, dx) = dA_t(\omega) \ F(\omega, t, dx). \tag{2.9}$$

For any  $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}$ -measurable function W, we define the following processes

$$\begin{split} \widehat{W}_t(\omega) &:= \int_E W(\omega, t, x) \nu(\omega, \{t\} \times dx), \\ \widetilde{W}_t(\omega) &:= W(\omega, t, \Delta X_t(\omega)) I_{\{\Delta X \neq 0\}}(\omega, t) - \widehat{W}_t(\omega) \end{split}$$

Here, we evaluate two types of integrals corresponding to the pair of random measures  $(\mu, \nu)$ . Their integrals are denoted by  $W \star (\mu - \nu)$  and  $g \star \mu$ , if W belongs to the set of integrands  $\mathcal{G}^{1}_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{H})$  and g belongs to the set of integrands  $\mathcal{H}^{1}_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{H})$ respectively. The two sets of integrands are defined by

$$\mathcal{G}_{loc}^{1}(\mu, \mathbb{H}) := \left\{ W \in \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H}) : \sqrt{\sum_{s \leq \cdot} \widetilde{W}_{s}^{2}} \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}^{+}(\mathbb{H}) \right\} \text{ and} \\ \mathcal{H}_{loc}^{1}(\mathbb{H}, \mu) := \left\{ g : g \in \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(\mathbb{H}), M_{\mu}^{p}[g|\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H})] = 0, \sqrt{g^{2} \star \mu} \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}^{+}(\mathbb{H}) \right\}.$$
(2.10)

Here, we state an important theorem of this subsection, which is the *canonical* predictable representation for a semimartingale. We refer reader to [83, Theorem 2.34] for more details.

**Theorem 2.6**: Let X be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -semimartingale. Then X has the canonical representation:

$$X = X_0 + X^c + h \star (\mu - \nu) + (x - h(x)) \star \mu + B, \qquad (2.11)$$

where  $X^c$  is the continuous martingale part of X, B is a predictable finite variation process and h is a truncation function with the form of  $h(x) = xI_{\{|x| \le 1\}}$ .

For the matrix C with entries  $C^{ij} := [X^{c,i}, X^{c,j}]$ , the triple  $(B, C, \nu)$  is called predictable characteristics of X. Furthermore, we can find a version of the characteristics triplet satisfying

$$B = b \cdot A, \ C = c \cdot A, \ \text{and} \ \nu(\omega, dt, dx) = dA_t(\omega)F_t(\omega, dx).$$
(2.12)

Here, A is an increasing and predictable process, b and c are predictable processes and  $F_t(\omega, dx)$  is a predictable kernel such that

- $F_t(\omega, \{0\}) = 0, \qquad \int (|x|^2 \wedge 1) F_t(\omega, dx) \leq 1,$
- $\Delta B_t = \int h(x)\nu(\lbrace t \rbrace, dx), \quad c = 0 \text{ on } \lbrace \Delta A \neq 0 \rbrace,$
- $a_t := \nu(\lbrace t \rbrace, \mathbb{R}^d) = \Delta A_t F_t(\mathbb{R}^d) \le 1.$

Below, the following corollary characterizing H-special semimartingales.

**Corollary 2.6.1**: Let X be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -special semimartingale. Then X has the following decomposition:

$$X = X_0 + X^c + x \star (\mu - \nu) + B, \qquad (2.13)$$

where B is a predictable process with finite variation.

In the next theorem, we present the important *Jacod's representation* of local martingale with respect to a semimartingale X. We refer the reader to [81, Theorem 3.75] for more details. **Theorem 2.7**: [Jacod's representation] Suppose that X is quasi-left-continuous, and let  $N \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{H})$ . Then, there exist  $\beta \in L(X^c, \mathbb{H})$ ,  $N' \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{H})$  with [N', X] = 0 and functionals  $f \in \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})$  and  $g \in \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(\mathbb{F})$  such that the following hold. (a)  $\left(\sum_{s=0}^{t} (f(s, \Delta S_s) - 1)^2 I_{\{\Delta S_s \neq 0\}}\right)^{1/2}$  and  $\left(\sum_{s=0}^{t} g(s, \Delta S_s)^2 I_{\{\Delta S_s \neq 0\}}\right)^{1/2}$  belong to  $\mathcal{A}^+_{loc}$ .

(b)  $M^P_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})) = 0, P \otimes \mu$ -.a.e., and the process N is given by

$$N = \beta \cdot X^{c} + (f - 1) \star (\mu - \nu) + g \star \mu + N'.$$
(2.14)

Moreover,

$$\Delta N = \left(f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X)\right) I_{\{\Delta X \neq 0\}} + \Delta N'.$$
(2.15)

**Remark 2.5**: The Jacod representation is used frequently in this thesis. From now on, we call  $(\beta, f, g, N')$  the Jacod's parameters of N with respect to X.

The following lemma can be found in [38, Proposition 2.2].

**Lemma 2.5**: Let  $\mathcal{E}(N)$  be a positive local martingale and  $(\beta, f, g, N')$  be the Jacod's parameters of N. Then,  $\mathcal{E}(N) > 0$  (or equivalently  $1 + \Delta N > 0$ ) implies that

$$f > 0, \quad M^P_\mu - a.e$$

Here we recall simple but an important definition for the relationship between a local martingale M and a semimartingale X with characteristics  $(B, C, \nu)$ .

**Definition 2.24**: [83] Let M be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale, then it has following representation property related to semimartingale X if it has the form

$$M = M_0 + H \cdot X^c + W \star (\mu - \nu),$$

where  $H = (H^i)_{i \le d} \in L^2_{loc}(X^c)$  and  $W \in \mathcal{G}^1_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{H})$ .

For more details about *predictable characteristics* and related issues, we refer to [83, Section II.2]. For the sake of simplicity, we consider  $\sigma$ -special models, defined as follows.

**Definition 2.25**: The model  $(X, \mathbb{H})$  is called  $\sigma$ -special if

$$\sum \varphi |\Delta X| I_{\{|\Delta X|>1\}} \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}^+ \quad \text{for some real-valued and predictable } \varphi \text{ s.t. } 0 < \varphi \le 1.$$
(2.16)

It is clear that (2.16) is equivalent to  $\int_{(|x|>1)} |x| F(dx) < +\infty P \otimes A$ -a.e.. Throughout Thesis we consider the following set

$$\mathcal{L}(X,\mathbb{H}) := \left\{ \varphi \ d\text{-dimensional and predictable} \mid \varphi^{tr} \Delta X > -1 \right\}.$$
(2.17)

It is clear that  $\varphi$  belongs to  $\mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$  if and only if  $\varphi \in \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})$  and  $\varphi_t^{tr}(\omega)x > -1$  $P(d\omega) \otimes dA_t(\omega)F_t(\omega, dx)$ -a.e. .

**Lemma 2.6**: Let  $Z = \mathcal{E}(N)$  be a nonnegative local martingale such that

$$N = \beta \cdot S^{c} + (f - 1) \star (\mu - \nu) + g \star \mu + N'.$$

Then the following assertions hold.

(1) ZS is a local martingale if and only if  $(x - h(x) + x(f(x) - 1 + g(x))) \star \mu$  is a process with locally integrable variation and

$$b \cdot A + c\beta \cdot A + x - h(x) + x(f(x) - 1) \star \nu = 0.$$

(2) Consider  $N_1 := \beta \cdot S^c + (f-1) \star (\mu - \nu)$ . If ZS is a local martingale, then  $\mathcal{E}(N_1)S$  also is a local martingale.

For its proof, we refer reader to [43, lemma 2.4].

## 2.5 Enlargement of the flow of information

In this thesis, the additional information comes from a random time  $\tau$  (a positive random variable) that would represent different concepts in finance, namely, a default or bankruptcy time in credit risk, retirement or death time in insurance, etc. To capture the additional information from  $\tau$ , two main methods have been investigated. Precisely, these two methods are called initial enlargement of filtration, and progressive enlargement of filtration. In this thesis, in order to study the additional element and concept to the usual setup, in our case random horizon, we need to find a suitable framework. The most adequate method is progressive enlargement of filtration, as the random time cannot be seen before it occurs. By using this method we can capture the additional information carried by the random horizon. Below, we recall preliminary properties of progressive enlargement of filtration and we refer the reader to Jeulin [86] for their proofs and other related topics.

For the rest of the thesis, we consider a filtered probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F} := (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \geq 0}, P)$ satisfying the usual conditions. Here  $\mathbb{F}$  is the public flow of information. To this initial model, we consider a random time  $\tau : \Omega \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$ , that represents the random horizon, which might not be an  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping time. Throughout the thesis, we will be using the following associated process D and the filtration  $\mathbb{G} := (\mathcal{G}_t)_{t \geq 0}$ ,

$$D := I_{\llbracket \tau, +\infty \rrbracket}, \quad \mathcal{G}_t := \mathcal{G}_{t+}^0 \text{ where } \mathcal{G}_t^0 := \mathcal{F}_t \lor \sigma \left( D_s, \ s \le t \right).$$
(2.18)

Thus, the agent who has access to  $\mathbb{F}$ , can only get information about  $\tau$  through the following survival probabilities, called in the literature by Azéma supermartingales

$$G_t := P(\tau > t | \mathcal{F}_t)$$
 and  $\widetilde{G}_t := P(\tau \ge t | \mathcal{F}_t).$ 

Both G and  $\widetilde{G}$  are supermartingales, where G is RCLL, but  $\widetilde{G}$  has right and left

limits only. The process

$$m := G + D^{o,\mathbb{F}},\tag{2.19}$$

is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale. One has to note that the above process m is not the Doob-Meyer decomposition of G in general. Since the second term above is  $\mathbb{H}$ -dual optional projection of process D and in the Doob-Meyer decomposition of G, its  $\mathbb{H}$ -dual predictable projection appears. The following important theorem from Jeulin [86], provides a classic relationship between  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingales and  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingales on  $[0, \tau]$ , which has been developed recently in [10, 33] and references therein.

**Proposition 2.3**: Let  $\tau$  be a random time. Then the following hold:

- (a) If X is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -semimartingale,  $X^{\tau}$  (i.e. X stopped at  $\tau$ ) is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -semimartingale.
- (b) If X is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale, then

$$\overline{X}_t = X_{t\wedge\tau} - \int_0^{t\wedge\tau} \frac{1}{G_{s-}} d\langle X, m \rangle_s^{\mathbb{F}}, \qquad t \ge 0.$$
(2.20)

is a G-local martingale.

The following is an useful result, from [6, Lemma B.1], for relationships between functional measurability in  $\mathbb{F}$  and  $\mathbb{G}$ .

**Lemma 2.7**: Suppose that  $\tau$  is a random time. Let  $H^{\mathbb{G}}$  be an  $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{G})$ -measurable functional and  $0 \leq H^{\mathbb{G}} \leq 1$ . Then, there exists a  $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{F})$ -measurable functional  $H^{\mathbb{F}}$  and  $0 \leq H^{\mathbb{F}} \leq 1$ , such that

$$H^{\mathbb{G}}(\omega,t,x)I_{[\![0,\tau]\!]}=H^{\mathbb{F}}(\omega,t,x)I_{[\![0,\tau]\!]}.$$

### 2.6 G-stochastic structures versus those of $\mathbb{F}$

Next, we shall study about G-local martingale representations theorems.
**Theorem 2.8**: For any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale, M, the process

$$\mathcal{T}(M) := M^{\tau} - \widetilde{G}^{-1} I_{\llbracket 0, \tau \rrbracket} \cdot [M, m] + I_{\llbracket 0, \tau \rrbracket} \cdot \left( \sum \Delta M I_{\{\widetilde{G}=0 < G_{-}\}} \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}, \quad (2.21)$$

is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale.

For this claim we refer the reader to [10]. Thus, our first class of G-martingales is given by

$$\mathcal{M}^{(1)}(\mathbb{G}) := \left\{ \mathcal{T}(M) \text{ defined in } (2.21) \mid \mathcal{T}(M)_{\infty} \in L^{1}(P), \ M \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F}) \right\}.$$
(2.22)

We recall from Choulli et al. [33] that the following process is a G-martingale. In the following, they propose a new G-martingale, and show that it has nice features such as a larger set of integrands than the usual G-predictable integrands. This new martingale is the core generator of a second class of G-(local)martingales.

**Theorem 2.9**: Consider the following process

$$N^{\mathbb{G}} := D - \widetilde{G}^{-1} I_{\llbracket 0, \tau \rrbracket} \cdot D^{o, \mathbb{F}}.$$
(2.23)

Then, the following assertions hold.

(i)  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale with integrable variation.

(ii) Let K be an  $\mathbb{F}$ -optional process, which is Lebesgue-Stieltjes integrable with respect to  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$ . Then,

$$K \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{A}(\mathbb{G}) \quad iff \quad [K \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}] \in \mathcal{A}^+(\mathbb{G}) \quad iff \quad K \in \mathcal{I}^o(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \qquad (2.24)$$

where

$$\mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(N^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G}) := \left\{ K \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{F}) \mid \mathbb{E}\left[ |K| G \widetilde{G}^{-1} I_{\widetilde{G}>0} \bullet D_{\infty} \right] < +\infty \right\}.$$
(2.25)

Furthermore, in the case where K belongs to  $\mathcal{I}^{o}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G})$  (resp. to  $\mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G})$ ), the process  $K \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale with integrable variation (resp. is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale with local integrable variation).

(iii) The elements of

$$\mathcal{M}^{(2)}(\mathbb{G}) := \left\{ K \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} \mid K \in \mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \text{ i.e. } K \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{F}) \text{ and } |K| \cdot Var(N^{\mathbb{G}}) \in \mathcal{A}^{+}_{loc}(\mathbb{G}) \right\},$$

are G-martingales orthogonal to locally bounded elements of  $\mathcal{M}_{loc}^{(1)}(\mathbb{G})$  defined in (2.22).

(iv) For  $K \in \mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G})$  and  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping time  $\sigma$ , the process  $(K \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}})^{\sigma-}$  is also a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale.

#### **Theorem 2.10**: [33] The following assertions hold.

(i) For any  $k \in L^1(\mathcal{P}_{rog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$ , there exists a unique (up to a  $\mu := P \otimes D$ -negligible set)  $\mathbb{F}$ -optional process, h, satisfying

$$\mathbb{E}\left[k_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}\right] = h_{\tau} \quad P\text{-a.s.} \quad on \quad \{\tau < +\infty\}.$$
(2.26)

(ii) The elements of the set

$$\mathcal{M}^{(3)}(\mathbb{G}) := \left\{ k \cdot D \mid k \in L^1\left(\mathcal{P}_{rog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D\right) \quad and \quad \mathbb{E}[k_\tau | \mathcal{F}_\tau] = 0 \ P \cdot a.s \right\}$$

$$(2.27)$$

are  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingales that are orthogonal to locally bounded elements of  $\mathcal{M}_{loc}^{(1)}(\mathbb{G})$  and  $\mathcal{M}_{loc}^{(2)}(\mathbb{G})$ .

Now for parametrizing the class of  $\mathbb{G}$ -deflators for the model  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ , we need to see the decomposition of any  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingales stopping at random time  $\tau$ . For the sake of this goal, we slightly extend the representation theorem [33, Theorem 2.8] to the case of  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingales when the process G never vanishes.

**Theorem 2.11**: Suppose that G > 0. Then for any  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale  $M^{\mathbb{G}}$ , there

exists a unique triplet  $(M^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  that belongs to

$$\mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}\left(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}\right) \times L_{loc}^{1}\left(\widetilde{\Omega}, \operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D\right)$$

 $and \ satisfies$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}\right] I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0, \quad P\text{-}a.s., \tag{2.28}$$

and

$$\left(M^{\mathbb{G}}\right)^{\tau} = M_0^{\mathbb{G}} + G_{-}^{-2} I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket} \cdot \mathcal{T}(M^{\mathbb{F}}) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(2.29)

Proof. Let  $M^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{G})$ , then there exists a sequence of  $\mathbb{G}$ -stopping times,  $T_{n\{n\geq 0\}}$ , that increases to infinity such that  $(M^{\mathbb{G}})^{T_n}$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale. On the one hand, thanks to [6, Proposition B.2-(b)], we deduce the existence of a sequence of  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times  $(\sigma_n)_n$  that increases to infinity and

$$T_n \wedge \tau = \sigma_n \wedge \tau, \qquad n \ge 1.$$

On the other hand, due to the assumption G > 0 and by applying [33, Theorem 2.20] to each  $(M^{\mathbb{G}})^{T_n} - (M^{\mathbb{G}})^{T_{n-1}}$ , we obtain the existence of sequence of triplet  $(M^{\mathbb{F},n}, \varphi^{(o,n)}, \varphi^{(pr,n)})$  that belongs to

$$\mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}\left(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}\right) \times L_{loc}^{1}\left(\widetilde{\Omega}, \operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D\right)$$

and satisfies

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr,n)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}\right] I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0, \quad P\text{-a.s.},$$

and

$$(M^{\mathbb{G}})^{\tau \wedge T_n} - (M^{\mathbb{G}})^{\tau \wedge T_{n-1}} = G_{-}^{-2} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot \mathcal{T}(M^{\mathbb{F},n}) + \varphi^{(o,n)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr,n)} \cdot D.$$

Notice that  $(M^{\mathbb{G}})^{\tau} - M_0^{\mathbb{G}} = \sum_{n \ge 1} (M^{\mathbb{G}})^{\tau \wedge T_n} - (M^{\mathbb{G}})^{\tau \wedge T_{n-1}})$ , and put

$$\sigma_{0} = 0, \quad \varphi^{(o)} := \sum_{n \ge 1} I_{\llbracket \sigma_{n-1}, \sigma_{n} \rrbracket} \varphi^{(o,n)}, \quad \varphi^{(pr)} := \sum_{n \ge 1} I_{\llbracket \sigma_{n-1}, \sigma_{n} \rrbracket} \varphi^{(pr,n)},$$
$$M^{\mathbb{F}} := \sum_{n \ge 1} I_{\llbracket \sigma_{n-1}, \sigma_{n} \rrbracket} \cdot M^{\mathbb{F}, n}.$$

This ends the proof of the theorem.

Here, we recall important results about computing the compensator of  $\mu^{\mathbb{G}}$  -which is the jump measure  $X^{\tau}$ - and the canonical representation of  $X^{\tau}$  in  $\mathbb{G}$ . For detailed proofs of the next two theorems, we refer to [6, 8, 10].

**Proposition 2.4**: Let  $\mu$  be the jump measure of X and  $\nu$  be its  $\mathbb{F}$ -compensator. Then, on  $[\![0,\tau]\!]$ , the  $\mathbb{G}$ -compensator of  $I_{[\![0,\tau]\!]} \cdot \mu$  is given by

$$\nu^{\mathbb{G}} := \left(I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket} \cdot \mu\right)^{p,\mathbb{G}} = \frac{M^{P}_{\mu}[\widetilde{G}|\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})]}{G_{-}} I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket} \cdot \nu.$$
(2.30)

**Theorem 2.12**: Let X be an  $\mathbb{F}$ -semimartingale with the canonical representation

$$X = X_0 + X^c + (x - h) \star \mu + h \star (\mu - \nu) + B.$$

Then the canonical representation of  $X^{\tau}$  is given by

$$X^{\tau} = X_0 + \widehat{X^c} + h \star (\mu^{\mathbb{G}} - \nu^{\mathbb{G}}) + (x - h) \star \mu^{\mathbb{G}} + \widetilde{B}, \qquad (2.31)$$

where  $\widehat{X^c}$  is defined via (2.20) and,

$$\widetilde{B} := B^{\tau} + \frac{I_{\llbracket 0, \tau \rrbracket}}{G_{-}} \cdot \langle X^{c}, m \rangle^{\mathbb{H}} + h \frac{M^{P}_{\mu}[\Delta m | \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})]}{G_{-}} I_{\llbracket 0, \tau \rrbracket} \star \nu.$$

The following lemma recalls the  $\mathbb{G}$ -compensator of any  $\mathbb{F}$ -optional process stopped at a random time  $\tau$ .

**Lemma 2.8**: [6] For any  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted process V with locally integrable variation, we have  $(V^{\tau})^{P,\mathbb{G}} = G_{-}^{-1}I_{]]0,\tau]} \cdot (\widetilde{G} \cdot V)^{P,\mathbb{F}}$ .

# Chapter 3

# Explicit description of all deflators for models stopped at random time

Throughout this chapter, we consider an initial market model, specified by its underlying assets S and its flow of information  $\mathbb{F}$ , and an arbitrary random time  $\tau$ which might not be an  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping time. In this setting, our principal goal resides in describing as explicit as possible the set of all deflators, which constitutes the dual set of all "admissible" wealth processes, for the stopped model  $S^{\tau}$ . Since the death time and the default time (that  $\tau$  might represent) can be seen when they occur only, the progressive enlargement of  $\mathbb{F}$  with  $\tau$  sounds tailor-fit for modelling the new flow of information that incorporates both  $\mathbb{F}$  and  $\tau$ . Thanks to the deep results of Choulli et al. [33], on martingales classification and representation for progressive enlarged filtration, our aim is fully achieved for both cases of local martingale deflators and supermartingale delators. The results are illustrated on several particular models for  $(\tau, S, \mathbb{F})$  such as the discrete-time and the jump-diffusion settings for  $(S, \mathbb{F})$ , and the case when  $\tau$  avoids  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times. This chapter contains six sections. The first section presents some useful intermediate results that are interesting in themselves beyond their role in proving the main theorems of this chapter. The second section states the explicit parametrization of local martingale deflators for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . We illustrate the main theorems on particular models and their related discussions in the third and fourth sections. Section 5 addresses the case of supermartingale deflators. In the last section, we present particular models for the supermartingale deflators.

## 3.1 Preliminary results

This section contains some useful technical (new and existing) results with detailed proofs. The results might have applications beyond this chapter.

#### 3.1.1 Some $\mathbb{G}$ -properties versus those in $\mathbb{F}$

In the following proposition, we explain briefly some  $\mathbb{G}$ -properties versus those in  $\mathbb{F}$ . These results appear naturally in the proofs of our important theorems of this chapter. Besides this, they sound important in themselves.

#### **Proposition 3.1**: The following assertions hold.

(a) For any  $\mathbb{G}$ -predictable process  $\varphi^{\mathbb{G}}$ , there exists an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process  $\varphi^{\mathbb{F}}$  such that

$$\varphi^{\mathbb{G}} = \varphi^{\mathbb{F}} \quad on \quad ]\!]0,\tau]\!].$$

If, furthermore,  $\varphi^{\mathbb{G}}$  is bounded, then  $\varphi^{\mathbb{F}}$  can be chosen to be bounded with the same constants.

(b) Suppose G > 0. Then for a bounded  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  (i.e.  $\theta$  is  $\mathbb{G}$ -predictable such that  $\theta^{tr} \Delta S^{\tau} > -1$ ), there exists a bounded  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  that coincides with  $\theta$  on  $[0, \tau]$ .

(c) Suppose G > 0. Let  $V^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -predictable, RCLL and nondecreasing process

with finite values such that  $(V^{\mathbb{G}})^{\tau} = V^{\mathbb{G}}$ . Then there exists a unique nondecreasing with finite values, RCLL, and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process, V, such that  $V^{\mathbb{G}} = V^{\tau}$ . If furthermore  $\Delta V^{\mathbb{G}} < 1$ , then  $\Delta V < 1$  holds also.

*Proof.* Remark that the boundedness condition for  $\varphi^{\mathbb{G}}$  can be reduced to the condition  $0 \leq \varphi^{\mathbb{G}} \leq 1$ . Thus, assertion (a) is a particular case of the general case treated in [6, Lemma B.1] (see also [86, Lemma 4.4 (b)]). Hence, its proof will be omitted, and we refer the reader to [6] and [86]. Thus, the remaining part of this proof focuses on proving assertions (b) and (c) in two parts.

**Part 1.** Here we prove assertion (b). Consider a bounded  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . Then  $\theta$  is a bounded and  $\mathbb{G}$ -predictable process satisfying  $\theta^{tr} \Delta S^{\tau} > -1$ . Thus, in virtue of assertion (a), there exists a bounded and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process  $\varphi$  such that

$$\theta I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket} = \varphi I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket}$$

Then by inserting this equality in  $\theta^{tr}\Delta S^{\tau} > -1$ , we deduce that

$$\varphi^{tr} \Delta SI_{[]0,\tau]]} > -1,$$

which is equivalent to  $I_{[0,\tau]} \leq I_{\{\varphi^{tr}\Delta S > -1\}}$ . By taking the F-optional projection on both sides of this inequality, we get  $0 < G \leq I_{\{\varphi^{tr}\Delta S > -1\}}$  on  $]]0, +\infty[]$ , or equivalently  $\varphi^{tr}\Delta S > -1$ . Hence  $\varphi$  belongs to  $\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , and the proof of assertion (b) is complete. **Part 2.** This part proves assertion (c). Consider a G-predictable, RCLL, and nondecreasing process with finite values  $V^{\mathbb{G}}$  such that  $(V^{\mathbb{G}})^{\tau} = V^{\mathbb{G}}$ . It is clear that there is no loss of generality in assuming that  $V^{\mathbb{G}}$  is bounded. Then due to [86, Lemma 4.4 (b)] (see also [6, Lemma B.1]), there exists an F-predictable process Vsuch that

$$V^{\mathbb{G}}I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket} = VI_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket}.$$
(3.1)

By writing  $V^{\mathbb{G}}I_{[0,\tau[]} = V^{\mathbb{G}} - V^{\mathbb{G}}_{\tau}I_{[\tau,+\infty[]}$  -which is obviously a RCLL bounded  $\mathbb{G}$ semimartingale- and by taking the  $\mathbb{F}$ -optional projection on both sides of (3.1), we get  $V = {}^{o,\mathbb{F}} (V^{\mathbb{G}}I_{[0,\tau[]})/G$ . Hence V is a RCLL  $\mathbb{F}$ -semimartingale that is predictable. As a result, the Doob-Meyer decomposition guarantees the existence of a continuous  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale L with  $L_0 = 0$  and an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process with finite variation Bsuch that V = L + B. Since  $V^{\mathbb{G}}$  is predictable with finite variation and

$$V^{\mathbb{G}} = V^{\tau} = L^{\tau} + B^{\tau} = \left(L^{\tau} - G_{-}^{-1}I_{]0,\tau]} \cdot \langle L, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}}\right) + G_{-}^{-1}I_{]0,\tau]} \cdot \langle L, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + B^{\tau},$$

then we conclude that the G-local martingale  $L^{\tau} - G_{-}^{-1}I_{]]0,\tau]} \cdot \langle L, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}}$  is null. This implies that  $[L, L]^{\tau}$  is also a null process since L is continuous, or equivalently  $L \equiv 0$ due to the assumption G > 0. This proves that V = B has a finite variation. To prove that V is nondecreasing, it is enough to remark that  $(V^{\mathbb{G}})^{p,\mathbb{F}}$  is nondecreasing and  $V = G_{-}^{-1} \cdot (V^{\mathbb{G}})^{p,\mathbb{F}}$ . This proves the first statement of assertion (c), while the proof of the last statement of assertion (c) follows the same foot steps of part 1). Indeed  $\Delta V^{\mathbb{G}} = \Delta V I_{]0,\tau]} < 1$  holds if and only if  $I_{]0,\tau]} \leq I_{\{\Delta V < 1\}}$  holds, and this implies –after taking the  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable projection on both sides of this inequality– that  $0 < G_{-} \leq I_{\{\Delta V < 1\}}$  on  $]]0, +\infty[]$ . This is equivalent to  $\Delta V < 1$ , due to  $G_{-} > 0$ . This property,  $(i.e.G_{-} > 0)$ , follows from the assumption G > 0 and the fact that both sets  $\{G_{-} > 0\}$  and  $\{G > 0\}$  have the same début. For this last fact, we refer the reader to [86, Lemme (4.3)]. This ends the proof of the proposition.

The following lemma recalls the  $\mathbb{G}$ -compensator of  $\mathbb{F}$ -optional processes stopped at a random time  $\tau$ .

**Lemma 3.1**: Let  $V \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}(\mathbb{F})$ , then we have

$$(V^{\tau})^{p,\mathbb{G}} = I_{[0,\tau]} G_{-}^{-1} \cdot (\widetilde{G} \cdot V)^{p,\mathbb{F}}.$$

For the proof of this lemma and other related results, we refer to [6, 7, 8].

## 3.1.2 Useful integration properties

**Lemma 3.2**: Let  $\varphi$  be a real-valued and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process,  $N^{\mathbb{F}} \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$ ,  $\varphi^{(o)} \in \mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G})$ , and  $\varphi^{(pr)} \in L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$  such that

$$\mathbb{E}[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 \quad P\text{-a.s., and}$$

$$\left(1 + \frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}\widetilde{G}}\right) I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} + \varphi^{(o)} \Delta N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \Delta D > 0, \quad 0 < \varphi \le 1.$$
(3.2)

Then the process

$$W := \sum \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S|>1\}} \left[ \left( 1 + \frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}\tilde{G}} \right) I_{]]0,\tau]} + \varphi^{(o)} \Delta N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \Delta D \right]$$

has a G-locally integrable variation if and only if both processes

$$W^{(1)} := \sum \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S|>1\}} (1 + \frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}\widetilde{G}}) I_{]]0,\tau]} \quad and$$
$$W^{(2)} := \sum \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S|>1\}} [\varphi^{(o)} \Delta N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \Delta D]$$

belong to  $\mathcal{A}_{loc}(\mathbb{G})$ .

*Proof.* Due to the first condition in (3.2), it is clear that  $W \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}(\mathbb{G})$  iff

$$W^+ := \sum |\varphi \Delta S| I_{\{|\Delta S|>1\}} [(1 + \frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_-\widetilde{G}}) I_{]]0,\tau]]} + \varphi^{(o)} \Delta N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \Delta D] \in \mathcal{A}^+_{loc}(\mathbb{G}).$$

By stopping, there is no loss of generality in assuming that  $E[W_{\infty}^+] < +\infty$ . Thus, since both processes  $\sum |\varphi \Delta S| I_{\{k \ge |\Delta S| > 1\}} \varphi^{(o)} \Delta N^{\mathbb{G}} = |\varphi \Delta S| I_{\{k \ge |\Delta S| > 1\}} \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}$  and  $\sum |\varphi \Delta S| I_{\{k \ge |\Delta S| > 1\}} \varphi^{(pr)} \Delta D = |\varphi \Delta S| I_{\{k \ge |\Delta S| > 1\}} \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D$  are  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale, we derive

$$\begin{split} E\left[\sum |\varphi\Delta S|I_{\{|\Delta S|>1\}}[(1+\frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}\widetilde{G}})I_{]\!]0,\tau]}\right] &= \lim_{k \to +\infty} E\left[\sum |\varphi\Delta S|I_{\{1<|\Delta S|\leq k\}}(1+\frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}\widetilde{G}})I_{]\!]0,\tau]}\right] \\ &= \lim_{k \to +\infty} E[(I_{\{|\Delta S|\leq k\}} \cdot W^{+})_{\infty}] \leq E[W_{\infty}^{+}] < +\infty. \end{split}$$

This proves that  $W^{(1)} \in \mathcal{A}(\mathbb{G})$ , and hence  $W^{(2)} = W - W^{(1)} \in \mathcal{A}(\mathbb{G})$ . Thus, the proof of the lemma is complete.

# **Lemma 3.3**: Suppose G > 0. Let M be an $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale with bounded jumps. Then the following assertions hold.

- (a) Let A be an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process with finite variation. Then  $[\mathcal{T}(M), A^{\tau}]$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale.
- (b) Let  $A^{(o)} \in I^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G})$ . Then  $A^{(o)} \cdot [N^{\mathbb{G}}, M^{\tau}]$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale process. (c) Let  $A^{(pr)} \in L^{1}_{loc}(\mathcal{P}_{rog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$  such that  $\mathbb{E}\left[A^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid F_{\tau}\right] I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  P-a.s.. Then  $A^{(pr)} \cdot [D, M^{\tau}]$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale process.

*Proof.* (a) Let A be an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process with finite variation. Then by applying [83, lemma 4.49], we get  $[\mathcal{T}(M), A^{\tau}] = \Delta A^{\tau} \cdot \mathcal{T}(M)$  which is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale, since  $\mathcal{T}(M)$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale and  $\Delta A$  is locally bounded.

(b) By stopping, there is no loss of generality in assuming  $A^{(o)} \in I^o(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G})$ . Then,  $A^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale. Since  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale with finite variation and  $M^{\tau}$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -semimartingale, we derive

$$A^{(o)} \cdot [N^{\mathbb{G}}, M^{\tau}] = [A^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}, M^{\tau}] = \Sigma \Delta M A^{(o)} I_{]]0,\tau]} \Delta N^{\mathbb{G}} = \Delta M A^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}.$$
(3.3)

Then  $\tilde{A}^{(o)} := \Delta M A^{(o)}$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -optional process as it is a product of  $\Delta M$  and  $A^{(o)}$ that are both  $\mathbb{F}$ -optional processes. Therefore, since  $|\Delta M|$  is bounded and  $A^{(o)} \in I^o(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G})$ , we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left[|\tilde{A}^{(o)}|G\tilde{G}^{-1}I_{\{\tilde{G}>0\}} \cdot D_{\infty}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[|\Delta M A^{(o)}|G\tilde{G}^{-1}I_{\{\tilde{G}>0\}} \cdot D_{\infty}\right] < +\infty$$
(3.4)

This proves that  $\tilde{A}^{(o)} \in I^o(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G})$ . Hence, in virtue of Theorem 2.9 and (3.3), we deduce that  $A^{(o)} \cdot [N^{\mathbb{G}}, M^{\tau}]$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale process.

(c) Again, by stopping, we assume that  $A^{(pr)} \in L^1(\mathcal{P}_{rog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$ . Then, it is clear that  $A^{(pr)} \cdot D$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale. Since both D and  $M^{\tau}$  are  $\mathbb{G}$ -semimartingales, we obtain

$$A^{(pr)} \cdot [D, M^{\tau}] = [A^{(pr)} \cdot D, M^{\tau}] = \Sigma \Delta M A^{(pr)} I_{]]0,\tau]} \Delta D = \Delta M A^{(pr)} \cdot D. \quad (3.5)$$

Here,  $\tilde{A}^{(pr)} := \Delta M A^{(pr)}$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -progressive process, since  $A^{(pr)}$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -progressive process and  $\Delta M$  is a bounded  $\mathbb{F}$ -optional process. Furthermore, these imply that  $\tilde{A}^{(pr)} \in L^1\left(\mathcal{P}_{rog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D\right)$ , and

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\tilde{A}_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid F_{\tau}\right] I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = \Delta M_{\tau} \cdot \mathbb{E}\left[A_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid F_{\tau}\right] I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0.$$

Hence, by combining (3.5) and Theorem 2.10, one can conclude that  $A^{(pr)} \cdot [D, M^{\tau}]$ is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale. This completes the proof of the lemma.

**Lemma 3.4**: Suppose that X is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale,  $Z := \mathcal{E}(X) > 0$  and Y is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -semimartingale. Then  $\mathcal{E}(X) Y$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale if and only if Y + [X, Y] is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale.

*Proof.* First of all, since Z > 0, we conclude that both processes  $Z_{-}$  and  $1/Z_{-}$  are  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable and locally bounded. As a result,  $Z_{-} \cdot M$  is a  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale for any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale M. By combining Ito's formula and  $Z = \mathcal{E}(X) = 1 + Z_{-} \cdot X$ , we get the following

$$ZY = \mathcal{E}(X) Y = Y_{-} \cdot Z + Z_{-} \cdot Y + Z_{-} \cdot [X, Y] = Y_{-} \cdot Z + Z_{-} \cdot (Y + [Y, X]).$$

Thus, since  $Y_- \cdot Z$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale and  $1/Z_-$  is locally bounded, we deduce that  $\mathcal{E}(X) Y$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale if and only if (Y + [Y, X]) is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale.

The next section addresses the set of all local martingale deflators (also called in the literature by the set of all local martingale densities) for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ .

# 3.2 Local martingale deflators: The general setting

This section focuses on describing completely the set of all local martingale deflators, defined in Definition 2.16-(a), for the model  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  in terms of those of  $(S, \mathbb{F})$ . Throughout the rest of this section, we adopt the convention  $1/0^+ = +\infty$ .

Below, we state the main result of this section. Recall that the set of all local martingale deflators of  $(X, \mathbb{H})$  is donated by  $\mathcal{Z}_{loc}(X, \mathbb{H})$ 

- **Theorem 3.1**: Suppose G > 0, and let  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent.
  - (a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ .

(b) There exists  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}) \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}),$  $\varphi^{(pr)} \in L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$  and  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  *P-a.s., and the following three conditions hold:* 

(b.1)  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  (i.e.  $Z^{\mathbb{F}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) \in \mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S, \mathbb{F})$ ).

(b.2) The following inequalities hold

$$\varphi^{(pr)} > -\left[G_{-}(1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) + \varphi^{(o)}G\right]/\widetilde{G}, \qquad P \otimes D - a.e., \tag{3.6}$$

$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G}(1+\Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) < \varphi^{(o)}, \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} \text{-a.e. and} \quad \varphi^{(o)} \Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}} < (1+\Delta K^{\mathbb{F}})G_{-}.$$
(3.7)

(b.3) The following decomposition holds.

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(3.8)

*Proof.* The proof will be achieved in two steps. The first step proves that  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$ 

is a local martingale for which there exists a  $\mathbb{G}$ -predictable process  $\varphi^{\mathbb{G}}$  satisfying  $0 < \varphi^{\mathbb{G}} \leq 1$  and  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})(\varphi^{\mathbb{G}} \cdot S^{\tau})$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale if and only if there exists a quadruplet  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)}, \varphi^{\mathbb{F}})$  element of

$$\mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega},\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}),P\otimes D) \times L(S,\mathbb{F})$$

such that (3.8) holds and  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})(\varphi^{\mathbb{F}} \cdot S)$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale. The second step proves that  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) > 0$  if and only if the triplet  $(K^{\mathbb{G}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$ , found in the first step satisfying (3.8), should fulfills (3.6)-(3.7) and  $1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > 0$ .

**Step 1)** Suppose that  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . On the one hand, thanks to [33, Theorem 2.20], there exists a triplet  $(N^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$ such that  $N^{\mathbb{F}}$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale,  $\varphi^{(o)} \in \mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \varphi^{(pr)} \in L_{loc}^{1}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$ , and  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$  has the following unique decomposition in  $\mathbb{G}$ ;

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = K_0^{\mathbb{G}} + G_{-}^{-2} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(3.9)

On the other hand, thanks to a combination of Definition 2.16 and Lemma 3.1-(a), we deduce the existence of an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process  $\varphi$  such that  $0 < \varphi \leq 1$  and  $\varphi^{\mathbb{G}}I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} = \varphi I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]}$ . Then  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}(\varphi \cdot S^{\tau})$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale, or equivalently

$$\varphi \cdot S^{\tau} + [\varphi \cdot S^{\tau}, K^{\mathbb{G}}]$$
 is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. (3.10)

Thus, using the decomposition  $S = S_0 + M + A + \sum \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta|>1\}}$  where M is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale with bounded jumps and A is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process with finite

variation, we derive

$$\begin{split} \varphi \cdot S^{\tau} + \varphi \cdot [K^{\mathbb{G}}, S^{\tau}] &= \varphi \cdot M^{\tau} + \varphi \cdot A^{\tau} + \sum \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} I_{]]0,\tau]} + \varphi \cdot [K^{\mathbb{G}}, S^{\tau}], \\ &= \mathbb{G}\text{-local martingale} + \frac{\varphi}{\tilde{G}} I_{]]0,\tau]} \cdot [M, m] + \varphi \cdot A^{\tau} \\ &+ \sum \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} (1 + \frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}\tilde{G}}) I_{]]0,\tau]} + \frac{\varphi}{G_{-}\tilde{G}} I_{]]0,\tau]} \cdot [N^{\mathbb{F}}, M] \\ &+ \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D \\ &= \mathbb{G}\text{-LM} + \frac{\varphi}{\tilde{G}} I_{]]0,\tau]} \cdot [M, m] + \varphi \cdot A^{\tau} + \frac{\varphi}{G_{-}\tilde{G}} I_{]]0,\tau]} \cdot [N^{\mathbb{F}}, M] \\ &+ \sum \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} \left[ (1 + \frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}\tilde{G}}) I_{]]0,\tau]} + \varphi^{(o)} \Delta N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \Delta D \right]. \end{split}$$

Then  $\varphi \bullet S^\tau + \varphi \bullet [K^\mathbb{G},S^\tau]$  is a  $\mathbb{G}\text{-local martingale if and only if}$ 

$$W := \sum \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S|>1\}} [(1 + \frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}\widetilde{G}})I_{]]0,\tau]]} + \varphi^{(o)} \Delta N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \Delta D], \qquad (3.11)$$

has a  $\mathbb{G}$ -locally integrable variation (i.e.  $W \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}(\mathbb{G})$ ) and (due to Lemma 3.1)

$$0 \equiv \frac{\varphi}{G_{-}} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot \langle M, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \varphi \cdot A^{\tau} + \frac{\varphi}{G_{-}^{2}} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot \langle N^{\mathbb{F}}, M \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + W^{p,\mathbb{G}}.$$
(3.12)

In virtue of Lemma 3.2, we conclude that  $W \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}(\mathbb{G})$  iff both processes

$$W^{(1)} := \sum \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} [(1 + \frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}\tilde{G}})]I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!]$$

and  $W^{(2)} := \sum \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S|>1\}}[\varphi^{(o)}\Delta N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)}\Delta D]$  belong to  $\mathcal{A}_{loc}(\mathbb{G})$ . It is clear that  $W^{(2)}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{A}_{loc}(\mathbb{G})$  if and only if it is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale, and hence in this case we get

$$W^{p,\mathbb{G}} = (W^{(1)})^{p,\mathbb{G}} = G_{-}^{-1} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot \left( \sum \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S|>1\}} \frac{G_{-} \widetilde{G} + \Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}} \right)^{p,\mathbb{F}}$$

•

As a result, by inserting these remarks in (3.12), we obtain

$$\begin{split} 0 &\equiv \varphi \cdot \langle M, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \varphi G_{-} \cdot A + \frac{\varphi}{G_{-}} \cdot \langle N^{\mathbb{F}}, M \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \\ &+ G_{-} \cdot \left( \sum \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} [1 + \frac{\Delta m}{G_{-}} + \frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}^{2}}] \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}, \end{split}$$

or equivalently

$$0 = \varphi \cdot \langle M, \frac{1}{G_{-}} \cdot m + \frac{1}{G_{-}^{2}} \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}} \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \varphi \cdot A + \left( \sum \varphi \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} [1 + \frac{\Delta m}{G_{-}} + \frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}^{2}}] \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}$$

Thanks to Itô's formula, this is equivalent to  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})(\varphi \cdot S)$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale with  $K^{\mathbb{F}} := G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m + G_{-}^{-2} \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}$ , and the first step is completed.

**Step 2)**. Herein, we assume that (3.8) holds, and prove that  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) > 0$  if and only if (3.6)-(3.7) and  $1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > 0$  hold. To this end, due to

$$\Delta \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) = \frac{G_{-}\Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}}{\widetilde{G}} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!], \ \Delta N^{\mathbb{G}} = \Delta D - \widetilde{G}^{-1} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}, \ \Delta m = \widetilde{G} - G_{-}$$

and  $\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}} = \widetilde{G} - G$ , we drive,

$$\begin{split} \Delta K^{\mathbb{G}} &= \Delta \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \Delta \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \Delta N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \Delta D \\ &= \frac{G_{-} \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} - \Delta m}{\widetilde{G}} I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} - \varphi^{(o)} \frac{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}}{\widetilde{G}} I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} + (\varphi^{(pr)} + \varphi^{(o)}) I_{[\![\tau]\!]} \\ &= \frac{G_{-} \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} - \Delta m}{\widetilde{G}} I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} - \varphi^{(o)} \frac{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}}{\widetilde{G}} I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} + (\varphi^{(pr)} + \varphi^{(o)} \frac{G}{\widetilde{G}}) I_{[\![\tau]\!]}, \\ &= \left[ \frac{G_{-}}{\widetilde{G}} (1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) - 1 - \varphi^{(o)} \frac{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}}{\widetilde{G}} \right] I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} + \left[ \frac{G_{-} (1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}})}{\widetilde{G}} - 1 + \varphi^{(pr)} + \varphi^{(o)} \frac{G}{\widetilde{G}} \right] I_{[\![\tau]\!]}. \end{split}$$

Therefore,  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) > 0$  if and only if  $1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{G}} > 0$  which is equivalent to

$$[\!]0,\tau[\!] \subset \left\{ \frac{G_{-}}{\widetilde{G}}(1+\Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) - \varphi^{(o)}\frac{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}}{\widetilde{G}} > 0 \right\},$$
  
and 
$$[\![\tau]\!] \subset \left\{ \frac{G_{-}}{\widetilde{G}}(1+\Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) + \varphi^{(o)}\frac{G}{\widetilde{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} > 0 \right\}.$$
 (3.13)

Thus, by putting  $\Sigma_1 := \left\{ \frac{G_-}{\tilde{G}} (1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) - \varphi^{(o)} \frac{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}}{\tilde{G}} > 0 \right\} \cap ]\!]0, +\infty[\![, \text{ the first inclusion in (3.13) is equivalent to } I_{]\!]0,\tau[\![} \leq I_{\Sigma_1}.$  Hence, by taking the  $\mathbb{F}$ -optional projection on both sides of this inequality, we get  $0 < G \leq I_{\Sigma_1}$  on  $]\!]0, +\infty[\![.$  This proves the right inequality in (3.7) since it means that  $\Sigma_1 > 0$  holds. Notice that the second inclusion in (3.13) is equivalent to

$$\frac{G_{-}}{\widetilde{G}}(1+\Delta K^{\mathbb{F}})+\varphi^{(o)}\frac{G}{\widetilde{G}}+\varphi^{(pr)}>0, \quad P\otimes D-a.e.,$$

and (3.6) is proved. Now, we focus on proving the left inequality of (3.7). Thanks to  $\mathbb{E}_{P\otimes D}[\varphi^{(pr)}|\mathcal{O}(\mathbb{F})] = 0$ ,  $P \otimes D - a.e.$ , by taking conditional expectation under  $P \otimes D$  with respect to  $\mathcal{O}(\mathbb{F})$  on the both sides of the above inequality, we get

$$\Sigma := G_{-}(1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) + \varphi^{(o)}G > 0, \quad P \otimes D - a.e.,$$
(3.14)

or equivalently  $I_{\llbracket \tau \rrbracket} \leq I_{\{\Sigma>0\}}$ . Remark that the above inequality is equivalent to the left inequality in (3.7), and hence (3.7) is completely proved. By taking the  $\mathbb{F}$ optional projection in both sides of  $I_{\llbracket \tau \rrbracket} \leq I_{\{\Sigma>0\}}$ , we get  $\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}} \leq I_{\{\Sigma>0\}}$ . Therefore, we derive

$$\{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}} > 0\} \subseteq \{G_{-}(1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) > -\varphi^{(o)}G\}.$$
(3.15)

On the one hand, due to (3.7), we deduce that on set  $\{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}} = 0\}$ , we have  $1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > 0$ . On the other hand, using (3.15) and (3.7) afterwards, we get

$$\{1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} \le 0\} \cap \{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}} > 0\} \subseteq \{\varphi^{(o)} > 0, 1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} \le 0, \Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}} > 0\} = \emptyset,$$

or equivalently  $\{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}} > 0\} \subseteq \{1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > 0\}$ . Thus,  $1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > 0$ , or equivalently,  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) > 0$ . Thus, the second step will be completed as soon as we prove the reverse sense (i.e. it means (3.6)-(3.7) implies that  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) > 0$ ), we assume that (3.6)-(3.7) hold. Then (3.13) follows immediately, and hence  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) > 0$ . This ends the proof of the theorem. In the following, we derive a multiplicative version of Theorem 3.1.

- **Theorem 3.2**: Suppose G > 0, and let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Then the following are equivalent.
  - (a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ .

(b) There exists a unique triplet  $(Z^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that  $Z^{\mathbb{F}}$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S, \mathbb{F}), \varphi^{(o)} \in \mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \varphi^{(pr)}$  belongs to  $L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega}, \operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$ , and satisfying  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  P-a.s.,

$$\varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \quad P \otimes D - a.e., \ -\frac{\widetilde{G}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{\widetilde{G}}{\widetilde{G} - G}, \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e..$$
(3.16)

and

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{(Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D).$$
(3.17)

*Proof.* Thanks to Theorem 3.1, we conclude that  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a triplet  $(Z^{\mathbb{F}}, \overline{\varphi}^{(o)}, \overline{\varphi}^{(pr)})$  such that  $Z^{\mathbb{F}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})$ belongs to  $\mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S, \mathbb{F}), \overline{\varphi}^{(o)}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \overline{\varphi}^{(pr)} \in L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$  such that  $\mathbb{E}[\overline{\varphi}_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  *P*-a.s., and (3.6), (3.7) and (3.8) hold. Thus, we put

$$Y := \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m), \quad X := Y + \overline{\varphi}^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}$$
$$\varphi^{(o)} := \frac{\widetilde{G}\overline{\varphi}^{(o)}}{G_{-}(1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}})}, \quad \varphi^{(pr)} := \frac{\widetilde{G}\overline{\varphi}^{(pr)}}{G_{-}(1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) + \overline{\varphi}^{(o)}G}.$$
(3.18)

Since the pair  $(\overline{\varphi}^{(o)}, \overline{\varphi}^{(pr)})$  satisfies (3.6)-(3.7), we conclude immediately that the pair  $(\varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  satisfies (3.16). Furthermore, put

$$\Gamma := G_{-}\widetilde{G}^{-1}(1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) - 1, \quad \widetilde{\Omega} := \Omega \times [0, +\infty),$$

and calculate

$$\begin{split} 1 + \Delta X &= \left[ \Gamma + 1 - \Delta D^{o, \mathbb{F}} \frac{\overline{\varphi}^{(o)}}{\widetilde{G}} \right] I_{]\!]0, \tau [\![} + \left[ \Gamma + 1 + \overline{\varphi}^{(o)} \frac{G}{\widetilde{G}} \right] I_{[\![}\tau ]\!] + I_{\widetilde{\Omega} \setminus ]\![0, \tau ]\!]} > 0. \\ 1 + \Delta Y &= \frac{G_{-}}{\widetilde{G}} (1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) I_{]\!]0, \tau ]\!] + I_{]\!]-\infty, 0 ]\!] \cup ]\!]\tau, +\infty [\![] > 0. \end{split}$$

Thanks to Yor's formula (i.e.  $\mathcal{E}(X_1)\mathcal{E}(X_2) = \mathcal{E}(X_1 + X_2 + [X_1, X_2]))$  we derive

$$\mathcal{E}(X_1+X_2) = \mathcal{E}(X_1)\mathcal{E}(X_2 - \frac{1}{1+\Delta X_1} \cdot [X_1, X_2]),$$

for any semimartingales  $X_1, X_2$  with  $1 + \Delta X_1 > 0$ . By applying this formula repeatedly, and using  $\varphi^{(o)} = \overline{\varphi}^{(o)}/(1 + \Delta Y)$  and  $\varphi^{(pr)} = \overline{\varphi}^{(pr)}/(1 + \Delta X) P \otimes D$ -a.e. which follow directly from (3.18), we obtain

$$\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) = \mathcal{E}(X + \overline{\varphi}^{(pr)} \cdot D) = \mathcal{E}(X)\mathcal{E}(\frac{\overline{\varphi}^{(pr)}}{1 + \Delta X} \cdot D) = \mathcal{E}(X)\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D)$$
$$= \mathcal{E}(Y)\mathcal{E}(\frac{\overline{\varphi}^{(o)}}{1 + \Delta Y} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}})\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D) = \mathcal{E}(Y)\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}})\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D).$$

Therefore, the equality (3.17) follows immediately from combining this equality with  $\mathcal{E}(Y) = \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau} / \mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}$ . This latter equality is a direct consequence of  $1/\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau} = \mathcal{E}(-G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m))$  and  $\mathcal{E}(K)^{\tau} \mathcal{E}(-G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m)) = \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{T}(K) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m))$ , which both follow directly from Yor's formula (easy to check), as follows.

$$\mathcal{E}(-G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(m))\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} m)^{\tau} = \mathcal{E}(-\frac{1}{G_{-}} \boldsymbol{\cdot} m^{\tau} + \frac{1}{\widetilde{G}G_{-}} \boldsymbol{\cdot} [m]^{\tau})\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} m)^{\tau} = 1$$

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}(K)^{\tau} \mathcal{E}(-G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(m)) &= \mathcal{E}((K)^{\tau} - G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(m) - [(K)^{\tau}, G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(m)]) \\ &= \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{T}(K) + \frac{1}{\widetilde{G}} I_{\llbracket 0, \tau \rrbracket} \boldsymbol{\cdot} [K, m] - G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(m) - [(K)^{\tau}, G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(m)]) \\ &= \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{T}(K) + \frac{1}{\widetilde{G}} I_{\llbracket 0, \tau \rrbracket} \boldsymbol{\cdot} [K, m] - G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(m) - \frac{1}{\widetilde{G}} I_{\llbracket 0, \tau \rrbracket} \boldsymbol{\cdot} [K, m]) \\ &= \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{T}(K) - G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(m)). \end{split}$$

This ends the proof of the theorem.

As a direct consequence of Theorem 3.1, or equivalently Theorem 3.2, we describe below a family of local martingale deflators for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ , that will play important role in Chapter 5, where we address the optimal deflator problem.

**Corollary 3.2.1**: For any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale (respectively an element of  $\mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S, \mathbb{F})$ )  $Z^{\mathbb{F}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})$ , the process  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  given by

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}\Big(\mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m)\Big) = \frac{(Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}},$$
(3.19)

is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale (respectively an element of  $\mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ ).

Proof. On the one hand, by choosing  $(Z^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)}) = (Z^{\mathbb{F}}, 0, 0)$  in Theorem 3.2, the decomposition (3.17) reduces to (3.19). On the other hand,  $\mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m)$ is the sum of two G-local martingales, therefore the stochastic exponential of it,  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$ , is also a G-local martingale. Furthermore, if  $Z^{\mathbb{F}} = \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S, \mathbb{F})$ , then  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ .

# **3.3** Particular cases for $\tau$

This section illustrates the results of Section 3.2 on several frequently studied models for the random time  $\tau$ . We will consider the case of pseudo-stopping times, the case

and

when either  $\tau$  avoids all F-stopping times, and the case when all F-martingales are continuous.

#### 3.3.1 Pseudo-stopping times

The family of pseudo-stopping times was introduced and studied in [113]. Below, we recall its definition.

**Definition 3.1**:  $\tau$  is said a pseudo-stopping time if, for every bounded  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale M, we have

$$E[M_{\tau}] = E[M_0].$$

The following lemma recalls some characterizations of pseudo-stopping times.

**Lemma 3.5**: The following three properties are equivalent.

- (a)  $\tau$  is a pseudo-stopping time.
- (b)  $m = m_0$  (this implies that  $\mathcal{E}(G_-^{-1} \cdot m) \equiv 1$  and  $\Delta m \equiv 0$ .)
- (c) For any bounded  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale M, we have  $\mathcal{T}(M) = M^{\tau}$ .

Proof. Thanks to [113, Theorem 1],  $\tau$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -pseudo stopping time, if and only if  $m \equiv m_0$ . This leads to  $\mathcal{T}(m) = m_0$  and  $\tilde{G} = G_-$ . Hence, we get  $\mathcal{E}\left(G_-^{-1} \cdot m\right) \equiv 1$  and  $\Delta m = 0$ . This proves (a)  $\Longrightarrow$  (b). Furthermore, when  $\tau$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -pseudo stopping time,  $\{\tilde{G} = 0 < G_-\} = \emptyset$ , and [M, m] = 0 for any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale M. Then, we derive

$$\mathcal{T}(M) = M^{\tau} - \widetilde{G}^{-1}I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \bullet [M,m] + I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \bullet \left(\sum \Delta M I_{\{\widetilde{G}=0< G_{-}\}}\right)^{p,\mathbb{I}}$$
$$= M^{\tau} - \widetilde{G}^{-1}I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \bullet [M,m] + 0 = M^{\tau}.$$

Hence, the proof of (a)  $\implies$  (c) is complete, while (c)  $\implies$  (a) is obvious. This is due

to  $\mathcal{T}(M)$  is  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale for any bounded  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale M, and hence

$$E[M_{\tau}] = E[\mathcal{T}_{\tau}(M)] = E[\mathcal{T}_{0}(M)] = E[M_{0}].$$

This ends the proof of the lemma.

**Theorem 3.3**: Suppose that  $\tau$  is a pseudo-stopping time, and G > 0. Let  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Then the following are equivalent.

(a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique triplet  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) \in \mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S, \mathbb{F}), \varphi^{(o)}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \varphi^{(pr)}$  belongs to  $L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega}, \operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$ , and satisfying  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 P$ -a.s.,

$$1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > \varphi^{(o)} (1 - \frac{G}{G_{-}}), \quad and \quad -(1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) < \frac{\varphi^{(o)}G}{G_{-}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} \text{-}a.e.$$
  
$$\varphi^{(pr)} > -\left[1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} + \varphi^{(o)}\frac{G}{G_{-}}\right], \quad P \otimes D - a.e.$$
(3.20)

and 
$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \left(K^{\mathbb{F}}\right)^{\tau} + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
 (3.21)

(b)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique triplet  $(Z^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  that belongs to

$$\mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S,\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega},\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}),P\otimes D),$$

and satisfying  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 \ P$ -a.s.,

$$\varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \quad P \otimes D - a.e., \quad -\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G}, \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e. \quad (3.22)$$
$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = (Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D). \quad (3.23)$$

*Proof.* (a) Thanks to Theorem 3.1, we have the following decomposition

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(3.24)

By Lemma 3.5, we deduce that  $\mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}})$  reduces to  $(K^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}$  and  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m)$  vanishes. As a result, the processes in (3.24) and in (3.21) coincide. Both inequalities in (3.20) also follow from Theorem 3.1. This ends the proof of assertion (a).

(b) By combining Theorem 3.2, assertion (a), and the fact that  $\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m) \equiv 1$ , the proof of assertion (b) follows immediately.

## 3.3.2 $\tau$ avoids all $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times

If a random time  $\tau$  avoids all  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times, then for any  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping time  $\sigma$ , we have  $P(\sigma = \tau < +\infty) = 0$ . Throughout this section, put

$$\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} := D - G_{-}^{-1} I_{\|0,\tau\|} \bullet D^{p,\mathbb{F}}.$$
(3.25)

It is clear that  $\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$  is the G-local martingale parts in the Doob-Meyer decomposition under G of *D* respectively (see [86, Remark 4.5] for details). The following lemma discusses the relationship between  $\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$  and  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$ , which is defined in (2.23).

**Lemma 3.6**: Suppose that  $\tau$  avoids all  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times. Then the following hold: (a) It holds that  $N^{\mathbb{G}} = \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$ .

- (b) For any  $\varphi^{(o)} \in \mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G})$ , there exists an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process  $\varphi$  that is  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$ -integrable such that  $(\varphi^{(o)} \varphi) \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} \equiv 0$ .
- (c)  $[\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, X] \equiv 0$  for any  $\mathbb{F}$ -semimartingale X.

*Proof.* (a) If  $\tau$  avoids all  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times, then  $\widetilde{G} = G$ , or equivalently  $\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}} = 0$ . This means that  $D^{o,\mathbb{F}}$  is continuous and hence  $D^{o,\mathbb{F}} = D^{p,\mathbb{F}}$ . This implies that

$$\widetilde{G}^{-1}I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \bullet D^{o,\mathbb{F}} = \widetilde{G}^{-1}I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \bullet D^{p,\mathbb{F}} = G^{-1}I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \bullet D^{p,\mathbb{F}}.$$

Thus, the G-local martingale  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$  given by (2.23) coincides with  $\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$ . (b) Since  $\{\varphi^{(o)} \neq \varphi\} = \bigcup_{n \ge 0} [\![\sigma_n]\!]$  (see [59]), where  $(\sigma_n)_{n \ge 0}$  is a sequence of  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times. Therefore, on one hand,

$$I_{\{\varphi^{(o)}\neq\varphi\}} \cdot D = \sum_{n\geq 0} I_{\{\sigma_n=\tau\}} I_{\llbracket \sigma_n, +\infty \rrbracket} = 0,$$

since  $\tau$  avoids all  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times. On the other hand,  $I_{\{\varphi^{(o)}\neq\varphi\}} \cdot D^{o,\mathbb{F}}$  is null as it is the  $\mathbb{F}$ -optional dual projection of  $I_{\{\varphi^{(o)}\neq\varphi\}} \cdot D = 0$ . Thus, by definition of  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$ , we get,

$$(\varphi^{(o)} - \varphi) \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} \equiv 0.$$

(c) Since  $\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$  has a finite variation, we get  $[\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, X] = \sum \Delta \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} \Delta X = \Delta X \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$ . Furthermore,  $\{\Delta X \neq 0\} = \bigcup_{n \ge 0} [\![\sigma_n]\!]$ , where  $(\sigma_n)_{n \ge 0}$  is a sequence of  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times. Thus,

$$\Delta \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} \Delta X = \sum_{n \ge 1}^{+\infty} \Delta X_{\sigma_n} I_{\{\sigma_n = \tau < +\infty\}} I_{\llbracket \sigma_n \rrbracket} = 0,$$

due to the fact that  $\tau$  avoids all  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times. This completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 3.4**: Suppose that G > 0, and  $\tau$  avoids all  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times. Let  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Then the following are equivalent.

(a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique triplet  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(p)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) \in \mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S, \mathbb{F}), \varphi^{(p)}$  belongs to  $L^{1}_{loc}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \varphi^{(pr)} \in L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$  and  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  P-a.s., satisfying

$$-1 < \varphi^{(p)}, \quad P \otimes D^{p,\mathbb{F}} - a.e. \qquad -\varphi^{(p)} - 1 < \varphi^{(pr)}, \quad P \otimes D - a.e.$$
  
and 
$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(p)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(3.26)

(b)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique triplet  $(Z^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(p)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  belongs to  $\mathcal{Z}(S, \mathbb{F}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega}, \operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$ ,

and 
$$\mathbb{E}[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$$
 *P-a.s.*, such that  $\varphi^{(pr)} > -1$ ,  $P \otimes D - a.e.$ ,

$$-1 < \varphi^{(p)}, \quad P \otimes D^{p,\mathbb{F}} - a.e. \text{ and } Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{(Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(p)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D).$$
(3.27)

*Proof.* (a). The proof of assertion (a) follows from combining Theorem 3.1 with the three assertions of Lemma 3.6. In fact, on the one hand, thanks to Theorem 3.1, we have

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(3.28)

On the other hand, since  $\tau$  avoids all  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times, Lemma 3.6 implies that  $N^{\mathbb{G}} = \overline{N}$ . Thus by plugging these in (3.26),(3.28) follows and the proof of assertion (a) is completed.

(b). The proof of this part follows immediately from combining assertion (a),Yor's formula, and Lemma 3.6-(c). This ends the proof of the theorem.

#### 3.3.3 The case when all $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous

Throughout this section, we consider the following notations

$$\overline{M} := M^{\tau} - G_{-}^{-1} I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} \cdot \langle M, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}}, \quad \text{for any } M \in \mathcal{M}_{loc}(\mathbb{F}),$$
$$\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} := D - G_{-}^{-1} I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} \cdot D^{p,\mathbb{F}}. \tag{3.29}$$

Here, we compare the processes  $\overline{M}$  and  $\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$  to  $\mathcal{T}(M)$  and  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$  respectively, in the following Lemma.

**Lemma 3.7**: Suppose that all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous. Then  $N^{\mathbb{G}} = \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$ , and for any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale M, we have  $\mathcal{T}(M) = \overline{M}$ .

Proof. If we assume that all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous then we have  $\Delta m = 0$ , or equivalently,  $\tilde{G} = G_{-}$ ,  $D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - D^{p,\mathbb{F}} = 0$ , and  $[M,m] = \langle M,m \rangle$  for any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale M. As a result, we deduce that  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$  given by (2.23) coincides with  $\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$  immediately. Furthermore, due to  $\Delta M = 0$  for any  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{loc}(\mathbb{F})$ , we get

$$\mathcal{T}(M) = M^{\tau} - \widetilde{G}^{-1} I_{]]0,\tau]} \cdot [M,m] + I_{]]0,\tau]} \cdot \left(\sum \Delta M I_{\{\widetilde{G}=0 < G_{-}\}}\right)^{p,\mathbb{F}}$$
$$= M^{\tau} - G_{-}^{-1} I_{]]0,\tau]} \cdot \langle M,m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} = \overline{M}.$$

This ends the proof of the lemma.

Theorem 3.5: Suppose that G > 0, and all F-martingales are continuous. Let K<sup>G</sup> be a G-local martingale. Then the following are equivalent.
(a) Z<sup>G</sup> := E (K<sup>G</sup>) is a local martingale deflator for (S<sup>T</sup>, G) if and only if there

(a)  $\Sigma^{-} := \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^{-})$  is a local matringate defiable for  $(S^{-}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) \in \mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S, \mathbb{F}), \varphi^{(o)}$  belongs to  $L^{1}_{loc}(\overline{\mathbb{N}}^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \varphi^{(pr)} \in L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$  and  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  *P*-a.s., satisfying

$$-\frac{G_-}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_-}{G_- - G}, \ P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e., \ \varphi^{(pr)} > -\varphi^{(o)}\frac{G}{G_-} - 1, \qquad P \otimes D - a.e.,$$

and 
$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \overline{K^{\mathbb{F}}} - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \overline{m} + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
 (3.30)

(b)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique triplet  $(Z^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that  $Z^{\mathbb{F}}$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S, \mathbb{F}), \varphi^{(o)} \in \mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \varphi^{(pr)}$  belongs to  $L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega}, \operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$ , satisfying  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 P$ -a.s.,

$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G}, \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e. \quad \varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \quad P \otimes D - a.e.,$$
$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{(Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D). \tag{3.31}$$

*Proof.* (a) The proof of assertion (a) follows from combining Theorem 3.1 with the three assertions of Lemma 3.7. Thanks to Theorem 3.1, we obtain

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(3.32)

By Lemma 3.7, we deduce that  $N^{\mathbb{G}} = \overline{N}$ , and  $\mathcal{T}(M) = \overline{M}$ , respectively. As a result, the processes in (3.32) and (3.30) coincide. This ends the proof of assertion (a).

(b) The proof is fairly similar to Theorem 3.4-(b), and hence we omit it.  $\Box$ 

# **3.4** Particular cases for $(S, \mathbb{F})$

This section illustrates Theorems 3.1-3.2 on several regularly used models, such as the case of Lévy market model, jump-diffusion for S, two important volatility market frameworks and few other cases.

#### 3.4.1 The exponential Lévy market models

In this subsection, we focus on the case of Lévy market model. Precisely, we assume that S is given by the following stochastic differential equation

$$X_t = \int_0^t \sigma_s dW_s + \int_0^t \int_{|x| \le 1} x \widetilde{N}^{\mathbb{F}}(dt, dx) + \int_0^t \int_{|x| > 1} x N(dt, dx) + \int_0^t \mu_s ds,$$
  

$$S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t, \qquad \widetilde{N}^{\mathbb{F}}(dt, dx) = N(dt, dx) - F^X(dx) dt, \qquad (3.33)$$

where  $\sigma > 0$  and  $\mu$  are bounded adapted processes, W is a one-dimensional Brownian motion, N(dt, dx) and is a Poisson random measure on  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  and  $\widetilde{N}^{\mathbb{F}}$  is a compensated Poisson measure with Lévy measure (intensity)  $F^X(dx)dt$ . Stock price process defined on the filtered probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F}, P)$ , where  $\mathbb{F}$  is the completed and right continuous filtration generated by W and  $\widetilde{N}^{\mathbb{F}}$ . For more details about the application of Lévy market model in finance, we refer the reader to [25], [65], [66] and the references therein. Lévy model is a quasi-left-continuous process and has some extra nice features comparing to general semimartingale. We parametrize local martingale deflators for general Lévy market models in this section, then in Chapters 5 and 6, we continue to study their characterization for optimal deflator and Log-optimal portfolio. Once the general Lévy model is treated in the next paragraph, the remaining part of this section is divided into two subsections where we discuss two popular cases of Lévy market model.

For the parametrization of local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ , we need to know its parametrization for model  $(S, \mathbb{F})$ . This is the aim of the following Lemma.

**Lemma 3.8**: Suppose S is given by (3.33). Then  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  if and only if there exists a unique quadruple  $(\beta, f, g, K')$  that belongs to  $(L^1_{loc}(W, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{G}^1_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{H}^1_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{M}_{0, loc}(\mathbb{F}), M^P_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{F})) = 0,$  $P \otimes \mu$ -.a.e.,  $\Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > -1$ , and [K', S] = 0, satisfying

(i) 
$$\int |x(f(x) - I_{|x| \le 1}) F^X(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e.$$
,  
(ii)  $\mu + \sigma\beta + \int x(f(x) - I_{|x| \le 1}) F^X(dx) \equiv 0, \quad P \otimes dt - a.e.$ , (3.34)

and then the process  $K^{\mathbb{F}}$  has following decomposition

$$K^{\mathbb{F}} := \beta \cdot W + (f - 1) \star (\mu - \nu) + g \star \mu + K'.$$
(3.35)

*Proof.* For any  $K^{\mathbb{F}} \in \mathcal{M}_{loc}(\mathbb{F})$ , the Jacod's representation with respect to S, is given by (3.35). For more details about the decomposition of  $K^{\mathbb{F}}$ , we refer the reader to the Theorem 2.7. Therefore, by applying Lemma 3.4,  $S + [S, K^{\mathbb{F}}]$  is  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale if and only if the process

$$X + [X, K^{\mathbb{F}}] = \mathbb{F} - \text{local martingale} + \int_0^t \left[ \mu + \sigma_s \beta_s + \int x(f(x) - I_{|x| \le 1}) F^X(dx) \right] ds$$

is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale. This is equivalent to (3.34), and the proof of the lemma is complete.

The main result in this section is given in the following.

**Theorem 3.6**: Suppose S given by (3.33) and G > 0. Let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$  be a positive  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent.

- (a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ ,
- (b) There exists a unique  $(\beta, f, g, K', \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  that belongs to

$$L^{1}_{loc}(W,\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{G}^{1}_{loc}(\mu,\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{H}^{1}_{loc}(\mu,\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega},\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}),P \otimes D),$$

satisfying  $M^P_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{F})) = 0 \quad P \otimes \mu$ -.a.e.,  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 \quad P$ -a.s.,

$$\begin{split} K^{\mathbb{G}} &= \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D, \\ K^{\mathbb{F}} &= \beta \cdot W + (f-1) \star (\mu - \nu) + g \star \mu + K', \\ \varphi^{(pr)} &> - \left[ G_{-} \left( f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X)) I_{\{\Delta X \neq 0\}} + (1 + \Delta K') I_{\{\Delta X = 0\}} \right) + \varphi^{(o)} G \right] / \tilde{G}, \ P \otimes D\text{-}a.e., \\ &- \frac{\left( f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X) \right) G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{\left( f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X) \right) G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. \ on \ \{\Delta X \neq 0\}, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} &-\frac{(1+\Delta K')G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{(1+\Delta K')G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. \ on \ \{\Delta X = 0\}, \\ &\int |x(f(x)-I_{|x|\leq 1})F^{X}(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e. \ , \\ ∧ \quad \mu + \sigma\beta + \int x(f(x)-I_{|x|\leq 1})F^{X}(dx) \equiv 0, \ P \otimes dt - a.e., \ \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > -1, \ [K',S] = 0. \end{aligned}$$

(c) There exists a unique  $(\beta,f,g,K',\varphi^{(o)},\varphi^{(pr)})$  belongs to

$$L^{1}_{loc}(W,\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{G}^{1}_{loc}(\mu,\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{H}^{1}_{loc}(\mu,\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega},\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D),$$

satisfying  $M^P_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{F})) = 0 \quad P \otimes \mu$ -.a.e.,  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 \quad P$ -a.s.,

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D).$$

$$K^{\mathbb{F}} = \beta \cdot W + (f-1) \star (\mu - \nu) + g \star \mu + K',$$

$$\varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \ P \otimes D\text{-}a.e., \ -\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \ P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e.$$
(3.37)

$$\int |x(f(x) - I_{|x| \le 1})F^X(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e. ,$$
  
and  $\mu + \sigma\beta + \int x(f(x) - I_{|x| \le 1})F^X(dx) \equiv 0, \ P \otimes dt - a.e., \ \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > -1, \ [K', S] = 0.$ 

*Proof.* The proof follows from combining Theorems 3.1 and 3.2 with Theorem 2.7.

## 3.4.1.1 Jump-diffusion market model

This subsection focuses on the important case of jump-diffusion framework for the market model  $(S, \mathbb{F}, P)$  defined as follows. Herein, we suppose that a standard Brownian motion W and a Poisson process N with intensity  $\lambda > 0$  are defined on the probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$ , and the filtration  $\mathbb{F}$  is the complete and right continuous filtration generated by W and N. Then the stock price process is given by the following dynamics.

$$S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t, \quad X_t = \int_0^t \sigma_s dW_s + \int_0^t \zeta_s dN_s^{\mathbb{F}} + \int_0^t \mu_s ds, \qquad N_t^{\mathbb{F}} := N_t - \lambda t.$$
(3.38)

We suppose that there exists a constant  $\delta \in (0, +\infty)$  such that

$$\mu, \sigma, \text{ and } \zeta \text{ are bounded } \mathbb{F}\text{-adapted processes},$$
 (3.39)

and  $\sigma > 0$ ,  $\zeta > -1$ ,  $\sigma + |\zeta| \ge \delta$ ,  $P \otimes dt$ -a.e..

**Lemma 3.9**: Suppose S is given by (3.38). Then  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale deflator for  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  if and only if there exists a unique pair  $(\psi_1, \psi_2)$  that belongs to  $L^1_{loc}(W, \mathbb{F}) \times L^1_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{F}}, \mathbb{F})$  and satisfies

$$K^{\mathbb{F}} = \psi_1 \cdot W + (\psi_2 - 1) \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}, \qquad (3.40)$$

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left( (\psi_{1_{s}})^{2} + |\psi_{2_{s}}| \right) ds < +\infty \quad P\text{-a.s. for all } t \ge 0$$
  
and  $\mu + \psi_{1}\sigma + (\psi_{2} - 1)\zeta \lambda \equiv 0, \quad \psi_{2} > 0 \ P \otimes dt - a.e.$  (3.41)

*Proof.* Define  $(\beta, f, g, K') = (\psi_1, \psi_2, 0, 0)$ , where f(x) = f(1), in Lemma 3.8, then (3.41)-(3.40) coincide with (3.34)-(3.35) respectively. This ends the proof.

**Lemma 3.10**: There exists two  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable processes  $\varphi^{(m)}$  and  $\psi^{(m)}$  such that

$$\int_0^t \left( (\varphi_s^{(m)})^2 + |\psi_s^{(m)}| \right) ds < +\infty \quad P\text{-}a.s. \text{ for all } t \ge 0$$
$$G_-^{-1} \cdot m = \varphi^{(m)} \cdot W + (\psi^{(m)} - 1) \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}.$$

Below, we state our main result of this subsection.

**Theorem 3.7**: Suppose S given by (3.38) and G > 0. Let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$  be a positive  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent. (a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ , (b) There exist  $(\psi_1, \psi_2) \in L^1_{loc}(W, \mathbb{F}) \times L^1_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{F}}, \mathbb{F})$ ,  $\varphi^{(o)} \in \mathcal{I}^o_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G})$  and  $\varphi^{(pr)}) \in L^1_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), \mathbb{P} \otimes \mathbb{D})$  satisfying  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  P-a.s.,

$$\begin{split} & K^{\mathbb{G}} = (\psi_1 - \varphi^{(m)}) \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(W) + (\psi_2 - \psi^{(m)}) \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}) + \varphi^{(o)} \boldsymbol{\cdot} N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \boldsymbol{\cdot} D. \\ & \varphi^{(pr)} > - \Big[ \frac{\psi_2}{\psi^{(m)}} + \frac{\varphi^{(o)}G}{\psi^{(m)}G_-} \Big], \ and \ - \frac{\psi_2G_-}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{\psi_2G_-}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. \ on \ \{\Delta N \neq 0\}, \\ & \varphi^{(pr)} > - \Bigg[ 1 + \frac{\varphi^{(o)}G}{G_-} \Big], \ and \ - \frac{G_-}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_-}{G_- - G} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. \ on \ \{\Delta N = 0\}, \\ & \int_0^t \left( (\psi_1(s))^2 + |\psi_2(s)| \right) ds < +\infty \quad P\text{-}a.s. \ for \ all \ t \ge 0, \\ & and \quad \mu + \psi_1\sigma + (\psi_2 - 1)\zeta\lambda \equiv 0, \quad \psi_2 > 0 \ P \otimes dt - a.e. \ . \end{split}$$

(c) There exists unique quadruplet  $(\psi_1, \psi_2, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  that belongs to the following set  $L^1_{loc}(W, \mathbb{F}) \times L^1_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{F}}, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}^o_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \times L^1_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), \mathbb{P} \otimes \mathbb{D})$ , and satisfies

$$\mathbb{E}[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 \ P\text{-}a.s.,$$

$$\begin{split} Z^{\mathbb{G}} &= \frac{\mathcal{E}(\psi_1 \cdot W + (\psi_2 - 1) \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_-^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D), \\ \varphi^{(pr)} &> -1, \quad P \otimes D\text{-}a.e., \quad -\frac{G_-}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_-}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e., \\ \int_0^t \left( (\psi_1(s))^2 + |\psi_2(s)| \right) ds < +\infty \quad P\text{-}a.s. \text{ for all } t \ge 0, \\ and \quad \mu + \psi_1 \sigma + (\psi_2 - 1) \zeta \lambda \equiv 0, \quad \psi_2 > 0 \ P \otimes dt - a.e. \ . \end{split}$$

*Proof.* The proof follows immediately from Theorems 3.1-3.2 and the fact that for any  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{loc}(\mathbb{F})$ , there exists a unique  $(\psi_1, \psi_2) \in L^1_{loc}(W, \mathbb{F}) \times L^1_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{F}}, \mathbb{F})$  such that  $M = M_0 + \psi_1 \cdot W + (\psi_2 - 1) \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}$ , for more details about the representation of M, we refer the reader to the Definition 2.24 and Theorem 2.7.

#### 3.4.1.2 Black-Scholes market model

In this subsection, we focus on the case of Black-Scholes market model, where S is given by the following stochastic differential equation

$$S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t, \quad X_t := \int_0^t \sigma_s dW_s + \int_0^t \mu_s ds. \tag{3.42}$$

Here W is a one-dimensional Brownian motion,  $\sigma > 0$  and  $(\mu, \sigma)$  are bounded adapted processes. The filtration  $\mathbb{F}$  is the right continuous and complete filtration that is generated by Brownian motion W. Then, by Theorem 2.7, any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale M, can be represented as

$$M = M_0 + h \cdot W,$$

where h is progressively measurable process satisfying  $\int_0^T h_t^2 dt < \infty \ P-a.s.$  .

**Lemma 3.11**: Suppose that S is given by (3.42). Then  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})$  is local martingale deflator for the model  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  if and only if  $K^{\mathbb{F}} = \frac{-\mu}{\sigma} \cdot W$ .

*Proof.* Thanks to Theorem 2.7,  $K^{\mathbb{F}}$  is a continuous local martingale and hence  $(\psi_1, \psi_2)$  of Lemma 3.9 takes the form of  $(\beta, 0)$  and the proof of the lemma follows immediately.

By combining the parametrization of local martingale deflator for Jump-diffusion model given by Theorem 3.7, with the case that all  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingales are continuous, we derive the following result.

- **Theorem 3.8**: Suppose S given by (3.42) and G > 0. Let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$  be a positive  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent.
  - (a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ ,

(b) There exists a pair  $(\varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)}) \in (L^1_{loc}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \times L^1_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D))$  such that  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  *P*-a.s.,

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = -\left(\frac{\mu}{\sigma} + \varphi^{(m)}\right) \cdot \overline{W} + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D, \quad and \quad (3.43)$$
$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G}, \ P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e., \ \varphi^{(pr)} > -\varphi^{(o)}\frac{G}{G_{-}} - 1, \ P \otimes D - a.e. \ denomination of the equation of the equation$$

(c) There exists a unique pair  $(\varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)}) \in (L^1_{loc}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \times L^1_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D))$ such that  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  P-a.s.,

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{E}(-(\frac{\mu}{\sigma} + \varphi^{(m)}) \cdot \overline{W}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D).$$

$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G}, \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e. \text{ and } \varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \ P \otimes D - a.e.$$
(3.44)

*Proof.* In Lemma 3.10 and Theorem 3.7, put  $\psi^{(m)} = 1$ ,  $\psi^{(m)} = \psi_2 = 1$  respectively. Then the Poisson process vanishes, and we have the following decomposition

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = -(\frac{\mu}{\sigma} + \varphi^{(m)}) \cdot \mathcal{T}(W) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(3.45)

Since all F-local martingale are continuous, thanks to Theorem 3.5, the decomposi-

tion (3.45) coincides with

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = -(\frac{\mu}{\sigma} + \varphi^{(m)}) \cdot \overline{W} + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$

To prove the multiplicative representation in assertion (c), the same calculation using Yor's formula as in the previous sections applies, and we will omit it here.  $\Box$ 

When the Black-Scholes market model is stopped at random time  $\tau$ , it is not complete market anymore, and the random time  $\tau$  causes this incompleteness. Therefore the class of deflators for this model is characterized by  $(\varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$ .

#### **3.4.2** Jump-diffusion for $(S, \mathbb{F})$ and a particular random time

In the subsection 3.4.2, we discuss a particular model for  $\tau$  that was introduced in [6, Example 2.12] and [9, Subsection 5.2.2, page 108]. Consider the same model for  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  as in Theorem 3.7, and let  $\tau := (aT_2) \wedge T_1$ , where  $a \in (0, 1)$  and  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  are the first and the second jump times of the Poisson process N (i.e. N := $\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} I_{[T_n, +\infty[]})$ . Since  $\mathbb{F}$  is generated by (W, N) and W is independent of  $\tau$ , the same calculations for the three processes  $(G, G_-, \widetilde{G})$  as in [6, 9] remain valid. Thus, we get

$$\widetilde{G}_{t} = e^{-\beta t} (\beta t + 1) I_{[0,T_{1}[]}(t) + e^{-\beta t} I_{[[T_{1}]]}(t), \ G_{t} = e^{-\beta t} (\beta t + 1) I_{[[0,T_{1}[]}(t))$$
$$G_{t-} = \widetilde{G}_{t-} = e^{-\beta t} (\beta t + 1) I_{[[0,T_{1}]]}(t).$$

However the arguments for the calculations of m and  $D^{o,\mathbb{F}}$  differ slightly from that of [6, 9]. Let  $m^c$  be the continuous local martingale part of m, and hence  $m - m^c$  is a pure jump local martingale with jumps equal to

$$\Delta m = \widetilde{G} - G_{-} = \phi \Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}$$
 where  $\phi_t := -\beta t e^{-\beta t}, \ \beta := \lambda (a^{-1} - 1)$ 

Hence  $m = m^c + \phi \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}$  on the one hand. On the other hand, by writing

$$G_t = e^{-\beta t} (\beta t + 1)(1 - H_t^{(1)}), \ H^{(1)} := I_{[T_1, +\infty[}, \ M^{(1)} := H^{(1)} - \lambda(t \wedge T_1) = (N^{\mathbb{F}})^{T_1},$$

and by applying Itô's formula to the process G and using  $G = m + D^{o,\mathbb{F}}$  (see (2.19)), we deduce that  $m^c \equiv 0$ . Hence, we get

$$m = m_0 + \phi \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{t}}^{\mathbf{o},\mathbb{F}} = \int_0^{\mathbf{t}} \mathrm{e}^{-\beta \mathrm{s}} \mathrm{dH}_{\mathbf{s}}^{(1)} + (\beta + \lambda)\beta \int_0^{\mathbf{t}\wedge \mathrm{T}_1} \mathrm{s}\mathrm{e}^{-\beta \mathrm{s}} \mathrm{ds}.$$
(3.46)

Since in the current case we have  $\{\widetilde{G} = 0 < G_{-}\} = \emptyset$ , we derive

$$\mathcal{T}(W) = W^{\tau}, \ \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}) = (N^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau} + \frac{\beta t}{1+\beta t} \cdot (N)^{\tau}, \ \frac{1}{G_{-}} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) = -\frac{\beta t}{1+\beta t} \cdot \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}),$$
$$N^{\mathbb{G}} = I_{\{aT_{2} < T_{1}\}} I_{\llbracket aT_{2}, +\infty \llbracket} - (\lambda + \beta) \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau} \frac{\beta s}{1+\beta s} ds.$$
(3.47)

Furthermore, we have  $]\![0,\tau]\!] \subset \{G_- > 0\} = ]\![0,T_1]\!]$ , and hence the condition G > 0 is redundant in the current case, as one can work with  $S^{T_1}$  instead. This confirms our claim that the condition G > 0 is technical and can be relaxed at the expenses of technicalities (in both the statements of the results and the proofs) that we tried to avoid here. A combination of this analysis with Theorem 3.7 leads to the following.

**Corollary 3.8.1**:  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{Z}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  is equivalent to each of the following:

(a) There exist  $(\psi_1, \psi_2) \in L^1_{loc}(W, \mathbb{F}) \times L^1_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{F}}, \mathbb{F})$ ,  $\varphi^{(o)} = \varphi^{(o)}I_{]\![0,T_1]\!]}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{I}^o_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G})$  and  $\varphi^{(pr)} \in L^1_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$  satisfying the following

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \psi_1 \cdot W^{\tau} + (\psi_2 - \frac{1}{1+\beta t}) \cdot \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D,$$
  
$$\mu + \psi_1 \sigma + (\psi_2 - 1)\zeta \lambda \equiv 0, \quad \psi_2 > 0, \quad -\psi_2 < \varphi^{(o)} I_{]\!]0, T_1[\!]}, \quad P \otimes dt - a.e$$

and the following inequalities hold *P*-a.s.

$$\varphi^{(o)}(T_1) < \psi_2(T_1)(1+\beta T_1),$$
  
$$\varphi^{(pr)}(aT_2 \wedge T_1) > -[\psi_2(aT_2) + \varphi^{(o)}(aT_2)]I_{\{aT_2 < T_1\}} - \psi_2(T_1)[1+\beta T_1]I_{\{aT_2 \ge T_1\}},$$

(b) There exists a unique quadruplet  $(\psi_1, \psi_2, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  belonging to the following set  $L^1_{loc}(W, \mathbb{F}) \times L^1_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{F}}, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}^o_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \times L^1_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), \mathbb{P} \otimes \mathbb{D})$ , satisfying

$$\begin{split} Z^{\mathbb{G}} &= \mathcal{E}(L)^{\tau} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D), \\ L &:= \psi_{1} \cdot W + ((1+\beta t)\psi_{2}-1) \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}} + \int_{0}^{\cdot} \frac{\lambda\beta t}{1+\beta t} [(1+\beta t)\psi_{2}(t)-1] dt, \\ \varphi^{(pr)}(aT_{2} \wedge T_{1}) &> -1, \quad P-a.s., \quad \varphi^{(o)}(T_{1}) < \psi_{2}(T_{1})(1+\beta T_{1}) \quad P-a.s., \\ \text{and} \quad \mu + \psi_{1}\sigma + (\psi_{2}-1)\zeta\lambda \equiv 0, \quad \psi_{2} > 0, \ -1 < \varphi^{(o)}I_{]]0,T_{1}[]} \quad P \otimes dt - a.e. \end{split}$$

*Proof.* By Theorem 3.7, we have the following decomposition for any local martingale deflators  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ , where S is given by 3.38,

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \psi_1 \cdot \mathcal{T}(W) + (\psi_2 - 1) \cdot \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$

Since in the current particular case of stopping time  $\tau$ , we have  $\{\widetilde{G} = 0 < G_{-}\} = \emptyset$ and by inserting (3.46) and (3.47) in  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$ , we get

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \psi_1 \cdot W^{\tau} + (\psi_2 - \frac{1}{1 + \beta t}) \cdot \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D$$

The proof for the multiplicative representation, stated in assertion (b), follows immediately from assertion (a), and will be omitted here.  $\Box$ 

#### 3.4.3 Volatility market models

In this section, we discuss two popular volatility models. Precisely, we address the corrected Stein and Stein Model and the Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard Model. For
more details about these models and their role in the financial markets we refer to [26] and [114]. We evaluate local martingale deflators parametrization for these two models in the next two subsections.

#### 3.4.3.1 Corrected Stein and Stein Model

The corrected Stein and Stein financial market is given by the following stochastic differential equations and it has no jumps,

$$S_{t} = S_{0}\mathcal{E}(X)_{t} \quad , \quad X_{t} = X_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} V_{s}\sigma_{s}dW_{s}^{(1)} + \int_{0}^{t} \mu V_{s}^{2}dt,$$
  
where,  $V_{t} = V_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} (m - aV_{s})dt + \int_{0}^{t} \alpha_{s}dW_{s}^{(2)}, \text{ and } t \in [0, T].$  (3.48)

 $W^{(i)}, i = 1, 2$ , are two one-dimensional Brownian motions with the correlation coefficient  $\rho \in (-1, +1)$  and the filtration  $\mathbb{F}$  is generated by the  $W^{(i)}, i = 1, 2$ , where  $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t^{W^1, W^2})_{t \in [0,T]}$ . All the coefficients  $\sigma, \alpha, m, a$  and  $\mu$  are positive constants. Thanks to Theorem 2.7, we deduce that any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale M can be represented as follows

$$M = M_0 + h^1 \cdot W^{(1)} + h^2 \cdot W^{(2)}.$$
(3.49)

Here  $h^{(i)}, i = 1, 2$ , are progressively measurable processes satisfying the following fact that  $\int_0^T (h_t^1)^2 + (h_t^2)^2 dt < \infty$  P - a.s..

**Lemma 3.12**: Suppose S is given by (3.48). Then  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale deflator for  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  if and only if there exists a unique pair  $(\beta^{(1)}, \beta^{(2)})$  of  $\mathbb{F}$ -progressively measurable process such that  $\int_0^T [(\beta_t^1)^2 + (\beta_t^2)^2] dt < \infty$ . P - a.s.,

$$K^{\mathbb{F}} = \beta^{(1)} \cdot W^{(1)} + \beta^{(2)} \cdot W^{(2)}, \qquad (3.50)$$

and 
$$V\sigma\beta^{(1)} + V\sigma\beta^{(2)}\rho + \mu V^2 \equiv 0$$
,  $P \otimes dt$ -a.e. (3.51)

*Proof.* The representation (3.50) for the process  $K^{\mathbb{F}}$  follows from the equation (3.49). Therefore, by applying Lemma 3.4, we conclude that  $S+[S, K^{\mathbb{F}}]$  is  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale if and only if  $X + [X, K^{\mathbb{F}}]$  is  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale on one hand. On the other hand, we have

$$X + [X, K^{\mathbb{F}}] = \mathbb{F} - \text{local martingale} + \int_0^t V_s \sigma_s \beta_s^{(1)} + V_s \sigma_s \beta_s^{(2)} \rho + \mu V_s^2 ds.$$

Thus, the condition (3.51) follows immediately. This ends the proof.

For the corrected Stein and Stein financial market model, we have the following parametrization for local martingale deflators.

- **Theorem 3.9**: Suppose S given by (3.48) and G > 0. Let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$  be a positive  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent.
  - (a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a local martingale deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ .
  - (b) There exists a unique triplet  $(\beta^{(2)}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  belongs to

$$L^{1}_{loc}(W^{(2)}, \mathbb{F}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D),$$

satisfying  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 \ P\text{-}a.s.,$ 

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = -\left(\frac{\mu V}{\sigma} + \rho\beta^{(2)}\right) \cdot \overline{W}^{(1)} + \beta^{(2)} \cdot \overline{W}^{(2)} - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \overline{m} + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D,$$
  
and  $-\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G}, \ P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e., \ \varphi^{(pr)} > -\varphi^{(o)}\frac{G}{G_{-}} - 1, \ P \otimes D - a.e.$ 

(c) There exists a unique triple  $(\beta^{(2)}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  belongs to

$$L^{1}_{loc}(W^{(2)},\mathbb{F}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}),P\otimes D),$$

satisfying  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 \ P\text{-}a.s.,$ 

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{\mathcal{E}(-(\mu V \sigma^{-1} + \rho \beta^{(2)}) \cdot W^{(1)} + \beta^{(2)} \cdot W^{(2)})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D), (3.52)$$
$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G}, \ P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e. \ \varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \ P \otimes D - a.e. \ (3.53)$$

*Proof.* From the dynamics of S in (3.48), we deduce that all  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale are continuous. On one hand, thanks to Theorem 3.5, there exists a unique triplet  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that the process  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$  gets the following decomposition

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \overline{K^{\mathbb{F}}} - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \overline{m} + \varphi^{(0)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(3.54)

On the other hand, by Lemma 3.12, we get

$$\overline{K^{\mathbb{F}}} = -(\frac{\mu V}{\sigma} + \rho\beta^{(2)}) \cdot \overline{W}^{(1)} + \beta^{(2)} \cdot \overline{W}^{(2)}.$$

By inserting it in (3.54), this ends the proof of assertion (b).

The proof of assertion (c) follows immediately from combining assertion (b), equation (3.77) and Lemma 3.12, and we will omit it here.

**Remark** When  $\rho = 0$ , it's clear that the decomposition (3.52) becomes

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{-\mu V}{\sigma} \cdot \overline{W}^{(1)} + \beta^{(2)} \cdot \overline{W}^{(2)} - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \overline{m} + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}},$$

This fact follows from the equation (3.51) in Lemma 3.12.

#### 3.4.3.2 Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard Model

The Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard financial market is presented by the filtration generated by a one dimensional Lévy process Y, where  $Y := Y^c + \tilde{Y}^d$ . The process  $Y^c$ is the continuous part of Levy process and  $\tilde{Y}^d$  is driven by random measure of Y, donated by  $\tilde{\mu}(dt \times dx)$  with componsator measure  $\tilde{\nu}(dt \times dx) = \tilde{F}(dx)dA_t$ , for more details about the model see [26] and [114].

By considering  $A_s = s$ , we have  $\langle Y^c \rangle_s = s$ . Then Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard

process,  $S_t$ , follows stochastic differential equations below

$$S_t = S_0 e^{X_t}, \quad dX_s = (\mu + \xi \sigma_s^2) ds + \sigma_s dY_s^c + d(\rho x \star \widetilde{\mu}_Y)_s,$$
  
and  $d\sigma_s = -\lambda \sigma_s^2 dt + d(x \star \widetilde{\mu}_Y)_s,$  (3.55)

where all the coefficients  $\xi, \rho, \lambda$  and  $\mu$  are real constants with  $\rho < 0$  and  $\lambda > 0$ . Therefore by Ito's formula, we calculate the dynamics of S,

$$\frac{dS_t}{S_{t_-}} = \alpha_t dt + \sigma_t dY_t^c + d(e^{\rho x} - 1) \star (\widetilde{\mu} - \widetilde{\nu})_t, \qquad (3.56)$$

where  $\alpha := \mu + \sigma^2(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \int (e^{\rho x} - 1)\widetilde{F}(dx)$ . The predictable characteristic of Section 2.4 for Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard process is

$$S_{t}^{c} = S_{t_{-}}\sigma_{t} \cdot Y_{t}^{c}, \quad \Delta S_{t} = S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho\Delta\sigma_{t}^{2}} - 1), \quad b_{t} = S_{t_{-}}\alpha,$$
  
$$c_{t} = S_{t_{-}}^{2}\sigma_{t}^{2}, \quad \nu^{S}(dt \times dx) = F_{t}^{S}(dx)dt, \quad f(x)F_{t}^{S}(dx) = f(S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1))\widetilde{F}_{t}(dx).$$

Here, we don't compute the truncation function h(x), since we don't have big jumps. In the following lemma, we parametrize deflators for the model  $(S, \mathbb{F})$ , given by (3.55).

Lemma 3.13: Suppose S is given by (3.55). Then  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale deflator for S if and only if there exists a unique quadruple  $(\beta, f, g, K')$  that belongs to  $(L^1_{loc}(Y^c, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{G}^1_{loc}(\widetilde{\mu}, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{H}^1_{loc}(\widetilde{\mu}, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{M}_{0, loc}(\mathbb{F})$ , satisfying  $M^P_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{F})) =$  $0, P \otimes \mu$ -.a.e.,  $\Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > -1$  and [K', Y] = 0, satisfying

(i) 
$$\int |(e^{\rho x} - 1)f(S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1))|\widetilde{F}(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e.$$
,  
(ii)  $\mu + \sigma(\sigma\xi + \frac{\sigma}{2} + \beta) + \int (e^{\rho x} - 1)f(S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1))\widetilde{F}(dx) \equiv 0, \ P \otimes dt - a.e.$  (3.57)

then the process  $K^{\mathbb{F}}$  has following decomposition

$$K^{\mathbb{F}} := \beta \cdot Y^{c} + (f-1) \star (\widetilde{\mu} - \widetilde{\nu}) + g \star \widetilde{\mu} + K'.$$
(3.58)

*Proof.* For any  $K^{\mathbb{F}} \in \mathcal{M}_{loc}(\mathbb{F})$ , by applying the Jacod's representation with respect to S, we get (3.58). For more details about the decomposition of  $K^{\mathbb{F}}$ , we refer the reader to the Theorem 2.7. Therefore by applying Lemma 3.4,  $S + [S, K^{\mathbb{F}}]$  is  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale if and only if

$$Y + [Y, K^{\mathbb{F}}] = \mathbb{F} - \text{local martingale} + \int_0^t \mu + \sigma_s(\sigma_s \xi + \frac{\sigma_s}{2} + \beta_s) ds + \int_0^t \int (e^{\rho x} - 1) f_s(e^{\rho x} - 1) \widetilde{F}(dx) ds$$

is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale if and only if the right side of above equation vanishes. Thus, the condition (3.57) follows immediately. This ends the proof.

Our main result in this subsection is presented by the following Theorem.

- Theorem 3.10: Suppose S is given by (3.55) and G > 0. Let Z<sup>G</sup> := € (K<sup>G</sup>) be a positive G-local martingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent.
  (a) Z<sup>G</sup> is a local martingale deflator for (S<sup>τ</sup>, G).
  - (b) There exists a unique  $(\beta, f, g, K', \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  that belongs to

$$L^{1}_{loc}(Y^{c},\mathbb{F})\times\mathcal{G}^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\mu},\mathbb{F})\times\mathcal{H}^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\mu},\mathbb{F})\times\mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})\times\mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G})\times L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega},\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}),P\otimes D),$$

satisfying  $M^P_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{F})) = 0, \ P \otimes \mu$ -.a.e.,  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 \ P$ -a.s.,

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D,$$

$$\begin{split} \varphi^{(pr)} &> -\left[G_{-}\left(f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X)\right)I_{\{\Delta X \neq 0\}} + (1 + \Delta K')I_{\{\Delta X = 0\}}\right) + \varphi^{(o)}G\right]/\tilde{G}, \ P \otimes D\text{-}a.e., \\ &- \frac{\left(f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X)\right)G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{\left(f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X)\right)G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. \ on \ \{\Delta X \neq 0\}, \\ &- \frac{(1 + \Delta K')G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{(1 + \Delta K')G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. \ on \ \{\Delta X = 0\}, \\ &\int |(e^{\rho x} - 1)f(S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1))|\tilde{F}(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e. \ , \\ ∧ \quad \mu + \sigma(\sigma\xi + \frac{\sigma}{2} + \beta) + \int (e^{\rho x} - 1)f(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))\tilde{F}(dx) \equiv 0, \quad P \otimes dt - a.e. \ , \\ &where \quad K^{\mathbb{F}} = \beta \cdot Y^{c} + (f - 1) \star (\tilde{\mu} - \tilde{\nu}) + g \star \tilde{\mu} + K', \ \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > -1, \ [K', Y] = 0. \end{aligned}$$

(c) There exists a unique  $(\beta, f, g, K', \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  that belongs to

$$L^{1}_{loc}(Y^{c},\mathbb{F})\times\mathcal{G}^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\mu},\mathbb{F})\times\mathcal{H}^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\mu},\mathbb{F})\times\mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})\times\mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G})\times L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega},Prog(\mathbb{F}),P\otimes D),$$

satisfying  $M^P_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{F})) = 0, \ P \otimes \mu$ -.a.e.,  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 \ P$ -a.s.,

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \boldsymbol{\cdot} N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \boldsymbol{\cdot} D).$$
(3.60)

$$\begin{aligned} and \ \varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \ P \otimes D\text{-}a.e., \ -\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e., \\ \int |(e^{\rho x} - 1)f(S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1))|\widetilde{F}(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e. , \\ \mu + \sigma(\sigma\xi + \frac{\sigma}{2} + \beta) + \int (e^{\rho x} - 1)f(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))\widetilde{F}(dx) \equiv 0, \quad P \otimes dt - a.e. , \\ where \quad K^{\mathbb{F}} = \beta \cdot Y^{c} + (f - 1) \star (\widetilde{\mu} - \widetilde{\nu}) + g \star \widetilde{\mu} + K', \ \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > -1, \ [K', Y] = 0. \end{aligned}$$

*Proof.* The proof follows immediately from Theorems 3.1-3.2. By Theorem 3.1, we have the following decomposition

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(3.61)

Thanks to Lemma 3.13, define  $K^{\mathbb{F}}$  as follows  $K^{\mathbb{F}} := \beta \cdot Y^c + (f-1) \star (\tilde{\mu} - \tilde{\nu}) + g \star \tilde{\mu} + K'$ , then decomposition (3.61) coincides with (3.59). Similarly, one can see the prove of the multiplicative form. This ends the proof of theorem.

#### **3.4.4** The case of the complete market model $(S, \mathbb{F})$

In this subsection, we illustrate our results of Section 3.2 in the case where the initial market model,  $(S, \mathbb{F}, P)$ , is complete.

**Theorem 3.11**: Suppose G > 0 and S be a  $\mathbb{F}$ -semimartingale such that the model  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  is complete and  $Z^{(1)} := \mathcal{E}(K^{(1)})$  is its unique local martingale deflator (i.e.  $Z^{\mathbb{F}} \in \mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S, \mathbb{F})$ ). Let  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale, then the following assertions are equivalent.

(a) Z<sup>G</sup> := ε (K<sup>G</sup>) is a local martingale deflator for (S<sup>τ</sup>, G) (i.e. Z<sup>G</sup> ∈ Z(S<sup>τ</sup>, G)).
(b) There exists a unique pair (φ<sup>(o)</sup>, φ<sup>(pr)</sup>), such that φ<sup>(o)</sup> ∈ I<sup>o</sup><sub>loc</sub>(N<sup>G</sup>, G), φ<sup>(pr)</sup> belongs to L<sup>1</sup><sub>loc</sub>(Ω̃, Prog(F), P ⊗ D), satisfying E[φ<sup>(pr)</sup><sub>τ</sub> | F<sub>τ</sub>]I<sub>{τ<+∞}</sub> = 0 P-a.s.,

$$\varphi^{(pr)} > -\left[G_{-}(1 + \Delta K^{(1)}) + \varphi^{(o)}G\right]/\widetilde{G}, \qquad P \otimes D - a.e., \tag{3.62}$$

$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G}(1+\Delta K^{(1)}) < \varphi^{(o)}, \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-a.e. and} \quad \varphi^{(o)}\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}} < (1+\Delta K^{(1)})G_{-},$$
(3.63)

and

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{(1)}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(3.64)

(c) There exists a unique pair  $(\varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$ , such that  $\varphi^{(o)} \in \mathcal{I}^o_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \varphi^{(pr)}$  belongs to  $L^1_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega}, \operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$ , and satisfying  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  P-a.s.,

$$\varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \quad P \otimes D - a.e., \ -\frac{\widetilde{G}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{\widetilde{G}}{\widetilde{G} - G}, \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e. \ , \ (3.65)$$

and 
$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{(Z^{(1)})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \boldsymbol{\cdot} N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \boldsymbol{\cdot} D).$$
 (3.66)

*Proof.* Since the model  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  is complete, there exists a unique local martingale deflator for this model that we denote by  $Z^{(1)} = \mathcal{E}(K^{(1)})$ . Thus, by combining this fact with Theorem 3.1, we deduce the existence of  $(\varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  and the decomposition  $K^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D$ . By substituting  $(K^{\mathbb{F}} = K^{(1)})$ , the proofs of assertions (a) and (b) follow.

The proof for the multiplicative representation, stated in assertion (c), follows immediately from assertion (b) and Yor's formula, and it will be omitted here.  $\Box$ 

### 3.5 Super-martingale deflator: The general setting

Throughout this section, for any  $\mathbb{H}$ -semimartingale X, we denote by  $X^{p,\mathbb{H}}$  and defined in Section 2.1, when it exists (i.e. when X is a special semimartingale), the  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable with finite variation part in its Doob-Meyer decomposition. Recall that all the set of deflators for the model  $(X,\mathbb{H})$ , defined in Section 2.2.2, will be denoted by  $\mathcal{D}(X,\mathbb{H})$  throughout the rest of the thesis. Furthermore, stochastic processes will be compared to each other in the following sense.

**Definition 3.2**: Let X and Y be two processes with  $X_0 = Y_0$ . Then

 $X \succeq Y$  if X - Y is an increasing process.

We start this section by parametrizing deflators as follows.

**Lemma 3.14**: Let X be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -semimartingale, and Z be a positive  $\mathbb{H}$ -supermartingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent.

(a) Z is a deflator for  $(X, \mathbb{H})$ .

(b) There exists a unique pair (N, V) of  $N \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{H})$ , and a nondecreasing, RCLL and  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process V, such

$$Z := Z_0 \mathcal{E}(N) \mathcal{E}(-V), \quad N_0 = V_0 = 0, \quad \Delta N > -1, \quad \Delta V < 1$$
 (3.67)

$$\sup_{0 < s \le \cdot} |\Delta Y_s^{(\varphi)}| \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}^+(\mathbb{H}) \text{ and } \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V} \cdot V \succeq (Y^{(\varphi)})^{p, \mathbb{H}}.$$
(3.68)

Here  $(Y^{(\varphi)})^{p,\mathbb{H}}$  is the predictable with finite variation process such that

$$Y^{(\varphi)} - (Y^{(\varphi)})^{p,\mathbb{H}} \in \mathcal{M}_{loc}(\mathbb{H}) \quad \text{and} \quad Y^{(\varphi)} := \varphi \cdot \mathbf{X} + [\varphi \cdot \mathbf{X}, \mathbf{N}],$$

for any bounded  $\varphi$  that belongs to  $\mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$  given by

$$\mathcal{L}(X,\mathbb{H}) := \left\{ \varphi \text{ is } \mathbb{H}\text{-predictable } \middle| \varphi \Delta X > -1 \right\}.$$
(3.69)

Proof. The proof of this lemma will be achieved in two steps. The first step proves that there exists a unique pair (N, V) satisfying (3.67) as soon as Z is a deflator for  $(X, \mathbb{H})$ . The second step shows that for a process Z, for which there exists a pair (N, V) satisfying (3.67), there is equivalence between  $Z\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X)$  is supermartingale and (3.68), for any bounded  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ .

Step 1. Suppose that Z is a deflator. This implies that Z is a positive supermartingale (since  $\varphi = 0 \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ ), and hence  $X := Z_{-}^{-1} \cdot Z$  is a local supermartingale having the unique Doom-Meyer decomposition X := K - V, where  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{H})$ and V is nondecreasing and predictable with  $\Delta V < 1$  (since Z > 0). It is clear that the predictable process  $(1 - \Delta V)^{-1}$  is well defined and is locally bounded. Hence

$$N := \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V} \cdot K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{H}), \quad \Delta N > -1 \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{Z} = \mathbf{Z}_0 \mathcal{E}(\mathbf{N}) \mathcal{E}(-\mathbf{V}).$$

This ends the first step.

Step 2. Suppose that there exists a pair (N, V) such that  $Z = Z_0 \mathcal{E}(N) \mathcal{E}(-V)$ and (3.67) holds. Let  $\varphi$  be a bounded element of  $\mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ . Then by applying Yor's formula to  $Z\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X) = Z_0\mathcal{E}(N)\mathcal{E}(-V)\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X)$ , one get

$$Z\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X) = Z_0 \mathcal{E}(N) \mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X) \mathcal{E}(-V) = Z_0 \mathcal{E}\left(N + \varphi \cdot X + \varphi \cdot [X, N]\right) \mathcal{E}(-V)$$
  
$$= Z_0 \mathcal{E}(Y^{(\varphi)}) \mathcal{E}(-V) = Z_0 \mathcal{E}\left(Y^{(\varphi)} - V - [Y^{(\varphi)}, V]\right)$$
  
$$= Z_0 \mathcal{E}\left((1 - \Delta V) \cdot Y^{(\varphi)} - V\right),$$

where  $Y^{(\varphi)} := N + \varphi \cdot X + \varphi \cdot [X, N]$ . Since Z is positive and  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , then the process  $Z\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X)$  is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -supermartingale if and only if  $(1 - \Delta V) \cdot Y^{(\varphi)} - V$  is a local  $\mathbb{H}$ -supermartingale, or equivalently  $Y^{(\varphi)}$  is a special semimartingale (which is equivalent to the first condition of (3.68)) and its predictable with finite variation part,  $(Y^{(\varphi)})^{p,\mathbb{H}}$ , satisfies  $(Y^{(\varphi)})^{p,\mathbb{H}} \preceq (1 - \Delta V)^{-1} \cdot V$ . This finishes the second step, and the proof of the lemma as well.

Below, we state our last main theorem of this chapter.

- **Theorem 3.12**: Suppose G > 0, and let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -semimartingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent.
  - (a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  (i.e.  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ ).

(b) There exists a unique  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, V^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that  $K^{\mathbb{F}} \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F}), V^{\mathbb{F}}$ is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable and nondecreasing process,  $\varphi^{(o)} \in \mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \varphi^{(pr)}$  belongs to  $L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$  such that  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  P-a.s., the process  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})\mathcal{E}(-V^{\mathbb{F}})$  belongs to  $\mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$ ,

$$\varphi^{(pr)} > -\left[G_{-}(1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) + \varphi^{(o)}G\right]/\widetilde{G}, \qquad P \otimes D - a.e., \qquad (3.70)$$

$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G}(1+\Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{(1+\Delta K^{\mathbb{F}})G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}}, \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e..$$
(3.71)

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = Z_0^{\mathbb{G}} \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(-V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}, \quad K^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(3.72)

(c) There exists unique  $(Z^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that  $Z^{\mathbb{F}} \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F}), (\varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  belongs to  $\mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D), \mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 P-a.s.,$ 

$$\varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \ P \otimes D - a.e., \quad -\frac{\widetilde{G}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{\widetilde{G}}{\widetilde{G} - G}, \ P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e., \quad (3.73)$$

and

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{(Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D).$$
(3.74)

*Proof.* The proof will be achieved in three steps, where we prove the implications  $(a) \Longrightarrow (b), (b) \Longrightarrow (c), and (c) \Longrightarrow (a)$  respectively.

Step 1. Herein, we prove (a) $\Longrightarrow$ (b). To this end, we suppose that  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . Thus, due to Lemma 3.14, we deduce the existence of  $K^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{G})$ and  $V^{\mathbb{G}}$  a  $\mathbb{G}$ -predictable and nondecreasing process such that

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = Z_0 \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(-V^{\mathbb{G}}), \quad \sup_{0 < s \leq \cdot} |\varphi_s \Delta S_s^{\tau}| (1 + \Delta K_s^{\mathbb{G}}) \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}^+(\mathbb{G})$$
  
$$\Delta K^{\mathbb{G}} > -1, \quad \Delta V^{\mathbb{G}} < 1, \quad (1 - \Delta V^{\mathbb{G}})^{-1} \cdot V^{\mathbb{G}} \succeq (\varphi \cdot S^{\tau} + [\varphi \cdot S^{\tau}, K^{\mathbb{G}}])^{p,\mathbb{G}}$$

for any bounded  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . Then a direct application of Theorem 2.11 to  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$ and Lemma 3.1 to  $V^{\mathbb{G}}$ , leads to the existence of the triplet  $(N^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  that belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_{loc}(\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$  and an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable and nondecreasing process V with finite values such that

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = K_0^{\mathbb{G}} + \frac{1}{G_-^2} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D, \quad V^{\mathbb{G}} = V^{\tau}.$$

Consider a bounded  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , and remark that  $\varphi \cdot S^{\tau} + [\varphi \cdot S^{\tau}, K^{\mathbb{G}}] \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}(\mathbb{G})$  is equivalent to  $W := \sum (\varphi \Delta S^{\tau} + \varphi \Delta [S^{\tau}, K^{\mathbb{G}}]) I_{\{|\Delta S|>1\}} \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}(\mathbb{G})$ . As a result,

$$W^{p,\mathbb{G}} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \left( I_{\{n \ge |\Delta S| > 1\}} \cdot W \right)^{p,\mathbb{G}}.$$

By combining

$$\begin{split} \varphi \cdot S^{\tau} + [\varphi \cdot S^{\tau}, K^{\mathbb{G}}] &= \varphi \cdot S^{\tau} + \frac{I_{]]0,\tau]}}{G_{-}^{2}} \cdot [\mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}), \varphi \cdot S^{\tau}] \\ &+ \varphi \Delta S \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi \Delta S \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D, \end{split}$$

the fact that  $\varphi \Delta S \varphi^{(o)} I_{\{|\Delta S| \le n\}} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}$  and  $\varphi \Delta S \varphi^{(pr)} I_{\{|\Delta S| \le n\}} \cdot D$  are  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingales for any  $n \ge 1$ , and  $[\mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}), \varphi \cdot S^{\tau}] = G_{-} \widetilde{G}^{-1} I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} \cdot [N^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi \cdot S^{\tau}]$ , we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\varphi \cdot S^{\tau} + \left[\varphi \cdot S^{\tau}, K^{\mathbb{G}}\right]\right)^{p,\mathbb{G}} &= \left(\varphi \cdot S^{\tau} + \frac{1}{G_{-}^{2}} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot \left[\mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}), \varphi \cdot S\right]\right)^{p,\mathbb{G}} \\ &= \left(\varphi \cdot S^{\tau} + \frac{1}{G_{-}\widetilde{G}} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot \left[N^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi \cdot S\right]\right)^{p,\mathbb{G}}. \end{aligned}$$

By inserting in this equation the following decomposition of S,

$$S = S_0 + M + A + \sum \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}},$$

where M is a locally bounded  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale and A is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process with finite variation, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left(\varphi \cdot S^{\tau} + \left[\varphi \cdot S^{\tau}, K^{\mathbb{G}}\right]\right)^{p,\mathbb{G}} &= \varphi \cdot A^{\tau} + \frac{I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket}}{G_{-}} \cdot \langle m, \varphi \cdot M \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \frac{I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket}}{G_{-}^{2}} \cdot \langle N^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi \cdot M \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \\ &+ \left(\sum \varphi \Delta S(1 + \frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}\tilde{G}})I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket}I_{\{|\Delta S|>1\}}\right)^{p,\mathbb{G}} \\ &= \varphi \cdot A^{\tau} + \frac{I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket}}{G_{-}} \cdot \langle m, \varphi \cdot M \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \frac{I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket}}{G_{-}^{2}} \cdot \langle N^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi \cdot M \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \\ &+ G_{-}^{-1}I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket} \cdot \left(\sum \varphi \Delta S(\tilde{G} + \frac{\Delta N^{\mathbb{F}}}{G_{-}})I_{\{|\Delta S|>1\}}\right)^{p,\mathbb{F}}. \end{split}$$

As a result, for any bounded  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F}), V(\varphi) := \varphi \cdot S + [\varphi \cdot S, \frac{1}{G_{-}} \cdot m + \frac{1}{G_{-}^{2}} \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}]$ has an  $\mathbb{F}$ -compensator, and

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}}} \cdot V^{\mathbb{F}} \succeq \ \varphi \cdot A + \langle \frac{1}{G_{-}} \cdot m + \frac{1}{G_{-}^{2}} \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi \cdot M \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \left( \sum \Delta V(\varphi) I_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}} \\ &= \left( \varphi \cdot S + [\varphi \cdot S, \frac{1}{G_{-}} \cdot m + \frac{1}{G_{-}^{2}} \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}] \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}. \end{split}$$

On the one hand, this is equivalent to  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})\mathcal{E}(-V)\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot S)$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale for any bounded  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(S,\mathbb{F})$ , where  $K^{\mathbb{F}} := G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m + G_{-}^{-2} \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}$ . On the other hand, as in the proof of Theorem 3.1 (see step 2 of that proof), it is clear that  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) > 0$  if and only if  $1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{G}} > 0$  if and only if the triplet  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  satisfies  $1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}} > 0$  and (3.70)-(3.71). This proves assertion (b), and the first step is completed.

Step 2. This step proves (b) $\Longrightarrow$ (c). Hence, we suppose that assertion (b) holds. Then there exists a unique  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, V^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr)} | \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$ *P*-a.s., and

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{E}\Big(\mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D\Big) \mathcal{E}(-V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}.$$

Then by mimicking the analysis (calculations) that starts from (3.18), we derive

$$\begin{split} Z^{\mathbb{G}} &= \frac{\mathcal{E} \left( K^{\mathbb{F}} \right)^{\tau} \mathcal{E} (-V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E} (G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E} (\overline{\varphi}^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E} (\overline{\varphi}^{(pr)} \cdot D) \\ &= \frac{(Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E} (G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E} (\overline{\varphi}^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E} (\overline{\varphi}^{(pr)} \cdot D). \end{split}$$

Here  $\overline{\varphi}^{(o)} := \widetilde{G}\varphi^{(o)}/G_{-}(1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}})$  and  $\overline{\varphi}^{(pr)} := \widetilde{G}\varphi^{(pr)}[G_{-}(1 + \Delta K^{\mathbb{F}}) + G\varphi^{(o)}]^{-1}$ are the  $\mathbb{F}$ -optional and  $\mathbb{F}$ -progressive processes respectively that satisfy (3.73) as a direct consequence of the conditions (3.70)-(3.71) fulfilled by the pair  $(\varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$ . This ends the proof of (b) $\Longrightarrow$ (c).

**Step 3.** Herein, we deal with (c) $\Longrightarrow$ (a). Thus, we suppose that assertion (c) holds, and deduce the existence of a triplet  $(Z^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  that belongs to  $\mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \times L_{loc}^{1}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$  satisfying (3.73) and

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{(Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D).$$
(3.75)

Then for any bounded  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ ,  $Z^{\mathbb{F}}\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot S)$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale, and hence there exist  $N \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  and V is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable and non decreasing process such that

$$Z^{\mathbb{F}}\mathcal{E}(\varphi \bullet S) = \mathcal{E}(N)\mathcal{E}(-V).$$

Therefore, by combining the above product with (3.75), we deduce that, for any

bounded  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F}),$ 

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}}\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot S)^{\tau} = \frac{\mathcal{E}(N)^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D) \mathcal{E}(-V)^{\tau}.$$

Thus, thanks to Corollary 3.2.1 which allows us to conclude that the process

$$(\mathcal{E}(N)^{\tau}/\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} m)^{\tau})\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \boldsymbol{\cdot} N^{\mathbb{G}})\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \boldsymbol{\cdot} D)$$

is in fact a G-local martingale, we deduce that  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot S)^{\tau}$  is a G-supermartingale, for any bounded  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ . Then assertion (a) follows immediately from combining this with the fact that, for any bounded  $\varphi^{\mathbb{G}}$  that belongs to  $\mathcal{L}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ , there exists a bounded  $\varphi^{\mathbb{F}} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  such that  $\varphi^{\mathbb{G}} = \varphi^{\mathbb{F}}$  on  $]0, \tau]$  (see Lemma 3.1-(a)). This ends the proof of the theorem.

## 3.6 Particular cases for supermartingale deflators

This section illustrates the results of Theorem 3.12 on several frequently studied cases. We will discuss the general Lévy market model, two popular cases of Lévy market model such as the case of jump-diffusion and Black-Scholes model, different cases for random times  $\tau$ , two important volatility market frameworks and few more cases.

#### 3.6.1 The case when all F-martingales are continuous

In this subsection, we consider the following notations, defines in (3.29), that we recall here for the reader's convenience.

$$\overline{M} = M^{\tau} - G_{-}^{-1} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot \langle M, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}}, \quad \text{for any } M \in \mathcal{M}_{loc}(\mathbb{F}),$$
$$\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} = D - G_{-}^{-1} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot D^{p,\mathbb{F}}.$$

It is clear that both  $\overline{M}$  and  $\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$  are the  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale parts in the Doob-Meyer decomposition, of  $M^{\tau}$  and D respectively, under  $\mathbb{G}$ . In Lemma 3.7, we discuss the relations between  $\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$  and  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$ ,  $\overline{M}$  and  $\mathcal{T}(M)$ , and their properties.

**Theorem 3.13**: Suppose that G > 0, all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous. Let  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale and  $V^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{G}$ -predictable. Then the following assertions are equivalent.

(a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(-V^{\mathbb{G}})$  is a deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, V^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}) \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \varphi^{(pr)}$ belongs to  $L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$  and  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  P-a.s.,  $V^{\mathbb{F}}$  is nondecreasing with finite values and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable,  $\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{F}})\mathcal{E}(-V^{\mathbb{F}}) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$ ,

$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G}, \ P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e., \ \varphi^{(pr)} > -\varphi^{(o)}\frac{G}{G_{-}} - 1, \ P \otimes D - a.e.,$$
$$V^{\mathbb{G}} := (V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}, \ and \ K^{\mathbb{G}} := \overline{K^{\mathbb{F}}} - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \overline{m} + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$
(3.76)

(b)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique unique triplet  $(Z^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that  $Z^{\mathbb{F}}$  is a supermartingale deflator for  $(S, \mathbb{F})$ ,  $\varphi^{(o)} \in \mathcal{I}_{loc}^{o}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \varphi^{(pr)}$  belongs to  $L_{loc}^{1}(\widetilde{\Omega}, \operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$ , and satisfying the following  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  *P*-a.s.,

$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G}, \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e. \qquad \varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \quad P \otimes D - a.e.,$$
  
and  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} = (Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau} \frac{\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}})}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D).$  (3.77)

*Proof.* (a) The proof of assertion (a) follows from combining Theorem 3.12-(a) with the following three facts. Under the assumption that either  $\tau$  avoids  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times or all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous, then, by Lemma 3.7, we can get these two equalities:  $N^{\mathbb{G}} = \overline{N}$ , and  $\mathcal{T}(M) = \overline{M}$  for any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale M. This proves assertion (a).

(b) The proof of assertion (b) follows immediately from combining assertion (a) and

the fact that, under the assumption that when all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous, we have  $[\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, \overline{M}] = [\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, M] \equiv 0$  for any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale M. This fact, indeed, implies that

$$\mathcal{E}(\overline{M}+\varphi^{(o)}\boldsymbol{\cdot}\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}})=\mathcal{E}(\overline{M})\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)}\boldsymbol{\cdot}\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}),$$

for  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  with  $1 + \Delta \overline{M} > 0$ . This ends the proof of the theorem.  $\Box$ 

Theorem 3.13 states results that work for both cases of  $\tau$  avoids  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times and when all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous. The main difference between the two cases lies in the condition on the parameter  $\varphi^{(p)}$ . Indeed, for the case when  $\tau$  avoids  $\mathbb{F}$ -stopping times, the condition (3.76) (or equivalently the inequalities in (3.77)) becomes  $-1 < \varphi^{(p)} P \otimes D^{p,\mathbb{F}}$ -a.e. instead. This is due to  $\widetilde{G} = G$  which follows from the avoidance property of  $\tau$ . However, when all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous, (3.76) takes the form of  $-\widetilde{G}/G < \varphi^{(p)} < \widetilde{G}/(\widetilde{G}-G) P \otimes D^{p,\mathbb{F}}$ -a.e., since in this case  $\widetilde{G} = G_{-}$  and  $p,\mathbb{F}(G) = G$ .

**Corollary 3.13.1**: Suppose  $\tau$  is a pseudo-stopping time, and G > 0. Let  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale and  $V^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{G}$ -predictable. Then  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}\left(K^{\mathbb{G}}\right)\mathcal{E}(-V^{\mathbb{G}})$  is a deflator for  $(S^{\tau},\mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique triple  $(Z^{\mathbb{F}},\varphi^{(o)},\varphi^{(pr)})$  that belongs to  $\mathcal{D}(S,\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega},\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}),P\otimes D)$  and satisfying  $\varphi^{(pr)} > -1$ ,  $P \otimes D - a.e.$ ,  $-\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-}-G}$ ,  $P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}$ -a.e.

and 
$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = (Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D).$$
 (3.78)

#### 3.6.2 The exponential Lévy market model

In this section, we focus on the case of Lévy market model. Consider the Lévy market models given in Section 3.4.1. The stock price process, S, presented by  $S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t$ , is a locally bounded Lévy process and set up by the stochastic differential equation (3.33). All elements are all the same way as in Section 3.4.1, where  $\sigma > 0$  and  $\mu$  are bounded adapted processes, W is a one-dimensional Brownian Motion,

N(dt, dx) and is a Poisson random measure on  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}/\{0\}$ ,  $\widetilde{N}^{\mathbb{F}}$  is a compensated Poisson measure with Lévy measure (intensity)  $F^X(dx)dt$  and  $A^X$  is an increasing and predictable process. Filtration  $\mathbb{F}$  is generated by W and  $\widetilde{N}^{\mathbb{F}}$ . For more details about the application of Lévy market model in finance, we refer the reader to [25], [65], [66] and the references therein. Lévy model is a quasi-left-continuous process, so it has some extra nice features comparing to general semimartingale. For instance, For locally bounded Lévy model, the truncation function h(x) in characteristics of semimartingales, vanishes.

For the parametrization of general deflators for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ , we need to know its parametrization for model  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  in advance. We present it in the following lemma.

Lemma 3.15: Suppose S is given by (3.33) and Z is a positive  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale. Then Z is a deflator for  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  if and only if there exists a unique  $(\beta, f, g, K', V)$ such that  $(\beta, f, g, K')$  belongs to  $(L^1_{loc}(W, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{G}^1_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{H}^1_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{M}_{0, loc}(\mathbb{F}),$   $M^P_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{F})) = 0, P \otimes \mu$ -.a.e., [K', S] = 0, and a nondecreasing, RCLL and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process V, such that

 $Z := Z_0 \mathcal{E}(N) \mathcal{E}(-V), \quad \Delta V < 1, \quad \Delta N > -1, \quad N_0 = V_0 = 0, \quad (3.79)$ where  $N := \beta \cdot W + (f - 1) \star (\mu - \nu) + g \star \mu + K',$ 

and the triple  $(\beta, f, v)$  satisfying the following inequality

(i) 
$$\int |x(f(x) - I_{|x| \le 1}) F^X(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e.$$
,  
(ii)  $(\mu + \sigma\beta + \int x(f(x) - I_{|x| \le 1}) F^X(dx)) \cdot A^X \preceq \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V} \cdot V.$  (3.80)

*Proof.* In the same spirit as Theorem 2.7, we have the following decomposition for any local martingale N with respect to a quasi-left-continuous process, X,

$$N = N_0 + \beta \cdot W + (f - 1) \star (\mu - \nu) + g \star \mu + K'.$$

Assume that Z is a positive  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale. Therefore, by applying Lemma 3.14, Z is a deflator if and only if  $(1 - \Delta V) \cdot Y^{(\varphi)} - V$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale, or equivalently,  $\frac{1}{1 - \Delta V} \cdot V \succeq (Y^{(\varphi)})^{p,\mathbb{F}}$ , where  $Y^{(\varphi)} := N + \varphi \cdot X + \varphi \cdot [X, N]$ , and  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{F})$ . Thus, by computing the dual predictable projection of  $Y^{(\varphi)}$ , we get

$$(Y^{(\varphi)})^{p,\mathbb{F}} = \varphi \cdot (X + [X, N])^{P,\mathbb{F}} = \int_0^t \varphi_s \Big(\mu_s + \sigma_s \beta_s + \int x f_s(x) F^X(dx) \Big) dA_s^X.$$

Therefore, we obtain the following inequality

$$(Y^{(\varphi)})^{p,\mathbb{F}} - \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V} \cdot V = \int_0^t \varphi_s \Big( \mu_s + \sigma_s \beta_s + \int x f_s(x) F^X(dx) \Big) dA_s^X - \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V} \cdot V \leq 0,$$

if and only if the condition (3.80) holds. This ends the proof.

Since the Lévy model is a quasi-left-continuous and the process  $A_t$  is continuous, there is no loss of generality in defining  $A_t = t$ . The main result in this section is given in the following theorem.

- **Theorem 3.14**: Suppose S is given by (3.33), G > 0, and let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -semimartingale. Then the following are equivalent.
  - (a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  (i.e.  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ ).
  - (b) There exists a unique  $(\beta, f, g, K', V^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that $(\beta, f, g, K')$  belongs to  $(L^{1}_{loc}(W, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{G}^{1}_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{H}^{1}_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{M}_{0, loc}(\mathbb{F}), \varphi^{(o)} \in \mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \varphi^{(pr)}$  belongs to  $L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega}, \operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$ , and a nondecreasing, RCLL and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process  $V^{\mathbb{F}}$ , satisfying

$$M^P_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{F})) = 0, \ P \otimes \mu, \ \text{-a.e.}, \ \mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0, \ P \text{-a.s.} \ ,$$

$$\begin{split} \varphi^{(pr)} &> -\left[G_{-}\left(f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X)\right)I_{\{\Delta X \neq 0\}} + (1 + \Delta K')I_{\{\Delta X = 0\}}\right) + \varphi^{(o)}G\right]/\tilde{G}, \ P \otimes D^{-a.e.}, \\ &- \frac{\left(f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X)\right)G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{\left(f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X)\right)G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. \ on \ \{\Delta X \neq 0\}, \\ &- \frac{(1 + \Delta K')G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{(1 + \Delta K')G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. \ on \ \{\Delta X = 0\}, \\ &\int |x(f(x) - I_{|x| \leq 1})F^{X}(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e. \ , \\ ∧ \quad (\mu + \sigma\beta + \int x(f(x) - I_{|x| \leq 1})F^{X}(dx)) \cdot A^{X} \preceq \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}}} \cdot V^{\mathbb{F}}, \ \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}} < 1, \quad f + g > 0, \\ &Z^{\mathbb{G}} = Z_{0}^{\mathbb{G}}\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})\mathcal{E}(-V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}, \end{aligned}$$
(3.81)

(c) There exists a unique  $(\beta, f, g, K', V^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  such that $(\beta, f, g, K')$  belongs to  $(L^{1}_{loc}(W, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{G}^{1}_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{H}^{1}_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{M}_{0, loc}(\mathbb{F}), \varphi^{(o)} \in \mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}), \varphi^{(pr)}$ belongs to  $L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega}, \operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D), V^{\mathbb{F}}$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable and nondecreasing process, satisfying  $M^{P}_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{F})) = 0, P \otimes \mu$ -.a.e.,  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$ P-a.s.,

$$\begin{split} Z^{\mathbb{G}} &= \frac{\mathcal{E}(\beta \cdot W + (f-1) \star (\mu - \nu) + g \star \mu + K')^{\tau} \mathcal{E}(-V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D). \\ and \quad \varphi^{(pr)} &> -1, \quad P \otimes D\text{-}a.e., \quad -\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e., \\ \int |x(f(x) - I_{|x| \leq 1}) F^{X}(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e. , \\ (\mu + \sigma\beta + \int x(f(x) - I_{|x| \leq 1}) F^{X}(dx)) \cdot A^{X} \preceq \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}}} \cdot V^{\mathbb{F}}, \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}} < 1, \quad f + g > 0 \end{split}$$

*Proof.* The proof is immediately follows from combing Theorem 3.12, Theorem 3.6 and lemma 3.15 with the similar discussion of next subsection (i.e. the Jump-diffusion model) and it is omitted here.  $\Box$ 

#### 3.6.2.1 Jump-diffusion framework

This subsection focuses on the important case of jump-diffusion framework for the market model  $(S, \mathbb{F}, P)$  defined in Section 3.4.1.1. Herein, we suppose that a one-

dimentional Brownian motion W and a Poisson process N with intensity  $\lambda > 0$  are defined on the probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$ , and the filtration  $\mathbb{F}$  is the completed and right continuous filtration generated by W and  $N^{\mathbb{F}}$ . Then the stock price process is given by the following dynamics

$$S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t, \quad X_t = \int_0^t \sigma_s dW_s + \int_0^t \zeta_s dN_s^{\mathbb{F}} + \int_0^t \mu_s ds, \qquad N_t^{\mathbb{F}} := N_t - \lambda t.$$
(3.82)

All elements are all the same way as in Section 3.4.1.1, where a constant  $\delta \in (0, +\infty)$ such that  $\mu$ ,  $\sigma$ , and  $\zeta$  are bounded  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted processes and we also assume that  $\sigma > 0, \ \zeta > -1, \ \sigma + |\zeta| \ge \delta, \ P \otimes dt$ -a.e. .  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale, m, defines in Lemma 3.10 and it has following decomposition  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \varphi^{(m)} \cdot W + (\psi^{(m)} - 1) \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}$ .

**Theorem 3.15**: Suppose S given by (3.82) and G > 0. Let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -semimartingale. Then the following are equivalent.

(a) Z<sup>G</sup> is a deflator for (S<sup>τ</sup>, G) (i.e. Z<sup>G</sup> ∈ D(S<sup>τ</sup>, G)).
(b) There exists a unique (ψ<sub>1</sub>, ψ<sub>2</sub>, V<sup>F</sup>, φ<sup>(o)</sup>, φ<sup>(pr)</sup>) such that (ψ<sub>1</sub>, ψ<sub>2</sub>) ∈ L<sup>1</sup><sub>loc</sub>(W, F) × L<sup>1</sup><sub>loc</sub>(N<sup>F</sup>, F), V<sup>F</sup> is a nondecreasing, RCLL and F-predictable process, φ<sup>(o)</sup> ∈ *L<sup>o</sup>*<sub>loc</sub>(N<sup>G</sup>, G), φ<sup>(pr)</sup> ∈ L<sup>1</sup><sub>loc</sub>(Ω̃, Prog(F), P ⊗ D) such that E[φ<sup>(pr)</sup><sub>τ</sub> | F<sub>τ</sub>]I<sub>{τ<+∞}</sub> = 0 P-a.s., satisfying the following

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}(\psi_{1} \cdot W + (\psi_{2} - 1) \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}) \exp\left(-V^{\mathbb{F}}\right) &\in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F}), \end{aligned} \tag{3.83} \\ \varphi^{(pr)} &> -\left[\frac{\psi_{2}}{\psi^{(m)}} + \frac{\varphi^{(o)}G}{\psi^{(m)}G_{-}}\right], \ and \ -\frac{\psi_{2}G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{\psi_{2}G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. \ on \ \{\Delta N \neq 0\}, \end{aligned} \\ \varphi^{(pr)} &> -\left[1 + \frac{\varphi^{(o)}G}{G_{-}}\right], \ and \ -\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. \ on \ \{\Delta N = 0\}, (3.84) \end{aligned} \\ \int_{0}^{t} \left((\psi_{1}(s))^{2} + |\psi_{2}(s)|\right) ds < +\infty \quad P\text{-}a.s. \ for \ all \ t \ge 0 \end{aligned} \\ and \ \int_{0}^{\cdot} \left(\mu + \psi_{1}\sigma + (\psi_{2} - 1)\zeta\lambda\right) ds \preceq \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}}} \cdot V^{\mathbb{F}}, \ \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}} < 1, \ \psi_{2} > 0, \ P \otimes dt - a.e. \ (3.85) \end{aligned} \\ such \ that \ Z^{\mathbb{G}} = Z_{0}^{\mathbb{G}} \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) \exp\left(-V^{\mathbb{F}}\right)^{\tau}, \end{aligned} \\ \mathcal{K}^{\mathbb{G}} = \psi_{1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(W) + (\psi_{2} - 1) \cdot \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D. \end{aligned}$$

(c) There exists  $(\psi_1, \psi_2, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  that belongs to

$$L^{1}_{loc}(W,\mathbb{F}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{F}},\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega}, \operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D),$$

and  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  P-a.s., and a nondecreasing, RCLL and  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process  $V^{\mathbb{F}}$ , satisfying the following

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{\mathcal{E}(\psi_1 \cdot W + (\psi_2 - 1) \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}} - V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_-^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D)$$
(3.87)

$$\varphi^{(pr)} > -1 \quad P \otimes D\text{-}a.e. , \quad -\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. , \qquad (3.88)$$
$$\int_{-1}^{t} \left( (\psi_1(s))^2 + |\psi_{2(s)}| \right) ds < +\infty \quad P\text{-}a.s. \text{ for all } t \ge 0$$

and 
$$\int_0^{\cdot} (\mu + \psi_1 \sigma + (\psi_2 - 1)\zeta\lambda) ds \preceq \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}}} \cdot V^{\mathbb{F}}, \ \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}} < 1, \ \psi_2 > 0, \ P \otimes dt - a.e.$$

Proof. In Lemma 3.15, define  $(\beta, f) = (\psi_1, \psi_2)$ , where f(x) = f(1). Therefore,  $\mathcal{E}(N)\mathcal{E}(V^{\mathbb{F}}) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$  if and only if  $N := \psi_1 \cdot W + (\psi_2 - 1) \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}$ , and  $V^{\mathbb{F}} = V$ ,

$$\int_0^{\cdot} (\mu + \psi_1 \sigma + (\psi_2 - 1)\zeta\lambda) ds \preceq \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V} \bullet V, \Delta V < 1, \quad \psi_2 > 0, \quad P \otimes dt \text{-a.e.}$$

Then by Theorem 3.12 and above explanation, there exists a unique  $(\psi_1, \psi_2, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$ such that  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$  has the following form

$$K^{\mathbb{G}} = \psi_1 \cdot \mathcal{T}(W) + (\psi_2 - 1) \cdot \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$

Moreover, the inequalities (3.85)-(3.88) are fulfilled. It ends the proof of assertion (b). For the remaining parts of the proof, in Theorem 3.12 assertion (c), define  $Z^{\mathbb{F}} := \mathcal{E}(\psi_1 \cdot W + (\psi_2 - 1) \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}) \exp(-V^{\mathbb{F}})$ . Then, by using the Yor's formula, we get (3.87). This complete the proof of Theorem.

#### 3.6.2.2 Black-Scholes market model

In this subsection we focus on the case of Black-Scholes market model, as it defines in subsection 3.4.1.2. The financial market is presented by following stochastic differential equation

$$S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t, \quad X_t := \int_0^t \sigma_s dW_s + \int_0^t \mu_s ds,$$
 (3.89)

where W is a one-dimensional Brownian motion. For this model, we have the following parametrization of supermartingale deflators.

**Theorem 3.16**: Suppose S is given by (3.89) and G > 0. Let  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent. (a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique  $(\beta, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)}) \in (L^1_{loc}(W, \mathbb{F}) \times L^1_{loc}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \times L^1_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D))$  such that  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$  P-a.s., and a nondecreasing, RCLL and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process  $V^{\mathbb{F}}$ ,

$$\mathcal{E}(\beta \cdot W) \exp(-V^{\mathbb{F}}) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F}), \text{ and } \int \mu + \sigma \beta dt \leq (1 - \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}})^{-1} \cdot V^{\mathbb{F}}, \ \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}} < 1 \quad (3.90)$$
$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G}, \ P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e., \ \varphi^{(pr)} > -\varphi^{(o)} \frac{G}{G_{-}} - 1, \ P \otimes D - a.e.,$$
$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = Z_{0}^{\mathbb{G}} \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) \exp(-V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}, \ and \ K^{\mathbb{G}} = -(\frac{\mu}{\sigma} + \varphi^{(m)}) \cdot \overline{W} + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$

(b)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique triplet

$$\left(Z^{\mathbb{F}},\varphi^{(o)},\varphi^{(pr)}\right)$$
 that belongs to  $\mathcal{D}(S,\mathbb{F})\times L^{1}_{loc}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G})\times L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}),P\otimes D)$ 

such that  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi_{\tau}^{(pr)} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 \ P\text{-}a.s.,$ 

$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G}, \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e. \quad \varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \quad P \otimes D - a.e.,$$
$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{(Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D).$$
(3.91)

Proof. In Lemma 3.15, define  $(\beta, f) = (\beta, 0)$ . Therefore,  $\mathcal{E}(N)\mathcal{E}(V^{\mathbb{F}}) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$  if and only if  $N := \beta \cdot W$ ,  $V^{\mathbb{F}} := V$ , and  $\int \mu + \sigma \beta dt \preceq (1 - \Delta V)^{-1} \cdot V$ ,  $\Delta V < 1$ . The decompositions (3.90)-(3.91) for  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  and inequalities (3.90)-(3.91) follow from Theorem 3.13 due to the fact that all  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale are continuous.  $\Box$ 

**Remark.** It clear that  $\mathbb{F}$ -deflator in the multiplicative representation can be replace by  $Z^{\mathbb{F}} = \mathcal{E}(\beta \cdot W - V^{\mathbb{F}})$ , where the condition (3.90) holds.

#### 3.6.3 Volatility market models

In this subsection we focus on the case of Volatility Models model, which has huge application in financial industry. Corrected Stein and Stein Model and Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard Model are well know and most interested in Finance. We evaluate parametrization of these two models in this subsection.

#### 3.6.3.1 Corrected Stein and Stein Model

In this subsection we focus on the case of corrected Stein and Stein financial market. Consider the corrected Stein and Stein market model given in Section 3.4.3.1. The stock price process, S, presented by  $S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t$ , is represented by the following stochastic differential equations

$$X_{t} = X_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} V_{s} \sigma_{s} dW_{s}^{(1)} + \int_{0}^{t} \mu V_{s}^{2} dt$$
$$V_{t} = V_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} (m - aV_{s}) dt + \alpha_{s} dW_{s}^{(2)}$$
(3.92)

 $W^{(i)}, i = 1, 2$ , is a one-dimensional Brownian motion with the filtration is generated by the processes  $W^{(i)}, i = 1, 2$ , and all coefficients are all the same way as in Section 3.4.3.1. Any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale M represents same as equation (3.49) (i.e.  $M = M_0 + h^1 \cdot W^1 + h^2 \cdot W^2$ ). For this model, we have the following decomposition of  $\mathbb{F}$ -deflator. **Lemma 3.16**: Suppose S is given by (3.92) and Z be a positive  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale. Then Z is a deflator for  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  if and only if there exists a unique triple  $(\beta^{(1)}, \beta^{(2)}, v)$ such that  $(\beta^{(1)}, \beta^{(2)})$  are  $\mathbb{F}$ -progressively measurable processes such that

$$\int_0^T [(\beta_t^1)^2 + (\beta_t^2)^2] dt < \infty. \ P - a.s. ,$$

and a nondecreasing, RCLL and  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process  $V^{\mathbb{F}}$ , such that

$$Z := Z_0 \mathcal{E}(N) \mathcal{E}(-V^{\mathbb{F}}), \ N := \beta^{(1)} \cdot W^{(1)} + \beta^{(2)} \cdot W^{(2)},$$
(3.93)

and the following inequality holds

$$\int_0^t \varphi_s \Big( \sigma_s \beta_s^{(1)} + \sigma_s \beta_s^{(2)} \rho + \mu V_s^2 \Big) dt \preceq (1 - \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}})^{-1} \cdot V^{\mathbb{F}}, \quad \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}} < 1.$$
(3.94)

Proof. The representation (3.93) for process N, follows from the equation (3.49). Therefore by applying Lemma 3.14,  $Z\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X)$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale, if and only if,  $\frac{1}{1-\Delta V^{\mathbb{F}}} \cdot V^{\mathbb{F}} \succeq (Y^{(\varphi)})^{p,\mathbb{F}}$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale, where  $Y^{(\varphi)} := N + \varphi \cdot X + \varphi \cdot [X, N]$ , and  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{F})$ . Therefore,

$$(Y^{(\varphi)})^{p,\mathbb{F}} - \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V} \cdot V = \int_0^t \varphi_s \Big( \sigma_s \beta_s^{(1)} + \sigma_s \beta_s^{(2)} \rho + \mu V_s^2 \Big) dt - (1 - \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}})^{-1} \cdot V^{\mathbb{F}} \preceq 0,$$

which is equivalent to the condition (3.94). This is the end of the proof.

For the corrected Stein and Stein financial market model, we have the following parametrization for deflators in  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ .

**Theorem 3.17**: Suppose S given by (3.92) and G > 0. Let  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent.

(a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique there exists a unique  $(\beta^{(1)}, \beta^{(2)}, V^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  and a nondecreasing, RCLL and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process  $V^{\mathbb{F}}$ , such that  $(\beta^{(1)}, \beta^{(2)}, \varphi^{(o)})$  belongs to  $L^{1}_{loc}(W^{1}, \mathbb{F}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(W^{2}, \mathbb{F}) \times$   $L^{1}_{loc}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G}) \text{ and } \varphi^{(pr)} \text{ belongs to } L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D), \text{ satisfying } \mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 P\text{-}a.s.,$ 

$$\mathcal{E}(\beta^{(1)} \cdot W^{(1)} + \beta^{(2)} \cdot W^{(2)}) \mathcal{E}(-V^{\mathbb{F}}) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F}),$$

$$(3.95)$$

$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G}, \ P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e., \ \varphi^{(pr)} > -\varphi^{(o)}\frac{G}{G_{-}} - 1, \ P \otimes D - a.e.,$$
$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = Z_{0}^{\mathbb{G}}\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})\exp\left(-V^{\mathbb{F}}\right)^{\tau},$$
(3.96)

$$\int_{0}^{t} \varphi_{s} \Big( \sigma_{s} \beta_{s}^{(1)} + \sigma_{s} \beta_{s}^{(2)} \rho + \mu V_{s}^{2} \Big) dt \preceq (1 - \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}})^{-1} \cdot V^{\mathbb{F}}, \quad \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}} < 1,$$
  
and  $K^{\mathbb{G}} = \beta^{(1)} \cdot (\overline{W}^{(1)}) + \beta^{(2)} \cdot (\overline{W}^{(2)}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \overline{m} + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$  (3.97)

(b)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique  $(\beta^{(1)}, \beta^{(2)}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$ belongs to  $L^{1}_{loc}(W^{1}, \mathbb{F}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(W^{1}, \mathbb{F}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$  and a nondecreasing, RCLL and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process  $V^{\mathbb{F}}$ , satisfying  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} =$ 0 P-a.s.,

$$-\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{G_{-} - G}, \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}} - a.e. \qquad \varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \quad P \otimes D - a.e.,$$
$$\int_{0}^{t} \varphi_{s} \Big( \sigma_{s} \beta_{s}^{(1)} + \sigma_{s} \beta_{s}^{(2)} \rho + \mu V_{s}^{2} \Big) dt \preceq (1 - \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}})^{-1} \cdot V^{\mathbb{F}}, \quad \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}} < 1,$$
$$and \ Z^{\mathbb{G}} = (\beta^{(1)} \cdot W^{(1)} + \beta^{(2)} \cdot W^{(2)} - V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau} \frac{\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}})}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D). \quad (3.98)$$

Proof. On one hand, by Lemma 3.16, we have

$$N = N_0 + \int_0^t \beta_s^{(1)} dW_s^{(1)} + \int_0^t \beta_s^{(2)} dW_s^{(2)}, \ V^{\mathbb{F}} = V$$

On the other hand, since all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous, thanks to Theorem 3.13, there exists a unique parametrization for general deflator  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  such that  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} = Z_0^{\mathbb{G}} \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(-(V)^{\tau})$ , and  $K^{\mathbb{G}} = \overline{K^{\mathbb{F}}} - G_-^{-1} \cdot \overline{m} + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot \overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D$ . Therefore, by putting the pair  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, V^{\mathbb{F}})$  in (N, V) respectively, and also considering the following

$$\overline{(\beta^{(1)} \boldsymbol{\cdot} W^{(1)} + \beta^{(2)} \boldsymbol{\cdot} W^{(2)})} = \beta^{(1)} \boldsymbol{\cdot} (\overline{W}^{(1)}) + \beta^{(2)} \boldsymbol{\cdot} (\overline{W}^{(2)}),$$

the proof of assertion (a) follows immediately. The remaining parts of proof is easy to see with same explanation.  $\hfill \Box$ 

#### 3.6.3.2 Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard Model

Here, we turn to the Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard financial market which is presented in Section 3.4.3.2. The filtration is generated by a one dimensional Lévy process Y, where we have  $Y = Y^c + \tilde{Y}^d$ . The stock price process is an exponential of a Lévy process such that  $S_t = S_0 e^{(X)_t}$  and follows these stochastic differential equations

$$dX_s = (\mu + \xi \sigma_s^2) ds + \sigma_s dY_s^c + d(\rho x \star \widetilde{\mu}_Y)_s$$
  
$$d\sigma_s^2 = -\lambda \sigma_s^2 dt + d(x \star \widetilde{\mu}_Y)_s$$
(3.99)

$$\frac{dS_t}{S_{t_-}} = \alpha_t dt + \sigma_t dY_t^c + d(e^{\rho x} - 1) \star (\widetilde{\mu} - \widetilde{\nu})_t, \qquad (3.100)$$

where all the coefficients  $B, \rho, \lambda$  and  $\mu$  are real constants with  $\rho < 0$  and  $\lambda > 0$ , and

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha &= \mu + \sigma_t^2 (\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \int (e^{\rho x} - 1) \widetilde{F}(dx), \quad S_t^c = S_{t_-} \sigma_t \cdot Y_t^c, \quad \Delta S_t = S_{t_-} (e^{\rho \Delta \sigma_t^2} - 1), \\ b_t &= S_{t_-} \alpha, \quad c_t = S_{t_-}^2 \sigma_t^2, \quad \nu^S(dt \times dx) = F_t^S(dx) dt. \end{aligned}$$

By the above-mentioned decomposition for Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard process, we parametrize supermartingale deflators for model  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  in the following lemma. The model is a quasi-left-continuous and the process  $A_t$  is continuous. Thus, there is no loss of generality on defining  $A_t = t$ .

Lemma 3.17: Suppose S is given by (3.99) and Z be a positive  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale. Then Z is a deflator for  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  if and only if there exists a unique  $(\beta, f, g, K', V)$ such that  $(\beta, f, g, K')$  belongs to  $(L^1_{loc}(Y^c, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{G}^1_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{H}^1_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{M}_{0, loc}(\mathbb{F}),$ [K', Y] = 0, and a nondecreasing, RCLL and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process V, such that  $M^P_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{F})) = 0, \ P \otimes \mu\text{-.a.e.},$ 

$$Z := Z_0 \mathcal{E}(N) \mathcal{E}(-V), \quad \Delta V < 1 \ \Delta N > -1,$$
$$N := N_0^{\mathbb{F}} + \beta_t \cdot Y^c + (f-1) \star (\widetilde{\mu} - \widetilde{\nu})_t + g \star \widetilde{\mu} + K' , \qquad (3.101)$$

and the following inequalities hold

(i) 
$$\int |(e^{\rho x} - 1)f(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))|\widetilde{F}(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e.$$
, (3.102)  
(ii)  $\int_{0}^{\cdot} \varphi_{s} \Big( \mu_{s} + \sigma_{s}(\sigma_{s}\xi_{s} + \frac{\sigma_{s}}{2} + \beta_{s}) \Big) ds + \int (e^{\rho x} - 1)f(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))\widetilde{F}(dx) \preceq (1 - \Delta V)^{-1} \cdot V.$ 

*Proof.* Thanks to Lemma 3.13, we have the representation (3.101) for process N. Therefore by applying Lemma 3.14, Z is a positive  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale and  $Z\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X)$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale, if and only if

$$(Y^{(\varphi)})^{p,\mathbb{F}} - \frac{1}{1 - \Delta V} \cdot V = \int_0^1 \varphi_s \Big( \mu_s + \sigma_s (\sigma_s \xi_s + \frac{\sigma_s}{2} + \beta_s) \Big) ds \\ + \int_0^1 \varphi_s \Big( \int (e^{\rho x} - 1) f_s (e^{\rho x} - 1) \widetilde{F}(dx) \Big) - (1 - \Delta V)^{-1} \cdot V \preceq 0,$$

which is equivalent to the condition (3.102). This is the end of proof.

The main result in this subsection is given in the following theorem.

Theorem 3.18: Suppose S given by (3.99) and G > 0. Let K<sup>G</sup> be a G-local martingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent.
(a) Z<sup>G</sup> is a deflator for (S<sup>τ</sup>, G) if and only if there exists a unique (β, f, g, K', v, φ<sup>(o)</sup>, φ<sup>(pr)</sup>)

and a nondecreasing, RCLL and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process  $V^{\mathbb{F}}$ , such that,  $(\beta, f, g, K', \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  belongs to

$$L^{1}_{loc}(Y^{c},\mathbb{F})\times\mathcal{G}^{1}_{loc}(\mu,\mathbb{F})\times\mathcal{H}^{1}_{loc}(\mu,\mathbb{F})\times\mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})\times\mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G})\times L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega},\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}),P\otimes D),$$

satisfying the following  $M^P_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{F})) = 0, P \otimes \mu$ -.a.e.,  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0$ 

 $P\text{-}a.s.,\;\Delta V^{\mathbb{F}}<1,\;f+g>0,$ 

$$\begin{split} \varphi^{(pr)} &> -\left[G_{-}\left(f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X)\right)I_{\{\Delta X \neq 0\}} + (1 + \Delta K')I_{\{\Delta X = 0\}}\right) + \varphi^{(o)}G\right]/\tilde{G}, \ P \otimes D^{-a.e.}, \\ &- \frac{\left(f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X)\right)G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{\left(f(\Delta X) + g(\Delta X)\right)G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. \ on \ \{\Delta X \neq 0\}, \\ &- \frac{(1 + \Delta K')G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{(1 + \Delta K')G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e. \ on \ \{\Delta X = 0\}, \\ &\int |(e^{\rho x} - 1)f(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))|\widetilde{F}(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e. \ , \\ &\int \int |(e^{\rho x} - 1)f(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))|\widetilde{F}(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e. \ , \\ &Z^{\mathbb{G}} = Z_{0}^{\mathbb{G}}\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})\exp(V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}, \\ &Z^{\mathbb{G}} = Z_{0}^{\mathbb{G}}\mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})\exp(V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}, \\ &K^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(\beta \cdot Y^{c} + (f - 1) \star (\widetilde{\mu} - \widetilde{\nu}) + g \star \widetilde{\mu} + K') - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D. \end{split}$$

(b)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if there exists a unique  $(\beta, f, g, K', V^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$ such that  $V^{\mathbb{F}}$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable and nondecreasing process,  $(\beta, f, g, K', \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)}) \in L^{1}_{loc}(Y^{c}, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{G}^{1}_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{H}^{1}_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{M}_{0, loc}(\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}^{o}_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{G}) \times L^{1}_{loc}(\widetilde{\Omega}, \operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D)$ , such that  $M^{P}_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{F})) = 0, P \otimes \mu$ -.a.e.,  $\mathbb{E}[\varphi^{(pr)}_{\tau} \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}]I_{\{\tau < +\infty\}} = 0 P$ -a.s.,  $\Delta V^{\mathbb{F}} < 1, f + g > 0,$ 

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{\mathcal{E}(\beta \cdot Y^{c} + (f-1) \star (\widetilde{\mu} - \widetilde{\nu}) + g \star \widetilde{\mu} + K' - V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D),$$
  
$$\varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \quad P \otimes D\text{-}a.e., \quad -\frac{G_{-}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{G_{-}}{\Delta D^{o,\mathbb{F}}} \quad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-}a.e., \qquad (3.105)$$

$$\int |(e^{\rho x} - 1)f(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))|\widetilde{F}(dx) < +\infty \quad P \otimes dt - a.e. , \qquad (3.106)$$

$$and \int_0^{\cdot} \varphi_s \Big( \mu_s + \sigma_s (\sigma_s \xi_s + \frac{\sigma_s}{2} + \beta_s) \Big) ds + \int (e^{\rho x} - 1) f(e^{\rho x} - 1) \widetilde{F}(dx) \preceq (1 - \Delta V^{\mathbb{F}})^{-1} \cdot V^{\mathbb{F}}.$$

Proof. On the one hand, in Lemma 3.17, we calculate the corresponding  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale deflator  $Z = Z_0 \mathcal{E}(N) \mathcal{E}(-V)$  for Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard financial market model, where  $N := N_0^{\mathbb{F}} + \beta \cdot Y^c + (f-1) \star (\tilde{\mu} - \tilde{\nu}) + g \star \tilde{\mu} + K'$ , satisfying condition (3.102). On the other hand, thanks to Theorem 3.12, there exists a unique  $(\beta, f, V^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$ 

such that  $K^{\mathbb{G}}$  has the following decomposition

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = Z_0^{\mathbb{G}} \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(-(V^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}), \quad K^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_-^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m) + \varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}} + \varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D.$$

Therefore, by substituting pair  $(K^{\mathbb{F}}, V^{\mathbb{F}})$  with N and V respectively, and the fact that

$$\mathcal{E}(-V^{\mathbb{F}}) = \exp\left(-V^{\mathbb{F}}\right),$$

the proof follows immediately.

#### 3.6.4 The discrete-time market models

This subsection considers the setting where the time is n = 0, 1, 2, ..., T. Our initial market model takes the form  $(S = (S_n), \mathbb{F} := (\mathcal{F}_n)_{n \geq 0})$ . To this initial model, we consider random variable  $\tau$  that takes values in  $\{0, 1, 2, ..., T\}$ . In this setting, our principal goals reside in describing as explicit as possible the set of all deflators (i.e. the dual set of all wealth processes) for the stopped model  $S^{\tau}$  and the discrete-time version of the representation of  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingales.

Here, we consider a filtered probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F} := (\mathcal{F}_n)_{n \ge 0}, P)$ . The trading time is finite and countable. Thus, the agent who has access to  $\mathbb{F}$ , can only get information about  $\tau$  through the following survival probabilities,

$$G_n := \sum_{k=n+1}^T P[\tau = k | \mathcal{F}_n], \ \widetilde{G}_n := \sum_{k=n}^T P[\tau = k | \mathcal{F}_n], \ n = 0, ..., T...$$

To capture the additional information of random time  $\tau$ , we adopt the progressive enlargement of filtration in discrete time. Thus, we consider  $\mathbb{G} := (\mathcal{G}_n)_{n \geq 0}$  given by

$$\mathcal{G}_n = \mathcal{F}_n \lor \sigma (\tau \land 1, ..., \tau \land n), \ S = (S_n)_{n=0,1,...,T},$$

Besides the processes G and  $\tilde{G}$ , the process m given by

$$m_n := G_n + \sum_{j=0}^n P[\tau = j | \mathcal{F}_j], \qquad (3.107)$$

is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale and plays crucial role in our analysis. In the following lemma, we prove that indeed m is  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale.

**Lemma 3.18**: The process m is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale.

*Proof.* For n = 0, 1, 2, ..., (T - 1), we drive

$$E[\Delta m_{(n+1)}|\mathcal{F}_n] = E[\Delta G_{(n+1)} + E[I_{\{\tau=n+1\}}|\mathcal{F}_{n+1}]|\mathcal{F}_n]$$
  
=  $E[-E[I_{\{\tau=n+1\}}|\mathcal{F}_{n+1}] + E[I_{\{\tau=n+1\}}|\mathcal{F}_{n+1}]|\mathcal{F}_n]$   
= 0.

Here, we recall an important and critical Lemma. It demonstrates the relationship between  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable projection and  $\mathbb{G}$ -predictable projection of X.

**Lemma 3.19**: Let X be an integrable and  $\mathbb{F}$ -measurable random variable. Then,

(a) 
$$\mathbb{E}[X|\mathcal{G}_n]I_{\{\tau>n\}} = E[XI_{\{\tau>n\}}|\mathbb{F}_n]\frac{1}{G_n}I_{\{\tau>n\}}, \text{ on } \{\tau>n\}.P-a.s. (3.108)$$
  
(b) If X is an  $\mathbb{F}_n$ -measurable on  $\{n = 0, 1, 2, ..., T\}$ , then  
 $E[X|\mathcal{G}_{n-1}]I_{\{\tau\geq n\}} = E[X\widetilde{G}_n|\mathbb{F}_{n-1}]\frac{1}{G_{n-1}}I_{\{\tau\geq n\}}, \text{ on } \{\tau\geq n\}, P-a.s.(3.109)$ 

*Proof.* We refer readers to Jeulin [86, Theorem 2.3] for its proof.  $\Box$ 

For the reader's convenience, we recall the discrete version of the Doleans-Dade (stochastic) exponential. For any Y, we denote by  $\mathcal{E}(Y)$  the Doleans-Dade (stochas-

tic) exponential, it is the unique solution to the stochastic differential equation

$$\Delta X_n = X_{n-1} \Delta Y_n$$
,  $X_0 = 1$ , and is given by  $\mathcal{E}_n(Y) = \prod_{s=0}^n (1 + \Delta Y_s)$ .

In the following lemma, we state the discrete-time version of the operator  $\mathcal{T}(.)$  defined in Theorem 2.21.

**Lemma 3.20**: For any  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale, M, and the random time  $\tau$ , the process

$$\mathcal{T}_n(M) = \sum_{k=1}^{n\wedge\tau} \frac{P(\tau \ge k|\mathcal{F}_{k-1})}{P(\tau \ge k|\mathcal{F}_k)} \Delta M_k + \sum_{k=1}^{n\wedge\tau} E(\Delta M_k I_{\{P(\tau \ge k|\mathcal{F}_k)=0\}}|\mathcal{F}_{k-1}), (3.110)$$

is a G martingale, where  $\Delta M_n := M_n - M_{n-1}$ , for all n = 1, ..., T.

*Proof.* Let M be an  $\mathbb{F}$  martingale and n = 1, ..., (T - 1). We start our proof with a simple but useful remark: for any processes  $Y = (Y_n)_{n=1,...,T}$ , we have

$$Y_{(n+1)\wedge\tau} - Y_{n\wedge\tau} = (Y_{(n+1)} - Y_n)I_{\{\tau \ge n+1\}},$$

Since one can write  $\mathcal{T}_n(M) = Y_{n \wedge \tau}$ , where

$$Y_n := \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{P(\tau \ge k | \mathcal{F}_{k-1})}{P(\tau \ge k | \mathcal{F}_k)} \Delta M_k + \sum_{k=1}^n E(\Delta M_k I_{\{P(\tau \ge k | \mathcal{F}_k) = 0\}} | \mathcal{F}_{k-1}),$$

we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{T}_{n+1}(M) - \mathcal{T}_n(M) &= (Y_{n+1} - Y_n)I_{\{\tau \ge n+1\}} \\ &= \Big(\frac{P(\tau \ge n+1|\mathcal{F}_n)}{P(\tau \ge n+1|\mathcal{F}_{n+1})} \Delta M_{n+1} + E(\Delta M_{n+1}I_{\{P(\tau \ge n+1|\mathcal{F}_{n+1})=0\}}|\mathcal{F}_n)\Big)I_{\{\tau \ge n+1\}}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence by taking the expectation with respect to  $\mathcal{G}_n$ , in both sides of the above

equation, we deduce that

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{T}_{n+1}(M)|\mathcal{G}_n] = \mathcal{T}_n(M) + \mathbb{E}[\frac{P(\tau \ge n+1|\mathcal{F}_n)}{P(\tau \ge n+1|\mathcal{F}_{n+1})}\Delta M_{n+1}|\mathcal{G}_n]I_{\{\tau \ge n+1\}} \\ + \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}(\Delta M_{n+1}I_{\{P(\tau \ge n+1|\mathcal{F}_{n+1})=0\}}|\mathcal{F}_n)I_{\{\tau \ge n+1\}}|\mathcal{G}_n]I_{\{\tau \ge n+1\}}$$

Thus, as a direct application of Lemma 3.19-(b), we obtain that

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{T}_{n+1}(M)|\mathcal{G}_n] = \mathcal{T}_n(M).$$

Here, we state a G-martingale representation in discrete time. Basically, it is a discrete-version of Theorem 2.11 ( see here [33, Theorem 2.8] for more details). To this end, we start by providing the discrete-time version of the process  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$  defined in (2.23)

**Theorem 3.19**: Consider the following process,

$$N_{n}^{\mathbb{G}} := I_{\{n \ge \tau\}} - \sum_{k=1}^{n \land \tau} \frac{P(\tau = k | \mathcal{F}_{k})}{P(\tau \ge k | \mathcal{F}_{k})}.$$
(3.111)

Then the following assertions hold:

- (a)  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale.
- (b) For any integrable  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted process k, the process  $\sum \varphi_n \Delta N^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale.

*Proof.* For n = 1, ..., (T - 1), we drive

$$N_{n+1}^{\mathbb{G}} - N_n^{\mathbb{G}} = I_{\{\tau=n+1\}} - \frac{p(\tau=n+1|\mathcal{F}_{n+1})}{P(\tau \ge n+1|\mathcal{F}_{n+1})} I_{\{\tau \ge n+1\}}.$$

Therefore, by taking the expectation with respect to  $\mathcal{G}_n$ , in both sides of the above equation and applying Lemma 3.19-(b) afterwards, the proof follows immediately.

 $\tau$  is a G-stopping time and  $\mathcal{G}_{\tau}$  is defined as usual, while  $\mathcal{F}_{\tau}$  is given by

$$\mathcal{F}_{\tau} := \sigma \Big( X_{\tau}, \ X \ \mathbb{F}\text{-adapted and bounded} \Big).$$

Below, we discuss the relationship between  $\mathcal{G}_{\tau}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ , as this role is very important in our analysis.

**Lemma 3.21**: Consider the discrete-time setting of (3.107). Then the  $\sigma$ -fields  $\mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ and  $\mathcal{G}_{\tau}$  coincide, and hence for any  $\mathcal{G}_{\tau}$ -measurable random variable X, there exists an  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted process  $\xi$  such that  $X = \xi_{\tau} P$ -a.s.

Proof. Since  $\tau$  is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -stopping time and due to [58, Theorem 64, Chapter IV], we conclude that for any  $\mathcal{G}_{\tau}$ -measurable random variable X, there exists a  $\mathbb{G}$ -adapted process,  $\xi^{\mathbb{G}} = (\xi_n^{\mathbb{G}})_{n=0,1,\dots,T}$  such that  $X = \xi_{\tau}^{\mathbb{G}}$ . Thus, the lemma follows immediately if we prove that for any  $n \in \{0, \dots, T\}$ , and any  $\mathcal{G}_n$ -measurable random variable  $X_n^{\mathbb{G}}$ , there exists an  $\mathcal{F}_n$ -measurable random variable  $X_n^{\mathbb{F}}$  such that

$$X_n^{\mathbb{G}} = X_n^{\mathbb{F}} \quad \text{on} \quad (\tau = n). \tag{3.112}$$

Thus, on the one hand, it is clear that (3.112) holds for random variables having the form of  $X_n^{\mathbb{G}} = \xi_n^{\mathbb{F}} f(\tau \wedge 1, ..., \tau \wedge n)$ , where  $\xi_n^{\mathbb{F}}$  is a bounded and  $\mathcal{F}_n$ -measurable random variable and f is a bounded and Borel-measurable real-valued function on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . On the other hand, these random variables generate the vector space of bounded and  $\mathcal{G}_n$ -measurable random variables. Hence, the fulfillment of (3.112) for general random variables, follows from this remark and the class monotone theorem (see [58, Theorem 21, Chapter I]). This proves the lemma.

The impact of Lemma 3.21 can be noticed immediately. Here, we state our last result of this section. Since we study the decomposition for any  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale stopped at random time  $\tau$ .

**Theorem 3.20**: Let assume that  $H_n^{\mathbb{G}} := \sum_{k=1}^n \Delta H_k^{\mathbb{G}}$  is any  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale, then there exists a unique pair  $(M^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi)$  such that  $M^{\mathbb{F}} \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F}), \varphi$  is  $\mathbb{F}$ -adopted and  $\mathbb{E}|\varphi_{\tau}| < +\infty$ , and

$$H_{n\wedge\tau} = H_0 + \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\Delta \mathcal{T}_k(M^{\mathbb{F}})}{P(\tau \ge k|\mathcal{F}_{k-1})^2} + \sum_{k=1}^n \varphi_k \Delta N_k^{\mathbb{G}}.$$
 (3.113)

*Proof.* The proof follows the same process as in [33, Theorem 2.8] and it is omitted here.  $\hfill \Box$ 

In the following theorem, we describe the class of all deflators for the model  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . **Theorem 3.21**: Let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  be a  $\mathbb{G}$ -adapted process and  $\widetilde{Q}$  be a probability given by

$$\widetilde{Q} := \overline{Z}_T \cdot P \text{ and } \overline{Z}_n := \prod_{k=1}^n \left( \frac{\widetilde{G}_k}{G_{k-1}} I_{\{G_{k-1}>0\}} + I_{\{G_{k-1}=0\}} \right).$$
 (3.114)

Then the following assertions are equivalent.

(a)  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is a deflator for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  (i.e.  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ ).

(b) There exists a unique pair  $\left(Z^{(\widetilde{Q},\mathbb{F})},\varphi\right)$  such that  $Z^{(\widetilde{Q},\mathbb{F})} \in \mathcal{D}(S,\widetilde{Q},\mathbb{F}), \varphi$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted process satisfying for all n = 0, ..., T P-a.s.

$$-\frac{P(\tau \ge n|\mathcal{F}_n)}{P(\tau > n|\mathcal{F}_n)} < \varphi_n < \frac{P(\tau \ge n|\mathcal{F}_n)}{P(\tau = n|\mathcal{F}_n)}, \quad and \quad Z^{\mathbb{G}} = (Z^{(\widetilde{Q},\mathbb{F})})^{\tau} Z^{(\varphi)}.$$
(3.115)

Here  $Z^{(\varphi)}$  is given by

$$Z_t^{(\varphi)} := \prod_{n=1}^t \left( 1 + \varphi_n \frac{P(\tau > n | \mathcal{F}_n)}{P(\tau \ge n | \mathcal{F}_n)} I_{\{\tau = n\}} - \varphi_n \frac{P(\tau = n | \mathcal{F}_n)}{P(\tau \ge n | \mathcal{F}_n)} I_{\{\tau > n\}} \right).$$
(3.116)

*Proof.* We start this proof by making the following three remarks:

1) It is easy to check that (see also [34] for details and related results) the process  $\overline{Z}$  is a martingale and hence  $\widetilde{Q}$  is a well defined probability. Furthermore, the process  $\overline{Z}$  is the discrete-time version of the process  $\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1}I_{\{G_{-}>0\}}\cdot m)$  (which is well defined even in the case where G might vanish) see [92, Subsection 2.3].

2) It is clear that X is a supermartingale under  $\widetilde{Q}$  if and only if  $Y := \overline{Z}X$  is a supermartingale.

3) Thanks to (3.111), the discrete-time version of  $\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}})$  coincides with  $Z^{(\varphi)}$  given in (3.116), for any  $\mathbb{F}$ -optional process  $\varphi$ .

Then by combining these remarks and Theorem 3.12, the proof of the theorem follows immediately.  $\hfill \Box$ 

As a direct consequence of Theorem 3.21, we describe below a family of G-local martingales.

**Corollary 3.21.1**: For any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale  $Z^{(\widetilde{Q},\mathbb{F})} \in \mathcal{D}(S,\widetilde{Q},\mathbb{F})$ , the process  $Z^{\mathbb{G}}$  is given by

$$Z_n^{\mathbb{G}} := (Z^{(\widetilde{Q},\mathbb{F})})^{\tau}, \qquad (3.117)$$

is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale (respectively belongs to  $\mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ ).

# Chapter 4

# log-optimal portfolio without NFLVR

This chapter addresses the log-optimal portfolio for a general semimartingale model. The most advanced literature on the topic elaborates existence and characterization of this portfolio under no-free-lunch-with-vanishing-risk assumption (NFLVR). In [71], the authors addressed the log-optimal portfolio problem, but their necessary condition for the existence of optimal portfolio is elaborated under NFLVR. Recently, see [31], there has been an interest in extending the existing results on utility maximization to models satisfying NUPBR and having finite primal and dual value functions, while they might violate NFLVR. There are many financial models violating NFLVR, see [36, 105, 117], while admitting the log-optimal portfolio on the one hand. On the other hand, for financial markets under progressive enlargement of filtration, NFLVR remains completely an open issue, and hence the literature on the log-optimal portfolio cannot be applied to these models. Herein, we provide a complete characterization of log-optimal portfolio and its associated optimal deflator, necessary and sufficient conditions for their existence, and we elaborate their duality as well without NFLVR.

This chapter contains three sections. The first section presents some useful in-
termediate results that are interesting in themselves beyond their role in the proof of the main result of this chapter. This result and its related discussions are presented in the second section. The third (and last) section deals with the proof of the main result.

#### 4.1 Intermediate results

This section prepares the ground for the main result and its proof (Section 2 and Section 3), and it has three subsections. The first subsection discusses some general integrability properties that we will use later on. In the second subsection, we recall (see Section 2.4) the important martingale representation using the predictable characteristics and extends slightly a result on the characterization of deflators using the predictable characteristics. The last subsection proves a measurability selection result that we will encounter in the proof of the main result.

We start by recalling the following definition, that was introduced in [43].

**Definition 4.1**: Let N be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale such that  $1 + \Delta N > 0$ . We call a Hellinger process of order zero for N, denoted by  $h^{(0)}(N, \mathbb{H})$ , the process  $h^{(0)}(N, \mathbb{H}) := (H^{(0)}(N, \mathbb{H}))^{p,\mathbb{H}}$  when this projection exists, where

$$H^{(0)}(N,\mathbb{H}) := \frac{1}{2} \langle N^c \rangle^{\mathbb{H}} + \sum \left( \Delta N - \ln(1 + \Delta N) \right).$$
(4.1)

#### 4.1.1 Some useful integrability properties

The results of this section are new and are general, not technical at all, and very useful, especially the first lemma and the proposition.

**Lemma 4.1**: Consider  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{H})$  with  $1 + \Delta K > 0$ . If

$$E[\langle K^c \rangle_T + \sum_{0 < s \le T} (\Delta K_s - \ln(1 + \Delta K_s))] < +\infty, \tag{4.2}$$

then 
$$E[\sqrt{[K,K]_T}] < +\infty$$
 or equivalently  $E[\sup_{0 \le t \le T} |K_t|] < +\infty$ .

*Proof.* Let  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{H})$  such that  $1 + \Delta K > 0$  and (4.2) holds. Then it is enough to remark that for  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ , we have

$$\Delta K - \ln(1 + \Delta K) \ge \frac{\delta |\Delta K|}{\max(2(1 - \delta), 1 + \delta^2)} I_{\{|\Delta K| > \delta\}} + \frac{(\Delta K)^2}{1 + \delta} I_{\{|\Delta K| \le \delta\}}.$$

By using this inequality and (4.2), on the one hand, we deduce that

$$E\left[\langle K^c \rangle_T + \sum_{0 < t \le T} |\Delta K_t| I_{\{|\Delta K_t| > \delta\}} + \sum_{0 < t \le T} (\Delta K)^2 I_{\{|\Delta K| \le \delta\}}\right]$$
$$\leq C_{\delta} E\left[\langle K^c \rangle_T + \sum_{0 < s \le T} (\Delta K_s - \ln(1 + \Delta K_s))\right] < +\infty,$$

where  $C_{\delta} := 1 + \delta + \max(2(1-\delta), 1+\delta^2)/\delta$ . On the other hand, it is clear that

$$[K,K]_T^{1/2} \le \sqrt{\langle K^c \rangle} + \sum_{0 < t \le T} |\Delta K_t| I_{\{|\Delta K_t| > \delta\}} + \sqrt{\sum_{0 < t \le T} (\Delta K)^2 I_{\{|\Delta K| \le \delta\}}}.$$

This ends the proof of the lemma.

The following lemma uses the set 
$$\mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$$
, defined in (2.17), that we recall here  
for the reader's convenience.

$$\mathcal{L}(X,\mathbb{H}) := \left\{ \varphi \ d\text{-dimensional and } \mathbb{H}\text{-predictable} \mid \varphi^{tr} \Delta X > -1 \right\}.$$
(4.3)

**Lemma 4.2**: Let  $\lambda \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , and  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  such that

$$\frac{|\lambda^{tr}x|}{1+\lambda^{tr}x}I_{\{|\lambda^{tr}x|>\delta\}}\star\mu + \left(\frac{\lambda^{tr}x}{1+\lambda^{tr}x}\right)^2I_{\{|\lambda^{tr}x|\leq\delta\}}\star\mu\in\mathcal{A}_{loc}^+(\mathbb{H}).$$
(4.4)

Then  $\sqrt{((1+\lambda^{tr}x)^{-1}-1)^2 \star \mu} \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}^+(\mathbb{H}).$ 

*Proof.* By using  $\sqrt{\sum_i x_i^2} \le \sum_i |x_i|$ , we derive

$$\begin{split} &\sqrt{((1+\lambda^{tr}x)^{-1}-1)^2\star\mu} = \sqrt{\sum\left(\frac{\lambda^{tr}\Delta X}{1+\lambda^{tr}\Delta X}\right)^2} \\ &\leq \sqrt{\sum\frac{(\lambda^{tr}\Delta X)^2}{(1+\lambda^{tr}\Delta X)^2}I_{\{|\lambda^{tr}\Delta X|\leq\delta\}}} + \sum\frac{|\lambda^{tr}\Delta X|}{1+\lambda^{tr}\Delta X}I_{\{|\lambda^{tr}\Delta X|>\delta\}}. \end{split}$$

Thus, the lemma follows immediately from the latter inequality.

**Proposition 4.1**: Let Z be a positive supermartingale such that  $Z_0 = 1$ . Then the following assertions hold.

(a)  $-\ln(Z)$  is a uniformly integrable submartingale if and only if there exists a local martingale N and a nondecreasing and predictable process V such that  $\Delta N > -1$ ,  $Z = \mathcal{E}(N) \exp(-V)$  and

$$E\left[V_T + H_T^{(0)}(N, \mathbb{H})\right] < +\infty, \tag{4.5}$$

where  $H^{(0)}(N, \mathbb{H})$  is defined in (4.1).

(b) Suppose that there exists a finite sequence of positive supermartingale  $(Z^{(i)})_{i=1,...,n}$ such that the product  $Z := \prod_{i=1}^{n} Z^{(i)}$ . Then  $-\ln(Z)$  is uniformly integrable submartingale if and only if all  $-\ln(Z^{(i)})$ , i = 1, ..., n, are uniformly integrable submartingales.

*Proof.* The proof of this proposition is achieved in three parts. The first and second parts prove assertion (a), while part three proves assertion (b).

**Part 1.** This parts proves that Z is a positive super martingale if and only if there exist unique local martingale N and a nondecreasing and predictable process V such that  $N_0 = V_0 = 0$ ,

$$\Delta N > -1, \qquad Z = \mathcal{E}(N) \exp(-V).$$

Since Z is a positive supermartingale (Z > 0), then  $1/Z_{-}$  is locally bounded and

hence  $(Z_{-})^{-1} \cdot Z$  is a local supermartingale. Thanks to Doob-Meyer decomposition, there exists unique  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{H})$  and a nondecreasing and predictable process A, such that

$$\frac{1}{Z_{-}} \cdot Z = M - A$$
 or equivalently,  $Z = \mathcal{E}(M - A)$ .

Furthermore, the condition Z > 0 is equivalent to  $1 + \Delta M - \Delta A > 0$ , and this implies that

$$1 - \Delta A = P, \mathbb{F} (1 + \Delta M - \Delta A) > 0$$
, and  $1 + \frac{\Delta M}{1 - \Delta A} > 0$ .

Therefore, thanks to Lemma 2.2,  $1/(1 - \Delta A)$  is predictable and locally bounded, and using Yor's formula, we get

$$Z = \mathcal{E}\left(\frac{1}{1 - \Delta A} \cdot M\right) \mathcal{E}(-A).$$

Then, by putting

$$N := (1 - \Delta A)^{-1} \cdot M$$
 and  $V := A + \sum [-\Delta A - \ln(1 - \Delta A)],$ 

the first part of assertion (a) is proved.

**Part 2.** Here we prove that  $-\ln(Z)$  is a uniformly integrable submartingale if and only if (4.5) holds. Let  $Z = \mathcal{E}(N) \exp(-V)$ , where N is a local martingale, and V is a nondecreasing and predictable process such that  $\Delta N > -1$ . To this end, we derive

$$-\ln(Z) = -\ln(\mathcal{E}(N)) + V = -N + H^{(0)}(N, \mathbb{H}) + V, \qquad (4.6)$$

where both processes V and  $H^{(0)}(N, \mathbb{H})$  are nondecreasing.

Suppose that  $-\ln(Z)$  is a uniformly integrable submartingale, and let  $(\tau_n)_n$  be a sequence of stopping times that increases to infinity and  $N^{\tau_n}$  is a martingale. Then,

on the one hand, by stopping (4.6) with  $\tau_n$ , and taking expectation afterwards we get

$$E[-\ln(Z_{\tau_n\wedge T})] = E\left[V_{\tau_n\wedge T} + H^{(0)}_{\tau_n\wedge T}(N,\mathbb{H})\right].$$

On the other hand, since  $\{-\ln(Z_{\tau_n \wedge T}), n \geq 0\}$  is uniformly integrable and the RHS term of the above equality is increasing, by letting n goes to infinity in this equality, (4.5) follows immediately. Now suppose that (4.5) holds. As a consequence  $E[H_T^{(0)}(N,\mathbb{H})] < +\infty$ , and by combining this with Lemma 4.1 and (4.6), we deduce that  $-\ln(Z)$  is a uniformly integrable submartingale.

**Part 3.** Here we prove assertion (b). From the proof of assertion (a), it is clear that there exists a sequence of local martingale  $N^{(i)}$  and a sequence of nondecreasing and predictable processes  $V^{(i)}$  such that for all i = 1, ..., n,

$$\Delta N^{(i)} > -1, \qquad Z^{(i)} = \mathcal{E}(N^{(i)}) \exp(-V^{(i)}).$$

Furthermore, we derive

$$-\ln(Z) = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} N^{(i)} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} H^{(0)}(N^{(i)}, \mathbb{H}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} V^{(i)}.$$

If  $-\ln(Z)$  is a uniformly integrable submartingale, then thanks to assertion (a), we deduce that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} H_T^{(0)}(N^{(i)}, \mathbb{H}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} V_T^{(i)}$$
(4.7)

is integrable. Hence, thanks again to assertion (a), we deduce that  $(-\ln(Z^{(i)}))_{i=1,...,n}$  are uniformly integrable submartingales. Now suppose that  $(-\ln(Z^{(i)}))_{i=1,...,n}$  are uniformly integrable submartingales, then in virtue of assertion (a) and Lemma 4.1,  $(N^{(i)})_{i=1,...,n}$  are uniformly integrable martingales, and hence  $-\ln(Z)$  is a uniformly integrable submartingale. This ends the proof of the proposition.

#### 4.1.2 Deflators via predictable characteristics

The following theorem describes how general deflators can be characterized using the predictable characteristics. A version of this theorem can be found in [107]. The following theorem uses the set  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , that is defined as follows

$$\mathcal{D}_{log}(X,\mathbb{H}) := \left\{ Z \in \mathcal{D}(X,\mathbb{H}) \mid E[-\ln(Z_T)] < +\infty \right\}.$$
(4.8)

**Theorem 4.1:** Suppose X is quasi-left-continuous. If  $Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , then there exists a triplet  $(\beta, f, V)$  such that  $\beta \in L(X^c, \mathbb{H})$ , f is  $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})$ -measurable, positive and  $\sqrt{(f-1)^2 \star \mu}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{A}^+_{loc}(\mathbb{H})$ , V is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable and nondecreasing process, and the following hold for any bounded process  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ .

$$E\left[V_T + \left(\frac{1}{2}\beta^{tr}c\beta + \int (f(x) - 1 - \ln(f(x)))F(dx)\right) \cdot A_T\right] \le E[-\ln(Z_T)],$$
(4.9)

$$\left(\int |f(x)\theta^{tr}x - \theta^{tr}h(x)|F(dx)\right) \cdot A_T < +\infty \quad P\text{-}a.s.$$
(4.10)

$$\left(\theta^{tr}b + \theta^{tr}c\beta + \int [f(x)\theta^{tr}x - \theta^{tr}h(x)]F(dx)\right) \cdot A \preceq V.$$
(4.11)

Proof. Let  $Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , then  $Z_{-}^{-1} \cdot Z$  a local supermartingale (which follows from  $Z \in \mathcal{D}(X, \mathbb{H})$  only). Hence, there exists a local martingale N and a nondecreasing and predictable process V such that  $Z = \mathcal{E}(N) \exp(-V)$ . Then we derive

$$-\ln(Z) = -N + V + \frac{1}{2} \langle N^c \rangle + \sum (\Delta N - \ln(1 + \Delta N)).$$

Thus  $Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(X, \mathbb{H})$  if and only if  $V + \frac{1}{2} \langle N^c \rangle + \sum (\Delta N - \ln(1 + \Delta N))$  is integrable. Thanks to Theorem 2.7, we deduce the existence of a positive and  $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})$ measurable functional f such that  $\sqrt{(f-1)^2 \star \mu}$  is locally integrable,  $\beta \in L(X^c, \mathbb{H})$ ,  $g \in \mathcal{H}^1_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F})$ , and  $N' \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{H})$  such that  $M^P_{\mu}(g \mid \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})) = 0$ , [N', X] = 0, and

$$N = \beta \cdot X^{c} + (f - 1) \star (\mu - \nu) + g \star \mu + N'.$$
(4.12)

Then  $Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(X, \mathbb{H})$  if and only if the three processes  $V, \frac{1}{2} \langle N^c \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \beta^{tr} c \beta \cdot A$  and  $\sum (\Delta N - \ln(1 + \Delta N))$  are integrable. Since,

$$\sum (\Delta N - \ln(1 + \Delta N)) = [f + g - 1 - \ln(f + g)] \star \mu + \sum (\Delta N' - \ln(1 + \Delta N)'),$$

which is due to [N', X] = 0. There is equivalence between  $\sum (\Delta N - \ln(1 + \Delta N))$ belongs to  $\mathcal{A}^+(\mathbb{H})$  and both nondecreasing processes  $[f + g - 1 - \ln(f + g)] \star \mu$  and  $\sum (\Delta N' - \ln(1 + \Delta N)')$  belong to  $\mathcal{A}^+(\mathbb{H})$ . Furthermore, by writing

$$[f+g-1-\ln(f+g)] \star \mu = [f-1-\ln(f)] \star \mu + g(1-\frac{1}{f}) \star \mu + \left[\frac{g}{f} - \ln(1+\frac{g}{f})\right] \star \mu$$

we conclude that  $[f + g - 1 - \ln(f + g)] \star \mu \in \mathcal{A}^+(\mathbb{H})$  if and only if both nondecreasing processes  $[f - 1 - \ln(f)] \star \mu$  and  $\left[\frac{g}{f} - \ln(1 + \frac{g}{f})\right] \star \mu$  belongs to  $\mathcal{A}^+(\mathbb{H})$  and  $g(1 - \frac{1}{f}) \star \mu$  belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_0(\mathbb{H})$ . Therefore, by combining all the above remarks, we get

$$\mathbb{E}[-\ln(Z_T)] = \mathbb{E}\left[V_T + \frac{1}{2}\beta^{tr}c\beta \cdot A + \int \left(f - 1 - \ln(f)\right)F(dx) \cdot A_T\right] \\ + \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\frac{g}{f} - \ln(1 + \frac{g}{f})\right) \star \mu\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\sum(\Delta N' - \ln(1 + \Delta N)')\right],$$

which implies (4.9) immediately.

Since  $Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , then for any bounded  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , the process  $Z\mathcal{E}(\theta \cdot X)$  is a supermartingale. This implies that

$$\mathcal{E}(-V+\beta \cdot X^{c}+(f-1)\star(\mu-\nu))\mathcal{E}(\theta \cdot X),$$

is also a supermartingale (the processes  $\beta$  and f are defined above), or equivalently

$$Y := -V + \theta \cdot X + \beta^{tr} c\theta \cdot A + \theta^{tr} x(f-1) \star \mu,$$

is a local supermartingale. By simplifying, we get

$$Y = \text{local martingale } -V + \theta^{tr}b \cdot A + \beta^{tr}c\theta \cdot A + (\theta^{tr}xf(x) - \theta^{tr}h(x)) \star \mu.$$

Then, Y is a local supermartingale if and only if  $(\theta^{tr} x f(x) - \theta^{tr} h(x)) \star \mu$  belongs to  $\mathcal{A}_{loc}(\mathbb{H})$  which is equivalent to (4.10), and

$$-V + \theta^{tr}b \cdot A + \beta^{tr}c\theta \cdot A + (\theta^{tr}xf(x) - \theta^{tr}h(x)) \star \nu \preceq 0.$$

This latter inequality is obviously (4.11), and the proof of the theorem is complete.

#### 4.1.3 A measurability result

**Lemma 4.3**: Consider the triplet  $(\Omega \times [0, +\infty), \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H}), P \otimes A)$ , and the functional  $L(\omega, t, \lambda) := L_{(\omega,t)}(\lambda)$  given by

$$L_{(\omega,t)}(\lambda) := -\lambda^{tr}b(\omega,t) + \frac{1}{2}\lambda^{tr}c(\omega,t)\lambda + \int \left(\lambda^{tr}h(x) - \ln((1+\lambda^{tr}x)^+)\right)F_{(\omega,t)}(dx), (4.13)$$

for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and any  $(\omega, t) \in \Omega \times [0, +\infty)$ . Then the functional L, as a map on  $\Omega \times [0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^d$  (i.e.  $(\omega, t, \lambda) \to L(\omega, t, \lambda)$ ), is  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H}) \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ -measurable.

Proof. The proof of the lemma will be achieved in two steps. The first step defines a family of functionals  $\{L_{\delta}(\omega, t, \cdot), \delta \in (0, 1)\}$  for  $(\omega, t) \in \Omega \times [0, +\infty)$ , and proves that these functionals are indeed  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H}) \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ -measurable (i.e. jointly measurable in  $(\omega, t)$  and  $\lambda$ ). Then the second step proves that  $L_{\delta}(\omega, t, \lambda)$  converges to  $L(\omega, t, \lambda)$ when  $\delta$  goes to one for any  $(\omega, t, \lambda) \in \Omega \times [0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ .

**Step 1:** Let  $(\omega, t) \in \Omega \times [0, +\infty)$  and  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ . Then for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , put

$$L_{\delta}(\omega, t, \lambda) := -\lambda^{tr} b(\omega, t) + \frac{1}{2} \lambda^{tr} c(\omega, t) \lambda + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f_{\delta}(\lambda, x) F_{(\omega, t)}(dx),$$
  
$$f_{\delta}(\lambda, x) := \delta \lambda^{tr} h(x) - \ln(1 - \delta + \delta(1 + \lambda^{tr} x)^+).$$

It is clear that for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $L_{\delta}(\omega, t, \lambda)$  is predictable. Thus, in order to prove that  $L_{\delta}$  is jointly measurable (i.e.  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H}) \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ -measurable), it is enough to prove that this functional is continuous in  $\lambda$  (in this case our functional  $L_{\delta}$  falls into the class of Carathéodory functions), and hence one can conclude immediately that it is jointly measurable due to [11, Lemma 4.51]. Thus, the rest of this step focuses on proving that  $L_{\delta}$  is continuous in  $\lambda$ . To this end, we first remark that  $-\lambda^{tr}b(\omega, t) + \frac{1}{2}\lambda^{tr}c(\omega, t)\lambda$  is continuous, and we derive

$$\begin{aligned} -\delta|\lambda|^2|x|^2 &\le f_{\delta}(\lambda, x) \le \max(\frac{1}{2(1-\delta)^2}, -\delta - \ln(1-\delta))|\lambda|^2|x|^2 \text{ on } \{|x| \le 1\} \\ -\delta|\lambda||x| \le f_{\delta}(\lambda, x) \le -\ln(1-\delta) \quad \text{on } \{|x| > 1\}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, thanks to the dominated convergence theorem and these inequalities, we deduce that in fact  $L_{\delta}$  is continuous in  $\lambda$ , and the first step is complete. **Step 2:** Herein, we prove that for any  $(\omega, t) \in \Omega \times [0, +\infty)$  and any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $L_{\delta}(\omega, t, \lambda)$  converges to  $L(\omega, t, \lambda)$  when  $\delta$  goes to one. To this end, we first write

$$\begin{split} L_{\delta}(\omega,t,\lambda) &+ \lambda^{tr} b(\omega,t) - \frac{1}{2} \lambda^{tr} c(\omega,t) \lambda = \\ &= \delta \int_{\{\lambda^{tr} x \le -1\}} \lambda^{tr} h(x) F(dx) - \delta \int_{\{\lambda^{tr} x \le -1\}} \lambda^{tr} x I_{\{|x|>1\}} F(dx) \\ &- \ln(1-\delta) F\left(\{\lambda^{tr} x \le -1\}\right) + \int I_{\{\lambda^{tr} x>-1\}} \left(\delta \lambda^{tr} x - \ln(1+\delta \lambda^{tr} x)\right) F(dx). \end{split}$$

Remark that  $\int_{\{\lambda^{tr}x\leq -1\}} \lambda^{tr}h(x)F(dx)$  and  $\int_{\{\lambda^{tr}x\leq -1\}} \lambda^{tr}xI_{\{|x|>1\}}F(dx)$  are well defined and take finite values, while  $I_{\{\lambda^{tr}x>-1\}}(\delta\lambda^{tr}x - \ln(1+\delta\lambda^{tr}x))$  is nonnegative and increasing in  $\delta$ . By distinguishing the cases whether  $F(\{\lambda^{tr}x\leq -1\})$  is null or not, thanks to the convergence monotone theorem, we conclude that  $L_{\delta}(\omega, t, \lambda)$  converges to  $L(\omega, t, \lambda)$ . This ends the second step and the proof of the lemma.  $\Box$ 

## 4.2 Log-optimal portfolio: Duality and description

This section addresses the main contribution of this chapter that lies in characterizing, in different manners and as explicit as possible, the log-optimal portfolio, as well as the associated optimal deflator, for the general case of semimartingale without varying the flow of information. This section focuses on the following maximization problem for the economic model  $(U, X, \mathbb{H}, Q)$ , where  $\mathbb{H}$  is a filtration satisfying the usual conditions, X is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -semimartingale, U is a utility function, and Q is a probability measure on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{H}_T)$ .

$$\max_{\theta \in \Theta(X,\mathbb{H})} \mathbb{E}_Q[U(1+\theta \cdot X)_T)], \qquad (4.14)$$
$$\Theta(U,X,\mathbb{H}) := \left\{ \theta \in L(X,Q,\mathbb{H}) \middle| E_Q\left[\max(0,-U(1+\theta \cdot X)_T)\right] < +\infty \right\}.$$

To this end, we recall the set of admissible portfolios  $\Theta(X, \mathbb{H})$  given by

$$\Theta(X,\mathbb{H}) := \left\{ \theta \in L(X,\mathbb{H}) \middle| \quad E\left[ \max(0, -\ln(1 + (\theta \cdot X)_T)) \right] < +\infty \right\}.$$
(4.15)

Since this section focuses on the logarithm utility maximization problem, for the sake of simplifying notation, we simply write  $\Theta(X, \mathbb{H}) := \Theta(\ln, X, \mathbb{H})$ . Our result in this section extends deeply the existing literature on the log-optimal portfolio and establish the duality for the log utility without the No-Free-Lunch-with-Vanishing-Risk assumption for general model  $(\ln, X, \mathbb{H})$ .

Theses results require the powerful techniques of semimartingale characteristics that we recalled in Section 2.4. For the reader's convenience, we recall *the canonical decomposition* of X (for more related details, we refer the reader to Section 2.4 or [83, Theorem 2.34, Section II.2])

$$X = X_0 + X^c + h \star (\mu_X - \nu_X) + b \cdot A^X + (x - h) \star \mu_X,$$

where h, defined as  $h(x) := xI_{\{|x| \le 1\}}$ , is the truncation function, and  $h \star (\mu_X - \nu_X)$ is the unique pure jump  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale with jumps given by  $h(\Delta X)I_{\{\Delta X \neq 0\}}$ . The quadruplet

$$(b, c, F, A)$$
 are the predictable characteristics of X.

For more details about these *predictable characteristics* and other related issues (such as the martingale representation of local martingales using Jacod's parameters, we refer the reader to [83, Section II.2]. For the sake of simplicity, we will consider models, that we call  $\sigma$ -special, defines in (2.25), that we recall here for the reader's convenience.

**Definition 4.2**: A model  $(X, \mathbb{H})$  is called  $\sigma$ -special if there exists a real-valued and  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process  $\varphi$  such that

$$0 < \varphi \le 1$$
 and  $\sum \varphi |\Delta X| I_{\{|\Delta X| > 1\}} \in \mathcal{A}^+_{loc}(\mathbb{H}).$  (4.16)

This assumption is equivalent to the fact that  $\varphi \cdot X$  is a special semimartingale (i.e. it can be written as the sum of a local martingale and a predictable process with finite variation), or equivalently  $\int_{(|x|>1)} |x|F(dx) < +\infty P \otimes A$ -a.e.. This assumption is for the sake of simplifying the proofs only, and it can be dropped at the expenses of technical intermediate results. Now, we are in the stage of stating our main result of this section.

Theorem 4.2: Suppose (X, H) is σ-special and quasi-left-continuous with predictable characteristics (b, c, F, A). Then the following assertions are equivalent.
(a) The set D<sub>log</sub>(X, H), given by

$$\mathcal{D}_{log}(X,\mathbb{H}) = \left\{ Z \in \mathcal{D}(X,\mathbb{H}) \mid E[-\ln(Z_T)] < +\infty \right\}, \tag{4.17}$$

is not empty (i.e.  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(X, \mathbb{H}) \neq \emptyset$ ).

(b) There exists an  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process  $\widetilde{\varphi} \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that, for any  $\varphi$  belonging to  $\mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , the following hold

$$E\left[\widetilde{V}_T + \frac{1}{2}(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi}\cdot A)_T + \left(\int (\frac{-\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} + \ln(1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x))F(dx)\cdot A)_T\right] < +\infty(4.18)$$

$$\widetilde{V} := \left| \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}(b - c\widetilde{\varphi}) + \int \left[ \frac{\varphi^{tr}x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}h(x) \right] F(dx) \right| \cdot A,$$
(4.19)

$$(\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}(b - c\widetilde{\varphi}) + \int \left(\frac{(\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} - (\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}h(x)\right)F(dx) \le 0.$$
(4.20)

(c) There exists a unique  $\widetilde{Z} \in \mathcal{D}(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that

$$\inf_{Z \in \mathcal{D}(X,\mathbb{H})} E[-\ln(Z_T)] = E[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T)] < +\infty.$$
(4.21)

(d) There exists a unique  $\tilde{\theta} \in \Theta(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that

$$\sup_{\theta \in \Theta(X,\mathbb{H})} E[\ln(1 + (\theta \cdot X)_T)] = E[\ln(1 + (\tilde{\theta} \cdot X)_T)] < +\infty.$$
(4.22)

Furthermore, when these assertions hold, the following hold.

$$\widetilde{\varphi} \in L(X^c, \mathbb{H}) \cap \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H}), \quad \sqrt{((1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x)^{-1} - 1)^2 \star \mu} \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}^+(\mathbb{H}), \tag{4.23}$$

$$\frac{1}{\widetilde{Z}} = \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X), \ \widetilde{Z} := \mathcal{E}(K - \widetilde{V}), \ K := -\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X^c + \frac{-\varphi^{tr} x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x} \star (\mu - \nu).$$
(4.24)

$$\widetilde{\varphi} = \widetilde{\theta}(1 + (\widetilde{\theta} \cdot X)_{-})^{-1} \text{ and } \widetilde{\theta} = \widetilde{\varphi}\mathcal{E}_{-}(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X) \quad P \otimes A-a.e..$$
(4.25)

It is important to notice that, for any  $Z \in \mathcal{D}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , we have  $E \ln^+(Z_T) \leq \ln(2)$ . Furthermore, one can easily prove that the following two assertions are equivalent: (a)  $Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(X, \mathbb{H})$  (i.e.  $-\ln(Z_T)$  is integrable or equivalently  $(\ln(Z_T))^-$  is integrable),

(b)  $\{-\ln(Z_t), 0 \le t \le T\}$ , or equivalently  $\{(\ln(Z_t))^-, 0 \le t \le T\}$ , is uniformly integrable submartingale.

Besides this, for a positive local martingale Z, the condition  $E[-\ln(Z_T)] < +\infty$ does not guarantee that this Z is a martingale, while it implies that  $K := Z_{-}^{-1} \cdot Z$ is a martingale satisfying  $E[\sup_{0 \le t \le T} |K_t|] < +\infty$  instead, see Lemma 4.1 for this latter fact. As a result of this discussion, we conclude that Theorem 4.2 extends deeply the existing literature on the log-optimal portfolio by dropping the no-freelunch-with-vanishing-risk condition on the model. This assumption is really a vital assumption for the analysis of [71]. This achievement is due to our approach that differs fundamentally from that of [71], while it is inspired from the approach of [43] with a major difference. This difference lies in dropping all assumptions on the model  $(X, \mathbb{H})$  considered in [43], which guarantee that the minimizer of a functional belongs to the interior of its effective domain. We recall our aforementioned claim that the " $\sigma$ -special assumption" for  $(X, \mathbb{H})$  is purely technical and is not related at all to the minimizer of this functional. In conclusion, our theorem establishes the duality, under basically no assumption, besides describing the optimal dual solution when it exists as explicit as possible. This, furthermore, proves that in general, this optimal deflator might not be a local martingale deflator.

**Remark 4.1**: It is clear that the process V is well defined. This is due to

$$\int \begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x \\ 1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x \end{bmatrix} - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} h(x) F(dx) = -\int_{(|x| \le 1)} \frac{(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x)^2}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x} F(dx) \\ -\int_{(|x| > 1)} \frac{1}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x} F(dx) + F(|x| > 1),$$

which is a well defined integral with values in  $[-\infty, +\infty)$ .

Similarly for the LHS term of (4.20), the integral term is well defined for any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ . Indeed, due to  $\Omega \times [0, +\infty) = \bigcup_{n \ge 0} (|\varphi| \le n)$ , for any process  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , it is enough to prove that the integral term is well defined for

bounded  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ . To this end, on the one hand, we write

$$\begin{split} \int \left(\frac{\varphi^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} - \varphi^{tr}h(x)\right) F(dx) &= -\int_{(|x| \le 1)} \frac{(\varphi^{tr}x)(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x)}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} F(dx) - F(|x| > 1) \\ &+ \int_{(|x| > 1)} \frac{\varphi^{tr}x + 1}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} F(dx) - \int_{(|x| > 1)} \frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} F(dx). \end{split}$$

On the other hand, since  $\varphi$  is X-integrable (as it is bounded), both processes  $I_{\{|\Delta X| \leq 1\}} \cdot [K, \varphi \cdot X]$  and  $[\sum I_{\{|\Delta X| > 1\}}, K]$  have locally integrable variations and their compensators are

$$-\int_{(|x|\leq 1)} \frac{(\varphi^{tr}x)(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x)}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} F(dx) \cdot A \text{ and } -\int_{(|x|>1)} \frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} F(dx) \cdot A$$

respectively. This proves that the integral is well defined with values in  $(-\infty, +\infty]$ .

The remaining part of this section illustrates the result of Theorem 4.2 on the case of jump-diffusion model, where the uncertainties in the initial model  $(S, \mathbb{H})$  is a one-dimensional process generated by Poisson process and a Brownian motion. Precisely, we suppose that a standard Brownian motion W and a Poisson process N (with intensity  $\lambda > 0$ ) that are defined on the probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{H}, P)$ . The filtration  $\mathbb{H}$  is the completed and right continuous filtration generated by W and N, and the stock price process is given by the following dynamics.

$$S_t := S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t, \ X_t := \int_0^t \sigma_s dW_s + \int_0^t \zeta_s dN_s^{\mathbb{H}} + \int_0^t \mu_s ds, \ N_t^{\mathbb{H}} := N_t - \lambda t, \ (4.26)$$

and there exists a constant  $\delta \in (0, +\infty)$  such that  $\mu$ ,  $\sigma$  and  $\zeta$  are bounded adapted processes satisfying the following

$$\sigma > 0, \quad \zeta > -1, \quad \sigma + |\zeta| \ge \delta, \ P \otimes dt$$
-a.e.. (4.27)

**Theorem 4.3**: Suppose S and X are given by (4.26)-(4.27). Then the following

 $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process

$$\widetilde{\theta} := \frac{\alpha + sign(\zeta)\sqrt{\alpha^2 + 4\lambda}}{2\sigma} - \frac{1}{\zeta}, \text{ where } \alpha := \frac{\mu - \lambda\zeta}{\sigma} + \frac{\sigma}{\zeta}, \qquad (4.28)$$

is S-integrable satisfying  $1 + \tilde{\theta}\zeta > 0$   $P \otimes dt$ -a.e., and the following hold.

(a) The solution to

$$\inf_{Z \in \mathcal{D}(X,\mathbb{H})} E[-\ln(Z_T)] = E[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T)] < +\infty.$$
(4.29)

exists and is given by  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{H}}:=\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{H}})$  where

$$\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{H}} := -\sigma \widetilde{\theta} \cdot W - \frac{\zeta \widetilde{\theta}}{1 + \widetilde{\theta} \zeta} \cdot N^{\mathbb{H}}.$$
(4.30)

(b) It holds that

$$\sup_{\theta \in \Theta(X,\mathbb{H})} E[\ln(1 + (\theta \cdot X)_T)] = E[\ln(1 + (\tilde{\theta} \cdot X)_T)] < +\infty,$$
(4.31)

*Proof.* For the jump-diffusion model with parameters given by (4.27), the predictable characteristics of Section 2.4 is as follows. Let  $\delta_a(dx)$  be the Dirac mass at the point *a*. Then in this case we have d = 1 and

$$A_t = t , \quad c = (S_-\sigma)^2 , \quad b = (\mu - \lambda \zeta I_{\{|\zeta|S_->1\}})S_- , \quad S^c = S_-\sigma \cdot W$$
$$\mu(dt, dx) = \delta_{\zeta_t S_{t-}}(dx)dN_t , \quad \nu(dt, dx) = \delta_{\zeta_t S_{t-}}(dx)\lambda dt , \quad F_t(dx) = \lambda \delta_{\zeta_t S_{t-}}(dx).$$

As a result, the set

$$\mathcal{L}_{(\omega,t)}(S,\mathbb{H}) := \{\varphi \in \mathbb{R} \mid \varphi x > -1 \ F_{(\omega,t)}(dx) - a.e.\} = \{\varphi \in \mathbb{R} \mid \varphi S_{-}\zeta > -1\}$$
$$= \left(-1/(S_{-}\zeta)^{+}, +\infty\right) \cap \left(-\infty, 1/(S_{-}\zeta)^{-}\right)$$

is an open set in  $\mathbb{R}$  (with the convention  $1/0^+ = +\infty$ ). Then the inequality condition

(4.20) in Theorem 4.2 becomes the following equality

$$0 = \mu - \lambda \zeta I_{\{|\zeta| > 1/S_{-}\}} - S_{-}\sigma^{2}\varphi + \frac{\lambda \zeta}{1 + S_{-}\varphi\zeta} - \lambda \zeta I_{\{|\zeta| \le 1/S_{-}\}}$$
$$= \mu - \lambda \zeta - S_{-}\sigma^{2}\varphi + \frac{\lambda \zeta}{1 + S_{-}\varphi\zeta}.$$
(4.32)

Put  $\psi := 1 + \varphi S_{-} \zeta > 0$ , then the above equation is equivalent to

$$0 = -\frac{\sigma^2}{\zeta}\psi^2 + \sigma\alpha\psi + \lambda\zeta,$$

where  $\alpha = \frac{\mu - \lambda \zeta}{\sigma} + \frac{\sigma}{\zeta}$ .

This equation has always a unique positive solution

$$\widetilde{\psi} := \frac{\sigma \alpha \zeta + |\zeta| \sqrt{(\sigma \alpha)^2 + 4\sigma^2 \lambda}}{2\sigma^2} = \frac{\alpha \zeta + |\zeta| \sqrt{\alpha^2 + 4\lambda}}{2\sigma}.$$

Therefore,  $\tilde{\varphi} := \frac{\tilde{\theta}}{S_{-}}$ , where  $\tilde{\theta}$  is given by (4.28), coincides with  $(\tilde{\psi} - 1)/(S_{-}\zeta)$ , satisfies  $1 + \zeta \tilde{\theta} > 0$ . Hence, we deduce that  $\tilde{\theta}$  is the unique solution to (4.32).  $\tilde{\theta}$ is also S-integrable due to the parameters that we assume in (4.27). As a result, the optimal wealth process is  $\mathcal{E}(\tilde{\theta} \cdot X)$  and hence  $\tilde{\theta}$  is the solution to (4.31) and the proof of assertion (b) is completed. The assertion (a) follows immediately using the decomposition of deflator (4.24) in Theorem 4.2,  $\tilde{\varphi} = \frac{\tilde{\theta}}{S_{-}}$  and above predictable characteristics for S.

#### 4.3 Proof of the main theorem

Proof of Theorem 4.2. It is clear that  $(c) \Longrightarrow (a)$  is obvious, and hence the proof of the theorem reduces to proving  $(a) \Longrightarrow (b) \Longrightarrow (c)$ ,  $(b) \Longrightarrow (d)$ ,  $(d) \Longrightarrow (a)$ , and as long as assertion (b) holds the properties in (4.23)-(4.24) hold also. Thus, the rest of this proof is divided into three steps. The first step proves that assertion (b) implies

both assertions (c) and (d) and (4.23)-(4.24). The second step deals with (d) $\Longrightarrow$  (a), while the third step addresses (a) $\Longrightarrow$  (b).

**Step 1.** Here, we assume that assertion (b) holds, and focus on proving assertions (c) and (d), and (4.23)-(4.24). Then due to (4.18) and

$$(1+y)\ln(1+y) - y \ge \frac{1-\delta}{2}\frac{y^2}{1+y}I_{\{|y|\le\delta\}} + \frac{\delta}{2(1+\delta)}|y|I_{\{|y|>\delta\}}$$

for any  $\delta \in (0,1)$  and any  $y \ge -1$ , we deduce that for  $\delta \in (0,1)$  the following

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} c \widetilde{\varphi} \cdot A, \quad & \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \left( \frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x} \right)^2 I_{\{|\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x| \le \delta\}} F(dx) \cdot A, \\ \text{and} \quad & \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \frac{|\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x|}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x} I_{\{|\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x| > \delta\}} F(dx) \cdot A \end{split}$$

are integrable processes, and hence  $\tilde{\varphi} \in L(X^c, \mathbb{H})$  and  $\sqrt{((1 + \tilde{\varphi}^{tr} x)^{-1} - 1)^2 \star \mu} \in \mathcal{A}^+_{loc}$  due to Lemma 4.2. Hence K, defined in (4.24), is a well defined local martingale satisfying  $\Delta K + 1 = (1 + \tilde{\varphi}^{tr} \Delta X)^{-1} > 0$ . Furthermore, thanks to Yor's formula and the continuity of A, on the one hand, we conclude that for any bounded  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ ,

$$\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X)\widetilde{Z} = \mathcal{E}\left(\varphi \cdot X + [\varphi \cdot X, K] + K - \widetilde{V}\right).$$

On the other hand, we drive,

$$\begin{split} \varphi \cdot X + [\varphi \cdot X, K] + K - V &= \varphi \cdot X^c + \varphi h \star (\mu - \nu) + \varphi^{tr} b \cdot A + \varphi^{tr} (x - h(x)) \star \mu + K - V \\ &- \varphi^{tr} c \widetilde{\varphi} \cdot A - \left(\frac{(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x)(\varphi^{tr} x)}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x}\right) \star \mu \\ &= \text{local martingale} + (\varphi^{tr} b - \varphi^{tr} c \widetilde{\varphi}) \cdot A - V \\ &+ \left(\varphi^{tr} (x - h(x)) - \frac{(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x)(\varphi^{tr} x)}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x}\right) \star \mu \\ &= \text{local martingale} + (\varphi^{tr} b - \varphi^{tr} c \widetilde{\varphi}) \cdot A - V + \left(\frac{\varphi^{tr} x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x} - \varphi^{tr} h(x)\right) \star \mu, \end{split}$$

By writing

$$\begin{split} \frac{\varphi^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} - \varphi^{tr}h(x) &= \frac{-\varphi^{tr}x\varphi^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}I_{\{|X|\leq 1\}} + \frac{\varphi^{tr}x+1}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}I_{\{|X|>1\}} \\ &-I_{\{|X|>1\}} - \frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}I_{\{|X|>1\}}, \end{split}$$

and using similar argument as in Remark 4.1, we deduce that (4.20) implies that  $\varphi \cdot X + [\varphi \cdot X, K] + K - V$  is a special semimartingale and

$$(\varphi \cdot X + [\varphi \cdot X, K] + K - V)^{p, \mathbb{H}} \preceq 0.$$

This latter inequality is due to (4.19) and (4.20). This proves that the process  $\varphi \cdot X + [\varphi \cdot X, K] + K - \widetilde{V}$  is a local supermartingale. As a consequence,  $\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X)\widetilde{Z}$  is a positive supermatingale, and hence  $\widetilde{Z} \in \mathcal{D}(X, \mathbb{H})$  on the one hand. On the other hand, due to Itô, we derive

$$-\ln(\widetilde{Z}) = \text{local martingale} + \widetilde{V} + \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot A + \left[-\frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} + \ln(1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x)\right] \star \mu.$$

By combining this with (4.18), we deduce that  $\widetilde{Z} \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(X, \mathbb{H})$ . This proves that assertion (a) holds. Furthermore, since  $\widetilde{Z}$  is a positive supermartingale,  $\widetilde{Z}^{-1}$  is a positive semimartingale, and

$$\widetilde{Z}_{-}I_{\{|\widetilde{\varphi}|\leq n\}}\cdot(\widetilde{Z})^{-1}=\widetilde{\varphi}I_{\{|\widetilde{\varphi}|\leq n\}}\cdot X.$$

Since the LHS term, of the above-mentioned equality converges (in probability at any time  $t \in (0,T]$ ), we deduce that  $\tilde{\varphi} \in L(X,\mathbb{H})$  (i.e. it is X-integrable in the semimartingale sense), and  $(\tilde{Z})^{-1} = \mathcal{E}(\tilde{\varphi} \cdot X)$ . Therefore, on the one hand, this ends the proof for the properties (4.23)-(4.24). On the other hand, we notice that  $\ln(\mathcal{E}(\tilde{\varphi} \cdot X)_T) = -\ln(\tilde{Z}_T)$  is an integrable random variable, and for any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X,\mathbb{H}) \cap$   $L(X, \mathbb{H})$  satisfying the condition  $E \ln^{-}(\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X)_T) < +\infty$ , we get

$$E[\ln(\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X)_T / \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X)_T)] = E[\ln(\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X)_T) - E\ln(\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X)_T)] \le 0.$$

This is due to a combining of Jensen's inequality and the fact  $\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X)\widetilde{Z}$  is a positive supermartingale. Thus, assertion (d), and (4.25) follow immediately. The rest of this step focuses on proving assertion (c).

Suppose that  $Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , then by applying Theorem 4.1, we deduce the existence of  $(\beta, f, V)$  such that

$$\varphi^{tr} x f(x) \ge -[f(x) - 1 - \ln(f(x))] + \ln(1 + \varphi^{tr} x), \quad \text{for any } \varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H}),$$
$$V \succeq \left(\varphi^{tr} b + \varphi^{tr} c\beta + \int \left(\varphi^{tr} x f(x) - \varphi^{tr} h(x)\right) F(dx)\right) \cdot A,$$
$$E[-\ln(Z_T)] \ge E \left[V_T + \frac{1}{2}\beta^{tr} c\beta \cdot A_T + \int [f(x) - 1 - \ln(f(x))]F(dx) \cdot A_T\right].$$

Then by combining these properties (take  $\varphi = \widetilde{\varphi}$ ) with (4.18)-(4.19)-(4.20) and the fact that under (4.20) we have  $\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}(b - c\widetilde{\varphi}) + \int [\frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}h(x)]F(dx) \ge 0$ , we derive

$$\begin{split} E[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T)] &= E\left[\widetilde{V}_T + \frac{1}{2}(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot A)_T + (-\frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} + \ln(1 + (\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x)) \star \mu)_T\right] \\ &= E\left[\widetilde{V}_T + \left(\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} + \int(-\frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} + \ln(1 + (\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x))F(dx)\right) \cdot A_T\right] \\ &= E\left[(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}b - \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi}) \cdot A_T + \int(\ln(1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x) - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}h(x))F(dx) \cdot A_T\right] \\ &\leq E\left[(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}b - \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi}) \cdot A_T + \int(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}xf(x) - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}h(x))F(dx) \cdot A_T\right] + \\ &+ E\left[\left(\int[f(x) - 1 - \ln(f(x))]F(dx)\right) \cdot A_T\right] \\ &\leq E\left[\left(-\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\beta - \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} + \int[f(x) - 1 - \ln(f(x))]F(dx)\right) \cdot A_T + V_T\right] \\ &\leq E\left[V_T + \frac{1}{2}\beta^{tr}c\beta \cdot A_T + \int[f(x) - 1 - \ln(f(x))]F(dx) \cdot A_T\right] \\ &\leq E[-\ln(Z_T)]. \end{split}$$

This proves assertion (c), and the first step is complete.

Step 2. This step proves  $(d) \Longrightarrow (a)$ . Thus, we suppose that assertion (d) holds. Then there exists a portfolio  $\tilde{\theta} \in \Theta(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that (4.22) holds. Thanks to [36, Theorem 2.8] (see also [49] and [79, Theorem 2.3]), we deduce that  $\mathcal{D}(X, \mathbb{H}) \neq \emptyset$ . By combining this with  $1 + (\tilde{\theta} \cdot X)_T > 0$ , we conclude the positivity of both processes  $1 + \tilde{\theta} \cdot X$  and  $1 + (\tilde{\theta} \cdot X)_-$ , and hence the existence of  $\tilde{\varphi} \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H}) \cap \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that  $1 + \tilde{\theta} \cdot X = \mathcal{E}(\tilde{\varphi} \cdot X)$  on the one hand. On the other hand, the condition  $\mathcal{D}(X, \mathbb{H}) \neq \emptyset$ is equivalent to the existence of the numéraire portfolio, that we denote by  $\hat{\varphi}$  (see [36, 91, 94] and the references therein to cite few). This means that there exists  $\hat{\varphi} \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that  $\mathcal{E}(\hat{\varphi} \cdot X) > 0$  and  $\mathcal{E}(\varphi \cdot X) / \mathcal{E}(\hat{\varphi} \cdot X)$  is a supermartingale for any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$  with  $1 + \varphi \Delta X \ge 0$ . In particular, the process

$$M := \frac{\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X)}{\mathcal{E}(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X)} - 1,$$

is a suprermartingale. Due to  $\ln(x) \le x - 1$ , we get

$$-\ln(\mathcal{E}(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X)) \le -\ln(\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X)) + \frac{\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X)}{\mathcal{E}(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X)} - 1, \qquad (4.33)$$

and deduce that  $\ln^{-}(\mathcal{E}_{T}(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X))$  is integrable. As a result,  $\widehat{\theta} := \widehat{\varphi}\mathcal{E}(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X)_{-} \in \Theta(X, \mathbb{H})$ , and the following hold

$$E[\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X))] = E[\ln(1 + (\widehat{\theta} \cdot X)_T)]$$
  
$$\leq E[\ln(1 + (\widetilde{\theta} \cdot X)_T)] = E[\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X))]. \qquad (4.34)$$

This, in particular, implies that  $\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X))$  is an integrable random variable, or equivalently  $\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X)/\mathcal{E}_T(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X)) = \ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X)) - \ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X))$  is integrable. Then using Jensen's inequality, we deduce that

$$E[\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X) / \mathcal{E}_T(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X)] \le \ln(E[\mathcal{E}_T(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X) / \mathcal{E}_T(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X)]) \le 0.$$

This combined with (4.34) implies that

$$E[\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X))] = E[\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X))].$$
(4.35)

A combination of this with (4.33) leads to  $E[\mathcal{E}_T(\tilde{\varphi} \cdot X)/\mathcal{E}_T(\hat{\varphi} \cdot X)] = 1$ , and hence the process M + 1 is in fact a martingale (a positive supermartingale with constant expectation is a martingale). It is clear that  $f(x) := x - \ln(1+x), x > -1$ , is a nonnegative and strictly convex function that vanishes at x = 0 only. Since  $E[f(M_T)] < +\infty$ , we conclude that f(M) is a nonnegative submartingale satisfying

$$0 = E[f(M_0)] \le E[f(M_t)] \le E[f(M_T)] = E[M_T + \ln(\frac{\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X)}{\mathcal{E}(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X)})] = \ln(1) = 0,$$

where the last equality follows from combining (4.35) with the fact that M is martingale. Thus, we conclude that  $M \equiv 0$  and hence  $\mathcal{E}(\widehat{\varphi} \cdot X) \equiv \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X)$ . As a consequence the process  $Z := 1/\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X)$  belongs to  $\mathcal{D}(X, \mathbb{H})$ . Therefore, assertion (a) follows immediately from this and

$$E[-\ln(Z_T)] = E[\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X))] = E[1 + (\widetilde{\theta} \cdot X)_T] < +\infty,$$

and the proof of  $(d) \Longrightarrow (a)$  is complete.

Step 3. This step proves the implication (a)  $\implies$  (b). Hence, we assume that assertion (a) holds for the rest of this proof. In virtue of Theorem 4.1, which guarantees the existence of  $(\beta, f, V)$  such that  $\beta \in L(X^c, \mathbb{H})$ , f is  $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{H})$ -measurable, positive and  $\sqrt{(f-1)^2 \star \mu} \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}^+$ , V is a predictable and nondecreasing process, and the following hold for any bounded  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ .

$$E\left[V_T + \frac{1}{2}(\beta^{tr}c\beta \cdot A)_T + \left(\int (f(x) - 1 - \ln(f(x)))F(dx)\right) \cdot A_T\right]$$
  

$$\leq E[-\ln(Z_T)] < +\infty, \qquad (4.36)$$

$$\left(\int |f(x)\theta^{tr}x - \theta^{tr}h(x)|F(dx)\right) \cdot A_T < +\infty \text{ $P$-a.s., and}$$
(4.37)

$$\left(\theta^{tr}b + \theta^{tr}c\beta + \int [f(x)\theta^{tr}x - \theta^{tr}h(x)]F(dx)\right) \cdot A \preceq V,$$
(4.38)

The rest of this proof is divided into two sub-steps, and uses these properties. The first sub-step proves that a functional L, that we will define below, attains its minimal value, while the second sub-step proves that this minimum fulfills (4.18)-(4.19)-(4.20).

Step 3.a. Throughout the rest of the proof, we denote by  $L_{(\omega,t)} - P \otimes A$ -almost all  $(\omega,t) \in \Omega \times [0,+\infty)$ - the function given by

$$L_{(\omega,t)}(\lambda) = -\lambda^{tr}b(\omega,t) + \frac{1}{2}\lambda^{tr}c(\omega,t)\lambda + \int \left(\lambda^{tr}h(x) - \ln((1+\lambda^{tr}x)^+)\right)F_{(\omega,t)}(dx), (4.39)$$

for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^d$  with the convention  $\ln(0^+) = -\infty$ . This sub-step proves the existence of a predictable process  $\tilde{\varphi}$  such that  $P \otimes A$ -almost all  $(\omega, t) \in \Omega \times [0, +\infty)$ 

$$\widetilde{\varphi}(\omega,t) \in \mathcal{L}_{(\omega,t)}(X,\mathbb{H}) \text{ and } L_{(\omega,t)}(\widetilde{\varphi}(\omega,t)) = \min_{\lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{(\omega,t)}(X,\mathbb{H})} L_{(\omega,t)}(\lambda).$$
 (4.40)

To this end, we start by noticing that in virtue of a combination of Remark 4.1 (which implies that this functional takes values in  $(-\infty, +\infty]$ ), Lemma 4.3, and [69, Proposition 1] (which guarantees the existence of a predictable selection for the minimizer when it exists), this proof boils down to prove that  $L_{(\omega,t)}$  attains in fact its minimum for all  $(\omega, t) \in \Omega \times [0, +\infty)$ . This is the aim of the rest of this substep. For the sake of simplicity, we denote  $L_{(\omega,t)}(\cdot)$  by L throughout the rest of this proof. In order to prove that L attains it minimum value, we start by proving that this function L is convex, proper and closed. Let first recall some definitions from convex analysis. Consider a convex function f. The effective domain of f, denoted by dom(f), is the set of all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  such that  $f(x) < +\infty$ . The function f is said to be proper if, for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $f(x) > -\infty$  and if its effective domain dom(f) is not empty. For all undefined or unexplained concepts from convex analysis, we refer the reader to Rockafellar [116].

Let  $\theta$  be a bounded element of  $\mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , and due to  $\ln(1 + (\theta^{tr} x)^+) \leq (\theta^{tr} x)^+ \leq |\theta| |x|$ and  $\int_{(|x|>1)} |x| F(dx) < +\infty$  (since X is  $\sigma$ -special), we obtain  $P \otimes A$ -a.e.

$$\int_{(|x|>1)} \ln(1+(\theta^{tr}x)^{+})F(dx) \le \int_{(|x|>1)} (\theta^{tr}x)^{+}F(dx) \le |\theta| \int_{(|x|>1)} |x|F(dx) < +\infty.$$
(4.41)

Then by combining this with

$$\int \left(\lambda^{tr} h(x) - \ln(1 + \lambda^{tr} x)\right) F(dx) = \int_{(|x| \le 1)} \left(\lambda^{tr} x - \ln(1 + \lambda^{tr} x)\right) F(dx) - \int_{(|x| > 1)} \ln(1 - (\lambda^{tr} x)^{-}) F(dx) - \int_{(|x| > 1)} \ln(1 + (\lambda^{tr} x)^{+}) F(dx) \ge - \int_{(|x| > 1)} \ln(1 + (\lambda^{tr} x)^{+}) F(dx) > -\infty,$$

and  $L(0) = 0 < +\infty$  (i.e.  $0 \in \text{dom}(L) \subset \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ ), we deduce that L is a convex and proper function. Now we prove that L is closed or equivalently L is lower semi-continuous. Let  $\theta_n$  be a sequence in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  that converges to  $\theta$  such that  $L(\theta_n)$  converges. Then it is clear that  $\theta_n^{tr}b + \theta_n^{tr}c\beta$  converges to  $\theta^{tr}b + \theta^{tr}c\beta$  and  $\int_{(|x|>1)} \ln(1 + (\theta_n^{tr}x)^+)F(dx)$  converges to  $\int_{(|x|>1)} \ln(1 + (\theta_n^{tr}x)^+)F(dx)$ . This latter is due to a combination of  $\ln(1 + (\theta_n^{tr}x)^+) \leq (\theta_n^{tr}x)^+ \leq (\sup_n |\theta_n|)|x|$ , (4.41), and dominated convergence theorem. Now consider the assumption

 $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$  and there exists  $n_0$  such that for all  $n \ge n_0$   $\theta_n \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ . (4.42)

Under (4.42), by combining Fatou's lemma and the above remarks, we get

$$\begin{split} L(\theta) &= -\theta^{tr}b + \frac{1}{2}\theta^{tr}c\theta + \int \left(\theta^{tr}h(x) - \ln(1+\theta^{tr}x)\right)F(dx) \\ &= -\theta^{tr}b + \frac{1}{2}\theta^{tr}c\theta - \int_{|x|>1}\ln(1+(\theta^{tr}x)^+)F(dx) \\ &- \int_{|x|>1}\ln(1-(\theta^{tr}x)^-)F(dx) + \int_{|x|\leq 1}(\theta^{tr}x - \ln(1+\theta^{tr}x))F(dx) \\ &\leq \lim_{n \to +\infty}L(\theta_n). \end{split}$$

This proves that L is closed under (4.42) on the one hand. On the other hand, it is clear that, when (4.42) is violated, there exists a subsequence  $(\theta_{k(n)})_n$  such that  $\theta_{k(n)} \notin \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$  for all  $n \geq 1$ . As a result, since  $L(\theta_n)$  converges, we conclude that  $L(\theta) \leq \lim_{n \to +\infty} L(\theta_n) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} L(\theta_{k(n)}) = +\infty$ . This proves that L is closed, convex and proper. Thus, we can apply [116, Theorem 27.1(b)] which states that, for L to attain its minimal value, it is sufficient to prove that the set of recession for L is contained in the set of directions in which L is constant. To check this last condition, we calculate the recession function for L. For  $\lambda \in \text{dom}(L)$  and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , the recession function for L is by definition

$$L0^+(y) := \lim_{\alpha \to +\infty} \frac{L(\lambda + \alpha y) - L(\lambda)}{\alpha}$$

Consider the following sets  $\Gamma^+(\lambda) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid \lambda^{tr}x > 0\}, \quad \Gamma^-(\lambda) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid \lambda^{tr}x < 0\}$ , and remark that we have

$$\begin{split} & \frac{L(\lambda + \alpha y) - L(\lambda)}{\alpha} \\ &= -y^{tr}b + \frac{\alpha}{2}y^{tr}cy + y^{tr}c\lambda + \int \left(y^{tr}h(x) - \frac{1}{\alpha}\ln(1 + \frac{\alpha y^{tr}x}{1 + \lambda^{tr}x})\right)F(dx) \\ &= -y^{tr}b + \frac{\alpha}{2}y^{tr}cy + y^{tr}c\lambda + \int_{\Gamma^+(y)} \left(y^{tr}h(x) - \frac{1}{\alpha}\ln(1 + \frac{\alpha y^{tr}x}{1 + \lambda^{tr}x})\right)F(dx) \\ &+ \int_{\Gamma^-(y)} \left(y^{tr}h(x) - \frac{1}{\alpha}\ln(1 + \frac{\alpha y^{tr}x}{1 + \lambda^{tr}x})\right)F(dx). \end{split}$$

Then, on the one hand, we calculate the recession function  $L0^+(y)$  as follows.

$$L0^{+}(y) = \begin{cases} +\infty & \text{if either } F(\Gamma^{-}(y)) > 0 \text{ or } y^{tr} cy > 0, \\ -y^{tr} b + \int_{\Gamma^{+}(y)} y^{tr} h(x) F(dx) & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

On the other hand, we have

$$\alpha\{y \in \mathbb{R}^d : cy = 0 \text{ and } F(\Gamma^-(y)) = 0\} \subset \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H}) \text{ for any } \alpha \in (0, +\infty),$$
$$-\alpha\{y \in \mathbb{R}^d : cy = 0 \text{ and } F(\Gamma^+(y)) = 0\} \subset \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H}) \text{ for any } \alpha \in (0, +\infty).$$

Thus, by combining these with (4.38), we deduce that

$$\begin{split} -y^{tr}b + \int_{\Gamma^+(y)} y^{tr}h(x)F(dx) &> 0 \quad \text{if } F(\Gamma^-(y)) = 0 < F(\Gamma^+(y)), \ cy = 0, \\ y^{tr}b - \int_{\Gamma^-(y)} y^{tr}h(x)F(dx) &> 0 \quad \text{if } F(\Gamma^+(y)) = 0 < F(\Gamma^-(y)), \ cy = 0. \end{split}$$

Thus, thanks to these remarks, the recession cone for L and the set of directions in which L is constant, that we denote RC and CD respectively, are defined and calculated as follows

$$\begin{aligned} RC &:= \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid L0^+(y) \le 0 \} = \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid cy = y^{tr}b = F(\Gamma^-(y)) = F(\Gamma^+(y)) = 0 \} \\ CD &:= \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid L0^+(y) \le 0, \ L0^+(-y) \le 0 \} \\ &= \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid y^{tr}b = cy = F(\Gamma^-(y)) = F(\Gamma^+(y)) = 0 \}. \end{aligned}$$

This proves that both sets (RC and CD) are equal. Hence, thanks to [116, Theorem 27.1(b)], we conclude that  $L_{(\omega,t)}$  attains its minimal value at  $\varphi(\omega,t)$  which satisfies  $1 + x^{tr}\varphi(\omega,t) > 0$   $F_{(\omega,t)}(dx)$ -a.e. since  $L_{(\omega,t)}(\varphi(\omega,t)) \leq L_{(\omega,t)}(0) = 0 < +\infty$ . This ends the first part of the third step.

**Step 3.b.** This sub-step proves that  $\tilde{\varphi}$ , a minimizer for *L* proved in the previous sub-step, fulfills in fact the conditions of assertion (b) (i.e. the properties (4.18)-

(4.19)-(4.20)).

Since  $L(\tilde{\varphi}) \leq L(\varphi)$  for any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ . Let  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$  and  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ , then using similar calculations as above, we get

$$\frac{L(\widetilde{\varphi}) - L(\widetilde{\varphi} + \alpha(\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi}))}{\alpha} = (\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}b - \frac{\alpha}{2}(\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}c(\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi}) - (\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} + \int \left(\frac{1}{\alpha}\ln(1 + \frac{\alpha(\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}) - (\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}h(x)\right)F(dx).$$

Here we have,

$$\frac{1}{\alpha}\ln(1+\frac{\alpha(\varphi-\widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}) = \frac{\ln\left(\alpha\varphi^{tr}x+1+(1-\alpha)\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x\right) - \ln(1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x)}{\alpha}$$
$$= \frac{\ln\left(\alpha(1+\varphi^{tr}x)+(1-\alpha)(1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x)\right) - \ln(1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x)}{\alpha}$$
$$\geq \frac{\alpha\ln(1+\varphi^{tr}x)+(1-\alpha)\ln(1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x) - \ln(1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x)}{\alpha}$$
$$= \ln(1+\varphi^{tr}x) - \ln(1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x) \qquad (4.43)$$

Due to the concavity of  $\ln(x)$ , since  $\ln(\alpha y + (1 - \alpha)x) \ge \alpha \ln(y) + (1 - \alpha) \ln(x)$ . On the other hand, by computing its derivative,

$$\left(\frac{1}{\alpha}\ln(1+\frac{\alpha(\varphi-\widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x})\right)' = \frac{-1}{\alpha^2}\ln(1+\frac{\alpha(\varphi-\widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}) +\frac{(\varphi-\widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}\left(\frac{1}{\alpha(1+\frac{\alpha(\varphi-\widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x})}\right) = \frac{1}{\alpha^2}\left(-\ln(1+\alpha x)+\frac{\alpha x}{1+\alpha x}\right) = \frac{1+\alpha x}{\alpha^2}\left(\alpha x - (1+\alpha x)\ln(1+\alpha x)\right) \leq 0.$$
(4.44)

It is clear that, as a function of  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha^{-1} \ln(1 + \frac{\alpha(\varphi - \tilde{\varphi})^{tr}x}{1 + \tilde{\varphi}^{tr}x})$  is decreasing and hence

$$\ln(1+\varphi^{tr}x) - \ln(1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x) \le \frac{1}{\alpha}\ln(1+\frac{\alpha(\varphi-\widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}) \le \frac{(\varphi-\widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}.$$

As a result of this, combined with the convergence monotone theorem, we deduce that

$$\int \left(\frac{1}{\alpha}\ln(1+\frac{\alpha(\varphi-\widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}) - (\varphi-\widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}h(x)\right)F(dx)$$

converges to  $\int [\frac{(\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr} x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x} - (\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr} h(x)] F(dx)$ , when  $\alpha$  goes to zero and hence (4.20) is proved. By using (4.20) for  $\varphi = 0$ , and  $L(\widetilde{\varphi}) \leq L(0) = 0$ , we get

$$0 \le \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} b - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} c \widetilde{\varphi} + \int \left( -\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} h(x) + \frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x} \right) F(dx)$$
(4.45)

$$0 \le \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} b - \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} c \widetilde{\varphi} + \int \left( \ln(1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x) - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} h(x) \right) F(dx).$$
(4.46)

The second inequality is  $-L(\tilde{\varphi}) \ge 0$ . We also know that  $0 \le ||\sigma(a+b)||^2$ , hence

$$0 \le (a+b)^{tr}c(a+b) = a^{tr}ca + b^{tr}cb + 2a^{tr}cb,$$

and the following inequality holds.

$$-\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi}-\frac{1}{2}\beta^{tr}c\beta\leq\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\beta.$$

Therefore, by combining (4.45) and (4.46), with  $-\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} - \frac{1}{2}\beta^{tr}c\beta \leq \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\beta$ , and

$$f(x) - 1 - \ln(f(x)) \ge \ln(1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x) - f(x)\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x$$
 (Young's inequality),

we derive

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}b &- \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} - \frac{1}{2}\beta^{tr}c\beta + \int [\ln(1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x) - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}h(x)]F(dx) + \\ &- \int [f(x) - 1 - \ln(f(x))]F(dx) \\ &\leq \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}b - \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} - \frac{1}{2}\beta^{tr}c\beta + \int [f(x)\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}h(x)]F(dx) \\ &\leq \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}b + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\beta + \int [f(x)\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}h(x)]F(dx). \end{split}$$

Therefore, thanks to this latter inequality and (4.38), we deduce that

$$0 \leq \left(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}b - \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} + \int [\ln(1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x) - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}h(x)]F(dx)\right) \cdot A$$
$$\leq \left(\int [f(x) - 1 - \ln(f(x))]F(dx) + \frac{1}{2}\beta^{tr}c\beta\right) \cdot A + V.$$

By combining this, (4.36), the fact that

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}b &- \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} + \int [\ln(1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x) - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}h(x)]F(dx) \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} + \int \left(\ln(1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x) - \frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}\right)F(dx)\right) \\ &+ \left(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}b - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} + \int \left(-\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}h(x) + \frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}\right)F(dx)\right), \end{split}$$

where both terms of the RHS are nonnegative, and the second term of this RHS coincides with  $\frac{d\tilde{V}}{dA}$ , we conclude that

$$E\left[\widetilde{V}_T + \left(\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\widetilde{\varphi} + \int \left(\ln(1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x) - \frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}\right)F(dx)\right) \cdot A_T\right] < +\infty.$$

This proves (4.18), and assertion (b) follows. This ends the proof of the theorem.

# Chapter 5

# Log-optimal deflators under random horizon

This chapter addresses the dual problem of the log-utility maximization problem under the random horizon. Here, we consider an initial market model specified by the pair  $(S, \mathbb{F})$ , where S is its discounted assets' price process and  $\mathbb{F}$  its flow of information, and an arbitrary random time  $\tau$ . This random time can represent the death time and the default time, and in both cases,  $\tau$  can be seen when it occurs only. Thus, the progressive enlargement of  $\mathbb{F}$  with  $\tau$ , that we denote by  $\mathbb{G}$ , sounds tailor-fit for modelling the new flow of information that incorporates both  $\mathbb{F}$  and  $\tau$ . In this setting, our main aim resides in describing as explicit as possible the log-optimal deflator for the stopped model  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . The primal maximization of this latter problem is fully considered in Chapter 6. For more details, about utility optimization problem, we refer the reader to Section 2.3 where we describe the Merton's optimal portfolio problem briefly.

Since this chapter focuses on the logarithm utility maximization problem, for the sake of simplifying notation, we simply write  $\Theta(X, \mathbb{H}) := \Theta(\ln, X, \mathbb{H})$ , where the set is initially defined in (4.15). The main goal of this chapter is the model  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ , when S is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -semimartingale that is quasi-left-continuous and has some integrability condition (to avoid some technicalities).

In this chapter, we will use frequently the operator function  $\mathcal{T}(.)$  defined in (2.21), that we recall below for the reader's convenience.

$$\mathcal{T}(M) := M^{\tau} - \widetilde{G}^{-1} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \bullet [M,m] + I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \bullet \left(\sum \Delta M I_{\{\widetilde{G}=0 < G_{-}\}}\right)^{p,\mathbb{F}}, \ \forall \ M \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F}).$$

The following lemma illustrates some simple but useful properties on this operator function  $\mathcal{T}(.)$ .

**Lemma 5.1**: Let K be an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale, and  $\alpha$  belongs to  $L^1_{loc}(K,\mathbb{F})$ , then

- (a) The continuous local martingale part of  $\mathcal{T}(K)$  (i.e.  $\mathcal{T}(K)^c$ ), is equal to  $\mathcal{T}(K^c)$ .
- (b)  $\mathcal{T}(\alpha \cdot K) = \alpha \cdot \mathcal{T}(K)$ , and it is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $K = K^c + K^d$ , where  $K^c$  is continuous  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale, and  $K^d$  is a pure jumps  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale (see Theorem 2.2). Then, we have

$$\mathcal{T}(K) = \mathcal{T}(K^c) + \mathcal{T}(K^d).$$
(5.1)

Thus,  $\mathcal{T}(K^c) = \mathcal{T}(K)^c$  if and only if  $\mathcal{T}(K^d)$  is a pure jump  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Let  $M^{\mathbb{G}}$  be continuous and bounded  $\mathbb{G}$ -martingale. Then we drive

$$\begin{split} [M^{\mathbb{G}}, \mathcal{T}(K^d)] &= [M^{\mathbb{G}}, (K^d)^{\tau}] - \widetilde{G}^{-1} I_{]]0, \tau]} \cdot [M^{\mathbb{G}}, [K^d, m]] \\ &+ I_{]]0, \tau]} \cdot [M^{\mathbb{G}}, \left(\sum \Delta K^d I_{\{\widetilde{G}=0 < G_-\}}\right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}] \\ &= \sum \Delta M^{\mathbb{G}} \Delta (K^d)^{\tau} - \widetilde{G}^{-1} I_{]]0, \tau]} \cdot \sum \Delta M^{\mathbb{G}} \Delta (K^d)^{\tau} \Delta m + 0 = 0, \end{split}$$

which is due to continuity of  $M^{\mathbb{G}}$ . Therefore, by Corollary 2.1.1,  $\mathcal{T}(K^d)$  is a pure jump  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. This proves assertion (a).

For part (b), we write

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{T}(\alpha \boldsymbol{\cdot} K) &= (\alpha \boldsymbol{\cdot} K)^{\tau} - \widetilde{G}^{-1} I_{\llbracket 0, \tau \rrbracket} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \left[ (\alpha \boldsymbol{\cdot} K), m \right] + I_{\llbracket 0, \tau \rrbracket} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \left( \sum \Delta(\alpha \boldsymbol{\cdot} K) I_{\{\widetilde{G}=0 < G_{-}\}} \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}} \\ &= \alpha \boldsymbol{\cdot} (K)^{\tau} - \widetilde{G}^{-1} \alpha I_{\llbracket 0, \tau \rrbracket} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \left[ K, m \right] + I_{\llbracket 0, \tau \rrbracket} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \left( \sum \alpha \Delta K I_{\{\widetilde{G}=0 < G_{-}\}} \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}} \\ &= \alpha \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(K). \end{aligned}$$

This ends the proof of lemma.

The rest of this chapter is divided into three sections. The first section states the results in the general setting of semimartingales, and proves them. The second and third sections illustrate the main results, elaborated in the first section, on particular, practical, and popular models for random time  $\tau$  and  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  respectively.

# 5.1 Optimal deflator for $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$

This section focuses on the following minimization problem

$$\min_{Z^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} \mathbb{E}[-\ln(Z_T^{\mathbb{G}})], \qquad (5.2)$$

where  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G}) := \left\{ Z \in \mathcal{D}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G}) \mid E[-\ln(Z_{\tau})] < +\infty \right\}.$$

This requires the powerful techniques of predictable characteristics of semimartingales (see Section 2.4). For the sake of simplicity, we will consider models, that we call  $\sigma$ -special and are defined in Definition (2.25).

Now, in this stage, for reader's convenience we recall the main theorem of Chapter 4 here, and for the sake of avoiding some big notations, we change the form slightly. As we explained in Chapter 4, this result establishes the duality for the log utility without the No-Free-Lunch-with-Vanishing-Risk assumption. **Theorem 5.1**: Let X be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -quasi-left-continuous semimartingale with predictable characteristics (b, c, F, A). We define

$$\mathcal{K}_{log}(y) := \frac{-y}{1+y} + \ln(1+y) \quad for \ any \quad y > -1.$$
(5.3)

If  $(X, \mathbb{H})$  is  $\sigma$ -special, then the following assertions are equivalent.

(a) The set  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , given by

$$\mathcal{D}_{log}(X,\mathbb{H}) = \left\{ Z \in \mathcal{D}(X,\mathbb{H}) \mid E[-\ln(Z_T)] < +\infty \right\},$$
 (5.4)

is not empty (i.e.  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(X, \mathbb{H}) \neq \emptyset$ ).

(b) There exists an  $\mathbb{H}$ -predictable process  $\widetilde{\varphi} \in \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that, for any  $\varphi$  belonging to  $\mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H})$ , the following hold

$$E\left[V_T^X + \frac{1}{2}(\tilde{\varphi}^{tr}c\tilde{\varphi}\cdot A)_T + (\int \mathcal{K}_{log}(\tilde{\varphi}^{tr}x)F(dx)\cdot A)_T\right] < +\infty,$$

$$V^X := \left|\tilde{\varphi}^{tr}(b-c\tilde{\varphi}) + \int \left[\frac{\tilde{\varphi}^{tr}x}{\tilde{\varphi}^{tr}} - \tilde{\varphi}^{tr}h(x)\right]F(dx)\right| \cdot A,$$
(5.5)

$$V^{X} := \left| \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}(b - c\widetilde{\varphi}) + \int \left[ \frac{\varphi^{cr} x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x} - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} h(x) \right] F(dx) \right| \cdot A,$$
(5.6)

$$(\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}(b - c\widetilde{\varphi}) + \int \left(\frac{(\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x} - (\varphi - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}h(x)\right)F(dx) \le 0.$$
(5.7)

(c) There exists a unique  $\widetilde{Z} \in \mathcal{D}(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that

$$\inf_{Z \in \mathcal{D}(X,\mathbb{H})} E[-\ln(Z_T)] = E[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T)] < +\infty.$$
(5.8)

(d) There exists a unique  $\tilde{\theta} \in \Theta(X, \mathbb{H})$  such that

$$\sup_{\theta \in \Theta(X,\mathbb{H})} E[\ln(1 + (\theta \cdot X)_T)] = E[\ln(1 + (\widetilde{\theta} \cdot X)_T)] < +\infty.$$
(5.9)

Furthermore,  $\tilde{\theta}(1 + (\tilde{\theta} \cdot X)_{-})^{-1}$  and  $\tilde{\varphi}$  coincide  $P \otimes A$ -a.e., and

$$\widetilde{\varphi} \in L(X^c, \mathbb{H}) \cap \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{H}), \quad \sqrt{((1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x)^{-1} - 1)^2 \star \mu} \in \mathcal{A}^+_{loc}(\mathbb{H}), \tag{5.10}$$

$$\frac{1}{\widetilde{Z}} = \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X), \ \widetilde{Z} := \mathcal{E}(K^X - V^X), \ K^X := \widetilde{\varphi} \cdot X^c + \frac{-\varphi^{cr} x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x} \star (\mu - \nu).$$
(5.11)

In this section, we describe, in different manners and as explicit as possible using  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted processes only, the optimal deflator for the model  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  solutions to (5.2). The first result of this section allows us to simplify the optimization problem in order to apply Theorem 5.1 (i.e. Section 4.2). To this end, we recall the following notation and definition, that was initially introduced in [43].

**Definition 5.1**: Let N be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale such that  $1 + \Delta N > 0$ . We call an entropy-Hellinger process for N, denoted by  $h^{(E)}(N, \mathbb{H})$ , the process

$$h^{(E)}(N,\mathbb{H}) := \left(H^{(E)}(N,\mathbb{H})\right)^{p,\mathbb{H}},$$

when this projection exists, where

$$H^{(E)}(N,\mathbb{H}) := \frac{1}{2} \langle N^c \rangle^{\mathbb{H}} + \sum \left( (1 + \Delta N) \ln(1 + \Delta N) - \Delta N \right).$$
 (5.12)

For reader's convenience, we recall the definition of Hellinger process, below.

**Definition 5.2**: Let N be an  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale such that  $1 + \Delta N > 0$ . We call a Hellinger process of order zero for N, denoted by  $h^{(0)}(N, \mathbb{H})$ , the process  $h^{(0)}(N, \mathbb{H}) := \left(H^{(0)}(N, \mathbb{H})\right)^{p,\mathbb{H}}$  when this projection exists, where

$$H^{(0)}(N,\mathbb{H}) := \frac{1}{2} \langle N^c \rangle^{\mathbb{H}} + \sum \left( \Delta N - \ln(1 + \Delta N) \right).$$
(5.13)

In the following theorem, we elaborate our first result of this subsection.

**Theorem 5.2**: The following equality holds.

$$\inf_{Z^{\mathbb{G}}\in\mathcal{D}(S^{\tau},\mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_{T}^{\mathbb{G}})\right] = \inf_{Z\in\mathcal{D}(S,\mathbb{F})} E\left[-\ln(Z_{T\wedge\tau}/\mathcal{E}_{\tau\wedge T}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m))\right].$$
 (5.14)

*Proof.* Thanks to Theorem 3.12 -(c), we deduce that  $Z^{\tau}/\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{D}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  for any  $Z \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , and the following inequality holds

$$\inf_{Z^{\mathbb{G}}\in\mathcal{D}(S^{\tau},\mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_T^{\mathbb{G}})\right] \leq \inf_{Z\in\mathcal{D}(S,\mathbb{F})} E\left[-\ln(Z_{T\wedge\tau}/\mathcal{E}_{\tau\wedge T}(G_-^{-1}\boldsymbol{\cdot} m))\right].$$

To prove the reverse inequality, we consider  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ , and apply Theorem 3.12. This implies the existence of a triplet  $(Z^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^{(o)}, \varphi^{(pr)})$  that belongs to

$$\mathcal{D}(S,\mathbb{F}) \times \mathcal{I}^o_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{G}},\mathbb{G}) \times L^1_{loc}(\operatorname{Prog}(\mathbb{F}), P \otimes D),$$

and satisfies

$$\varphi^{(pr)} > -1, \quad P \otimes D - a.e., \quad -\frac{\widetilde{G}}{G} < \varphi^{(o)} < \frac{\widetilde{G}}{\widetilde{G} - G}, \qquad P \otimes D^{o,\mathbb{F}}\text{-a.e.}.$$

and

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{(Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D).$$

As a result, we get

$$-\ln(Z^{\mathbb{G}}) = -\ln\left((Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}/\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}\right) - \ln(\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}})) - \ln(\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D)).$$

Thus, in virtue of Proposition 4.1, the process  $-\ln(Z^{\mathbb{G}})$  is uniformly integrable if and only if  $-\ln\left((Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}/\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}\right), -\ln(\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}))$  and  $-\ln(\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D))$  are uniformly integrable, and hence

$$E[-\ln(Z_T^{\mathbb{G}})] = E\left[-\ln\left(Z_{\tau\wedge T}^{\mathbb{F}}/\mathcal{E}_{\tau\wedge T}(G_-^{-1}\cdot m)\right)\right] + E[-\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\varphi^{(o)}\cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}))]$$
$$+E[-\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\varphi^{(pr)}\cdot D))]$$
$$\geq E\left[-\ln\left(Z_{\tau\wedge T}^{\mathbb{F}}/\mathcal{E}_{\tau\wedge T}(G_-^{-1}\cdot m)\right)\right]$$
$$\geq \inf_{Z\in\mathcal{D}(S,\mathbb{F})} E\left[-\ln(Z_{T\wedge \tau}/\mathcal{E}_{\tau\wedge T}(G_-^{-1}\cdot m))\right].$$

The first inequality is due to the fact that both quantifies  $E[-\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\varphi^{(o)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}))]$ and  $E[-\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D))]$  are nonnegative. Then, the proof of the theorem follows immediately.

We end this section by describing explicitly the optimal deflator for the model  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . This requires the predictable characteristics of  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  and/or that of  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . Thus, throughout the rest of the thesis, for the sake of simplicity, the random measure  $\mu_S$  associated with the jumps of S will be denoted for simplicity by  $\mu$ , while  $S^c$  denotes the continuous  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale part of S, and the quadruplet

### (b, c, F, A) are the predictable characteristics of $(S, \mathbb{F})$ .

Or equivalently the canonical decomposition of S (see Section 2.4 and the reference herein for details) is given by

$$S = S_0 + S^c + h \star (\mu - \nu) + b \cdot A + (x - h) \star \mu, \quad h(x) := x I_{\{|x| \le 1\}}.$$
 (5.15)

Throughout the rest of this chapter, we consider Jacod's decomposition for the space  $\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  and the  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  given by

$$\mathcal{L}(S,\mathbb{F}) := \Big\{ \theta \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}) \mid 1 + x^{tr} \theta_t(\omega) > 0 \quad P \otimes F_t \otimes dA_t \text{-.a.e} \Big\},$$
(5.16)

$$G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \beta_m \cdot S^c + (f_m - 1) \star (\mu - \nu) + g_m \star \mu + m^{\perp}, \qquad (5.17)$$

where  $\beta_m$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable and also  $S^c$ -integrable process,  $m^{\perp} \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  with  $[m^{\perp}, S] = 0, f_m \in \mathcal{G}^1_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F})$  and  $g_m \in \mathcal{H}^1_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F})$ .

- **Theorem 5.3**: Let  $\mathcal{K}_{log}(.)$  be given by (5.3), and suppose S is quasi-left-continuous and  $\sigma$ -special, and G > 0. Then the following assertions are equivalent.
  - (a) There exist  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  and a nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process V such that  $\mathcal{E}(K) \exp(-V) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$  and the nondecreasing process

$$G_{-} \cdot V + G_{-} \cdot h^{E} (G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m, P) - \langle K, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \left( \widetilde{G} \cdot H^{(0)}(K, P) \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}, \quad (5.18)$$

is integrable.

- (b) The set  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  is not empty.
- (c) There exists a unique  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\min_{Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_T)\right] = E\left[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T^{\mathbb{G}})\right]$$
(5.19)

(d) There exists  $\widetilde{\lambda} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  such that, for any  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , the following hold

$$E\left[(G_{-} \cdot \widetilde{V})_{T} + G_{-}(\int f_{m}(x)\mathcal{K}_{log}(\widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}x)F(dx) + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}c\widetilde{\lambda}) \cdot A_{T}\right] < +\infty,$$

$$(5.20)$$

$$(\theta - \widetilde{\lambda})^{tr}\left[b + c(\beta_{m} - \widetilde{\lambda}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \setminus \{0\}} \left(\frac{f_{m}(x)}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}x}x - h(x)\right)F(dx)\right] \le 0,$$

$$(5.21)$$

$$\widetilde{V} := \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}\left[b + c(\beta_{m} - \widetilde{\lambda}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \setminus \{0\}} \left(\frac{f_{m}(x)}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}x}x - h(x)\right)F(dx)\right] \cdot A.$$

$$(5.22)$$

If furthermore one of the above assertions holds, then  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$  solution to (5.19) and
the process  $\widetilde{\lambda}$  of assertion (d) are related via

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}}) \exp(-\widetilde{V}^{\tau}), \quad \text{where } \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m), \text{ and}$$

$$K^{\mathbb{F}} := (\beta_m - \widetilde{\lambda}) \cdot S^c + \frac{f_m - 1 - \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr} x}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr} x} \star (\mu - \nu) + \frac{g_m}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr} x} \star \mu + m^{\perp}.$$
(5.24)

*Proof.* The proof of (b) $\iff$  (c) is a direct application of Theorem 5.1 for the model  $(X, \mathbb{H}) = (S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . Thus, the remaining part of the proof will be achieved in three steps. The first step proves the equivalence (a) $\iff$ (b), the second step proves (b) $\iff$ (d) and the last step proves (5.23)-(5.24).

Step 1. Here we prove (a)  $\iff$  (b). Let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . Thus, thanks to Theorem 5.1, there exist two  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingales  $\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(0)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}})$  and  $\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D)$  and  $Z^{\mathbb{F}} := \mathcal{E}(K) \exp(-V) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , where  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  and V is an nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process, such that

$$Z^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{(Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(0)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}}) \mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D).$$

As a result, we obtain

$$-\ln(Z^{\mathbb{G}}) = -\ln((Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau} / \mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}) - \ln(\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(0)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}})) - \ln(\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D)).$$

Thanks to Proposition 4.1, we deduce that  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  if and only if the three  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale  $(Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau} / \mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}$ ,  $\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(0)} \cdot N^{\mathbb{G}})$  and  $\mathcal{E}(\varphi^{(pr)} \cdot D)$  belong to  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . Then by combining this with

$$\begin{aligned} -\ln((Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}/\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\cdot}m)^{\tau}) &= -\ln((Z^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau}) + \ln(\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\cdot}m)^{\tau}) \\ &= \mathbb{G}\text{-local mart.} - \frac{I_{]]0,\tau]]}{G_{-}}\boldsymbol{\cdot}\langle K,m\rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + H^{(0)}(K,P)^{\tau} \\ &+ V^{\tau} + \frac{I_{]]0,\tau]]}{G_{-}^{2}}\boldsymbol{\cdot}\langle m\rangle^{\mathbb{F}} - H^{(0)}(G_{-}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\cdot}m,P)^{\tau}, \end{aligned}$$

we conclude that the process in the RHS term is nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{G}$ -integrable, or equivalently its  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable dual projection ( $\mathbb{F}$ -compensator) is a nondecreasing and integrable process. This resulting predictable process coincides with the process defined in (5.18) due to

$$\begin{split} & \left(\frac{I_{\llbracket 0,\tau \rrbracket}}{G_{-}^{2}} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \langle m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} - H^{(0)}(G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} m, P)^{\tau}\right)^{p,\mathbb{F}} = \frac{1}{G_{-}} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \langle m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} - \left(\widetilde{G} \boldsymbol{\cdot} H^{(0)}(G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} m, P)\right)^{p,\mathbb{F}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2G_{-}} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \langle m^{c} \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + G_{-} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \left(\sum (\frac{\Delta m}{G_{-}})^{2}\right)^{p,\mathbb{F}} - \left(\sum \widetilde{G}(\frac{\Delta m}{G_{-}} - \ln(1 + \frac{\Delta m}{G_{-}}))\right)^{p,\mathbb{F}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2G_{-}} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \langle m^{c} \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \left(\sum (\Delta m + G_{-})\ln(1 + \frac{\Delta m}{G_{-}})) - \Delta m\right)\right)^{p,\mathbb{F}} \\ &= G_{-} \boldsymbol{\cdot} h^{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\cdot} m, P). \end{split}$$

This ends the proof of the equivalence between assertions (a) and (b).

**Step 2.** Here we prove (b) $\iff$ (d) using Theorem 5.1. To this end, we start deriving the predictable characteristics of  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ , denoted by  $(b^{\mathbb{G}}, c^{\mathbb{G}}, F^{\mathbb{G}}, A^{\mathbb{G}})$  are given by

$$b^{\mathbb{G}} := b + c\beta_m + \int h(x)(f_m(x) - 1)F(dx), \ \mu^{\mathbb{G}} := I_{]]0,\tau]} \star \mu, \ c^{\mathbb{G}} := c$$
$$\nu^{\mathbb{G}} := I_{]]0,\tau]}f_m \star \nu, \quad F^{\mathbb{G}}(dx) := I_{]]0,\tau]}f_m(x)F(dx), \quad A^{\mathbb{G}} := A^{\tau}.$$
(5.25)

Thus, by directly applying Theorem 5.1 to  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ , we deduce  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G}) \neq \emptyset$  is

equivalent to the existence of a  $\mathbb{G}$ -predictable process  $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  satisfying

$$E\left[V_T^{\mathbb{G}} + \frac{1}{2}(\varphi^{tr}c^{\mathbb{G}}\varphi \cdot A^{\mathbb{G}})_T + (\mathcal{K}_{log}(\varphi^{tr}x) \star \mu^{\mathbb{G}})_T\right] < +\infty,$$
(5.26)

$$V^{\mathbb{G}} := |\varphi^{tr}b^{\mathbb{G}} - \varphi^{tr}c^{\mathbb{G}}\varphi + \int [\frac{\varphi^{tr}x}{1 + \varphi^{tr}x} - \varphi^{tr}h(x)]F^{\mathbb{G}}(dx)| \cdot A^{\mathbb{G}}, \qquad (5.27)$$

$$(\theta - \varphi)^{tr} (b^{\mathbb{G}} - c^{\mathbb{G}} \varphi) + \int \left( \frac{(\theta - \varphi)^{tr} x}{1 + \varphi^{tr} x} - (\theta - \varphi)^{tr} h(x) \right) F^{\mathbb{G}}(dx) \le 0, \quad (5.28)$$

for any bounded  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . Thanks to Proposition 3.1, we deduce the existence of  $\widetilde{\lambda} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  such that  $\varphi I_{]]0,\tau]] = \widetilde{\lambda} I_{]]0,\tau]} P \otimes A$ -a.e.. Thus, by inserting this in (5.26)-(5.27)-(5.28), we conclude that  $V^{\mathbb{G}} = \widetilde{V}^{\tau} \in \mathcal{A}^+_{loc}(\mathbb{G})$ , which is equivalent to (5.22) due to Lemma 3.1, and

$$E\left[(G_{-} \cdot \widetilde{V})_{T} + \frac{1}{2}(G_{-}\widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}c\widetilde{\lambda} \cdot A)_{T} + \int \mathcal{K}_{log}(\widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}x)f_{m}(x)F(dx)G_{-} \cdot A_{T}\right] < +\infty,$$
  
$$(\theta - \widetilde{\lambda})^{tr}(b + c(\beta_{m} - \widetilde{\lambda})) + \int \left(\frac{(\theta - \widetilde{\lambda})^{tr}x}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}x}f_{m}(x) - (\theta - \widetilde{\lambda})^{tr}h(x)\right)F(dx) \le 0,$$

 $P \otimes A$ -a.e. on  $[]0, \tau]]$  for any bounded  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ . The above first inequality is obviously (5.20), while (5.21) follows immediately from combining the second inequality above and Lemma 3.1 again. This proves (b) $\Longrightarrow$ (d), while the converse follows from the fact that assertion (d) implies (5.26)-(5.27)-(5.28) with  $\varphi = \tilde{\lambda}I_{]]0,\tau]}$ . This latter fact is obviously equivalent to assertion (b) due to Theorem 5.1 as stated above. This ends the second step, and the proof of the theorem is complete.

#### 5.2 Particular cases for $\tau$

This section illustrates the results of this chapter on several frequently studied models for the random time  $\tau$ . We will consider the case of pseudo-stopping times, and the case when all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous.

#### 5.2.1 Pseudo-stopping times

In this subsection, we consider the family of pseudo-stopping times,  $\tau$ , defined in Definition 3.1. Here, we recall some of their important properties elaborated in Lemma 3.5.  $\tau$  is a pseudo-stopping time if and only if  $m \equiv m_0$ . This implies that  $\mathcal{E}(G_-^{-1} \cdot m) \equiv 1$ ,  $\Delta m \equiv 0$  and for any bounded  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale M, we have  $\mathcal{T}(M) = M^{\tau}$ . The Jacod's components for the  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale  $G_-^{-1} \cdot m$  are simply given by the vector of processes (0, 1, 0, 0) in equation (5.16), since  $m \equiv m_0$ .

**Theorem 5.4**: Let  $\mathcal{K}_{log}(.)$  be given by (5.3), and suppose S is quasi-left-continuous and  $\sigma$ -special,  $\tau$  is a pseudo-stopping time, and G > 0. Then the following assertions are equivalent:

(a) There exist  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  and a nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process V such that  $\mathcal{E}(K) \exp(-V) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$  and the nondecreasing process

$$G_{-} \cdot V + G_{-} \cdot \left(H^{(0)}(K, P)\right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}$$
 is integrable.

- (b) The set  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  is not empty.
- (c) There exists a unique  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\min_{Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_T)\right] = E\left[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T^{\mathbb{G}})\right] < +\infty.$$
(5.29)

(d) There exists  $\widetilde{\lambda} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  such that, for any  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , the following hold

$$E\left[ (G_{-} \cdot \widetilde{V})_{T} + G_{-} (\int \mathcal{K}_{log}(\widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}x)F(dx) + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}c\widetilde{\lambda}) \cdot A_{T} \right] < +\infty,$$

$$(\theta - \widetilde{\lambda})^{tr} \left[ b - c\widetilde{\lambda} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \setminus \{0\}} \left( \frac{x}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}x} - h(x) \right) F(dx) \right] \le 0, \qquad (5.30)$$

$$\widetilde{V} := \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr} \left[ b - c\widetilde{\lambda} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \left( \frac{x}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr} x} - h(x) \right) F(dx) \right] \cdot A.$$
(5.31)

Furthermore, if one of the above assertions holds, then  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$  solution to (5.29) and

the process  $\widetilde{\lambda}$  of assertion (d) are related via

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{F}})^{\tau} \exp(-\widetilde{V}^{\tau}), \quad where \ \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{F}} := -\widetilde{\lambda} \cdot S^{c} - \frac{\widetilde{\lambda}^{tr} x}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr} x} \star (\mu - \nu).$$
(5.32)

*Proof.* Thanks to Theorem 5.3, the optimal deflator  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$  solution to (5.29) exists and the proof of all assertions follows immediately. For the family of pseudo-stopping times, the inequality condition (5.21) reduces to the condition (5.30).

**Remark.** By comparing both, the optimality condition (5.30) and the solution for process  $\widetilde{V}$  in (5.31), with the inequality condition (4.20) and process  $\widetilde{V}$  in (4.19) in Theorem 4.2, we deduce that the optimal deflator for the model  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  and the model  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  for the family of pseudo-stopping times coincides on  $[0, \tau]$  i.e.

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} = \widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{F}}$$
 on  $[0, \tau]$ .

#### 5.2.2 The case when all $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous

Now, we address a random time  $\tau$  when all F-martingales are continuous. If all F-martingales are continuous, simply we have  $\Delta m = 0$ . For the definition and properties of  $\tau$ , we refer the reader to Section 3.3.3. If all F-martingales are continuous, then processes  $\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$  and  $\overline{M}$ , defined in (3.29), coincide with  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$  and  $\mathcal{T}(M)$ , respectively.

Throughout the rest of this subsection, we consider the following Jacod's decomposition for the  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$ ,

$$G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \beta_m \cdot S^c + m^{\perp}.$$
 (5.33)

As a result, the Jacod's parameters of  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  is  $(\beta_m, 1, 0, m^{\perp})$ .

Now, we parametrize optimal deflators for this model in the following theorem.

**Theorem 5.5**: Let  $\mathcal{K}_{log}(.)$  be given by (5.3), and suppose S is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -semimartingale

that is quasi-left-continuous and all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous, and G > 0. Then the following assertions are equivalent.

(a) There exist  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  such that  $\mathcal{E}(K) \in \mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S,\mathbb{F})$  and the nondecreasing process

$$\frac{1}{2G_{-}} \cdot \langle m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} - \langle K, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \frac{G_{-}}{2} \cdot \langle K \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} \quad is \ integrable.$$

(b) The set  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  is not empty if and only of there exists a unique  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\min_{Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_T)\right] = E\left[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T^{\mathbb{G}})\right] < +\infty.$$
(5.34)

(c) There exists  $\widetilde{\lambda} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  such that the following hold

$$E\left[G_{-}\int \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}c\widetilde{\lambda} \cdot A_{T}\right] < +\infty, \quad and \quad b + c(\beta_{m} - \widetilde{\lambda}) = 0.$$
 (5.35)

If furthermore one of the above assertions holds, then  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$  solution to (5.34) and the process  $\widetilde{\lambda}$  are related via

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}}), \quad where \quad K^{\mathbb{G}} := -\widetilde{\lambda} \cdot \overline{S}^{c}.$$
 (5.36)

*Proof.* (a) The existence of the unique optimal deflator  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$  follows from Theorem 5.3, immediately. The integrability condition (5.18) is equal to

$$\frac{1}{2G_{-}} \cdot \langle m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} - \langle K, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \frac{G_{-}}{2} \cdot \langle K \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} \quad \text{and it is integrable.}$$

Since all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous, we deduce that the measure jumps  $\mu$  of S is  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable that means that  $\mu = \nu$  (equals to its  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable dual). Hence  $F \equiv 0$ , and S is predictable as well as a special semimartingale. Since  $\mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S, \mathbb{F}) \neq 0$ , we deduce that S is continuous. Suppose  $W = I_{\{|x| \geq k\}}$  and  $0 < k < +\infty$ . Then,

since  $W \star \mu$  belongs to  $\mathcal{A}^+_{loc}(,\mathbb{F})$ , we have

$$W \star \mu - (W \star \mu)^{p,\mathbb{F}} = W \star \mu - W \star \nu \in \mathcal{M}_{loc}(\mathbb{F})$$

Hence, we have

$$W \star \mu = W \star \nu$$
, or equivalently,  $I_{\{|x|>k\}} \star \mu = I_{\{|x|>k\}} \star \nu$ ,

for any  $k \ge 0$ . Then, let k goes to zero, therefore we have  $\mu = \nu$ . It means that S is a predictable semimartingale, locally bounded, and  $F \equiv 0$ . Furthermore when  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S,\mathbb{F}) \ne 0$  one can prove that S is continuous and  $\mathcal{L}(S,\mathbb{F}) = \mathbb{R}$ . It implies that  $V \equiv 0$ . The rest of proof follows immediately by considering the above-mentioned Jacod components of  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$ .

# **5.3** Particular cases for $(S, \mathbb{F})$

In this section, we address the optimal deflator problem for several frequently studied cases of the general market model. More precisely, it contains two main subsections by considering two models with particular examples: The general Lévy market model and volatility market models.

#### 5.3.1 The exponential Lévy market model

In this subsection we address the Lévy market model. Consider the Lévy market models given by Section 3.4.1. The stock price process, S, presented by  $S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t$ , is a locally bounded Lévy process and setup by the stochastic differential equation (3.33). All elements are all the same way as it mentioned in Section 3.4.1, where  $\sigma > 0$  and  $\mu$  are bounded adapted processes. Filtration  $\mathbb{F}$  is generated by W and  $\widetilde{N}^{\mathbb{F}}$ , where W is a standard Brownian Motion, N(dt, dx) and is a Poisson random measure on  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}/\{0\}$ ,  $\widetilde{N}^{\mathbb{F}}$  is a compensated Poisson measure with Lévy measure (intensity)  $F^X(dx)dt$  and  $A^X$  is an increasing and predictable process. For the model (3.33), the predictable characteristics of Section 5.1 or Section 2.4 can be derived as follows.

$$\mu(dt, dx) = N(dt, dx), \ \nu(dt, dx) = F^X(dx)dt, \ S^c = S_-\sigma \cdot W ,$$
  
$$A_t = A_t^X, \ c = (S_-\sigma)^2, \ b = S_-\mu.$$
(5.37)

As a result, throughout the rest of this subsection, we consider the following Jacod's decomposition for the  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  and the space  $\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ ,

$$\mathcal{L}(S,\mathbb{F}) := \Big\{ \lambda \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}) \mid 1 + S_{-} x^{tr} \lambda_{t}(\omega) > 0 \quad P \otimes F_{t}^{X} \otimes dA_{t}^{X} \text{-.a.e} \Big\}, \quad (5.38)$$

$$G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \hat{\beta}_m \cdot W + (\hat{f}_m - 1) \star (\mu - \nu) + \hat{g}_m \star \mu + m^{\perp}.$$
 (5.39)

Here,  $(\hat{\beta}_m, \hat{f}_m, \hat{g}_m, \hat{m}^{\perp})$  are the Jacod's components of  $G_-^{-1} \cdot m$ , where  $\hat{\beta}_m (S_-\sigma)^{-1} := \beta_m$  and  $(\hat{f}_m (S_-x), \hat{g}_m (S_-x), \hat{m}^{\perp}) = (f_m(x), g_m(x), m^{\perp})$  in equation (5.16).

**Theorem 5.6**: Suppose S given by (3.33) and G > 0. Then the following assertions are equivalent.

(a) There exist  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  and a nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process V such that  $\mathcal{E}(K) \exp(-V) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$  and the nondecreasing process

$$G_{-} \cdot V + G_{-} \cdot h^{E} (G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m, P) - \langle K, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \left( \widetilde{G} \cdot H^{(0)}(K, P) \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}, \quad (5.40)$$

is integrable.

- (b) The set  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  is not empty.
- (c) There exists a unique  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\min_{Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_T)\right] = E\left[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T^{\mathbb{G}})\right] < +\infty.$$
(5.41)

(d) There exists  $\widetilde{\varphi} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  such that, for any  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , the following hold

$$(\theta - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr} \left[ \mu + \sigma \widehat{\beta}_m - \sigma^2 \widetilde{\varphi} + \int (\frac{\widehat{f}_m(S_-x)}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}x} - I_{S_-|x|<1}) S_- x F^X(dx) \right] \le 0, \ P \otimes dA^X - a.s. (5.42)$$
$$\mathbb{E} \left[ (G_- \cdot \widetilde{V})_T + G_- (\int \widehat{f}_m(S_-x) \mathcal{K}_{log}(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x) F(dx) + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}(\sigma)^2 \widetilde{\varphi}) \cdot A_T^X \right] < +\infty,$$
$$\widetilde{V} := \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} \left[ \mu + \sigma \widehat{\beta}_m - \sigma^2 \widetilde{\varphi} + \int (\frac{\widehat{f}_m(S_-x)}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}x} - I_{S_-|x|<1}) S_- x F^X(dx) \right] \cdot A^X.$$
(5.43)

Furthermore, when one of the above assertions holds, the optimal deflator  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$ solution to (5.41) and the process  $\widetilde{\varphi}$  of assertion (d) are related via the following

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}}) \exp(-\widetilde{V}^{\tau}), \quad where \quad \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m)$$
(5.44)  
and 
$$K^{\mathbb{F}} := (\hat{\beta}_{m} - \sigma \widetilde{\varphi}) \cdot W + \frac{\hat{f}_{m} - 1 - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x} \star (\mu - \nu) + \frac{\hat{g}_{m}}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} x} \star \mu + \hat{m}^{\perp}.$$

*Proof.* Thanks to Theorem 5.3, the optimal deflator  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$  solution to (5.41) exists. For the Lévy model, consider the above-mentioned predictable characteristics (5.37). Then, the inequality condition (5.21), characterizing the optimal deflator  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$ , becomes as follows.

$$0 \geq \mu + S_{-}\sigma\hat{\beta}_{m} - (S_{-}\sigma)^{2}\tilde{\lambda} + \int (\frac{f_{m}(S_{-}x)}{1 + S_{-}\tilde{\lambda}x}S_{-}x - S_{-}xI_{\{|x|S_{-}\leq 1\}})F^{X}(dx)$$
  
=  $\mu + \sigma\hat{\beta}_{m} - S_{-}\sigma^{2}\tilde{\lambda} + \int (\frac{\hat{f}_{m}(S_{-}x)}{1 + S_{-}\tilde{\lambda}x}x - xI_{\{|x|S_{-}\leq 1\}})F^{X}(dx), \quad P \otimes dA^{X}\text{-a.s.},$ 

and the solution for  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process  $\widetilde{V}$  reduces to (5.43). Therefore,  $\widetilde{\varphi} = \widetilde{\lambda}S_{-}$ , where  $\widetilde{\lambda}$  is given by (5.21). We deduce that  $1 + xS_{-}\widetilde{\varphi} > 0$  and  $\widetilde{\varphi}$  is the unique solution to (5.42). As a result, the optimal deflator follows immediately using the decomposition of deflator (5.24) in Theorem 5.3, putting  $\widetilde{\lambda} = \frac{\widetilde{\varphi}}{S_{-}}$  and above predictable characteristics for the Lévy process S.

#### 5.3.1.1 Jump-diffusion framework

This subsection focuses on the important case of jump-diffusion model defined in Section 3.4.1.1. On this case, the uncertainties in the initial model  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  is a onedimensional process generated by a standard Brownian Motion W and a Poisson process N with intensity  $\lambda > 0$ , defined on the probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$ . Then the stock price process is given by the following dynamics

$$S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t, \quad X_t = \int_0^t \sigma_s dW_s + \int_0^t \zeta_s dN_s^{\mathbb{F}} + \int_0^t \mu_s ds, \qquad N_t^{\mathbb{F}} := N_t - \lambda t.$$
(5.45)

All elements are all the same way as in Section 3.4.1.1, where a constant  $\delta \in (0, +\infty)$ such that  $\mu$ ,  $\sigma$ , and  $\zeta$  are bounded  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted processes and we also assume that  $\sigma > 0, \ \zeta > -1, \ \sigma + |\zeta| \ge \delta, \ P \otimes dt$ -a.e.. Since m is  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale, we consider Jacod's decomposition for the  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  and the space  $\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  given by

$$\int_{0}^{\cdot} \left( (\varphi^{(m)})^{2} + |\psi^{(m)}| \right) ds < +\infty \quad P\text{-a.s.}$$

$$G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \varphi_{s}^{(m)} \cdot W + (\psi_{s}^{(m)} - 1) \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}, \qquad (5.46)$$

$$\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F}) = \left\{ \mathbb{F}\text{-predictable process } \theta \mid 1 + x^{tr} \theta_{t}(\omega) > 0 \quad P(d\omega) \otimes F_{t}(dx) \otimes dA_{t}\text{-a.e} \right\}.$$

**Theorem 5.7**: Suppose S given by (5.45), G > 0, and let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$  be a positive  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent. (a) There exists  $\mathcal{E}(K) \in \mathcal{Z}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , where  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$ , such that the nondecreasing process

$$G_{-} \cdot h^{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m, P) - \langle K, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \left( \widetilde{G} \cdot H^{(0)}(K, P) \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}$$

is integrable.

(b) The set  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau},\mathbb{G})$  is not empty if and only if there exists a unique  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} \in$ 

 $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau},\mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\min_{Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_T)\right] = E\left[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T^{\mathbb{G}})\right] < +\infty.$$
(5.47)

(c) There exists a unique solution  $\widetilde{\varphi} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  for the following hold,

$$E\left[G_{-}\left(\int \frac{-\widetilde{\varphi}\lambda\psi^{(m)}}{1+\widetilde{\varphi}\lambda} + \psi^{(m)}\ln(1+\widetilde{\varphi}\lambda) + (\widetilde{\varphi}S_{-}\sigma)^{2}dt\right] < +\infty,$$
  
$$\mu - \lambda\zeta + \sigma\varphi^{(m)} - \sigma^{2}\varphi + \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\lambda\zeta}{1+\varphi\zeta} = 0. \ dt - a.e.$$
(5.48)

Furthermore, when one of the above assertions holds, the optimal deflator  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$  solution to (5.47) and the process  $\widetilde{\varphi}$  are related via the following

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}}) \quad and \quad \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}} := -\sigma\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot \overline{W} + \left(\frac{\sigma^2}{\lambda\zeta}\widetilde{\varphi} - \frac{\mu}{\lambda\zeta} - \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\lambda\zeta} - \psi^{(m)}\right) \cdot \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}).$$
(5.49)

*Proof.* For the model (5.45), the predictable characteristics of Section 5.1 can be derived as follows. Let  $\delta_a(dx)$  be the Dirac mass at the point a. Then in this case we have d = 1 and

$$\mu(dt, dx) = \delta_{\zeta_t S_{t-}}(dx) dN_t, \ \nu(dt, dx) = \delta_{\zeta_t S_{t-}}(dx) \lambda dt, \ F_t(dx) = \lambda \delta_{\zeta_t S_{t-}}(dx),$$
$$A_t = t, \ c = (S_{-}\sigma)^2, \ b = (\mu - \lambda \zeta I_{\{|\zeta|S_{-}>1\}})S_{-}, \ (\beta_m, g_m, m^{\perp}) = (\frac{\varphi^{(m)}}{S_{-}\sigma}, 0, 0).$$

As a result, the set

$$\mathcal{L}_{(\omega,t)}(S,\mathbb{F}) := \{ \varphi \in \mathbb{R} \mid \varphi x > -1 \; F_{(\omega,t)}(dx) - a.e. \} = \{ \varphi \in \mathbb{R} \mid \varphi S_{-}\zeta > -1 \}$$
$$= \left( -1/(S_{-}\zeta)^{+}, +\infty \right) \cap \left( -\infty, 1/(S_{-}\zeta)^{-} \right)$$

is an open set in  $\mathbb{R}$  (with the convention  $1/0^+ = +\infty$ ). Then the condition (5.21),

characterizing the optimal deflator, becomes an equation as follows.

$$0 = \mu - \lambda \zeta I_{\{|\zeta| > 1/S_{-}\}} + S_{-} \sigma^{2} (\frac{\varphi^{(m)}}{S_{-} \sigma} - \hat{\varphi}) + \lambda \frac{\psi^{(m)} \zeta}{1 + S_{-} \hat{\varphi} \zeta} - \lambda \zeta I_{\{|\zeta| \le 1/S_{-}\}}$$
  
=  $\mu + \sigma \varphi^{(m)} - S_{-} \sigma^{2} \hat{\varphi} + \frac{\psi^{(m)} \lambda \zeta}{1 + \hat{\varphi} \zeta} - \lambda \zeta I_{\{|\zeta| \le 1/S_{-}\}} - \lambda \zeta I_{\{|\zeta| > 1/S_{-}\}}$   
=  $\mu - \lambda \zeta + \sigma \varphi^{(m)} - S_{-} \sigma^{2} \hat{\varphi} + \frac{\psi^{(m)} \lambda \zeta}{1 + \hat{\varphi} S_{-} \zeta}.$  (5.50)

By changing the variable  $\varphi := \hat{\varphi}S_{-}$ , the above equation is equivalent to (5.48). Hence,  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is the unique solution to (5.47). It is also clear that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is S-integrable due to the assumption in (3.39).

For a model like Jump-Diffusion framework with nice features, one can prove the theorem directly as follows. The proof of (a)  $\iff$  (b) immediately follows from Proposition 4.1. Then thanks to Theorem 5.2, the proof is to determine the functional  $H^{(0)}(Z^{\tau}/\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau})$  and its compensator. Then, we minimize the compensator functional in the sense of Definition 3.2.

By the decomposition of  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$ , we get  $\widetilde{G} = G_{-} + \Delta m = G_{-} \psi^{(m)}(\Delta N) I_{\{\Delta N \neq 0\}}$ . Therefore,

$$\inf_{Z \in \mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S,\mathbb{F})} (H^{(0)}(Z^{\tau}/\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau})^{p,\mathbb{F}} = \inf_{(\psi_{1},\psi_{2})\in L^{1}_{loc}(W) \times L_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{F}},\mathbb{F})} \int_{0}^{T} G_{-}(t) \frac{1}{2} (\psi_{1}(t) - \varphi^{(m)}(t))^{2} \\
+ G_{-}\lambda [\psi_{2}(t) - \psi^{(m)}(t)] - \lambda \psi^{(m)}(t) G_{-}(t) (\ln(\psi_{2}(t)) + \ln\psi^{(m)}(t)) dt,$$

where the minimization is over the set of  $(\psi_1, \psi_2)$  such that

$$\mu_t + \psi_1 \sigma + (\psi_2 - 1)\zeta \lambda_t \equiv 0, \quad \psi_2 > 0 \quad dt - a.e.$$

By solving the above-mention constraint for  $\psi_1$ , we get  $\psi_1 = -\frac{\gamma(\psi_2 - 1) + \mu}{\sigma}$ . By

putting it in above minimization, it reduce to the following problem

$$\inf_{\psi_2 \in L_{loc}(N^{\mathbb{F}},\mathbb{F})} G_{-}(t) \Big[ \frac{1}{2} \big( \frac{\gamma(\psi_2 - 1) + \mu}{\sigma} + \varphi^{(m)} \big)^2 + \lambda \big[ \psi_2 - \psi^{(m)} \big] - \lambda \psi^{(m)} G_{-} \big( \ln(\psi_2) + \ln \psi^{(m)} \big) \Big]$$

We define  $\theta := \frac{1}{\sigma} \left( \frac{\gamma(\psi_2 - 1) + \mu}{\sigma} + \varphi^{(m)} \right)$ . Therefore by substituting it in minimization equation and computing the derivative, we obtain

$$\mu - \lambda \zeta + \sigma \varphi^{(m)} - \sigma^2 \theta + \frac{\varphi^{(m)} \lambda \zeta}{1 + \theta \zeta} = 0, \ P \otimes dt - a.e.$$

which is equal to the equation (5.48).

#### 5.3.1.2 Black-Scholes market model

In this subsection we focus on the case of Black-Scholes market model. The financial market is setup by following stochastic differential equation

$$S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t, \quad X_t := \int_0^t \sigma_s dW_s + \int_0^t \mu_s ds,$$
 (5.51)

where W is a one-dimensional Brownian motion. Let  $\psi_{(m)} = 1$  in the decomposition (5.46). Then the Poisson process vanishes and we get  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m := \varphi_{(m)} \cdot W$ . The space  $\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  is simply equal to  $\mathbb{R}$ .  $\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  is an open set in  $\mathbb{R}$  (with the convention  $1/0^+ = +\infty$ ).

**Theorem 5.8**: Suppose S given by (5.51) and G > 0. Let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$  be a positive  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. There exists a unique  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\min_{Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_T)\right] = E\left[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T^{\mathbb{G}})\right] < +\infty,$$
(5.52)

if and only if the nondecreasing process

$$\int_0^T \frac{1}{2G_-} (\varphi_s^{(m)})^2 - \frac{\mu \varphi_s^{(m)}}{\sigma_s} + \frac{G_-}{2} (\frac{\mu}{\sigma_s})^2 ds \quad is \ integrable.$$

Furthermore, if the above assertion holds, the optimal deflator,  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$ , is a unique solution to (5.52) and it is given by  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}\big(-(\varphi_{(m)} + \frac{\mu}{\sigma}) \cdot \overline{W}\big).$ 

*Proof.* On one hand, Black-Scholes market model  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  is complete. Therefore, by the Theorem 5.2, we have

$$\inf_{Z^{\mathbb{G}}\in\mathcal{D}(S^{\tau},\mathbb{G})} E\Big[-\ln(Z_T^{\mathbb{G}})\Big] = \inf_{Z\in\mathcal{D}(S,\mathbb{F})} E\Big[-\ln(Z_{T\wedge\tau}/\mathcal{E}_{\tau\wedge T}(G_-^{-1}\boldsymbol{\cdot} m))\Big].$$

It means we reduce the dual problem in an incomplete market to the second dual problem, where the market is complete. On the other hand, all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are with respect to a Brownian motion and continuous. Hence,  $\mathcal{T}(W) = \overline{W}$ . This ends the proof.

#### 5.3.2 Volatility market models

In this subsection, we focus on the case of Volatility market models, which has great applications in the financial industry. For these models, the volatility is a stochastic process. This subsection is divided into two parts. First, we address the optimal deflator problem for the corrected Stein and Stein Model, then we discuss it for the Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard Model. The corrected Stein and Stein Model is continuous and the Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard Model might have Lévy jumps.

#### 5.3.2.1 Corrected Stein and Stein Model

In the corrected Stein and Stein financial market, the price process  $(S := S_0 \mathcal{E}(X))$ follows the dynamic

$$X_{t} = X_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} V_{s} \sigma_{s} dW_{s}^{(1)} + \int_{0}^{t} \mu V_{s}^{2} dt$$
$$V_{t} = V_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} (m - aV_{s}) dt + \alpha_{s} dW_{s}^{(2)}$$
(5.53)

where  $W^{(i)}$ , i = 1, 2 are one-dimensional Brownian motions with the correlation coefficient  $\rho \in (-1, +1)$  and all the coefficients  $\sigma, \alpha, m, a$  and  $\mu$  are the same as in Section 3.4.3.1. Any  $\mathbb{F}$ -local martingale M represents as follows

$$M = M_0 + \int_0^t h_s^1 dW_s^{(1)} + \int_0^t h_s^2 dW_s^{(2)}, \quad t \in [0, T],$$
 (5.54)

Therefore, the decomposition for the  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  given by is

$$G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \varphi_{(m)} \cdot W^{(1)} + \psi_{(m)} \cdot W^{(2)}.$$
(5.55)

The space  $\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  is simply equal to  $\mathbb{R}$ .  $\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  is an open set in  $\mathbb{R}$  (with the convention  $1/0^+ = +\infty$ ). For the corrected Stein and Stein financial market model, we have the following parametrization for the optimal deflator.

**Theorem 5.9**: Suppose S given by (5.53), G > 0. Let  $Z^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(K^{\mathbb{G}})$  be a positive  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale. Then the following assertions are equivalent.

(a) There exist  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  such that  $\mathcal{E}(K) \in \mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S,\mathbb{F})$  and the nondecreasing process

$$\frac{1}{2G_{-}} \cdot \langle m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} - \langle K, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \frac{G_{-}}{2} \cdot \langle K \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} \quad is \ integrable.$$

(b) The set  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  is not empty if and only of there exists a unique  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$ belongs to  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\min_{Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_T)\right] = E\left[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T^{\mathbb{G}})\right] < +\infty.$$
(5.56)

(c) 
$$E\left[(G_{-}\int_{0}^{\cdot}(\frac{\mu}{\sigma})^{2}+\varphi_{(m)}^{2}+\rho^{2}\psi_{(m)}^{2}dt\right]<+\infty.$$

Furthermore, when one of the above assertions holds, the optimal deflator  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$  solution to (5.56) is

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}\Big(-\left(\frac{\mu}{\sigma} + \varphi_{(m)} + \rho\psi_{(m)}\right) \cdot \overline{W}^{(1)}\Big).$$
(5.57)

*Proof.* By the model (5.53), the predictable characteristics and Jacod's parameters of Section 5.1 are

$$A_t = t, \ c = (S_t \sigma_t V_t)^2, \ b = \mu S_t V_t^2, \ (\beta_m, f_m, g_m, m^{\perp}) = (\frac{\varphi_{(m)}}{\sigma S_t} + \frac{\rho \psi_{(m)}}{\sigma S_t}, 1, 0, m^{\perp}).$$

As a result, the condition (5.21), characterizing the optimal deflator  $\tilde{\lambda}$ , becomes an equation as follows.

$$0 = \mu S V^{2} + (S_{t} \sigma V)^{2} \left(\frac{\varphi_{(m)}}{\sigma S} + \frac{\rho \psi_{(m)}}{\sigma S} - \lambda\right)$$
$$= \mu + \sigma \varphi_{(m)} + \sigma_{t} \rho \psi_{(m)} - \lambda S \sigma^{2}.$$
(5.58)

Hence,  $\tilde{\lambda} = \frac{\mu + \sigma \varphi_{(m)} + \sigma \rho \psi_{(m)}}{S \sigma^2}$ . By putting  $\tilde{\lambda}$  in (5.36) and considering the fact that  $S^c = S \sigma \cdot W$ , we get

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{E}(-\widetilde{\lambda} \cdot \overline{S}^{c}) = \mathcal{E}(-\frac{\mu + \sigma \varphi_{(m)} + \sigma \rho \psi_{(m)}}{\sigma} \cdot \overline{W}^{(1)}).$$

The last equality occurs from the continuity of all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales (i.e.  $\mathcal{T}(W) = \overline{W}$ ).

#### 5.3.2.2 Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard Model

Now, we turn to the Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard financial market which is presented in Section 3.4.3.2. The filtration is generated by a one dimensional Lévy process Y, where we have  $Y = Y^c + \tilde{Y}^d$ . The stock price process is an exponential of a Lévy process such that  $S_t = S_0 e^{(X)_t}$  and follows these stochastic differential equations

$$dX_s = (\mu + \xi \sigma_s^2) ds + \sigma_s dY_s^c + d(\rho x \star \widetilde{\mu}_Y)_s$$
  
$$d\sigma_s^2 = -\lambda \sigma_s^2 dt + d(x \star \widetilde{\mu}_Y)_s$$
(5.59)

$$\frac{dS_t}{S_{t_-}} = \alpha_t dt + \sigma_t dY_t^c + d(e^{\rho x} - 1) \star (\widetilde{\mu} - \widetilde{\nu})_t, \qquad (5.60)$$

where  $\alpha = \mu + \sigma_t^2(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \int (e^{\rho x} - 1)\widetilde{F}(dx)$ , and all the coefficients are the same as in Section 3.4.3.2. The model is a quasi-left-continuous and the process  $A_t$  is continuous. Thus, there is no loss of generality on defining  $A_t = t$ . Throughout the rest of this subsection, we consider the following Jacod's decomposition for the  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  and the space  $\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , given by

$$\mathcal{L}(S,\mathbb{F}) := \Big\{ \lambda \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}) \mid 1 + S_{t_{-}} \lambda^{tr} (e^{\rho x} - 1) > 0 \quad P \otimes \widetilde{F} \otimes dt \text{-.a.e} \Big\}, \quad (5.61)$$

$$G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \hat{\beta}_m \cdot Y^c + (\hat{f}_m - 1) \star (\widetilde{\mu} - \widetilde{\nu}) + \hat{g}_m \star \widetilde{\mu} + m^{\perp}.$$
 (5.62)

For the Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard model, the predictable characteristics of Section 5.1 can be derived as follows.

$$b_{t} = S_{t_{-}}\alpha, \quad S_{t}^{c} = S_{t_{-}}\sigma_{t} \cdot Y_{t}^{c}, \quad \Delta S_{t} = S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho\Delta\sigma_{t}^{2}} - 1), \quad (5.63)$$
  
$$c_{t} = S_{t_{-}}^{2}\sigma_{t}^{2}, \quad \nu^{S}(dt \times dx) = F_{t}^{S}(dx)dt, \quad f(x)F_{t}^{S}(dx) = f(S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1))\widetilde{F}_{t}(dx).$$

As a result, the Jacod's components of  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  is  $(\hat{\beta}_m, \hat{f}_m, \hat{g}_m, m^{\perp})$ , where  $\hat{\beta}_m(S_{-}\sigma)^{-1} := \beta_m, f_m(x) = \hat{f}_m(S_{t_-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))$  and  $g_m = \hat{g}_m(S_{t_-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))$  in equation (5.16).

Here, we parametrize optimal deflators for model  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  given by (5.59), in the following theorem.

**Theorem 5.10**: Suppose S given by (5.59) and might not be locally bounded and G > 0. Then the following assertions are equivalent.

(a) There exist  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{loc}(\mathbb{F})$  and a nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process V such that

$$G_{-} \cdot V + G_{-} \cdot h^{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m, P) - \langle K, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \left( \widetilde{G} \cdot H^{(0)}(K, P) \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}$$

is integrable and  $\mathcal{E}(K) \exp(-V) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$ .

- (b) The set  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  is not empty.
- (c) There exists a unique  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\min_{Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_T)\right] = E\left[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T^{\mathbb{G}})\right] < +\infty.$$
(5.64)

(d) There exists  $\widetilde{\varphi} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  such that, for any  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , the following hold

$$\begin{split} E\left[(G_{-}\cdot\widetilde{V})_{T} + \int_{0}^{\cdot}G_{-}(\int\widehat{f}_{m}\left(S_{-}(e^{\rho x}-1)\right)\mathcal{K}_{log}(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}(e^{\rho x}-1))\widetilde{F}(dx) + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}\sigma^{2}\widetilde{\varphi})dt\right] < +\infty, \\ (\theta - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}\left[\mu + \sigma^{2}(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \widehat{\beta}_{m}\sigma - \sigma^{2}\widetilde{\varphi} + \int(\frac{\widehat{f}_{m}\left(S_{-}(e^{\rho x}-1)\right)}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}(e^{\rho x}-1)} + 1)(e^{\rho x}-1)\widetilde{F}(dx)\right] \leq 0, \\ \widetilde{V} := \int_{0}^{T}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}[\mu + \sigma^{2}(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \widehat{\beta}_{m}\sigma - \sigma^{2}\widetilde{\varphi} + \int(\frac{\widehat{f}_{m}\left(S_{-}(e^{\rho x}-1)\right)}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}(e^{\rho x}-1)} + 1)(e^{\rho x}-1)\widetilde{F}(dx)]dt. \quad (5.65) \end{split}$$

Furthermore, when one of the above assertions holds, the optimal deflator  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$  solution to (5.19) and the process  $\widetilde{\varphi}$  are related via the following

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}}) \exp(-\widetilde{V}^{\tau}), \quad where \ \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{T}(K^{\mathbb{F}}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m), \ and$$

$$(5.66)$$

$$K^{\mathbb{F}} := (\hat{\beta}_{m} - \sigma \widetilde{\varphi}) \cdot Y^{c} + \frac{\hat{f}_{m} - 1 - \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}(e^{\rho x} - 1)}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}(e^{\rho x} - 1)} \star (\widetilde{\mu} - \widetilde{\nu}) + \frac{\hat{g}_{m}}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}(e^{\rho x} - 1)} \star \widetilde{\mu} + m^{\perp}.$$

*Proof.* Thanks to Theorem 5.3, the optimal deflator  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$  solution to (5.66), exists. Consider the above-mentioned predictable characteristics (6.51) for the model (5.59). Then, the inequality condition (5.21), characterizing the optimal deflator  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$ , becomes as follows.

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &\geq S_{-}(\mu + \sigma_{t}^{2}(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \int \left(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1)\right)\widetilde{F}(dx)) + (S_{t_{-}})^{2}\sigma^{2}(\frac{\hat{\beta}_{m}}{S_{-}\sigma} - \tilde{\lambda}) \\ &+ \int \frac{\hat{f}_{m}\left(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1)\right)}{1 + \tilde{\lambda}S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1)}S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1)\widetilde{F}(dx) \\ &= S_{t_{-}}\left((\mu + \sigma_{t}^{2}(\xi + \frac{1}{2})) + \hat{\beta}_{m} - S_{t_{-}}\sigma^{2}\tilde{\lambda} + \int (\frac{\hat{f}_{m}\left(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1)\right)}{1 + \tilde{\lambda}S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1)} + 1)(e^{\rho x} - 1)\widetilde{F}(dx)\right), \end{aligned}$$

and the solution for  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process V reduces to (5.65). Therefore,  $\tilde{\varphi} = \tilde{\lambda}S_-$ , where  $\tilde{\lambda}$  is given by (5.21). We deduce that  $1 + xS_-\tilde{\varphi} > 0$  and  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is the unique solution to (5.65). As a result, the optimal deflator follows immediately using the decomposition of deflator (5.24) in Theorem 5.3, putting  $\tilde{\lambda} = \tilde{\varphi}/S_-$  and above predictable characteristics for the this model.

### **5.3.3** Complete market model $(S, \mathbb{F})$

- **Theorem 5.11**: Suppose G > 0, S is quasi-left-continuous and  $\sigma$ -special, such that the model  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  is complete with  $Z = \mathcal{E}(K^{(1)}) \in \mathcal{Z}(S, \mathbb{F})$ . Then the following are equivalent.
  - (a) The nondecreasing process

$$G_{-} \cdot h^{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m, P) - \langle K^{(1)}, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \left( \widetilde{G} \cdot H^{(0)}(K^{(1)}, P) \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}, \qquad (5.67)$$

is integrable.

- (b) The set  $\mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  is not empty.
- (c) There exists a unique  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\min_{Z \in \mathcal{D}_{log}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_T)\right] = E\left[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T^{\mathbb{G}})\right].$$
(5.68)

Furthermore, when one of the above assertions holds, the optimal deflator  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}$  solution to (5.68) exists and has the following representation

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}}), \quad where \quad \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{T}(K^{(1)}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m).$$
 (5.69)

Proof. The proof immediately follows from Theorem 5.2, since we get

$$\inf_{Z^{\mathbb{G}}\in\mathcal{D}(S^{\tau},\mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_{T}^{\mathbb{G}})\right] = \inf_{Z\in\mathcal{D}(S,\mathbb{F})} E\left[-\ln(Z_{T\wedge\tau}/\mathcal{E}_{\tau\wedge T}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m))\right],$$
$$= \mathcal{E}\left(\mathcal{T}(K^{(1)}) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m)\right),$$

and the set  $\mathcal{D}(S,\mathbb{F})$  has only one unique member, since the market  $(S,\mathbb{F})$  is complete.

# Chapter 6

# Log-optimal portfolio and numéraire portfolio

This chapter addresses the log-optimal portfolio and the numéraire portfolio for the stopped model  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . Thus, we consider  $\Theta(X, \mathbb{H}) := \Theta(\ln, X, \mathbb{H})$ , where the set is initially defined in (4.15). Our aim of this chapter is the model  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ , when S is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -semimartingale that is quasi-left-continuous and has some integrability condition (to avoid some technicalities).

This chapter contains 3 sections. The first section addresses the optimal portfolio, solution to the primal problem, for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . While the second section illustrates our results on various popular models. The last section discusses the impact of the random time  $\tau$  on the numéraire portfolio. For the reader's convenience, we recall the operator function  $\mathcal{T}(.)$ , the function  $\mathcal{K}_{log}(y)$ , and Jacod's decomposition for  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  defined in (2.21), (5.3) and (5.16) respectively.

$$\mathcal{T}(M) := M^{\tau} - \tilde{G}^{-1} I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot [M,m] + I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot \left(\sum \Delta M I_{\{\tilde{G}=0 < G_{-}\}}\right)^{p,\mathbb{P}},$$
  
$$\mathcal{K}_{log}(y) := \frac{-y}{1+y} + \ln(1+y) \quad \text{for any} \quad y > -1,$$
 (6.1)

$$G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \beta_m \cdot S^c + (f_m - 1) \star (\mu - \nu) + g_m \star \mu + m^{\perp},$$
(6.2)

where  $\beta_m$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable and also  $S^c$ -integrable process,  $m^{\perp} \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  with  $[m^{\perp}, S] = 0, f_m \in \mathcal{G}^1_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F})$  and  $g_m \in \mathcal{H}^1_{loc}(\mu, \mathbb{F})$ .

# 6.1 Optimal portfolio for $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ : The general setting

This section addresses the optimal investment for the economic model  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ when S is a general  $\mathbb{F}$ -semimartingale. Below, we elaborate the main result of this section that characterizes, in different manners and using the processes under  $\mathbb{F}$  only, the existence of the optimal portfolio for the model  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . In particular, our theorems naturally connects the optimal portfolio for the model  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  with the optimal portfolio for  $(\ln, S, \mathbb{F})$  under a specific random utility.

**Theorem 6.1**: Let  $\mathcal{K}_{log}(.)$  be given by (6.1). Suppose G > 0, S is quasi-leftcontinuous and  $\sigma$ -special, and  $\mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F}) \neq \emptyset$ . Then the following are equivalent. (a) There exists  $\tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\max_{\theta \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[\ln\left(1 + (\theta \cdot S^{\tau})_{T}\right)\right] = E\left[\ln\left(1 + (\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \cdot S^{\tau})_{T}\right)\right] < +\infty.$$
(6.3)

(b) There exist  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  and a nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process V such that  $\mathcal{E}(K) \exp(-V) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , and

$$E\left[(G_{-} \cdot V)_{T} + (\widetilde{G} \cdot H^{(0)}(K, P))_{T}^{p,\mathbb{F}} + (G_{-} \cdot h^{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m, P))_{T} - \langle K, m \rangle_{T}^{\mathbb{F}}\right] < +\infty.$$

(c) There exists  $\widetilde{\lambda} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  (i.e.  $\widetilde{\lambda}$  is  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable and  $\widetilde{\lambda}^{tr} \Delta S > -1$ ) such that, for any  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , the following hold

$$E\left[(G_{-} \cdot \widetilde{V})_{T} + (G_{-}\widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}c\widetilde{\lambda} \cdot A)_{T} + (G_{-}\mathcal{K}_{log}(\widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}x) \star \nu)_{T}\right] < +\infty,$$
(6.4)

$$(\theta - \widetilde{\lambda})^{tr}(b + c(\beta_m - \widetilde{\lambda})) + \int (\theta - \widetilde{\lambda})^{tr} \left[ \frac{f_m(x)}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr} x} x - h(x) \right] F(dx) \le 0, \quad (6.5)$$

$$\widetilde{V} := \left[\widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}b + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}c(\beta_m - \widetilde{\lambda}) + \int \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}\left(\frac{f_m(x)}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}x}x - h(x)\right)F(dx)\right] \cdot A.$$
(6.6)

Furthermore, on  $]\!]0, \tau]\!]$ , we have

$$\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}(1+(\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}\boldsymbol{\cdot} S^{\tau})_{-})^{-1}=\widetilde{\lambda} \quad and \ \widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}=\widetilde{\lambda}\mathcal{E}_{-}(\widetilde{\lambda}\boldsymbol{\cdot} S).$$

*Proof.* The proof of this theorem follows immediately from combining Theorem 4.2 in Chapter 4 and Theorem 5.3 in Chapter 5.  $\Box$ 

The following is a consequence of the above theorem, and naturally connects the optimal portfolio for  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  with the optimal portfolio for  $(S, \mathbb{F}, \widetilde{U})$  where  $\widetilde{U}$  is a random field utility that will be specified.

**Theorem 6.2**: Suppose S is quasi-left-continuous and  $\sigma$ -special,  $\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)$  is a martingale and G > 0. Define the measure Q as follows

$$Q := \mathcal{E}_T(G_-^{-1} \cdot m) \cdot P.$$

Then the following assertions are equivalent.

- (a) The optimal portfolio for  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  exists
- (b)  $(\tilde{U}, S, \mathbb{F})$  admits the optimal portfolio, where  $\tilde{U}(t, x) := \mathcal{E}\left(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m\right) \ln(x)$  for any x > 0.
- (c) The model  $(\ln, S, Q, \mathbb{F})$  admits the optimal portfolio.

Furthermore, the three portfolios coincide on  $[0, \tau]$  when they exists.

*Proof.* It is clear that (b)  $\iff$  (c) is obvious. Thus, the remaining part of this proof focuses on proving (a)  $\iff$  (c). This follows as a direct applications of Theorems 4.2-6.1 as follows. To this end, we start by noticing that  $\nu^Q(dt, dx) = f_m(x)\nu(dt, dx)$ , and we derive

$$S = S_0 + (S^c - \langle S^c, G_-^{-1} \cdot m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}}) + c\beta_m \cdot A + (h \star (\mu - \nu) - \langle h \star (\mu - \nu), G_-^{-1} \cdot m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}}) + (f_m - 1)h \star \nu + b \cdot A + (x - h) \star \mu = S_0 + S^{c,Q} + h \star (\mu - \nu^Q) + [b + \int (f_m(x) - 1)h(x)F(dx) + c\beta_m] \cdot A + (x - h) \star \mu$$

Here  $S^{c,Q}$  is the continuous local martingale part of S under measure Q. Then the predictable characteristics of  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  under Q, denoted by  $(b^Q, c^Q, F^Q, A^Q)$ , are given by

$$b^Q := b + \int (f_m(x) - 1)h(x)F(dx) + c\beta_m, \quad c^Q := c,$$
  
 $F^Q(dx) := f_m(x)F(dx), \quad A^Q := A.$ 

Therefore, using these characteristics and applying Theorem 4.2, we deduce that  $(\ln, S, Q, \mathbb{F})$  admits the optimal portfolio if and only if assertion (d) of Theorem 5.3 (or assertion (c) of Theorem 6.1) holds, which is equivalent to the existence of the optimal portfolio for  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . This ends the proof of the theorem.

The following theorem discusses the existence of the optimal portfolio for the model  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ .

**Theorem 6.3**: Suppose G > 0, S is quasi-left-continuous and  $\sigma$ -special, and  $(\ln, S, \mathbb{F})$ admits the optimal portfolio. Then the optimal portfolio for the model  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ exists if and only if

$$E\left[(G_{-} \cdot h^{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m, P))_{T}\right] < +\infty.$$

$$(6.7)$$

Here  $h^{E}(N, P)$  is given by Definition 4.1, for any  $N \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  such that we have  $1 + \Delta N \geq 0$ .

Proof. Recall that the process  $h^{(E)}(N, \mathbb{H}) := (H^{(E)}(N, \mathbb{H}))^{p,\mathbb{H}}$ , when this projection exists, where  $H^{(E)}(N, \mathbb{H}) := \frac{1}{2} \langle N^c \rangle^{\mathbb{H}} + \sum ((1 + \Delta N) \ln(1 + \Delta N) - \Delta N)$ . Due to Theorem 4.2,  $(\ln, S, \mathbb{F})$  admits the optimal portfolio if and only if there exists a deflator, given by  $Z := \mathcal{E}(K) \exp(-V)$ , where  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  and V is a nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process, such that

$$E[-\ln(Z_T)] = E[V_T + H^{(0)}(K, P)_T] < +\infty.$$

Thus, due to Lemma 4.1, we conclude that  $\sqrt{[K, K]}$  is an integrable process ( or equivalently K is a martingale such that  $\sup_{0 \le t \le T} |K_t| \in L^1(P)$ ), and hence the process  $\langle K, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}}$  has integrable variation as m is a BMO martingale, defined in Definition 2.9. Therefore, by combining these facts with Theorem 6.1, we deduce that the optimal portfolio for the model  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  exists if and only if (6.7) holds. This ends the proof of the theorem.

In the following simple but important corollary, we consider the existence of the optimal portfolio for the model  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  in a different manner.

**Corollary 6.3.1**: Suppose G > 0, S is quasi-left-continuous and  $\sigma$ -special, and

$$E\left[(G_{-} \cdot h^{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m, P))_{T}\right] < +\infty.$$

Then the optimal portfolio for  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  exists if and only if there exists  $\mathcal{E}(K - V)$  belongs to  $\mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , where  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  and V is nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{F}$ predictable, such that  $G_{-} \cdot V + \langle K, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \widetilde{G} \cdot H^{(0)}(K, P)$  has integrable variation.

*Proof.* The proof follows immediately from Theorem 6.1.  $\Box$ 

# 6.2 Particular cases for the triple $(S, \mathbb{F}, \tau)$

In this section, we illustrate our results of Section 6.1 in the various order of generality. This section has three subsections. The first subsection illustrates the result of Theorem 6.1 on several frequently studied models for the random time  $\tau$ . We will consider the case of pseudo-stopping times and the case when all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous. In the second (and last) subsection, we address the optimal portfolio problem for the general Lévy market model, and the volatility market models, and the case when  $(S, \mathbb{F}, P)$  is a complete market model.

#### 6.2.1 Particular cases for $\tau$

The random time that we consider in this subsection is the family of pseudo-stopping times, where it is defined in Definition 3.1. Recall that  $\tau$  is a pseudo-stopping time if and only if  $m \equiv m_0$ . Hence  $\Delta m = 0$ . The Jacod's parameters for the F-martingale  $G_-^{-1} \cdot m$  is simply given by the vector of processes (0, 1, 0, 0) in equation (6.2). Furthermore, for any bounded F-local martingale M, we have  $\mathcal{T}(M) = M^{\tau}$  (for more details see Lemma 3.5).

- **Theorem 6.4**: Let  $\mathcal{K}_{log}(.)$  be given by (6.1), and suppose S is quasi-left-continuous and  $\sigma$ -special,  $\tau$  is a pseudo-stopping time, G > 0, and  $\mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F}) \neq \emptyset$ . Then the following assertions are equivalent:
  - (a) There exists  $\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\max_{\theta \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[\ln\left(1 + (\theta \cdot S^{\tau})_{T}\right)\right] = E\left[\ln\left(1 + (\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \cdot S^{\tau})_{T}\right)\right] < +\infty.$$
(6.8)

(b) There exist  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  and a nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process V such that  $\mathcal{E}(K) \exp(-V) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$  and

$$E\left((G_{-} \cdot V)_{T} + \left(G_{-} \cdot H^{(0)}(K, P)\right)_{T}^{p, \mathbb{F}}\right] < +\infty.$$

(c) There exists  $\widetilde{\lambda} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  such that, for any  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , the following hold

$$E\left[ (G_{-} \cdot \widetilde{V})_{T} + G_{-} (\int \mathcal{K}_{log}(\widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}x)F(dx) + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}c\widetilde{\lambda}) \cdot A_{T} \right] < +\infty,$$
  
$$(\theta - \widetilde{\lambda})^{tr} \left[ b - c\widetilde{\lambda} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \setminus \{0\}} \left( \frac{x}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}x} - h(x) \right) F(dx) \right] \le 0,$$
(6.9)

$$\widetilde{V} := \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr} \left[ b - c\widetilde{\lambda} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}} \left( \frac{x}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr} x} - h(x) \right) F(dx) \right] \cdot A.$$
(6.10)

Therefore, the optimal portfolio solution to (6.8) and the process  $\widetilde{\lambda}$  are related via  $\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}(1+(\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}\cdot S^{\tau})_{-})^{-1}=\widetilde{\lambda}$  on  $]\![0,\tau]\!].$ 

*Proof.* By combing Theorem 5.4 and Theorem 6.1, the optimal portfolio  $\tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}$  solution to (5.29) exists and the proof of all assertions follows immediately. For the family of pseudo-stopping times, (6.5) and (6.6) become the conditions (6.9) and (6.10) respectively.

In the following corollary, we combine the above result with another important class of random time (the case when immersion holds). We say that "immersion" holds if and only if  $\tau$  is a random time such that any  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale is an  $\mathbb{G}$ -local martingale.

- **Corollary 6.4.1**: Suppose that G > 0. Then the following conditions are all sufficient for the fact that the optimal portfolios for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G}, \ln)$  exists if and only if the optimal portfolio for  $(S, \mathbb{F}, \ln)$  does also, and both portfolios coincide on  $]0, \tau]$  when they exist.
  - (a)  $\tau$  is a pseudo-stopping time.
  - (b)  $\tau$  is such that immersion holds.

Proof. For assertion (a), the proof follows immediately from combining Theorem 6.1 with the fact that  $\tau$  is a pseudo-stopping time. By comparing both, the optimality condition (6.9) and the process  $\widetilde{V}$  in (6.10), with the inequality condition (4.20) and process  $\widetilde{V}$  in (4.19) in Theorem 4.2, we deduce that the optimal portfolio for the model  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  and the model  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  for the family of pseudo-stopping times coincides, i.e.  $\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} = \widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}}$  on  $[0, \tau]$ . For assertion (b), suppose that the immersion holds then we get  $\mathcal{E}\left(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m\right) \equiv 1$ , this latter fact can be found in [112]. Therefore, the proof follows immediately the same discussion.

The remaining part of this subsection deals with the case when all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous. For this case, we have  $\Delta m = 0$ , and processes  $\overline{N}^{\mathbb{G}}$  and  $\overline{M}$ , defined in (3.29), coincide with  $N^{\mathbb{G}}$  and  $\mathcal{T}(M)$ , respectively. For the definition and properties of  $\tau$ , we refer the reader to Section 3.3.3. Here, we consider the following decomposition for the  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$ , which we discuss it in Section 5.2.2,  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \beta_m \cdot S^c + m^{\perp}$ . As a result, the vector of processes,  $(\beta_m, 1, 0, m^{\perp})$ , is the Jacod components of  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$ . We parametrize optimal portfolio for this model in the following theorem.

**Theorem 6.5**: Suppose S is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -semimartingale that is quasi-left-continuous and all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous, G > 0, and  $\mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F}) \neq \emptyset$ . Then the following assertions are equivalent:

(a) There exists  $\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\max_{\theta \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[\ln\left(1 + (\theta \cdot S^{\tau})_{T}\right)\right] = E\left[\ln\left(1 + (\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \cdot S^{\tau})_{T}\right)\right] < +\infty.$$
(6.11)

(b) There exist  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  such that  $\mathcal{E}(K) \in \mathcal{Z}_{loc}(S,\mathbb{F})$  and the nondecreasing process

$$E\left[\frac{1}{2G_{-}}\boldsymbol{\cdot}\langle m\rangle_{T}^{\mathbb{F}}-\langle K,m\rangle_{T}^{\mathbb{F}}+\frac{G_{-}}{2}\boldsymbol{\cdot}\langle K\rangle_{T}^{\mathbb{F}}\right]<+\infty$$

(c) There exists  $\widetilde{\lambda} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  such that, for any  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , the following hold

$$E\left[G_{-}\int \widetilde{\lambda}^{tr}c\widetilde{\lambda} \cdot A_{T}\right] < +\infty, \quad and \quad b + c(\beta_{m} - \widetilde{\lambda}) = 0.$$
(6.12)

Furthermore, on  $]\!]0, \tau]\!]$ , we have  $\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} = \widetilde{\lambda} \mathcal{E}_{-}(\widetilde{\lambda} \cdot S)$ .

*Proof.* Under the assumption that all  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous, any semimartingale is predictable. Therefore, it is locally bounded. Thus, the process S is locally bounded  $\mathbb{F}$ -semimartingale. Since  $\mathcal{D}(S,\mathbb{F}) \neq \emptyset$ , one can prove that even S is continuous. Hence  $\mu \equiv 0 \equiv \nu$  and  $F \equiv 0$ , and  $\mathcal{L}(S,\mathbb{F}) = \mathbb{R}^d$ . Therefore, by combining these with Theorem 6.1, the proof of theorem follows immediately.  $\Box$ 

#### **6.2.2** Particular cases for $(S, \mathbb{F})$

The first model, that we discuss in this subsection, is the Lévy market model. Consider the Lévy market models given by Section 3.4.1. The stock price process, S, presented by  $S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t$ , is a locally bounded Lévy process and satisfies the stochastic differential equation (3.33). All elements are all the same as in Section 3.4.1. We recall the predictable characteristics of Section 5.1 for the Lévy here.

$$\mu(dt, dx) = N(dt, dx), \ \nu(dt, dx) = F^X(dx)dt, \ S^c = S_-\sigma \cdot W ,$$
  
$$A_t = A_t^X, \ c = (S_-\sigma)^2, \ b = S_-\mu.$$
(6.13)

Therefore, we have the following setting

$$\mathcal{L}(S,\mathbb{F}) := \Big\{ \theta \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}) \mid 1 + S_{-} x^{tr} \theta_{t}(\omega) > 0 \quad P \otimes F_{t}^{X} \otimes dA_{t}^{X} \text{-.a.e} \Big\}, \quad (6.14)$$

$$G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \hat{\beta}_m \cdot W + (f_m - 1) \star (\mu - \nu) + g_m \star \mu + m^{\perp}.$$
 (6.15)

The Jacod's components of  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  is  $(\hat{\beta}_m, \hat{f}_m, \hat{g}_m, \hat{m}^{\perp})$ , where  $\hat{\beta}_m (S_{-}\sigma)^{-1} := \beta_m$ and  $(\hat{f}_m (S_-x), \hat{g}_m (S_-x), \hat{m}^{\perp}) = (f_m (x), g_m (x), m^{\perp})$  are the same as in (6.2). We parametrize the optimal portfolio for the Lévy model in the following theorem.

**Theorem 6.6**: Let  $\mathcal{K}_{log}(.)$  be given by (6.1). Suppose G > 0, S is quasi-leftcontinuous and  $\sigma$ -special, and  $\mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F}) \neq \emptyset$ . Then the following are equivalent. (a) There exists  $\tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\max_{\theta \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[\ln\left(1 + (\theta \cdot S^{\tau})_{T}\right)\right] = E\left[\ln\left(1 + (\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \cdot S^{\tau})_{T}\right)\right] < +\infty.$$
(6.16)

(b) There exist  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{loc}(\mathbb{F})$  and a nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process V such that  $\mathcal{E}(K) \exp(-V) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , and

$$E\left[(G_{-} \cdot V)_{T} + (\widetilde{G} \cdot H^{(0)}(K, P))_{T}^{p,\mathbb{F}} + (G_{-} \cdot h^{E}(\frac{1}{G_{-}} \cdot m, P))_{T} - \langle K, m \rangle_{T}^{\mathbb{F}}\right] < +\infty.$$

(c) There exists  $\widetilde{\varphi} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  such that, for any  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , the following hold

$$(\theta - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr} \left[ \mu + \sigma \widehat{\beta}_m - \sigma^2 \widetilde{\varphi} + \int (\frac{\widehat{f}_m(S_-x)}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}x} - I_{S_-|x|<1}) S_- x F^X(dx) \right] \le 0, \ P \otimes dA^X \cdot a.s. (6.17)$$
$$\mathbb{E} \left[ (G_- \cdot \widetilde{V})_T + G_- (\int \widehat{f}_m(S_-x) \mathcal{K}_{log}(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}x) F(dx) + \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}(\sigma)^2 \widetilde{\varphi}) \cdot A_T^X \right] < +\infty,$$
$$\widetilde{V} := \widetilde{\varphi}^{tr} \left[ \mu + \sigma \widehat{\beta}_m - \sigma^2 \widetilde{\varphi} + \int (\frac{\widehat{f}_m(S_-x)}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}x} - I_{S_-|x|<1}) S_- x F^X(dx) \right] \cdot A^X.$$
(6.18)

Furthermore, on  $]\!]0, \tau]\!]$ , we have

$$\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}(1+(\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}\boldsymbol{\cdot} S^{\tau})_{-})^{-1}=\widetilde{\varphi} \quad and \ \widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}=\widetilde{\varphi}\mathcal{E}_{-}(\widetilde{\varphi}\boldsymbol{\cdot} S).$$

*Proof.* Thanks to Theorem 6.1, the optimal portfolio  $\tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}$  solution to (6.16) exists. By considering the above-mentioned predictable characteristics (6.13) and the same discussion in the proof of Theorem 5.6, we deduce that conditions (6.4), (6.5), and (6.6) reduce to (6.17)-(6.18) immediately.

Now, we consider one of the important example of Lévy model : The case when S follows a jump-diffusion model. The stock price process is given by the following dynamics

$$S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t, \quad X_t = \int_0^t \sigma_s dW_s + \int_0^t \zeta_s dN_s^{\mathbb{F}} + \int_0^t \mu_s ds, \qquad N_t^{\mathbb{F}} := N_t - \lambda t,$$
(6.19)

and all elements are same as in Subsection 3.4.1.1 and we consider the following decomposition

$$G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \varphi^{(m)} \cdot W + (\psi^{(m)} - 1) \cdot N^{\mathbb{F}}.$$
 (6.20)

**Theorem 6.7**: Suppose G > 0 and S and X are given by (6.19). Then the following  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process

$$\widetilde{\theta} := \frac{\xi + sign(\zeta)\sqrt{\xi^2 + 4\lambda\psi^{(m)}}}{2\sigma} - \frac{1}{\zeta}, \text{ where } \xi := \frac{\mu - \lambda\zeta}{\sigma} + \varphi^{(m)} + \frac{\sigma}{\zeta}, \quad (6.21)$$

is S-integrable satisfying  $1 + \tilde{\theta}\zeta > 0$ , and the following assertions hold.

(a) The solution to

$$\min_{Z \in \mathcal{D}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_T)\right] = E\left[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T^{\mathbb{G}})\right] < +\infty,$$
(6.22)

is given by  $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}})$  where

$$\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}} := -\sigma \widetilde{\theta} \cdot \mathcal{T}(W) - \frac{\psi^{(m)} \zeta \widetilde{\theta}}{1 + \widetilde{\theta} \zeta} \cdot \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}).$$
(6.23)

(b) It holds that

$$\max_{\theta \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} \mathbb{E}[\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\theta \cdot X^{\tau}))] = \mathbb{E}[\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\widetilde{\theta} \cdot X^{\tau}))].$$
(6.24)

(c) It holds that

$$\max_{\theta \in \Theta(\overline{S}, \mathbb{F})} \mathbb{E}[\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\theta \cdot \overline{X}))] = \mathbb{E}\left[\ln\left(\mathcal{E}_T\left(\frac{\widetilde{\theta}}{\psi^{(m)}} \cdot \overline{X}\right)\right)\right] < +\infty, \qquad (6.25)$$

where  $\overline{S} := S_0 \mathcal{E}(\overline{X}), \ \overline{X}_0 = 0, \ and$ 

$$d\overline{X} := \sqrt{\psi^{(m)}} \sigma dW + \psi^{(m)} \zeta dN^{\mathbb{F}} + \left[\lambda \zeta(\psi^{(m)} - 1) + \mu + \sigma \varphi^{(m)} (1 - \sqrt{\psi^{(m)}})\right] ds.$$
(6.26)

(d) There exists  $\mathcal{E}(K) \in \mathcal{Z}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , where  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$ , such that the nondecreasing process

$$G_{-} \bullet h^{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \bullet m, P) - \langle K, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + \left( \widetilde{G} \bullet H^{(0)}(K, P) \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}$$

is integrable.

*Proof.* This proof is achieved in three steps. The first step proves assertions (a) and

(b), while step 2 proves assertion (c).

Step 1. For the model (6.19), the predictable characteristics can be derived as follows (for more details see here 2.4). Let  $\delta_a(dx)$  be the Dirac mass at the point a. Then in this case we have d = 1 and

$$\mu(dt, dx) = \delta_{\zeta_t S_{t-}}(dx) dN_t, \ \nu(dt, dx) = \delta_{\zeta_t S_{t-}}(dx) \lambda dt, \ F_t(dx) = \lambda \delta_{\zeta_t S_{t-}}(dx),$$
$$A_t = t, \ c = (S_-\sigma)^2, \ b = (\mu - \lambda \zeta I_{\{|\zeta|S_->1\}})S_-, \ (\beta_m, g_m, m^{\perp}) = (\frac{\varphi^{(m)}}{S_-\sigma}, 0, 0).$$

As a result, we define the set

$$\mathcal{L}_{(\omega,t)}(S,\mathbb{F}) := \{ \varphi \in \mathbb{R} \mid \varphi x > -1 \ F_{(\omega,t)}(dx) - a.e. \} = \{ \varphi \in \mathbb{R} \mid \varphi S_{-}\zeta > -1 \}$$
$$= \left( -1/(S_{-}\zeta)^{+}, +\infty \right) \cap \left( -\infty, 1/(S_{-}\zeta)^{-} \right).$$

Then the condition (6.5), characterizing the optimal portfolio  $\tilde{\varphi}$ , becomes an equation as follows.

$$0 = \mu - \lambda \zeta I_{\{|\zeta| > 1/S_{-}\}} + S_{-}\sigma^{2}(\frac{\varphi^{(m)}}{S_{-}\sigma} - \theta) + \lambda \frac{\psi^{(m)}\zeta}{1 + S_{-}\theta\zeta} - \lambda \zeta I_{\{|\zeta| \le 1/S_{-}\}}$$
$$= \mu - \lambda \zeta + \sigma \varphi^{(m)} - S_{-}\sigma^{2}\theta + \frac{\psi^{(m)}\lambda\zeta}{1 + \theta S_{-}\zeta}.$$
(6.27)

By changing the variable and putting  $\varphi := 1 + \theta S_- \zeta > 0$ , the above equation is equivalent to

$$0 = -\frac{\sigma^2}{\zeta}\varphi^2 + [\mu - \lambda\zeta + \sigma\varphi^{(m)} + \frac{\sigma^2}{\zeta}]\varphi + \psi^{(m)}\lambda\zeta.$$

This equation has always (since  $\psi^{(m)} > 0$ ) a unique positive solution

$$\widetilde{\varphi} := \frac{\Gamma\zeta + |\zeta| \sqrt{\Gamma^2 + 4\sigma^2 \lambda \psi^{(m)}}}{2\sigma^2}, \quad \Gamma := \mu - \lambda\zeta + \sigma\varphi^{(m)} + \frac{\sigma^2}{\zeta}.$$

Hence, we deduce that  $\tilde{\lambda} := \tilde{\theta}/S_{-}$  ( $\tilde{\lambda}$  from Theorem 6.1, and it's not the Poisson

jump intensity!), where  $\tilde{\theta}$  is given by (6.21), coincides with  $(\tilde{\varphi} - 1)/(S_{-}\zeta)$ , satisfies  $1 + \zeta \tilde{\theta} > 0$ , and hence it is the unique solution to (6.27). It is also clear that  $\tilde{\theta}$  is S-integrable (or equivalently  $\tilde{\lambda}$  is S-integrable). As a result, the optimal wealth process is  $\mathcal{E}(\tilde{\lambda} \cdot S^{\tau}) = \mathcal{E}(\tilde{\theta} \cdot X^{\tau})$  and hence  $\tilde{\theta}$  is the solution to (6.22) and assertions (a) and (b) follow immediately using the above analysis and Theorems 6.1.

**Step 2.** Herein, we prove assertion (c) using Theorem 4.2. To this end, we calculate the random measure jumps  $\overline{\mu}$  and its compensator  $\overline{\nu}$ , and the predictable characteristics  $(\overline{b}, \overline{c}, \overline{F}, \overline{A})$  for the model  $(\overline{S}, \mathbb{F})$  as follows.

$$\begin{split} \overline{\mu}(dt, dx) &:= \mu_{\overline{S}}(dt, dx) = \delta_{\zeta_t \psi_t^{(m)} \overline{S}_{t-}}(dx) dN_t, \ \overline{\nu}(dt, dx) = \delta_{\zeta_t \psi_t^{(m)} \overline{S}_{t-}}(dx) \lambda dt \\ \overline{b} &= \overline{S}_-(\mu - \lambda \zeta + \lambda \psi^{(m)} \zeta I_{\{|\zeta| \overline{S}_- \psi^{(m)} \le 1/\overline{S}_-\}} + \sigma \varphi^{(m)} (1 - \sqrt{\psi^{(m)}})), \ \overline{A}_t = t, \\ \overline{F}_t(dx) &= \lambda \delta_{\zeta_t \psi_t^{(m)} \overline{S}_{t-}}(dx), \ \overline{c} = \psi^{(m)} (\overline{S}_- \sigma)^2, \ \beta_m = \frac{\varphi^{(m)}}{\overline{S}_- \sigma \sqrt{\psi^{(m)}}}, \ m^\perp \equiv 0. \end{split}$$

Then similarly as in the first step, we deduce that the set  $\mathcal{L}_{(\omega,t)}(\overline{S},\mathbb{F})$  is an open real set (since  $\mathcal{L}_{(\omega,t)}(\overline{S},\mathbb{F}) = (-(\overline{S}_{-}\psi^{(m)}\zeta^{+})^{-1},+\infty) \cap (-\infty,(\overline{S}_{-}\psi^{(m)}\zeta^{-})^{-1}))$  and hence the condition (6.5) becomes

$$0 = \overline{b} + \overline{c}(\beta_m - \varphi) + \int (\frac{x}{1 + \varphi x} - h(x))\overline{F}(dx).$$

This is equivalent to

$$0 = \mu - \lambda \zeta + \sigma \varphi^{(m)} - \sigma^2 \psi^{(m)} \overline{S}_{-} \varphi + \frac{\psi^{(m)} \lambda \zeta}{1 + \zeta \psi^{(m)} \overline{S}_{-} \varphi}$$

Thus, by comparing this equation to (6.27), we deduce that the optimal strategy for the problem (6.25), that we denote by  $\overline{\theta}$  satisfies

$$\overline{ heta} = \overline{S}_- \overline{arphi} = S_- \widetilde{arphi} = rac{\widetilde{ heta}}{\psi^{(m)}}$$

(where  $\overline{\varphi}$  is the root of the above equation). This ends the proof of assertion (c),

the proof of assertion (d) follows immediately by Theorem (5.7), and the proof of the theorem as well.  $\hfill \Box$ 

**Remark.** Here, we can elaborate the duality relations between the optimal deflator and optimal portfolio for jump-diffusion model. The optimal deflator, solution for the dual problem, is given by the Theorem (6.7) and it is as follows

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{E}\left(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}}\right) \quad , \quad \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}} := -\sigma\theta^* \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(W) - \frac{\psi^{(m)}\zeta\theta^*}{1 + \theta^*\zeta} \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}})$$

or, equivalently,

$$\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}} = (-\sigma\theta^*) \cdot \mathcal{T}(W) + (\frac{\sigma^2}{\gamma}\theta^* - \frac{\mu}{\gamma} - \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\gamma} - \psi^{(m)}) \cdot \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}),$$

Therefore, we discuss the following duality relations:  $X_{\tau}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}} = -V'(\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}})$  - a.s. , where X is the optimal wealth process and V is the conjugate function of log-utility. Thus,  $-V'(\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}) = \frac{1}{(\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}})} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}})}$ . Thanks to Ito's formula, we get

$$\begin{split} d\frac{1}{\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}}} &= -\frac{1}{(\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}})_{-}^{2}} d\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} + \frac{1}{(\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}})_{-}^{3}} d < (\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}})^{c} >_{\cdot} + \sum_{0 < s <_{\cdot}} \Delta \frac{1}{(\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}})_{s}} + \frac{1}{(\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}})_{-}^{2}} \Delta (\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}})_{s} \\ &= \frac{1}{(\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}})_{-}} (-d\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}} + d < \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G},c} > + \sum_{0 < s <_{\cdot}} \frac{(\Delta \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}})^{2}}{1 + \Delta \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}}}) = \frac{1}{(\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}})_{-}} (d\ddot{K}^{\mathbb{G}}), \end{split}$$

where  $d\ddot{K}^{\mathbb{G}} := -d\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}} + (1 + \Delta \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}})^{-1} d[\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}}]$ , or equivalently,  $\frac{1}{\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}})} = \mathcal{E}(\ddot{K}^{\mathbb{G}})$ . On one hand, by characterization of  $\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}}$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \ddot{K}^{\mathbb{G}} &= \sigma\theta^* \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(W) - (\frac{\sigma^2}{\gamma}\theta^* - \frac{\mu}{\gamma} - \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\gamma} - \psi^{(m)}) \boldsymbol{\cdot} \mathcal{T}(N^{\mathbb{F}}) + \int_0^T I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] (\sigma\theta^*)^2 dt \\ &+ \int_0^T \Big( \frac{(\frac{\sigma^2}{\gamma}\theta^* - \frac{\mu}{\gamma} - \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\gamma} - \psi^{(m)})^2 (\frac{1}{\psi^{(m)}})^2}{1 + (\frac{\sigma^2}{\gamma}\theta^* - \frac{\mu}{\gamma} - \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\gamma} - \psi^{(m)}) (\frac{1}{\psi^{(m)}})} \Big) \boldsymbol{\cdot} N^{\tau} \end{split}$$

$$= \sigma\theta^{*} \cdot \left[W^{\tau} - \int_{0}^{T} I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} \varphi^{(m)} dt\right] - \left(\frac{\sigma^{2}}{\gamma} \theta^{*} - \frac{\mu}{\gamma} - \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\gamma} - \psi^{(m)}\right) \cdot \left[\frac{1}{\psi^{(m)}} \cdot N^{\tau} - \int_{0}^{T} I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} \lambda dt\right] + \int_{0}^{T} I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} (\sigma\theta^{*})^{2} dt + \int_{0}^{T} \left(\frac{(\frac{\sigma^{2}}{\gamma} \theta^{*} - \frac{\mu}{\gamma} - \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\gamma} - \psi^{(m)})^{2}(\frac{1}{\psi^{(m)}})^{2}}{1 + (\frac{\sigma^{2}}{\gamma} \theta^{*} - \frac{\mu}{\gamma} - \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\gamma} - \psi^{(m)})(\frac{1}{\psi^{(m)}})}\right) \cdot N^{\tau} \\ = \sigma\theta^{*} \cdot W^{\tau} + \left[\psi^{(m)}(\frac{\sigma^{2}}{\gamma} \theta^{*} - \frac{\mu}{\gamma} - \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\gamma})^{(-1)} - 1\right] \cdot N^{\tau} + \int_{0}^{T} I_{]\![0,\tau]\!]} \left[(\sigma\theta^{*})^{2} - \sigma\theta^{*}\varphi^{(m)} + (\frac{\sigma^{2}}{\gamma} \theta^{*} - \frac{\mu}{\gamma} - \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\gamma} - \psi^{(m)})\lambda\right] dt.$$
(6.28)

On the other hand, the wealth process  $X_{\tau}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}} = X_0 \mathcal{E}(\theta \cdot S^{\tau})$  with an initial endowment  $W_0$  is given by

$$dX_{\tau}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}} = I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!]X_{-}(\sigma\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}dW_t + \widetilde{\theta}_t^{\mathbb{G}}\mu_t dt + \widetilde{\theta}_t^{\mathbb{G}}\zeta dN_t),$$

where  $\tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}$  is the self-financing trading strategy at time t.

$$\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \cdot S^{\tau} = \int_{0}^{T} I_{]\!]0,\tau]} \widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \mu_{t} dt + \sigma \widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \cdot W^{\tau} + \widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \zeta \cdot N^{\tau}.$$
(6.29)

Both coefficient of Brownian motion in (6.28) and (6.29) coincide. For the coefficient of the Poisson process of optimal values, we have

$$\psi^{(m)}\left(\frac{\sigma^2}{\gamma}\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} - \frac{\mu}{\gamma} - \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\gamma}\right)^{(-1)} - 1 = \zeta\left(\frac{\gamma\psi^{(m)}}{\sigma^2\left(\zeta\theta^* - \zeta\left[\frac{\mu}{\sigma} + \varphi^{(m)} + \lambda\frac{\sigma}{\gamma} - \frac{1}{\zeta}\right]\right)} - \frac{1}{\zeta}\right)$$

$$= \zeta \Big( \frac{\gamma \psi^{(m)}}{\sigma^2 \big( \zeta \widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} - \zeta [\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} - \frac{\gamma \psi^{(m)}}{\sigma^2 (1 + \zeta \widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}})}] \big)} - \frac{1}{\zeta} \Big) = \zeta \theta^*.$$

For last remaining part,

$$\left(\sigma\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}\right)^{2} - \sigma\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}\varphi^{(m)} + \left(\frac{\sigma^{2}}{\gamma}\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} - \frac{\mu}{\gamma} - \frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\gamma} - \psi^{(m)}\right)\lambda$$

$$=\mu\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}+T(\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}})+\frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\zeta}+\frac{1}{\zeta}+\lambda(-\frac{\mu}{\gamma}-\frac{\varphi^{(m)}\sigma}{\gamma})=\mu\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}},$$

where,  $T(\tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}})$  is equivalent to the equation 6.27.

Here, we discuss the impact of  $\tau$  on the optimal portfolio in this setting of the jump-diffusion model. Here, we compute the difference of both maximization utility function and we call it the *additional gain utility*. In Theorem 6.7 and Theorem 4.3, we compute the optimal deflator and optimal portfolio for both models,  $(\ln, S, \mathbb{F})$  and  $(\ln, S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$ . In the following problem, we formulate all these results.

**Theorem 6.8**: Suppose that S is given by (6.19). Then,

(a) The optimal portfolio for  $(\ln, S, \mathbb{F})$ , denoted by  $\tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}}$ , exists and is given by:

$$\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}} := \frac{\alpha + sign(\zeta)\sqrt{\alpha^2 + 4\lambda}}{2\sigma} - \frac{1}{\zeta}, \text{ where } \alpha := \frac{\mu - \lambda\zeta}{\sigma} + \frac{\sigma}{\zeta}, \tag{6.30}$$

and the maximal expected utility up to the terminal time is

$$\mathbb{E}[\ln(X_s^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}}})] = \ln X_0 + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^s \left(\widetilde{\theta}_t^{\mathbb{F}} \mu_t - \frac{1}{2}(\widetilde{\theta}_t^{\mathbb{F}})^2 \sigma^2 + \ln(1 + \widetilde{\theta}_t^{\mathbb{F}}\zeta)\lambda\right) dt\right].$$
(6.31)

(b) The optimal portfolio up to the default time  $\tau$ ,  $\tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}$ , is given by:

$$\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} = \frac{\xi + sign(\zeta)\sqrt{\xi^2 + 4\lambda\psi^{(m)}}}{2\sigma} - \frac{1}{\zeta}, \text{ where } \xi := \frac{\mu - \lambda\zeta}{\sigma} + \varphi^{(m)} + \frac{\sigma}{\zeta}, \quad (6.32)$$

and the maximal expected utility up to the default time is

$$\mathbb{E}[\ln(X_{\tau}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}})] = \ln X_{0} + \mathbb{E}[\int_{0}^{T} G_{-}(\sigma\widetilde{\theta_{t}}^{\mathbb{G}}\varphi_{t}^{m} + \widetilde{\theta_{t}}^{\mathbb{G}}\mu_{t} - \frac{1}{2}(\widetilde{\theta_{t}}^{\mathbb{G}})^{2}\sigma^{2}) + G_{-}\psi^{(m)}\ln(1 + \widetilde{\theta_{t}}^{\mathbb{G}}\zeta)\lambda dt]$$

$$(6.33)$$
#### (c) The optimal informational investment difference up-to- $\tau$ is

$$D(\varphi_s^m, \psi_s^{(m)}) := \tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} - \tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}} = \frac{\varphi_s^m}{\sigma_s} + \frac{(\varphi_s^m)^2 + (2\alpha_s - \Sigma_s)\varphi_s^m + 4\lambda_s(\psi_s^{(m)} - 1)}{2\sigma_s\Sigma_s}, \qquad (6.34)$$

where  $\Sigma_s := \sqrt{\xi_s^2 + 4\lambda_s \psi_s^{(m)}} + \sqrt{\alpha_s^2 + 4\lambda_s}.$ 

(d) The expected informational value up-to- $\tau$ , which we call it the additional gain utility, is given by

$$\mathbb{E}[A(X_{\tau})] := \mathbb{E}[\ln(X_{\tau}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}}) - \ln(X_{\tau}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}}})] = \mathbb{E}[\ln(X_{\tau}^{D(\varphi^{m},\psi^{(m)})})] + \mathbb{E}[R_{\tau}(\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}},\varphi^{m},\psi^{(m)})], \quad (6.35)$$

where 
$$R_t(\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^m, \psi^{(m)}) := \int_0^t \sigma_s \widetilde{\theta}_s^{\mathbb{F}}(\varphi_s^m - \sigma_s D_s(\varphi^m, \psi^{(m)})) ds$$
  
  $+ \int_0^t \lambda_s [\psi_s^{(m)} \ln(\frac{1 + \zeta(D_s(\varphi^m, \psi^{(m)}) + \widetilde{\theta}_s^{\mathbb{F}})}{1 + \zeta_s D_s(\varphi^m, \psi^{(m)})}) - \ln(1 + \zeta_s \widetilde{\theta}_s^{\mathbb{F}})] ds.$ 

(e) Fix terminal time T. Then additional gain utility,  $A^{T}(X)$ , is given by

$$\mathbb{E}[A^{T}(X)] := \mathbb{E}[\ln(X_{\tau \wedge T}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}}) - \ln(X_{T}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}}})] = \mathbb{E}[G_{-}A(X_{\tau})] - (1 - G_{-})\mathbb{E}[\ln(X_{T}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}}})].$$
(6.36)

*Proof.* Assertions (a) and (b) follow immediately from Theorem 4.3 and Theorem 6.7 respectively. Assertion (c) is trivial. For assertion (d), by using the equation (6.34), we get  $\tilde{\theta}_s^{\mathbb{G}} = D(\varphi_s^m, \psi_s^{(m)}) + \tilde{\theta_s}^{\mathbb{F}}$ . Therefore,

$$\mathbb{E}[\ln(X_{\tau}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}})] = \mathbb{E}[\ln(X_{\tau}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}}})] + \mathbb{E}[\ln(X_{\tau}^{D(\varphi^{m},\psi^{(m)})})] + \mathbb{E}[I_{]]0,\tau]}R(\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}},\varphi^{m},\psi^{(m)})].$$
(6.37)

Thus, by putting (6.37) in additional gain utility function, we drive

$$\mathbb{E}[A(X_{\tau})] = \mathbb{E}[\ln(X_{\tau}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}})] - \mathbb{E}[\ln(X_{\tau}^{\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}}})]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}[\ln(X_{\tau}^{D(\varphi^m,\psi^{(m)})})] + \mathbb{E}[R_{\tau}(\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}},\varphi^m,\psi^{(m)})].$$

Then both assertions (d) and (e) follow immediately. This ends the proof.

Here, we consider another and the last example of Lévy model : The of Black-Scholes market model. The stock price process is given by the following dynamics

$$S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(X)_t, \quad X_t := \int_0^t \sigma_s dW_s + \int_0^t \mu_s ds, \tag{6.38}$$

where W is a one-dimensional Brownian motion. Let  $\psi_{(m)} = 1$  in the decomposition (6.20).

**Theorem 6.9**: Suppose S given by (6.38) and G > 0. Then there exists  $\tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\max_{\theta \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[\ln\left(1 + (\theta \cdot S^{\tau})_{T}\right)\right] = E\left[\ln\left(1 + (\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \cdot S^{\tau})_{T}\right)\right] < +\infty.$$
(6.39)

if and only if the following hold

$$E\left[\int_0^T \frac{1}{2G_-} (\varphi_s^{(m)})^2 - \frac{\mu \varphi_s^{(m)}}{\sigma_s} + \frac{G_-}{2} (\frac{\mu}{\sigma_s})^2 ds\right] < +\infty.$$
  
and 
$$E\left[(G_- \int (\varphi_{(m)} + \frac{\mu}{\sigma})^2 dt\right] < +\infty,$$
(6.40)

Furthermore, on  $[0, \tau]$ , we have

$$\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} = \varphi_{(m)} + \frac{\mu}{\sigma}.$$

*Proof.* All  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingales are continuous for the Black-Scholes market model. Therefore, the proof of the theorem follows from Theorem 6.5 immediately.

**Corollary 6.9.1**: Suppose that the  $S_t = S_0 \mathcal{E}(Y)_t$  is generated by a Brownian motion  $\omega^{\mathbb{F}}$  only (ex. the Black-Scholes model). Then, (a) The optimal informational investment difference up-to- $\tau$  is  $D(\varphi^m, 1) := \varphi^m$ . (b) The expected informational value up-to- $\tau$  is given by  $\mathbb{E}[A(X_{\tau})] = \mathbb{E}[\ln(X_{\tau}^{D(\varphi^m, 1)})]$ (i.e. for equation (6.35), we have  $R_t(\tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{F}}, \varphi^m, 1) = 0$ ).

### 6.2.3 Volatility market model

In this subsection we discuss are result of this chaptor on the case of Volatility market models. Precisely, we address the optimal portfolio problem for the corrected Stein and Stein Model, then we discuss it for the Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard Model. The asset price processes in corrected Stein and Stein Model is continuous process and is given by

$$X_{t} = X_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} V_{s} \sigma_{s} dW_{s}^{(1)} + \int_{0}^{t} \mu V_{s}^{2} dt$$
$$V_{t} = V_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} (m - aV_{s}) dt + \alpha_{s} dW_{s}^{(2)}$$
(6.41)

where  $W^{(i)}$ , i = 1, 2 are one-dimensional Brownian motions with the correlation coefficient  $\rho \in (-1, +1)$  and all the coefficients  $\sigma, \alpha, m, a$  and  $\mu$  are the same as in Section 3.4.3.1. For the F-martingale  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$ , we have the following decomposition

$$G_{-}^{-1} \bullet m = \varphi_{(m)} \bullet W^{(1)} + \psi_{(m)} \bullet W^{(2)}.$$

In the next theorem, we formulate the optimal portfolio for the case of corrected Stein and Stein financial market model.

**Theorem 6.10**: Suppose G > 0 and S is given by (6.41). Then the following  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process

$$\widetilde{\theta} := \varphi^{(m)} + \rho \psi^{(m)} + \frac{\mu}{\sigma}, \qquad (6.42)$$

is S-integrable belonging to  $\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , and the following assertions hold.

#### (a) The solution to

$$\min_{Z \in \mathcal{D}(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[-\ln(Z_T)\right] = E\left[-\ln(\widetilde{Z}_T^{\mathbb{G}})\right] < +\infty, \tag{6.43}$$

is given by

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}}) \quad and \quad \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}} := \mathcal{E}(-\widetilde{\theta}_t \cdot \overline{W}^{(1)}).$$
 (6.44)

(b) It holds that

$$\max_{\theta \in \Theta(S^{\tau})} \mathbb{E}[\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\theta \cdot S^{\tau}))] = \mathbb{E}[\ln(\mathcal{E}_T(\widetilde{\theta} \cdot S^{\tau}))].$$
(6.45)

(c) 
$$E\left[G_{-}\int (\frac{\mu}{\sigma})^{2} + \varphi_{(m)}^{2} + \rho^{2}\psi_{(m)}^{2}dt\right] < +\infty.$$

*Proof.* For the model (6.41), the predictable characteristics of Section 3 can be derived as follows

$$F_t(dx) = 0, \quad A_t = t, \quad c = \sigma^2 V_t^2 S_t^2, \quad \beta_m = (\varphi^{(m)} + \rho \psi^{(m)}) (S_t \sigma)^{-1}, \quad b = \mu V_t^2 S_t.$$

Thus, the inequality (6.5) that characterizes the optimal solution  $\tilde{\varphi}$  becomes an equation as follows.

$$0 = \mu SV^2 + (S_t \sigma V)^2 \left(\frac{\varphi_{(m)}}{\sigma S} + \frac{\rho \psi_{(m)}}{\sigma S} - \theta\right)$$
$$= \mu + \sigma \varphi_{(m)} + \sigma_t \rho \psi_{(m)} - \theta S \sigma^2.$$

It is clear that  $\tilde{\theta} := \theta S$ , given by (6.42), is the unique solution to the above equation and  $\tilde{\theta}$  is *S*-integrable. The optimal mortality deflator, the solution for the dual problem, is given by the Theorem (5.9). We can simply formulate it with respect to  $\tilde{\theta}$ 

$$\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathcal{E}\left(\widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}}\right) \quad , \quad \widetilde{K}^{\mathbb{G}} = -\frac{\mu + \sigma\varphi_{(m)} + \sigma\rho\psi_{(m)}}{\sigma} \cdot \overline{W}^{(1)} = \mathcal{E}(-\widetilde{\theta}_t \cdot \overline{W}^{(1)}).$$

The last model we discuss in this subsection, is Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard which is presented in Section 3.4.3.2. The asset price process,  $S_t$ , is given by the following stochastic differential equation

$$S_t = S_0 e^{(X)_t}, \quad dX_s = (\mu + \xi \sigma_s^2) ds + \sigma_s dY_s^c + d(\rho x \star \widetilde{\mu}_Y)_s$$
$$d\sigma_s^2 = -\lambda \sigma_s^2 dt + d(x \star \widetilde{\mu}_Y)_s, \tag{6.46}$$

By Ito's formula, we calculate the dynamics of S,

$$\frac{dS_t}{S_{t_-}} = \alpha_t dt + \sigma_t dY_t^c + d(e^{\rho x} - 1) \star (\tilde{\mu} - \tilde{\nu})_t, \qquad (6.47)$$

where  $\alpha = \mu + \sigma_t^2(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \int (e^{\rho x} - 1)\widetilde{F}(dx)$ , and all the coefficients are the same as in Section 3.4.3.2. The filtration generated by a one dimensional Levy process  $Y, Y = Y^c + \widetilde{Y}^d$ .  $Y^c$  is the continuous part of Levy process and  $\widetilde{Y}^d$  is driven by random measure of Y, donated by  $\widetilde{\mu}(dt \times dx)$  with compensator measure  $\widetilde{\nu}(dt \times dx) = \widetilde{F}(dx)dA_t$ . Throughout the rest of this subsection, we consider the following decomposition for the  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  and the space  $\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  given by

$$G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \hat{\beta}_m \cdot Y^c + (\hat{f}_m - 1) \star (\widetilde{\mu} - \widetilde{\nu}) + \hat{g}_m \star \widetilde{\mu} + m^{\perp}.$$

$$\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F}) := \left\{ \theta \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}) \mid 1 + S_{t_-} \theta^{tr} (e^{\rho x} - 1) > 0 \quad P \otimes \widetilde{F} \otimes dt \text{-.a.e} \right\}.$$
(6.48)

The model is a quasi-left-continuous and the process  $A_t$  is continuous. Thus, there is no loss of generality on defining  $A_t = t$ . Throughout the rest of this subsection, we consider the following Jacod's decomposition for the  $\mathbb{F}$ -martingale  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  and the space  $\mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , given by

$$\mathcal{L}(S,\mathbb{F}) := \Big\{ \lambda \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}) \mid 1 + S_{t-}\lambda^{tr}(e^{\rho x} - 1) > 0 \quad P \otimes \widetilde{F} \otimes dt \text{-.a.e} \Big\}, \quad (6.49)$$

$$G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m = \hat{\beta}_m \cdot Y^c + (\hat{f}_m - 1) \star (\widetilde{\mu} - \widetilde{\nu}) + \hat{g}_m \star \widetilde{\mu} + m^{\perp}.$$
(6.50)

For the Barndorff-Nielsen Shephard model, the predictable characteristics of Section 5.1 can be derived as follows.

$$b_{t} = S_{t_{-}}\alpha, \quad S_{t}^{c} = S_{t_{-}}\sigma_{t} \cdot Y_{t}^{c}, \quad \Delta S_{t} = S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho\Delta\sigma_{t}^{2}} - 1), \quad (6.51)$$
$$c_{t} = S_{t_{-}}^{2}\sigma_{t}^{2}, \quad \nu^{S}(dt \times dx) = F_{t}^{S}(dx)dt, \quad f(x)F_{t}^{S}(dx) = f(S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1))\widetilde{F}_{t}(dx).$$

As a result, the Jacod's components of  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  is  $(\hat{\beta}_m, \hat{f}_m, \hat{g}_m, m^{\perp})$ , where  $\hat{\beta}_m (S_-\sigma)^{-1} := \beta_m, f_m(x) = \hat{f}_m (S_{t_-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))$  and  $g_m = \hat{g}_m (S_{t_-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))$  in equation (5.16).

- **Theorem 6.11**: Suppose that G > 0, S is given by (6.46), and  $\mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F}) \neq \emptyset$ . Then the following are equivalent.
  - (a) There exists  $\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})$  such that

$$\max_{\theta \in \Theta(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G})} E\left[\ln\left(1 + (\theta \cdot S^{\tau})_{T}\right)\right] = E\left[\ln\left(1 + (\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} \cdot S^{\tau})_{T}\right)\right] < +\infty.$$
(6.52)

(b) There exist  $K \in \mathcal{M}_{0,loc}(\mathbb{F})$  and a nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process V such that  $\mathcal{E}(K) \exp(-V) \in \mathcal{D}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , and

$$E\left[(G_{-} \cdot V)_{T} + (\widetilde{G} \cdot H^{(0)}(K, P))_{T}^{p,\mathbb{F}} + (G_{-} \cdot h^{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m, P))_{T} - \langle K, m \rangle_{T}^{\mathbb{F}}\right] < +\infty.$$

(c) There exists  $\widetilde{\varphi} \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$  such that, for any  $\theta \in \mathcal{L}(S, \mathbb{F})$ , the following hold

$$\begin{split} E\left[(G_{-} \cdot \widetilde{V})_{T} + (G_{-}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}\sigma_{t}^{2}\widetilde{\varphi} \cdot A)_{T} + (G_{-}\mathcal{K}_{log}(\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}(e^{\rho x}-1)) \star \nu)_{T}\right] < +\infty, \\ (\theta - \widetilde{\varphi})^{tr}\left[\mu + \sigma^{2}(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \hat{\beta}_{m}\sigma - \sigma^{2}\widetilde{\varphi} + \int (\frac{\hat{f}_{m}\left(S_{-}(e^{\rho x}-1)\right)}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}(e^{\rho x}-1)} + 1)(e^{\rho x}-1)\widetilde{F}(dx)\right] \leq 0, \\ \widetilde{V} := \int_{0}^{T}\widetilde{\varphi}^{tr}[\mu + \sigma^{2}(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \hat{\beta}_{m}\sigma - \sigma^{2}\widetilde{\varphi} + \int (\frac{\hat{f}_{m}\left(S_{-}(e^{\rho x}-1)\right)}{1 + \widetilde{\varphi}(e^{\rho x}-1)} + 1)(e^{\rho x}-1)\widetilde{F}(dx)]dt. (6.53) \end{split}$$

Furthermore, on  $[0, \tau]$ , we have

$$\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}(1+(\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}\boldsymbol{\cdot} S^{\tau})_{-})^{-1}=\widetilde{\varphi} \quad and \ \widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}=\widetilde{\varphi}\mathcal{E}_{-}(\widetilde{\varphi}\boldsymbol{\cdot} S).$$

*Proof.* For the model (6.47)-(6.48), the predictable characteristics can be derived as follows (for more details see here 2.4). Then, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha &:= \mu + \sigma_t^2 (\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \int (e^{\rho x} - 1) \widetilde{F}(dx), \quad S_t^c = S_{t_-} \sigma_t \cdot Y_t^c, \quad \Delta S_t = S_{t_-} (e^{\rho \Delta \sigma_t^2} - 1), \\ b_t &= S_{t_-} \alpha, \quad c_t = S_{t_-}^2 \sigma_t^2, \quad \nu^S(dt \times dx) = F_t^S(dx) dt, \quad f(x) F_t^S(dx) = f(S_{t_-} (e^{\rho x} - 1)) \widetilde{F}_t(dx). \end{aligned}$$

As a result, the Jacod's components of  $G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m$  is  $(\hat{\beta}_m, \hat{f}_m, \hat{g}_m, m^{\perp})$ , where  $\hat{\beta}_m (S_{-}\sigma)^{-1} := \beta_m$ ,  $f_m(x) = \hat{f}_m(S_{t_-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))$  and  $g_m = \hat{g}_m(S_{t_-}(e^{\rho x} - 1))$  in equation (6.2). Hence, the condition (6.5), characterizing the optimal portfolio  $\tilde{\theta}$ , satisfying an inequality as follows.

$$\begin{split} 0 &\geq S_{-}(\mu + \sigma_{t}^{2}(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \int \left(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1)\right)\widetilde{F}(dx)) + (S_{t_{-}})^{2}\sigma^{2}(\frac{\hat{\beta}_{m}}{S_{-}\sigma} - \widetilde{\lambda}) \\ &+ \int \frac{\hat{f}_{m}\left(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1)\right)}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1)}S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1)\widetilde{F}(dx) \\ &= S_{t_{-}}\left(\mu + \sigma_{t}^{2}(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \hat{\beta}_{m} - S_{t_{-}}\sigma_{t}^{2}\widetilde{\lambda} + \int (\frac{\hat{f}_{m}\left(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1)\right)}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}S_{t_{-}}(e^{\rho x} - 1)} + 1)(e^{\rho x} - 1)\widetilde{F}(dx) \Big), \end{split}$$

and for the equation (6.6) in Theorem 6.1, we have

$$\frac{d\widetilde{V}}{dt} = S_{-}\widetilde{\lambda}^{tr} \left[ \mu + \sigma^2(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) + \hat{\beta}_m - S_{-}\sigma^2\widetilde{\lambda} + \int (\frac{\hat{f}_m \left(S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1)\right)}{1 + \widetilde{\lambda}S_{-}(e^{\rho x} - 1)} + 1)(e^{\rho x} - 1)\widetilde{F}(dx) \right]$$

Hence, we deduce that  $S_{-}\tilde{\lambda} = \tilde{\varphi}$ , and it is *S*-integrable. As a result,  $\tilde{\theta}$  is the solution to (6.52) and assertions (a) and (b) follow immediately by Theorem 6.1.

## 6.3 Numéraire portfolio under random horizon

This section addresses the impact of  $\tau$  on the numéraire portfolio, defined in Section (2.3). To this end, for the reader's convenience, we recall the mathematical definition of this financial concept.

**Definition 6.1**: Consider  $(X, \mathbb{H}, P)$ , and let Z be a positive  $\mathbb{H}$ -local martingale. We call numéraire portfolio for  $(X, \mathbb{H}, Z)$ , when it exists, the unique  $\tilde{\theta} \in L(X, \mathbb{H})$ such that  $\mathcal{E}(\tilde{\theta} \cdot X) > 0$ , and the process  $Z\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot X)/\mathcal{E}(\tilde{\theta} \cdot X)$  is a supermartingale, for any  $\phi \in L(X, \mathbb{H})$  satisfying  $\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot X) \ge 0$ .

Below, we elaborate on the principal result of this section.

**Theorem 6.12**: Let  $Z^{(m)} := \mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)$ . Then the numéraire portfolio for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G}, P)$ , denoted by  $\tilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}}$ , exists if and only if the numéraire portfolio for  $(S, \mathbb{F}, Z^{(m)})$ , denoted by  $\tilde{\theta}^{(\mathbb{F})}$ , does exist also. Furthermore,

$$\widetilde{\theta}^{\mathbb{G}} = \widetilde{\theta}^{(\mathbb{F})} I_{\|0,\tau\|}. \tag{6.54}$$

*Proof.* The proof is achieved in two parts, where we prove (a)  $\implies$  (b) and its converse respectively.

**Part 1.** Suppose that the numéraire portfolio  $\tilde{\theta}^{(\mathbb{G})}$ , for the model  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G}, P)$ , exists. Then on the one hand, there exists an  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process  $\theta^{\mathbb{F}}$  such that  $\tilde{\theta}^{(\mathbb{G})}I_{]]0,\tau]] = \theta^{(\mathbb{F})}I_{]]0,\tau]]$ . On the other hand, for  $\theta \in L(S, \mathbb{F})$  such that  $\mathcal{E}(\theta \cdot S) > 0$ , the process  $X:=\mathcal{E}(\theta \boldsymbol{\cdot} S^{\tau})/\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\theta} \boldsymbol{\cdot} S^{\tau})$  is a positive supermartingale. Or equivalently

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathcal{E}(\theta \cdot S^{\tau})}{\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\theta} \cdot S^{\tau})} &= \mathcal{E}(\theta \cdot S^{\tau})\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\theta} \cdot S^{\tau})^{-1} = \mathcal{E}(\theta \cdot S^{\tau})\mathcal{E}\left(-\widetilde{\theta} \cdot S^{\tau} + \frac{1}{1 + \widetilde{\theta}\Delta S^{\tau}} \cdot [\widetilde{\theta} \cdot S^{\tau}]\right) \\ &= \mathcal{E}\left((\theta - \widetilde{\theta}) \cdot S^{\tau} + \frac{\widetilde{\theta} - \theta}{1 + \widetilde{\theta}\Delta S^{\tau}} \cdot [S^{\tau}, \widetilde{\theta} \cdot S^{\tau}]\right) := \mathcal{E}(L), \end{split}$$

and L is a G-local supermartingale. Consider the decomposition for S given by  $S = S_0 + M + A + \sum \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S|>1\}}$ , where M is a G-local martingale with bounded jumps and A is a finite variation and predictable process. Therefore, we derive

$$\begin{split} L &= (\theta - \widetilde{\theta}) \cdot (M^{\tau} + A^{\tau}) + \sum (\theta - \widetilde{\theta})^{tr} \Delta S^{\tau} I_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} - \frac{\theta - \widetilde{\theta}}{1 + \widetilde{\theta} \Delta S^{\tau}} \cdot [S^{\tau}, \widetilde{\theta} \cdot S^{\tau}] \\ &= \mathbb{G}\text{-local martingale} + \frac{\theta - \widetilde{\theta}}{G_{-}} I_{]\!]_{0,\tau]\!]} \cdot \langle M, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + W^{\theta}, \end{split}$$

where  $W^{\theta}$  is given by

$$W^{\theta} := (\theta - \widetilde{\theta}) \cdot \left\{ A^{\tau} + \sum \Delta S^{\tau} I_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} - \frac{1}{1 + \widetilde{\theta} \Delta S^{\tau}} \cdot [S^{\tau}, \widetilde{\theta} \cdot S^{\tau}] \right\}.$$

Thus, the process L is a  $\mathbb{G}$ -local supermartingale if and only if  $W^{\theta} \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}(\mathbb{G})$  and

$$\left(\frac{(\theta-\widetilde{\theta})}{G_{-}}I_{]\!]0,\tau]\!] \cdot \langle M,m\rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + W_{\theta}\right)^{p,\mathbb{F}} \preceq 0.$$

This is equivalent to

$$(\theta - \widetilde{\theta}) \cdot \left\{ \langle M, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + G_{-} \cdot A \right\} + \\ + (\theta - \widetilde{\theta}) \cdot \left( \sum \widetilde{G} \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} - \frac{\widetilde{G}}{1 + \widetilde{\theta} \Delta S} \cdot [S, \widetilde{\theta} \cdot S] \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}} \preceq 0.$$
(6.55)

Now, we derive

$$X := \mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m) \frac{\mathcal{E}(\theta \cdot S)}{\mathcal{E}(\tilde{\theta} \cdot S)} = \mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m) \mathcal{E}\left((\theta - \tilde{\theta}) \cdot S + \frac{\tilde{\theta} - \theta}{1 + \tilde{\theta}\Delta S} \cdot [S, \tilde{\theta} \cdot S]\right)$$
$$= \mathcal{E}(L_1),$$

where

$$\begin{split} L_{1} &:= G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m + (\theta - \widetilde{\theta}) \cdot S + \frac{\theta - \widetilde{\theta}}{G_{-}} \cdot [m, S] + \frac{\widetilde{G}}{G_{-}} \frac{\widetilde{\theta} - \theta}{1 + \widetilde{\theta} \Delta S} \cdot [S, \widetilde{\theta} \cdot S] \\ &= \mathbb{G}\text{-local martingale} + \frac{(\theta - \widetilde{\theta})}{G_{-}} \cdot (\langle M, m \rangle^{\mathbb{F}} + G_{-} \cdot A) \\ &+ \frac{(\theta - \widetilde{\theta})}{G_{-}} \cdot \left( \sum \widetilde{G} \Delta SI_{\{|\Delta S| > 1\}} - \frac{\widetilde{G}}{1 + \widetilde{\theta} \Delta S} \cdot [S, \widetilde{\theta} \cdot S] \right)^{p, \mathbb{F}}. \end{split}$$

Thanks to the inequality (6.55), we deduce that  $L_1$  is an  $\mathbb{F}$ -local supermartingale, and hence X is a nonnegative  $\mathbb{F}$ -supermartingale. This proves assertion (b).

**Part 2.** Here we prove that assertion (b) implies assertion (a). Suppose that the numéraire portfolio for  $(X, \mathbb{F}, Z)$  exists that we denote by  $\tilde{\theta}^{(\mathbb{F})}$ . Then for any  $\phi \in L(X, \mathbb{F})$  satisfying  $\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot X) > 0$ ,  $X := Z\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot S)/\mathcal{E}(\tilde{\theta} \cdot S)$  is a positive supermartingale. On the one hand, it is known that there exists a local martingale M and a nondecreasing and  $\mathbb{F}$ -predictable process V such that  $X = \mathcal{E}(M) \exp(-V)$ . On the other hand, we have

$$\frac{\mathcal{E}(M)^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau}} = \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{T}(M) - G_{-}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{T}(m)) \quad \text{is a nonnegative } \mathbb{G}\text{-local martingale.}$$

Therefore we easily conclude that  $X^{\tau}/\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1}\cdot m)^{\tau}$  is a nonnegative  $\mathbb{G}$ -supermartingale, or equivalently the process

$$\frac{\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot S^{\tau})}{\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\theta} \cdot S^{\tau})} = \frac{\mathcal{E}(\phi \cdot S)^{\tau}}{\mathcal{E}(\widetilde{\theta} \cdot S)^{\tau}} = X^{\tau} / \mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)^{\tau},$$

is a nonnegative G-supermartingale. This ends the proof of theorem.

Corollary 6.12.1: The following assertions hold.

(a) Suppose that  $\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)$  is a uniformly integrable martingale, and consider  $Q := \mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)_{\infty} \cdot P$ . Then the numéraire portfolio for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G}, P)$  exists if and only if the numéraire portfolio for  $(S, \mathbb{F}, Q)$  does exists, and both portfolios coincide on  $[0, \tau]$ .

(b) Suppose that  $\tau$  is a pseudo-stopping time. Then the numéraire portfolio for  $(S^{\tau}, \mathbb{G}, P)$  exists if and only if the numéraire portfolio for  $(S, \mathbb{F}, P)$  does exists, and both portfolios coincide on  $]0, \tau]$ .

Proof. It is clear that assertion (a) follows immediately from combining Theorem 6.12 with the fact that when  $\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m)$  is a uniformly integrable martingale, the numéraire portfolio for  $(S, \mathbb{F}, \mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m))$  coincides with the numéraire portfolio for  $(S, \mathbb{F})$  under Q. The second assertion follows also from combining Theorem 6.12 with the fact that  $\tau$  is a pseudo-stopping time if and only if  $m \equiv m_0$ , and hence  $\mathcal{E}(G_{-}^{-1} \cdot m) \equiv 1$ . This ends the proof of the corollary.

# Bibliography

- [1] Aase, K.K. : The investment horizon problem: a possible resolution, Stochastics, online, 2016.
- [2] Aase, K.K. and Persson, S.-A.: Pricing of Unit-linked Life Insurance Policies, Scandinavian Actuarial Journal, 1, 26-52, 1994.
- [3] Abbring, J. H., Heckman, J. J., Chiappori, P.-A., and J. Pinquet.: Adverse selection and moral hazard in insurance: Can dynamic data help to distinguish? *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 1(2-3):512–521, 2003.
- [4] Acciaio, B., Fontana, C., and Kardaras, C.: Arbitrage of the first kind and filtration enlargements in semimartingale financial models, Stochastic Processes and their Applications, Vol.126, No. 6, 1761-1784, 2016.
- [5] Akerlof, G. A.: The market for lemons: quality uncertainty and the market mechanism. Aug, 84(3):488–500, 1970.
- [6] Aksamit, A., Choulli, T., Deng, J., Jeanblanc, M.: No-arbitrage up to random horizon for quasi-left-continuous models, Finance Stochastics, Vol. 21, 1103-1139, 2017.
- [7] Aksamit, A., Choulli, T., Deng, J., Jeanblanc, M. : No-arbitrage under a class of honest times, Finance Stochastics 22:127-159, 2018.
- [8] Aksamit, A., Choulli, T., Deng, J., Jeanblanc, M. : No-arbitrage under additional information for thin semimartingale models, to appear in stochastic process and their applications.
- [9] Aksamit, A., Choulli, T., Deng, J. and Jeanblanc, M.: Arbitrages in a progressive enlargement setting, in Arbitrage, credit and informational risks, Vol. 5, 53-86 Peking Univ. Ser. Math., World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2014.
- [10] Aksamit, A. and Choulli, T. and Jeanblanc, M. : On an Optional Semimartingale Decomposition and the Existence of a Deflator in an Enlarged Filtration, In In memoriam Marc Yor, Séminaire de Probabilités XLVII, volume 2137 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 187-218. Springer, Cham, 2015.

- [11] Aliprantis, Ch.D. and Border, K.C.: Infinite dimensional analysis: A Hitchhikers Guide, Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, 2006.
- [12] Allen, B. : Information as an economic commodity. The American Economic Review, 80(2):268–273, 1990.
- [13] Amendinger, Jürgen and Imkeller, Peter and Schweizer, M. : Additional logarithmic utility of an insider, Stochastic Processes and their Applications, Vol. 75, No. 2, pp: 263–286, 1998.
- [14] Andersen, A., : Lévy Processes in Finance: Lévy Heath-Jarrow-Morton Models: Preprint, Copenhagen Business School, 2008.
- [15] Ankirchner, S., Blanchet-Scalliet, C. and Eyraud-Loisel, A. : Credit risk premia and quadratic BSDEs with a single jump International Journal of Theoretical and Applied FinanceVol. 13, No. 07, pp. 1103-1129, 2010.
- [16] Ankirchner, S. and Imkeller, P. : Finite utility on financial markets with asymmetric information and structure properties of the price dynamics. In Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincare (B) Probability and Statistics, volume 41, pages 479–503. Elsevier, 2005.
- [17] Ansel, J.P. and Stricker, C., : Lois de martingale, densités et décomposition de Föllmer-Schweizer: Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré, 28, 375-392, 1992.
- [18] Ansel, J.P. and Stricker, C., : Décomposition de Kunita-Watanabe, Séminaire de Probabilités XXVII, 30-32, 1993.
- [19] Ansel, J.-P. and Stricker, C. . Couverture des actifs contingents et prix maximum. In Annales de l'IHP Probabilités et statistiques, volume 30, pages 303– 315. Elsevier, 1994.
- [20] Aristotle, Politics, Book I, trans. B. Jowett : in The Complete Works of Aristotle: the Revised Oxford Translation, ed. Jonathan Barnes, Bollingen Series LXXI:2 (Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press, Fourth Printing), 1991.
- [21] K. J. Arrow K.L. and Debreu. G., : newblock Existence of an equilibrium for a competitive economy. *Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society*, pages 265–290, 1954.
- [22] Back, K.: Insider Trading in Continuous Time, The Review of Financial Studies, Volume 5, Issue 3, 1, Pages 387-409, 1992.
- [23] Back, K.: Asymmetric Information and Options, The Review of Financial Studies, Volume 6, Issue 3, 1, Pages 435-472, 1993.
- [24] Barbarin, J.: Risk Minimizing Strategies for Life Insurance Contracts with Surrender Option. Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=1334580, 2007.

- [25] Barndorff-Nielsen, O.E., Mikosch, T., Resnick, S.: Lévy processes: theory and applications, Birkhaser, Boston, 2001.
- [26] Barndorff-Nielsen, O.E. and Shephard, N.: Modelling by Lévy processes for financial econometrics. In Lévy Processes (T.Mikosch et al., eds) 283-318. Birkha"user, Boston, 2001.
- [27] Becherer, D. : The numéraire portfolio for unbounded semimartingales. Finance and Stochastics 5(3):327-341, 2001.
- [28] Bielecki, T. and Rutkowski, M., : Credit Risk: Modeling, Valuation and Hedging, Springer Finance, 2002.
- [29] Blanchet-Scalliet, C., El Karoui, N., Martellini, L. : Dynamic asset pricing theory with uncertain time-horizon, Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control (29), 10, 1737-1764, 2005.
- [30] Blanchet-Scalliet, C., El Karoui, N., Jeanblanc, M., Martellini, L. : Optimal investment and consumption decisions when time-horizon is uncertain., Journal of Mathematical Economics (44), 11, 1100-1113, 2008.
- [31] Chau, H.N., Cosso, A., Fontana, C. and Mostovyi, O.: Optimal investment with intermediate consumption under no unbounded profit with bounded risk, Journal of Applied Probability, Vol. 54, 710-719, 2017.
- [32] Ching-Sung, C. : Caracterisation d'une classe de semimartingales: Séminaire de Probabilités XIII, pages 250–252, 1979.
- [33] Choulli, Т., Daveloose, С. and Vanmaele, М. : А martingale representation theorem and valuation defaultable securities, of https://arxiv.org/abs/1510.05858v21510.05858v2, 2015.
- [34] Choulli, T., Deng, J. : No-arbitrage for informational discrete time market models, Stochastics, Volume 89, Issue 3-4, pp:628-653, 2017.
- [35] Choulli, T., Deng, J. : Structural Models under Additional Information, https://arxiv.org/abs/1403.3459v11403.3459v1, 2014.
- [36] Choulli, T., Deng, J. and Ma, J.: How non-arbitrage, viability and numéraire portfolio are related, Finance Stochastics 19: 719-741, 2015.
- [37] Choulli, T., Krawczyk, L., Stricker, C., : E-martingales and their applications in mathematical finance, Ann. Probab., 26(2), 853-876, 1998.
- [38] Choulli, T. and Schweizer, M.: Locally  $\Phi$ -integrable  $\sigma$ -martingale densities for general semimartingales. Stochastics 88(2), 1-76, 2016.
- [39] Choulli, T. and Schweizer, M. : The mathematical structure of horizondependence in optimal portfolio choice. NCCR FINRISK working paper No. 588, 2009.

- [40] Choulli, T. and Schweizer, M. : Stability of sigma-martingale densities in L log L under an equivalent change of measure. Swiss Finance Institute Research Paper No. 11-67, 2011.
- [41] Choulli, T. and Stricker, C. : Minimal entropy-Hellinger martingale measure in incomplete markets, Mathematical Finance, 3, 465-490, 2005.
- [42] Choulli, T. and Stricker, C. : More on minimal entropy-Hellinger martingale measures. Math. Finance 16(1), 1-19, 2006.
- [43] Choulli, T., Stricker, C., and Li, J. : Minimal Hellinger martingale measures of order q. Finance Stoch. 11(3), 399-427, 2007.
- [44] Choulli, T. and Stricker, C. : Deux applications de la décomposition de Galtchouk-Kunita-Watanabe. Séminaire de probabilités XXX, pages 12–23, 1996.
- [45] Choulli, T. and Yansori, S. : Deflators and log-optimal portfolios under random horizon: Explicit description and optimization, submitted, 2018.
- [46] Choulli, T. and Yansori, S. : Notes on the log-optimal portfolio: Necessary and sufficient conditions for its existence and duality, submitted, 2018.
- [47] Choulli, T. and Yansori, S. : Log-optimal portfolio and numéraire portfolio under random horizon, preprint, 2018.
- [48] Choulli, T., Huang, H. and Yansori, S. : Optimal portfolio consumption with habit forma4on under partial observations: The exponential case, preprint, 2016.
- [49] Christensen, M. and Larsen, K. : No Arbitrage and the Growth Optimal Portfolio, Stochastic Analysis and Applications, 25:1, 255-280, 2007.
- [50] Clark, S. A. :The random utility model with an infinite choice space, Economic Theory, 7(1), 179-189, 1996.
- [51] Cohen, M. A. : Random utility systems the infinite case, Journal of Mathematical Psychology, 22(1), 1-23, 1980.
- [52] Corcuera, J.M., Imkeller, P., Kohatsu-Higa, A. et al.: Additional utility of insiders with imperfect dynamical information, Finance and Stochastics 8: 437, 2004.
- [53] Cvitanic, J., Schachermayer, W., and Wang, H. : Utility maximization in incomplete markets with random endowment. Finance and Stochastics 5.2, 259-272, 2001.
- [54] Dellacherie, C. and Meyer, P-A. : Théorie des martingales. Chapter V to VIII. Hermann, (1980).

- [55] Delbaen, F. and Schachermayer, W. : A general version of the fundamental theorem of asset pricing. *Mathematische annalen*, 300(1):463–520, 1994.
- [56] Delbaen, F. and Schachermayer, W. : The fundamental theorem of asset pricing for unbounded stochastic processes. *Mathematische annalen*, 312(2):215– 250, 1998.
- [57] Delbaen, F. and Schachermayer, W. : The mathematics of arbitrage, volume 13. Springer Berlin, 2006.
- [58] Dellacherie, C. : Capacités et processus stochastiques. No. 67. Springer-Verlag., 1972.
- [59] Dellacherie, C. and Meyer, P. : *Probabilités et Potentiel*. Hermann, Paris, 1rd edition, 1980.
- [60] Dellacherie, M., Maisonneuve, B. and Meyer, P-A., Probabilités et Potentiel, chapitres XVII-XXIV: Processus de Markov (fin), Compléments de calcul stochastique, Hermann, 1992.
- [61] Deng, J. : Essays on Arbitrage Theory for a Class of Informational Markets, PhD thesis, 2014. Available on https://doi.org/10.7939/R3KP7TZ24 at library.ualberta.ca.
- [62] Di Nunno, G., Meyer-Brandis, T., Øksendal, B. and Proske, F. : Optimal portfolio for an insider in a market driven by Lévy processes, Quantitative Finance, Vol. 6, 83-94, 2006.
- [63] Di Nunno, G., and Sjursen, S. : Information and optimal investment in defaultable assets, International Journal of Theoretical and Applied Finance Vol. 17, No. 81450050, 2014.
- [64] Doob, J.: Stochastic processes. Wiley: New York, 1953.
- [65] Eberlein, E., Application of generalized hyperbolic Lévy motions to finance, In Lévy processes: Theory and Applications, (Eds), OE Barndorff-Nielsen, T Mikosch, SI Resnick, Birkhauser, Boston, 319-326, 2001.
- [66] Eberlein, E. and Raible, S.: Term structure models driven by general Lévy processes. Mathematical Finance 9: 31-53, 1999.
- [67] El Karoui, N. and Martellini, L.: Dynamic Asset Pricing Theory with Uncertain Time-Horizon. USC FBE Working Paper No. 02-6. Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=305010, 2001.
- [68] Émery, M. : Compensation de processus vf non localement intégrables. Séminaire de Probabilités XIV 1978/79, pages 152-160, 1980.
- [69] Evstigneev, I.V., :Measurable selection theorems and probabilitistic control models in general topological spaces. Math. USSR Sbornik, Vol. 59, No. 1 :25-37, 1988.

- [70] Fisher, I. : The impatience theory of interest. AER, 1931.
- [71] Goll, Thomas, and Jan Kallsen. : A complete explicit solution to the logoptimal portfolio problem. The Annals of Applied Probability 13.2, 774-799, 2003.
- [72] Grorud, A., Pontier, M. : Insider trading in a continuous time market model, International Journal of Theoretical and Applied Finance, Vol. 1, No. 3, pp: 331-347, 1998.
- [73] He, S., Wang, J., and Yan, J.: Semimartingale Theory and Stochastic Calculus. CRC, 1rd edition, 1992.
- [74] Larsen, K., Hang, Y., : Horizon dependence of utility optimizers in incomplete models, Finance and Stochastics, 16(4), 779-801, 2012.
- [75] Kohatsu-Higa, A., Sulem, A.: Utility maximization in an insider influenced market. Math. Finance 16, 153-179, 2006.
- [76] Hillairet, C and Jiao, Y : Portfolio optimization with insider's initial information and counterparty risk, Finance and Stochastics 19:109-134, 2015
- [77] Hillairet, C and Jiao, Y : Portfolio Optimization with Different Information Flow, ISTE Press - Elsevier, February 2017.
- [78] Huang, Dashan and Zhu, Shu-Shang and Fabozzi, Frank J. and Fukushima, Masao.: Portfolio selection with uncertain exit time: A robust CVaR approach, Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, 2, 594-623, 2008.
- [79] Hulley, H., Schweizer, M.: M6-On minimal market models and minimal martingale measures. Contemporary Quantitative Finance: Essays in Honour of Eckhard Platen, 35-51, 2010.
- [80] Jacod, J.: Calcul stochastique et problèmes de martingales. no. 714 in Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, 1979.
- [81] Jacod, J. : Calcul Stochastique et Probleme de Martingales. Springer, 1rd edition, 1979.
- [82] Jacod, J. : Grossissement initial, hypothése(H) etthéorémedegirsanov. Grossissements de filtrations: exemples et applications, pages 15-35, 1985.
- [83] Jacod, J. and Shiryaev, A. N. : Limit Theorems for Stochastic Processes, vol. 288 of Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences. Springer, Berlin, Germany., 2003.
- [84] Jeanblanc, M., Mastrolia, T., Possamai, D., Réveillac, A. : Utility maximization with random horizon: a BSDE approach. International Journal of Theoretical and Applied Finance, Vol. 18, No. 07, 1550045, 2015.

- [85] Jeanblanc, M. and Rutkowski, M., : Modeling of default risk: an overview, Mathematical Finance: Theory and Practice, 171-269, 2000.
- [86] Jeulin, T. : Semi-Martingales et Grossissement dúne filtration. Springer, 1980.
- [87] Jiao, Y., Kharroubi, I. Pham, H.. Optimal investment under multiple defaults risk: A BSDE-decomposition approach. Ann. Appl. Probab. 23, no. 2, 455– 491., 2013.
- [88] Jiao, Y. and Kharroubi, I.: Information uncertainty related to marked random times and optimal investment, available here in hal-01343702v2 2016.
- [89] Jiao, Y. and Li, S. : Modelling Sovereign Risks: From a Hybrid Model to the Generalized Density Approach. Mathematical Finance, Vol. 28, No.1, 240-267, 2018.
- [90] Kabanov, Y.: On the FTAP of Kreps-Delbaen-Schachermayer. Statistics and control of stochastic processes (Moscow, 1995/1996), pages 191–203, 1997.
- [91] Kabanov, Y., Kardaras, C., Song, S. : No arbitrage of the first kind and local martingale numéraires. Finance and Stochastics, 20 (4). pp. 1097-1108, 2016.
- [92] Kardaras K., : Numéraire-invariant preferences in financial modeling, Annals of Applied Probability, Vol. 20, 1697-1728, 2010.
- [93] Kardaras, C.: Finitely additive probabilities and the fundamental theorem of asset pricing. *Contemporary Quantitative Finance: Essays in Honour of Eckhard Platen*, pages 19–34, 2010.
- [94] Karatzas, I. and Kardaras, C. : The numéraire portfolio in semimartingale financial models. Finance Stoch (2007) 11: 447-493, 2007.
- [95] Karatzas, I., Lehoczky, J. P. and Shreve, S. E. : Optimal Portfolio and Consumption Decisions for a "Small Investor" on a Finite Horizon, SIAM J. Control and optimization, 25 1557-1586, 1991.
- [96] Karatzas, I., Pikovsky, I. : Anticipative portfolio optimization, Advances in Applied Probability, Vol. 28, No.4, pp: 1095-1122, 1996.
- [97] Karatzas, I. and Wang, H. : Utility maximization with discretionary stopping. SIAM J. Control Optim. **39**(1), 306–329, 2000.
- [98] Karatzas, Ioannis, and Zitkovic, Gordan. : Optimal consumption from investment and random endowment in incomplete semimartingale markets. The Annals of Probability 31.4, 1821-1858, 2003.
- [99] Kazamaki, N.: Continuous exponential martingales and BMO. Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1579, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York, 1994.

- [100] Kelly, J.L. : A new interpretation of information rate. Bell System Technical Journal 35:917-926, 1956.
- [101] Kohatsu-Higa, A., Sulem, A. : Utility maximization in an insider influenced market, Mathematical Finance, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp: 153–179, 2006.
- [102] Kramkov, D., Schachermayer, W. : The asymptotic elasticity of utility functions and optimal investment in incomplete markets, The Annals of Applied Probability, 9(3), 904-950, 1999.
- [103] Kyle, A. : Continuous Auctions and Insider Trading. Econometrica, 53(6), 1315-1335, 1985.
- [104] Liu. H. and Loewenstein, M.; Optimal Portfolio Selection with Transaction Costs and Finite Horizons, The Review of Financial Studies, Volume 15, Issue 3, 1, Pages 805-835, 2002.
- [105] Loewenstein, M., Willard, G.A. : Local martingales, arbitrage, and viability free snacks and cheap thrills. Economic Theory 16(1), 135-161, 2000.
- [106] Long, J.B.: The numéraire portfolio. J. Finance. Econ. 26, 29-69, 1990.
- [107] Ma, J. : Minimal Hellinger Deflators and HARA Forward Utilities with Applications: Hedging with Variable Horizon, PhD thesis, 2013. Available on https://doi.org/10.7939/R3CT29 at library.ualberta.ca.
- [108] Markowitz, H.: Portfolio selection. The journal of finance, 7(1):77–91, 1952.
- [109] McFadden, D., Richter, M. K. : Stochastic rationality and revealed stochastic preference, Preferences, uncertainty, and optimality, essays in honor of Leo Hurwicz, 161-186, 1990.
- [110] Merton, R.C. : Optimum consumption and portfolio rules in a continuous-time model, Journal of Economic Theory, Elsevier, 3(4), 373-413, 1971.
- [111] Merton, R.C. : Theory of rational option pricing, The Bell Journal of Economics and Management Science, 141-183, 1973.
- [112] Nikeghbali, A. : An essay on the general theory of stochastic processes. Probability Surveys, 3:345-412, 2006.
- [113] Nikeghbali, A. and Yor, M. : A Definition and Some Characteristic Properties of Pseudo-Stopping Times, The Annals of Probability, 33, 5, 1804-1824, 2005.
- [114] Rheinlander, T., Steiger, G., The minimal entropy martingale measure for general Barndorff-Nielsen/Shephard models, The Annals of Applied Probability, 16(3), 1319-1351, 2006.
- [115] Richard, S. : Optimal Consumption, Portfolio and life insurance rules for an un- certain lived individual in a continuous time model, Journal of Financial Economics, 2, 187-203, 1975.

- [116] Tyrrell Rockafellar, R. : Convex Analysis. Princeton University Press, 1970.
- [117] Ruf, J. : Hedging under arbitrage, Mathematical Finance, 23 (2), 297-317, 2013.
- [118] Schachermayer, W., : Optimal investment in incomplete markets when wealth may become negative, The annals of Applied Probability, 11(3), 694-734, 2001.
- [119] Schweizer, M.: Variance-Optimal Hedging in Discrete Time, Mathematics of Operations Research, INFORMS, vol. 20(1), pages 1-32, 1995.
- [120] Song, S.: Local martingale deflators for asset processes stopped at a default time  $S^{\tau}$  or right before  $S^{\tau-}$ , https://arxiv.org/abs/1405.4474v4, 2016.
- [121] Suppes, P., Krantz, D. H., Luce, R. D., Tversky, A. : Foundations of Measurement, vol. II. New York: Academic Press, 1989.
- [122] Shiryaev, A. N., Yu., Kabanov, A. N., Kramkov, D. O., and Melnikov, A. V.: On the option pricing theory for European and American options, Teor. Veroyatn. Primen, 39, No. 1, 1994.
- [123] Takaoka, K. . A note on the condition of no unbounded profit with bounded risk. Finance Stoch 18: 393., 2014.
- [124] Yaari, M. : Uncertain Lifetime, Life Insurance, and the Theory of the Consumer. Review of Economic Studies 32(2): 137-150, 1965.
- [125] Yu, X. : An explicit example of optimal portfolio choices with habit formation and partial information, *Annals of Applied Probability* **25**, **3** 1383-1419, 2014.
- [126] Yu X., Utility maximization with addictive consumption habit formation in incomplete semimartingale markets : Annals of Applied Probability, Vol. 25, No. 3, 1383-1419, 2015.